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Thus far...

...still further



Our Vision

To be an admired leader in providing equitable financial solutions,  

not limited to numerics, but also in earning the trust of our  

customers, employees, shareholders and country

Our Mission

To adopt a unique and people friendly approach with a passion  

for continuous improvement, enabling growth and enriching  

lives of our customers

We believe

We believe that you have a right to be treated fairly 

We believe that one should not gain at the expense of another 

We believe that being responsible and ethical is as important as making profits and gains 

We believe that entrepreneurship should be encouraged and given a fair opportunity to succeed 

We believe that the best of actions are the ones which create true happiness in people 

We believe that you feel the same way we do    

We have a unique approach to banking which is in sync with our beliefs

Our financial solutions are responsible, ethical and fair

We are Amãna Bank. It’s Your Bank



From the beginning…

…we were driven by a clear vision of what we wanted Amãna Bank to be.  

In retrospect, one can now see how closely we have stayed true  

to our overarching strategy of building an enterprise underpinned by  

a strong foundation of values and ethics, making the ‘customer’  

our highest priority. The early foundational years  

are now behind us.

 

We have emerged into an exciting new era of steady performance and  

sustained profit, characterised by our ethos ‘performance through service’.  

The journey thus far is evolving…and has further to go…
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Financial Highlights
2015 2014 Change

Profitability (LKR Million)
Financing Income  2,886  2,408  478 

Financing Expenses  1,405  1,198  207 

Operating Expenses  1,693  1,575  118 

Profit/(Loss) Before Tax  219  (80)  299 

Profit/(Loss) After Tax  159  (80)  239 

Position at the Year End (LKR Million)
Shareholders’ Funds  5,723  5,026  697 

Deposits  38,608  29,224  9,384 

Advances  33,074  25,427  7,647 

Total Assets  47,882  34,898  12,985 

Information per Share (LKR)
Earnings 0.13  (0.06)  0.19 

Net Assets Value  4.58  4.02  0.56 

Market Value  5.60  5.20  0.40 

2015
%

2014
%

Ratios
Growth in Income 19.9  36.2 

Growth in Deposits 32.1  62.5 

Growth in Advances 30.1  69.3 

Growth in Total Assets 37.2  49.1 

Growth in Shareholders’ Funds 13.9  (0.7)

Advances to Deposits 85.7  87.0 

Return on Average Shareholders’ Funds 3.0  (3.2)

Return on Average Assets 0.4  (0.5)

Others
Gross Non-Performing Advances Ratio 0.92 1.49
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Other Highlights

179,889

Number 
of Customers

Number 
of Branches

24

Number 
of Own ATMs

27

External  
Rating 

BB(lka)  
Stable Outlook
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Sri Lankan 
Brand Ranking 2015

83rd

Number 
of Correspondent 

Banks

55

Number 
of Industry Awards 

won in 2015

6

Number 
of Staff

644

OTHER HIGHLIGHTS
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If 2014 was seen as a year where the Bank achieved a break even level of 

performance, 2015 was a year where the Bank leaped ahead with some 

well crafted strategies to surpass anticipated growth in profitability…

In the Name of Allah the Most Gracious the  
Most Merciful!

I am truly honoured to welcome you all to the 
Seventh Annual General Meeting of Amãna Bank 
PLC. We have completed a very significant year 
at the Bank.

The year under review was much looked 
forward to! The Bank, after having achieved 
a break even level of performance in August 
2014 – which was exactly three years since 
commencing banking operations – envisaged 
recording its first year of core business profit. 
Achieve it did: and quite impressively too. 

Having done so, Your Bank today steps into 
a new era focused on steady performance, 
coupled with superior service leading to 
sustainable profits.

EconoMIc LandScaPE

The global economic performance remained 
subdued, with growth being restricted to 2.4% 
in 2015, lower compared to 2014, when it grew 
by 2.6%. Emerging and developing economies 
experienced economic slowdown, the impact 
of which was felt in many countries world 
over. Low oil prices hurt the economies which 
depend on crude oil exports, as prices fell to a 

record low. Other factors such as, contraction 
of global trade and low investor confidence, 
stifled global economic growth.

In the local economic context, 2015 proved 
to be a tough year with exports and remittances 
dwindling, resulting in GDP growing at 4.8%, 
marginally below the revised rate of 4.9% for 
2014. Appropriate strategies are required to be 
developed to improve the nation’s GDP growth 
rate by promoting an investor friendly climate 
and attracting Foreign Direct Investment into 
the country. The Government of Sri Lanka  
free floated the exchange rate in September, 
while inflation and market rates edged upwards 
during the latter part of the year.

Chairman’s Message



7

Amãna Bank PLC    Annual Report 2015

YouR BanK coMPLEtES a 
MoMEntouS 2015

If 2014 was seen as a year where the Bank 
achieved a break even level of performance, 
2015 was a year where the Bank leaped ahead 
with some well crafted strategies to surpass 
anticipated growth in profitability, which 
resulted in the Bank recording a net profit  
after tax of LKR 158.6 Million for the year 
under review. This compared to the post-tax 
loss of LKR 80.2 Million recorded in 2014 
translates to a commendable growth of 297.6%.

The Bank outperformed the industry in all 
key facets of Balance Sheet growth; namely total 
assets (37.2%), customer financing (30.1%) and 
customer deposits (32.1%), which is indeed a 
noteworthy achievement. The Bank, with a  
ratio of 0.92%, probably recorded the lowest  
non-performing advances percentage in 
the industry for 2015. It’s a noteworthy 
achievement to maintain such a low ratio,  
with growth and gradual seasoning of the 
advances portfolio.

In line with the Code of Best Practice 
on Related Party Transactions issued by 
the Colombo Stock Exchange, the Board of 
Directors constituted a new Sub-Committee 
in December 2015, referred to as the Board 
Related Party Transactions Review Committee. 
This Sub-Committee is mandated with the 
task of reviewing all applicable related party 
transactions entered into by the Bank from  
1 January 2016, as stipulated by the Code.

Technology is evolving ever so rapidly and  
as a Bank operating in the modern era of  
smartphones and digital technology, the Board 
of Directors is cognisant of the importance  
of investing in the latest cutting edge technology 
to meet the ever expanding requirements of 
our customers.

We envisioned that this Bank should 
earn the trust – the meaning of the Arabic 
word ‘Amãna’ – of its customers, employees, 
shareholders and county. We stand committed 
to this vision and by the grace of the Almighty, we 
will strive to demonstrate this by the continued 
adoption of our unique banking proposition.

FutuRE – oPtIMIStIc – 
chaLLEngIng

With encouraging results in 2015, the Board 
of Directors, members of the Management 
Committee and the entire staff are optimistic  
of the future by acknowledging the task at  
hand to achieve the challenging targets  
outlined in the Bank’s Strategic Plan. In addition, 
by 1 January 2017, the Bank is required to raise 
its current capital funds to a minimum of  
LKR 7.5 Billion, with an additional requirement 
of further enhancing the capital base to  
LKR 10 Billion by 1 January 2018. I am confident 
that, through collective effort and self belief, this 
task will be achieved. 

acKnowLEdgEMEntS

I wish to thank my colleagues on the Board for 
their continued guidance and involvement in 
terms of appropriate strategic decision making 
and oversight that has steered the Bank towards 
profitability in a short span of time. This has put 
the Bank in good stead to achieve sustainable 
results in the future too.

My sincere gratitude and appreciation goes 
out to the Scholars in the Sharia Supervisory 
Council for their timely and valuable 
contributions, which have enabled the Bank to 
achieve the desired results, whilst ensuring that 
your Bank conforms to the principles of Sharia.

I must congratulate the Chief Executive 
Officer, members of the Management 
Committee and rest of the staff members for 
executing the strategies according to plan, 
which enabled the Bank to record higher than 

anticipated core business profits for the first 
time in its short history. I would like to offer 
my sincere appreciation to the staff for all the 
sacrifices that they have made, the positive 
business attitude that was maintained and the 
desire to strive for service excellence, all of 
which, has moved the Bank to a new level in 
terms of performance.

Officials at the Central Bank of Sri Lanka 
have always provided guidance when required 
and I will fail in my duties if I do not convey 
my appreciation to them. Thank you for all the 
assistance provided throughout the year.

Our customers have grown in number and 
they have been an important stakeholder in our 
journey to success. The Bank is continuously 
looking out for the latest methods in serving its 
customers and I am sure the Bank will adopt 
every possible approach to provide a delightful 
experience for every customer who walks 
into Amãna Bank. Stability is key to any bank 
and customers in a bank provide that strength 
to carry on business and achieve satisfactory 
results, which we have been able to deliver this 
year. I am grateful to our customers who have 
been loyal and supportive of the Bank’s efforts 
and believe that you will continue banking with 
your Bank.

To the Shareholders of the Bank, you have 
been with the Bank thus far, through thick & thin 
and I am sincerely grateful for all the support 
that you have offered in various ways. With 
the Bank producing improved results this year 
and hopefully in the years to come as well, I am 
confident that you will experience enhanced 
value for your investment as you accompany us 
in our journey still further.

osman Kassim
Chairman

25 April 2016
Colombo

“the Bank 

outperformed  

the industry in 

all key facets of 

Balance Sheet 

growth”

CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE
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iNdm;s;=udf.a mKsjqvh

uyd ldre‚l jQo mru ohdnr jQo w,a,dyaf.a 

kdufhka

wudkd nexl=fjys i;ajk jd¾Isl uyd iNd 

/iaùu fjkqfjka fuys imeñKs Tn ieu 

idorfhka ms<s.ksñ' wm miqlrkq ,enq 2015 

jir ienúkau wm nexl=jg iqúfYaIs jQ 

j¾Ihls'

nexl=j fufyhqï wdrïN lr jir 3la jQ 

2014 wf.daia;= udih jk úg m%Odk jHdmdr 

wxYhka ;=,ska udisl uÜgñka ,dN ,nk 

;;ajhla w;a m;a lr .;af;ahs' ta wkqj nexl=j 

m%Odk jHdmdßl fufyhqïj,ska ,dNhla 

i;=lr.ekSfï m%:u jir f,i 2015 jir 

iksgqyka lr.ekSug wfmalaId l< w;r" th 

b;d id¾:l f,i w;alr .eKSug iu;a úh' 

tu id¾:l;ajh iu. Tfí nexl=j wo jk 

úg ;j;a mshjrla bÈßhg ;nñka Yla;su;a 

l%shdldÍ;ajh yd Wiia fiajdj mokï lr.;a 

i:djr ,dNodhs;djh flkaø lr.;a kj ld, 

jljdkqjlg m%úYagù we;'

wd¾Ól úYaf,aIKh

2015 j¾Ifha§ f.da,Sh wd¾Ól l%shdlÍ;ajh 

2'4]la f,i jd¾;d jQfha 2014 j¾Ifha§ jd¾;d 

jQ 2'6] w.hg my;a jQ j¾Ok w.hla .ksñks' 

ke.S tk yd j¾Okh jk wd¾Ólhkays  

ukao.dó iajrEmhla ÈiajQ w;r th f,dj 

fndfyda rgj,g fmdÿ lreKla úh' ie,lsh 

hq;= whqßka f;,a ñ, my; jegqKq w;r 

fndr f;,a wmkhkfhka hefmkakdjQ fndfyda 

w¾Ólhkag bka mSvdjla we;súh' f.da,Sh 

fj<|dfï ixfldapkh iy wfhdacl úYajdih 

wvqùu wdÈho fuu j¾Ok fõ.fha wvqjg fya;= 

idol úh' 

foaYSh wd¾Ól miqìug wkqj 2015 jif¾§ 

wmkhk yd úfoaY uqo,a fm%aYK wju ùu 

fya;=fjka o< cd;sl ksIamdokfha j¾Okh 

jd¾;d jQfha 4'8]la jYfhks' th 2014 j¾Ifha§ 

jd¾;d jQ 4'9]g wvq w.hla .;af;ah' o< 

cd;sl ksIamdok j¾Okh Wfoid ld,dkqrEms 

Wmdhud¾.hkays wjYH;djla mj;sk w;r 

ta Wfoid wdfhdaclhkayg ys;lr mßirhla 

;ekSu;a Rcq úfoia wdfhdack rg ;=<g 

wdl¾IKh lr.ekSu;a jeäÈhqKq l< hq;=j 

we;' miq.sh iema;eïnrfha isg úfoaY úksuh 

wkqmd; fj<|m< wkqj WÉpdjpkh ùug 

ie,eiaúu;a iuÕ Woaoukh iy fj<`| fmd< 

wkqmd; by< heula olakg ,eìks' 

2015 jif¾§ Tfí nexl=fõ .uka u`.

2014 jir nexl=j ,dN lrd m%úYag jQ jirla 

f,i i|yka lrkafka kï" 2015 jir i|yka 

úh hq;af;a ukd Wmdhud¾.hka b;d iqlaIuj 

fhdod.ksñka wfmalaIs; j¾Okh wNsnjd 

iqúfYaI m%.;shla jd¾;d l, jirla f,ih' 

2015 j¾Ifha§ nÿ miq ,dNh remsh,a ñ,shk 

158'6la jd¾;d lrk ,§' th 2014 jif¾§ 

jd¾;d l, w,dNh jQ remsh,a ñ,shk 80'3 yd 

iei§fï§ j¾Okh 297'6]ls' fYaIm;% uq,sl 

wx.hka ixikaokfha§ lafIa;%fha ;r.lrejka 

wNsnjd hEug" wm iu;a ù we;' tA wkqj 

kdñl uq¿ j;alï ^37'2]&" mdßfNda.sl uQ,H 

^30'1]& iy mdßfNda.sl ;ekam;= ^32'1]& hk 

m%Odk wx.hkaf.a j¾Okhka ie<lsh hq;= 

ch.%yKhkah' 2015 j¾Ifha§ wl%sh w;a;sldrï 

m%;sY;h 0'92]la f,i jd¾;d jQ w;r th 

lafIa;%h ;=< jd¾;d.; wju uÜgula f,i 

ie,lsh yelsh' 

fld<U fldgia fj<| fmd< úiska 

iïnkaê; md¾Yjhkaf.a .kqfokq i|yd  

m%Yia; Ndú; ix.%yhla (Code of Best 
Practices) y÷kajdfokq ,eìKs' tA wkqj 

wm wOHlaIl uKav,h úiska iïnkaê; 

md¾Yjhkaf.a .kqfokq iudf,dapkh 

iïnkaOfhka 2015 foieïn¾ udifha§ 

wkqlñgqjla ia:dmkh lrkq ,eîh' tu 

wkqlñgqj úiska 2016 ckjdß udifha isg 

iïnkaê; md¾Yjhkaf.a .kqfokq iïnkaO 

md,khka yd úu¾Ikhka isÿflreks ,nhs' 

kQ;k ;dlaIKfha ÈhqKqj;a iuÕ nexl=j 

w;aje,a ne|.ekSfï wjYH;djh yd jeo.;alu  

wOHlaIl uKav,h uekúka y÷kdf.k 

we;s w;r tA i|yd l, hq;= wdfhdackhka 

ldf,daÑ;j Èh;a lr we;' ta wkqj  

mdßfNda.slhkaf.a úysÿKq fiajd wjYH;djka 

i|yd by<u kQ;k ;dlaIKh fhdÞ .ekSug 

nexl=jg yels jkq we;' 

wrdì niska zwudkdZ hkafkys wre; 

zúYajdihZ hkakhs' tA úYajdih wm  

mdßfNda.slhka" ld¾huKav,h" fldgialrejka 

yd rg ;=< ;yjqre lr.ekSug wm ieuúgu 

lghq;= lrkafkuq' wm úiska l%shdjg kxjkakd 

jQ kjH jQ fuu nexl= l%ufõoh Tiafia ta 

Wfoid ksr;=reju wms fjfyfikafkuq' 

wkd.;h - iqnjd§;ajh iy wNsfhda.

2015 jif¾§ wm ,enq m%:sm, ;=<ska Èßu;aj 

wOHlaIl uKav,h" l<ukdlrK  

idudðlhka iy iuia: ld¾huKav,h" 

nexl=fõ Wmdhud¾.sl ie,iqfuys f.k 

yer oelafjk wkd.; wNsfhda. yd b,lal 

ch.ekSu iïnkaOfhka orkafka b;d iqNjd§ 

wêIaGdkhls' óg wu;rj 2017 ckjdß udifha§ 

nexl=fõ m%d.aOk wruqo, remsh,a ì,shk 7'5l 

wjuhla olajd jeälr .ekSug;a 2018 ckjdß 

udih jk úg m%.aOk moku remsh,a ì,shk 

10la olajd jeälr .ekSug;a wm wfmalaId 

lrkafkuq' wmf.a iduqysl m%h;akhka ;=,ska 

fuu b,lalh imqrd.ekSug wmg yels nj uu 

;rfha úYajdi lrñ' 

we.hSu

ksis Wmdhud¾.sl uÕfmkaùï ;=<ska flá 

ld,hla ;=< wm nexl=j ,dN Wmhk 

wdh;khla njg mßj¾;kh lÍfuys,d 

,ndÿka ldf,daÑ; odhl;ajh fjkqfjka" ud 

ñ;% wOHlaIl uKav,hg uu fï fudfydf;a§ 

ia;+;sjka; fjñ' fï ;=,ska id¾:l wkd.; 

m%Óm, j,g wjYH ;sridr mokula nexl=jg 

,eì we;'

“fYaIm;% uq,sl 

wx.hka ixikaokfha§ 

lafIa;%fha 

;r.lrejka wNsnjd 

hEug" wm iu;a ù 

we;'”
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Yßhd uQ,O¾u l%shdjg kxjkq msKsi wjYH 

Wmfoia yd ud¾f.damfoaYkhka wm fj; 

,ndÿka Yßhd wëlaIK lñgqj fj; o uu 

udf.a ia;+;sh mqolr isáñ' wm ta Wmfoia yd 

ud¾f.damfoaYkhka ;=<ska wfmlaIs; m%Óm, 

i;=lr .;suq' ñka bÈßhg o wudkd nexl=j 

Yßhd uQ,O¾u wkql+,;ajh i`oyd ieuúgu 

lemjkq we;' 

m%Odk úOdhl ks,OdÍ;=uka" l<ukdlrK 

lñgq idudðlhka yd ish¨u ld¾huKav, 

idudðlhka yg ud uf.a iqnme;=ï msßkeñh 

hq;=h' tA b;d flá ld,hla ;=< wfmalaId 

wNsnjñka jd¾;d.; by< ,dNhla w;am;a 

lr .ekSu iïnkaOfhkss' ;jo mdßfNda.slhska 

yg úYsIaG fiajdjla ,nd §u fjkqfjka b;d 

iqNodhSj isÿ l, úúO jQ lemùï fjkqfjka 

iEu ld¾huKav, idudðlfhl= fj;u ud 

udf.a f.!rjkSh ia;+;sh mqo lr isáñ'

Y%S ,xld uy nexl=fõ ks,OdÍka ieuúgu 

wm fj; wjYH u`. fmkaùï ,ndfokq ,nk 

w;r f.jqKq jif¾§ wm yg ,ndÿka iEu 

iyhla fjkqfjkau ud yDohdx.uj Tjqkg 

ia;+;s mq¾jl fjñ'

wm mdßfNda.slhka ixLHdj ie,lshhq;= 

wdldrfhka j¾Okhù we;s w;r id¾:l;ajh 

lrd wm hk .ufka iqúfYaIs fldgialrejka 

jkafka Tjqka ieuhs' kjH jQ l%ufõo  

mdßfNda.sl ieug ,nd§ug wm ksr;=reju 

fjfyfik w;r wudkd nexl=j fj; tk 

ish¨u mdßfNda.slhkag wk¾> fiajdjla 

,nd§ug wm ish¨ fokd lemjk nj ug 

fkdwkqudkh' ia:djr;ajh ´kEu nexl=jl 

uQ,sldx.hla jk w;r mdßfNda.slhka ta Wfoid 

wjeis Yla;sh imhkq ,nhs' wm fj; ,nd ÿka 

iEu iyhla Wfoidu ys;j;a mdßfNda.sl  

ieu fj; udf.a f.!rjkSh ia;+;sh mqolr 

isáñ' ñka u;=jgka Tn Tfí nexl=j yd tlaj 

id¾:l;ajh yd fi!Nd.H lrd .uka lrkq 

we;s njg wm ;rfha úYajdi lrkafkuq' 

wm yd ne`os wmf.a fldgialrejks' 

ksr;=reju wm Yla;sh jk Tn" nexlfõ 

fï ;dla jQ .ufka§ uqyqK ÿka fkdfhl=;a 

wNsfhda. uOHfha úúO whqßka wm fj; 

,ndÿka iyh Wfoid ud fnfyúka ia;+;sjka; 

fjñ' fuu jif¾ wm ,nd.;a id¾:l;ajh 

bÈß jirj,§ ;j ÿrg;a j¾Okh lr.ksñka 

Tfí wdfhdackfha jákdlu jeäÈhqKq lsÍug 

wmg yelsjkq we;ehs uu ;rfha úYajdi 

lrñ' Tnf.a odhl;ajh yd iyNd.S;ajh 

ksrka;rfhka wm iuÕ /f|kq we;snj wmf.a 

wfmalaIdjhs' 

Tiaudka ldisï

iNdm;s

2016 wfm%a,a 25 

fld<U

iNdm;s;=udf.a mKsjqvh
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jiytupd; nra;jp

mstw;w mUshyDk; epfuw;w 

md;GilNahDkhfpa my;yh`;tpd; 

jpUg;ngauhy; Muk;gpf;fpd;Nwd;!

mkhdh tq;fp VohtJ tUlhe;j nghJf; 

$l;lj;jpw;F cq;fs; midtiuAk; 

tuNtw;gjpy; ehd; cz;ikapy; 

kfpo;r;rpailfpd;Nwd;. 

kPsha;Tf;Fl;gLj;jg;gLk; tUlk; gy 

vjpu;ghu;g;Gf;-fSld; te;jJ. tq;fpapd; 

tu;j;jf eltbf;iffs; Muk;gpf;fg;gl;L 

rupahf 3 tUlq;fspy; mjhtJ> 2014k; 

Mz;L Xf];l; khjj;jpy; ,yhgkPl;Lk; 

kl;lj;ij mile;jjd; gpd;du;> mkhdh 

tq;fp mjd; KjyhtJ tu;j;jf ,yhg 

tUlj;ij gjpTnra;tjw;F vjpu;ghu;j;jJ. 

,jd;gb> ,e;j ,yhgk; gpurpj;jkhd 

tifapy; milag;ngw;wJ. ,r;rhjidapd; 

gpd;> cq;fs;; tq;fp epiyahd ,yhgj;jpw;F 

topNfhYk; kpfr;rpwe;j NritAld; ,d;W 

cWjpahd nrayhw;wiyf; nfhz;l 

xU Gjpa Afj;ij Nehf;fp fhyb vLj;J 
itj;Js;sJ. 

nghUshjhu epiy 

cyf nghUshjhu tsh;r;rp njhlu;e;Jk; 
kl;Lg;gLj;-jg;gl;Nl ,Ue;J tUfpd;wJ. 

2014k; Mz;by; 2.6 rjtPjkhf fhzg;gl;l 

,e;j tsh;r;rp 2015k; Mz;by; 2.4 rjtPjk; 

tiu Fiwtile;Js;sJ. Kd;NdwptUk; 

kw;Wk; mgptpUj;jpaile;J tUk; ehLfs; 

nghUshjhu ke;jfjpia mDgtpf;f 

Neu;e;jJ. ,jd; jhf;fj;ij cyfpd; gy 

ehLfs; czu;e;jd. krF vz;nza; 

Vw;Wkjpapy; jq;fpapUf;Fk; ehLfis 

vupnghUs; tpiy tPo;r;rp ghjpj;Js;sJ. 

ru;tNjr tu;j;jfk; Fiwtiljy;> 

KjyPl;lhsu;fspd; ek;gpf;if Fiwtiljy; 

Nghd;w Vida fhuzpfs; ,jw;F 

fhuzkhfpAs;sJ. 

cs;ehl;L nghUshjhuf; fl;likg;ig 

nghWj;jtiuapy;> Vw;WkjpfSk;> mz;zpar;-

nryhtdpfSk; Fiwtile;jjhy;> 

2015k; Mz;L xU neUf;fbkpf;f 

tUlkhf fhzg;gl;lJ. 2014k; Mz;by; 

gjpthfpapUe;j 4.9 rjtPj nkhj;j Njrpa 

cw;gj;jp tsu;r;rp 2015k; Mz;by; 4.8 

rjtPjkhf gjpthfpapUe;jJ. mjdhy;> 

KjyPl;lhsu;fSf;F rhjfkhd #o;epiyia 

Nkk;gLj;jp> ehl;Lf;F ntspehl;L Neub 

KjyPLfis ftUtjd; %yk; ehl;bd; 

nkhj;j Njrpa cw;gj;jp tsu;r;rp tpfpjj;ij 

tpUj;jp nra;tjw;fhd nghUj;jkhd 

%Nyhghaq;fs; Njitg;gLfpd;wd. 

nrg;lk;gu; khjj;jpy; gupkhw;W tpfpjk; 

Rje;jpukhf ,aq;fj; njhlq;fpajhy;> me;j 

tUlj;jpd; ,Wjpg; gFjpapy; gztPf;fKk;> 

re;ij tpfpjq;fSk; cah;tile;jpUe;jd. 

cq;fs; tq;fp 2015k; Mz;il rpwg;ghd 

tifapy; G+u;j;jp nra;jJ

2014k; Mz;by; ,yhg kl;lj;ij milAk; 

nrayhw;wiy fhl;baJld; 2015k; Mz;by; 

ed;F tFf;fg;gl;l rpy %Nyhghaq;fyhy; 

Kd;Ndwpr;nry;y Kbe;jJ. tq;fpahdJ 

kPsha;Tf;Fl;gLj;jg;gLk; Mz;Lf;fhd 

tupf;F gpe;jpa epfu ,yhgk; 158.6 kpy;ypad; 

&ghthf tsu;r;rp fz;L vjph;ghh;f;fg;gl;l 

,yhg tsh;r;rpiaAk; fle;J nrd;wJ. 

2014k; Mz;by; gjpthfpa 80.2 kpy;ypad; 

&gh el;lj;Jld; xg;gpLk;NghJ ,J 297.6 

rjtPj tsu;r;rpahFk;. 

mkhdh tq;fp Ie;njhif tsu;r;rpapd; 

midj;J gpujhd tplaq;fspYk; 

Kd;Ndw;wj;ij fhl;bapUe;jJ. mjhtJ 

nkhj;j nrhj;Jf;fs; (37.2 rjtPjk;)> 
thbf;ifahsu; epjpaspg;G (30.1 rjtPjk;)> 
thbf;ifahsu; itg;Gf;fs; (32.1 rjtPjk;). 
cz;ikapy; ,it Fwpg;gplj;jf;f 

rhjidahFk;. 2015k; Mz;by; tq;fpf;F 
jpUg;gpr; nrYj;jg;glhj Kw;ngWiffspd; 

msT 0.92 rjtPjkhf fhzg;gl;lJ. 

,J kpfTk; Fiwe;j ngWkhzkhFk;. 

mj;NjhL> tsu;r;rp kw;Wk; gUtk; vl;Lk; 

Kw;ngWiffSld; mt;thwhd Fiwe;j 

tpfpjj;ij NgZtnjd;gJ Fwpg;gplj;jf;f 

rhjidahFk;. 

nfhOk;G gq;F guptu;j;jid 

epiyaj;jpdhy; ntspaplg;gl;l rk;ge;jg;gl;l 

jug;gpd; nfhLf;fy;thq;fy;fs; njhlu;ghd 

kpfr;rpwe;j nrad;Kiw FwpaPl;Lf;F 

mika> gzpg;ghsu;fs; rig 2015k; 

Mz;L brk;gu; khjj;jpy; xU Gjpa cg 

FOnthd;iw cUthf;fpaJ. Fwpg;gpl;l 

nrad;Kiw epge;jidapd; gb 2016 

[dtup Kjyhk; jpfjp Kjy; tq;fpahy; 

Vw;gLj;jg;gLk; midj;J rk;ge;jg;gl;l 

nfhLf;fy;thq;fy;fisAk; kPsha;T 

nra;Ak; nghWg;G ,e;j cg FOtpw;F 

toq;fg;gl;Ls;sJ. 

njhopy;El;gk; vd;Wkpy;yhjthW 
Jupjkhf tsu;r;rp fz;L tUfpd;wJ. 

ifalf;fj; njhiyNgrpfs; kw;Wk; b[pl;ly; 

njhopy;El;g Afj;jpw;F Vw;g nraw;gLk; xU 

tq;fp vd;w tifapy; vkJ thbf;ifahsu;-

fspd; tpuptile;JtUk; Njitfis 

epiwNtw;W-tjw;fhf etPd jpUg;GKid 

njhopy;El;gj;jpy; KjyPL nra;tjd; 

Kf;fpaj;Jtj;ij gzpg;ghsu;fs; rig ed;F 

mwpe;J itj;Js;sJ. 

,e;j tq;fp thbf;ifahsu;fs;> 

Copau;fs;> gq;fhsu;fs; kw;Wk; ehl;bd; 

ek;gpf;ifia nty;y Ntz;Lk; vd;W 

ehk; vjpu;ghu;j;Njhk;. ty;y ,iwtdpd; 

fUiziaf; nfhz;L ,e;j ,yf;if 

mila ehk; mu;g;gzpg;Gld; nraw;gl;L 

tUfpd;Nwhk;. vkJ gpuj;jpNaf tq;fp 

Kiwia njhlu;e;Jk; Kd;ndLj;Jr; 

nry;tjd; %yk; ,jid kf;fSf;F 

Gyg;gLj;j ehk; ghLgLNthk;. 

vjpu;fhyk; - rhjfKk;> rthy;fSk;

2015k; Mz;by; milag;ngw;w 

Cf;Ftpf;Fk; Kd;Ndw;wq;fSld; tq;fpapd; 

%Nyhghaj; jpl;lj;jpy; Fwpg;gplg;gl;Ls;s 

rthy;kpf;f ,yf;Ffis miltjw;fhf 

jk;kplk; xg;gilf;fg;gl;Ls;s nghWg;ig 

tpsq;fpitj;Js;s vkJ gzpg;ghsu;fs; 

rig> Kfhikj;Jtf; FO cWg;gpdu;fs; 

kw;Wk; midj;J Copau;fSk; tq;fpapy; 

vjpu;fhyk; njhlu;gpy; rhjfkhd 

epiyg;ghl;by; ,Ue;J tUfpd;wdu;. 

NkYk;> 2017k; Mz;L [dtup Kjyhk; 

jpfjpf;Fs; tq;fp mjd; jw;Nghija 

“mkhdh tq;fp 

Ie;njhif 

tsu;r;rpapd; 

midj;J gpujhd 

tplaq;fspYk; 

Kd;Ndw;wj;ij 

fhl;bapUe;jJ.”
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%yjdj; njhifia Fiwe;jgl;rk; 7.5 

gpy;ypad; &gh tiu mjpfupf;f Ntz;ba 

NjitAs;sJ. 2018k; Mz;L [dtup 

Kjyhk; jpfjpf;Fs; ,e;j %yjdj;ij 10 

gpy;ypad; &gh tiu mjpfupf;f Ntz;ba 

NjitiaAk; tq;fp czu;e;Js;sJ. 

$l;L Kaw;rp kw;Wk; jd;dk;gpf;if Clhf 

,e;j gzpia epiwNtw;wyhk; vd ehd; 

ek;Gfpd;Nwd;. 

ed;wp etpoy;

nghUj;jkhd %Nyhgha jPu;khdq;fis 

Nkw;nfhs;Sk; tplaj;jpYk;> FWfpa 

fhyj;jpw;Fs; ,yhgj;ij Nehf;fp tq;fpia 

Kd;Ndw;wpa fz;fhzpg;G tplaj;jpYk; 

jkJ njhlu;r;rpahd topfhl;ly;fis 

toq;fp <LghL fhl;btUk; rigapYs;s 

vd; Njhou;fSf;F Kjypy; ed;wp$w 

tpUk;Gfpd;Nwd;. vjpu;fhyj;jpYk; epiyahd 

ngWNgWfis miltjw;F ,J tq;fpia 

rpwe;j ,lj;jpy; itj;Js;sJ. 

fhyj;jpw;F Vw;w ngWkjpahd 

gq;fspg;ig toq;fpa \uPM fz;fhzpg;G 

Nguitapy; mq;fk; tfpf;Fk; 

fy;tpkhd;fSf;F vkJ kdkhu;e;j 

ed;wpfisAk;> ghuhl;Lf;fisAk; 

njuptpj;Jf; nfhs;fpd;Nwd;. ,tu;fspd; 

,e;jg; gq;fspg;Gf; fhuzkhf \uPM 

nfhs;iff;F mika tq;fpia topelj;jp 

ehk; vjpu;ghu;j;j ngWNgWfis mila 

Kbe;jJ. 

FWfpa fhyj;jpw;Fs; ehk; vjpu;ghu;j;j 

gpujhd tu;j;jf ,yhgq;fisAk; 

tpl $Ljyhd ,yhgj;ij mile;J 

nfhs;s JizGupe;j %Nyhghaq;fis 

epiwNtw;wpaikf;fhf gpujk epiwNtw;W 

mjpfhup> Kfhikj;Jt FO mq;fj;ju;fs; 

kw;Wk; Vida Copau;fis ehd; fl;lhak; 

ghuhl;bahf Ntz;Lk;. mu;g;gzpg;Gld;> 

rhjfkhd tu;j;jf kNdhghtj;Jld; 

nraw;gl;l midj;J Copau;fisAk; ehd; 

,e;j Ntisapy; kdg;G+u;tkhf ghuhl;l 

tpUk;Gfpd;Nwd;. ,tu;fspd; ,e;j mu;g;gzpg;G 
fhuzkhf tq;fpapd; nrayhw;wy; xU Gjpa 

kl;lj;jpw;F cau;e;Js;sJ vd;gij ,e;j 

re;ju;g;gj;jpy; epidT$w Ntz;Lk;. 

,yq;if kj;jpa tq;fpapd; mjpfhupfs; 

Njitg;gLk; midj;J re;ju;g;gq;fspYk; 

topfhl;ly;fis toq;fpAs;sdu;. 

mtu;fSf;F ghuhl;ilj; njuptpg;gJ 

vdJ flikahFk;. tUlk; KOtjpYk; 

ePq;fs; toq;fpa midj;J cjtpfSf;Fk; 

ed;wpiaj; njuptpj;Jf; nfhs;fpd;Nwd;. 

vkJ thbf;ifahsu;fspd; 

vz;zpf;if mjpfupj;Js;s mNjNtis> 

mtu;fs; vkJ ntw;wpg; gazj;jpy; xU 

Kf;fpakhd jug;ghtu;. tq;fp mjd; 

thbf;ifahsu;fSf;F Nritia 

toq;Fk; Gjpa Kiwfis njhlu;e;Jk; 

ftdpj;J tUfpd;wJ. mkhdh tq;fpia 

ehLk; midj;J thbf;ifahsu;fSf;Fk; 

xU rpwe;j mDgtj;ij toq;ff;$ba 

rhj;jpakhd midj;J mDFKiwfisAk; 

tq;fp filgpbf;Fk; vd ehd; jplkhf 

ek;Gfpd;Nwd;. ve;jnthU tq;fpf;Fk; 

];jpuj;jd;ik gpujhdkhFk;. xU tq;fpapd; 

tbf;ifahsu;fs; tu;j;jfj;ij Nkw;nfhz;L 

jpUg;jpfukhd ngWNgWfis miltjw;fhd 

me;jg; gyj;ij toq;Ffpd;whu;fs;. 

,jd;gb> ,e;j tUlj;jpy; ehk; ,e;j 

rhjfkhd ngWNgWfis mila 

Kbe;Js;sJ. tq;fpapd; Kaw;rpfspy; 

ek;gpf;ifitj;J Mjuthf nraw;gLk; 

vkJ thbf;ifahsu;fSf;F ehd; ed;wp$w 

flikg;gl;Ls;Nsd;. ePq;fs; “cq;fs; tq;fp” 
cld; njhlu;e;Jk; nfhLf;fy;thq;fy;fis 

nra;tPu;fs; vd ehd; ek;Gfpd;Nwd;. 

,Jtiu tq;fpAld; ifNfhu;j;J 

gy;NtW topfspy; MjuT toq;fpa 
midj;Jg; gq;fhsp-fSf;Fk; vdJ kdkhu;e;j 
ed;wpfs;. ,e;j tUlk; rpwe;j ngWNgWfis 

milag;ngw;Ws;s tq;fp vjpu;tUk; 
tUlq;fspYk; mt;thwhd ngWNgWfis 
ngw;Wf;nfhs;Sk; vd;w ek;gpf;ifNahL 

vkJ gazj;jpy; ePq;fs; njhlu;e;Jk; 

toq;Fk; KjyPLfSf;F rpwe;j ngWkjpia 

ngw;Wf;nfhs;tPu;fs; vd;w jpl ek;gpf;ifAk; 

vd;dpy; cz;L. 

X];khd; fhrpk;

jiytu;

25 Vg;uy; 2016

nfhOk;G

jiytupd; nra;jp
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Chief Executive Officer’s Review
…the Bank was able to successfully consolidate its resources,  

execute its plans and turnaround its performance from loss to  

profit during 2015.

gLoBaL and LocaL EconoMIc 
outLooK

The global economy experienced several 
unforeseen events, which led to a notable 
slowdown during 2015. The decline in Chinese 
economy as well as the hike in US fed rates 
acted as a catalyst for investment capital being 
encouraged across the Atlantic and away from 
Asia in the hunt for better returns. Further, 
Oil prices constantly remained at lower levels 

ending the year below USD 37 per barrel. All 
such factors contributed to an overall drop in 
the global GDP growth from 2.6% in 2014 to 
2.4% in 2015.

The Local economy underwent a phase of 
uncertainty and passivity during most of 2015, 
witnessing two decisive political elections, 
significantly affecting business sentiments in the 
country. Private sector credit, which increased 
towards the latter part 2015, triggered the 
tightening of monetary policy by the Central 

Bank of Sri Lanka. Such tightening came by way 
of increasing the Statutory Reserve Ratio to 
7.5% from 6%, which led to drying up of liquidity 
resulting in an upward movement in market 
rates. A financing restriction for Leasing was  
also imposed.

I am indeed happy to note that in such a 
challenging economic context, the Bank was able 
to successfully consolidate its resources, execute 
its plans and turnaround its performance from 
loss to profit during 2015.
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StRatEgIc StEPS

Considering the importance of SMEs and 
that they are the Backbone of the Country’s 
economy, in 2015, the Bank made a conscious 
decision in developing new strategies and 
implementing action plans to widen the scope 
and substantially increased the weightage given 
to SMEs in the Bank’s business portfolio. Such 
focus on SMEs was not only confined to the 
Western region, but was directed throughout 
the island via the expanded branch network. 
The Bank’s SME strategies over the years 
have contributed towards the realisation 
of the national vision, by financing several 
infrastructure development projects in the 
areas of renewable energy, marine farming, etc. 
whilst also contributing to the development of 
the aviation and agriculture industries as well as 
the export sector which brings in much needed 
foreign inflows to the country.

In 2015, the Bank reaped maximum  
benefits from the innovative gold certificate 
financing product that was launched in 2014,  
by expanding its availability in 11 more branches.  
This was a clear indication of the overwhelming 
demand and acceptance of such a product 
amongst the unbanked and underbanked 
segments of the country. It indeed gives me 
immense pleasure that the Bank could reach 
out to and serve the development of rural 
demographic segments of the country, via such 
innovative product solutions. The Bank was 
able to further expand its array of innovative 
product offerings, via the introduction of new 
products such as Flexi Term investments, 
Education financing, etc.

Being a key foreign exchange generator to 
the local economy, continuous efforts to cater 
to the non-resident proposition has been an 
area of focus. In 2015, the Bank conducted 
successful Road shows targeting the Middle 
Eastern market, as well as initiating and 
maintaining tie ups with Financial Institutions  
to offer convenient and cost effective 
remittance solutions. Establishing Lanka Money 
Transfer (LMT) remittance platform was one 
such example.

The Bank was successful in capitalising on 
the demand for leasing opportunities, given the 
lower market rates prevalent in the country. 
The success in leasing business was achieved 
through the efforts put in aligning processes, 
focusing on faster turnaround time for customer 
convenience, which eventually resulted in 
improved market visibility and acceptance.

With the Bank’s passion towards bringing 
banking to the fingertips of its customers,  
the much awaited Internet banking was launched 

in 2015 as a platform to enable customers to 
do their banking transactions from the comfort 
of their home or office. Taking it to account 
the industry’s increasing exposure to cyber 
thefts, the Bank prudently opted to introduce 
and implement the Internet banking modules 
on a phase by phase approach, ensuring utmost 
security to the users and their funds.

Focus on High net worth clientele being one 
of Bank’s key emphases, an exclusive Prestige 
Banking Lounge was opened at the Head Office 
premises, in providing recognition, convenience 
and exclusivity in return for their trust and 
funds maintained at the Bank.

The aim of engraining and institutionalising 
the ‘Service Excellence’ culture was further 
strengthened through the formation of a 
dedicated cross functional team to spearhead 
the Bank’s ‘We Care’ initiative. The Bank saw 
various initiatives carried out by this team 
throughout the year focused on themes of 
‘Serve to Delight’, ‘Service Scorecard’, ‘Attitude 
Alignment’, ‘Knowing What We Stand For’ and 
‘Inspire-Appreciate-Celebrate’. Introduction 
of a digital customer feedback mechanism at 
selected branches, in order to listen, learn and 
improve, was one such key initiative.

Focusing on customer reach, four off-site  
ATMs were opened in selected strategic 
locations, followed by the first ever drive 
through ATM in the Eastern region during 
January 2016.

PERFoRMancE hIghLIghtS

The Bank recorded LKR 218.7 Million as Profit 
Before Tax for the year ended 2015 which 
marks a remarkable turnaround when compared 
to the pre-tax loss of LKR 80.2 Million  
posted in 2014 constituting an outstanding 
growth of 372.5%. 

The Bank’s top line recorded commendable 
growth with financing income reaching 
LKR 2.9 Billion in 2015 whilst increasing its Net 
Financing Income by 22.4% to LKR 1.5 Billion 
for the same period. Net Operating Income 
surpassed LKR 2.0 Billion for the year ended 
31 December 2015, reflecting a healthy growth 
of 31.1%. Through various initiatives for cost 
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“the Bank 

recorded  

LKR 218.7 Million 

as Profit Before 

tax for the year 

ended 2015 

which marks 

a remarkable 

turnaround when 

compared to the 

pre-tax loss of  

LKR 80.2 Million 

posted in 2014 

constituting an 

outstanding growth 

of 372.5%”
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containment the Total Operating Expenses 
incurred was contained to a YoY increase  
of 7.5% to record LKR 1.7 Billion.

The Bank’s growing popularity and 
acceptance resulted in a 32.1% growth in 
Customer Deposits during the year to reach 
LKR 38.6 Billion and a 30.1% growth in 
Customer Advances to reach LKR 33.1 Billion. 
Such growth enabled the Bank to grow the 
Total Assets by a significant 37.2% after it 
closed at LKR 47.8 Billion. 

Another key highlight during 2015 was the 
non performing advances (NPA) ratio, which 
through enhanced underwriting skills, robust 
risk management framework and continuous 
follow up was contained right throughout the 
year to ensure that the asset quality was not 
compromised. As such, the NPA ratio recorded 
at the close of 2015 was 0.92% which continues 
to be one of the lowest in the banking and 
finance industry. Further, the Bank was successful 
in constantly maintaining an above industry CASA 
portfolio throughout the year, which in turn had 
a strong impact on the Bank’s financials.

It gives me immense pleasure to have been 
a part of the Bank’s turnaround from loss 
to profit. Being a new bank, achieving such 
milestones was not an easy feat considering 
the market conditions that prevailed and the 
numerous challenges the Bank had to face. 
Yet, the Bank was able to succeed with its 
continuous focus on the areas of business 
alignment, customer service and processes 
improvement and optimisation of resources, 
while managing the overall risk. Further, 
considering the progress made, Fitch Ratings 
reaffirmed the Banks’s external credit rating of 
BB(lka) with a stable outlook.

Looking at the qualitative aspects, the 
Bank has been paying considerable attention 
and emphasis on Compliance, Risk and 
Audit functions. Year 2015, saw the Bank 
implementing an Anti-Money Laundering (AML) 
software which provided enhanced compliance 
to regulatory standards and requirements.  
The Bank believes that these are not merely 
control functions, but instead consider them to 
be enablers of Service Excellence.

A special emphasis and regard was placed 
on building talent, rewarding their commitment 
and dedication, as people will always remain the 
greatest asset to the Bank. In this backdrop, the 
Bank organised its inaugural awards ceremony, 
under the theme ‘Rewarding Excellence’, which 
indeed was a momentous occasion for the Bank 
and its people.

The Bank once again claimed the top spot 
at the prestigious IFN Awards this year by 
winning the Best Islamic Bank in Sri Lanka 
accolade. This is the Bank’s fifth consecutive 
year to be voted as the country’s top most 
Islamic finance institution, having first won it 
in 2012. Winning this award, which is based 
on a global poll conducted by the Malaysia-
based RedMoney Group, demonstrates the 

confidence people have in the Bank from across 
the world. Further, the Bank, for the first time, 
was honoured to be Ranked 83rd Most valuable 
Brand in Sri Lanka by Brand Finance (LMD) in 
2015, which I feel is a remarkable achievement 
for the Bank considering its short history.

StILL FuRthER – 2016 and 
BEYond

It is now the phase for the Bank to ensure 
sustained performance and continue to grow in 
pursuit of its established vision. The Bank has 
always believed in the need for conscious and 
comprehensive planning in guiding it towards 
the set goals and objectives. Hence, the Bank is 
being well directed through its comprehensive 
Strategic Plan, as it progresses on its journey of 
enabling growth and enriching lives. 

In this Backdrop, the Bank is focussed on 
directing its investments towards technology 
enhancements to provide customers with 
utmost convenience combined with a delightful 
experience. The Bank’s commitment on 
enhancing the ‘Service Excellence’ culture, will 
remain a key focus area, going forward.

Considering the intense competition in the 
market resulting in narrow margins, the Bank 
will capitalise on opportunities to improve its 
feebased income in terms of trade and other 
related service offerings, thereby supplementing 
overall profitability. The Bank will continue 
to instill an ROI focused mindset among staff 
in order to derive value through improved 
efficiency and accountability.

A key underlying focus area for the Bank 
is to ensure that it maintains sufficient capital 
to support its current and future operations. 
Meanwhile, the Monetary Board of the Central 
of Bank of Sri Lanka mandated all banks to 
enhance their capital funds to a minimum 
of LKR 10 Billion by 1 January 2018 with an 
interim requirement of LKR 7.5 Billion by  
1 January 2017. The Bank is currently taking 
appropriate steps to meet this requirement 
under the close supervision and guidance of  
the Board of Directors.
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was able to 
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aPPREcIatIon

I take this opportunity to offer my sincere 
appreciation to the Board of Directors and 
thank them for their guidance, understanding 
and flexibility which helped me immensely to 
add value and implement appropriate strategies 
for the Bank’s success. The officials at Central 
Bank of Sri Lanka have been very supportive 
and so have been the scholars of the Sharia 
Supervisory Council imparting their knowledge 
and advice at all times guiding the Bank in the 
right direction.

The members of the Management 
Committee have always led from the front and 
provided the much required energy; motivating 
staff to achieve the set targets which enabled 
the Bank produced such rewarding results in 
2015. I congratulate both the Management 
Committee and the entire team at Amãna Bank 
for their hard work and self-belief in pursuit of 
taking this institution ‘still further’.

We understand the importance of serving 
each and every customer to their fullest 
satisfaction and this is why we constantly stay 
in touch to obtain their feedback. Service 
towards all customers of the Bank will never 
be compromised and we are consciously 

CHIEF ExECuTIvE OFFICER’S REvIEW

making every effort to enhance the level of 
service offered. Whilst thanking our customers, 
shareholders and other stakeholders for being 
with us, I am confident that they will continue 
to be a part of the Bank’s success in the many 
years ahead, God willing.

Mohamed azmeer
Chief Executive Officer

25 April 2016
Colombo

PRoFILE oF chIEF ExEcutIvE oFFIcER

Mohamed Azmeer took over the leadership of the Bank in June 
2014. Prior to that, as the Bank’s Chief Operating Officer, he was 
overseeing the business functions of the Bank’s Consumer, SME, 
Corporate and Treasury divisions. 

Before joining Amãna Bank, Azmeer had gained significant 
exposure to conventional and Islamic banking through his illustrious 
career, both locally and internationally, which spans over 30 years.

Having commenced a career in banking at Commercial Bank of 
Ceylon, Azmeer’s leadership progression and banking intuitiveness 
was a result of his overseas experience, primarily at Citibank, UAE, 
where he had gained the unique experience of both business and 
risk aspects of banking, having overseen such operations at senior 
levels. During such tenure, he also carried out many short overseas 
assignments to countries such as uK, India and Kenya, where he 
acquainted himself to the different dynamics and challenges specific to 
each business and region. At the culmination of his career at Citibank 
he held the position of vice President – Risk for uAE and Oman.

Azmeer’s experience also includes ‘start-ups’ where he was a 
founder member of the erstwhile Dubai Bank which was established 
at the direction of the Dubai Government.

Azmeer’s journey towards Islamic banking was a result of him 
wanting to have this nascent but people friendly concept accepted 
and embraced by a wider audience. In the field of Islamic banking, 
Azmeer’s track record involved holding senior positions at Al-Rajhi 
Bank Saudi Arabia, the largest and leading Islamic Bank in the world 
and Sharjah Islamic Bank, a pioneering bank in uAE and the first 
Islamic bank in the world to fully convert its operations from being a 
conventional entity, in which he was an Executive Vice President.

Azmeer holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from 
the university of Leicester, uK.

Utilising his sound knowledge and wide experience, Azmeer has 
played a key role in guiding Amãna Bank towards the success it has 
reached thus far.
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osman Kassim
Chairman

Osman Kassim is the Chairman of Amãna Bank 
PLC, Sri Lanka’s first and only licensed commercial 
bank to conduct all its operations under the 
principles of Islamic banking. Kassim, a well versed 
personality in Islamic banking and finance, was 
instrumental in introducing the non-interest based 
concept of finance to Sri Lanka with the setting up 
of Amãna Investments in 1997, whose assets and 
liabilities were later on transferred to Amãna Bank 
PLC in 2011. He also sits on the Board of Amãna 
Takaful PLC, the first Islamic insurance company 
in Sri Lanka, as a founder Director.

With over 40 years of senior management 
experience, Kassim was also the founder 
Chairman of the well-established Expolanka 
Group of Companies which is engaged in diverse 
business activities. He currently sits on the Board 
of Expolanka as a Non-Executive Director. 

He is also the Chairman of Asia Pacific 
Institute of Information Technology (APIIT)  
Sri Lanka, set up in collaboration with APIIT 
Malaysia and the Chairman of vidullanka PLC, 
a leading provider of renewable energy to the 
National Grid. He is also a Director of Aberdeen 
Holdings (Pvt) Limited.

He holds an Honorary Doctorate from the 
Staffordshire University in recognition of his 
achievements as both a global entrepreneur and 
visionary educationalist. Furthermore, he sits 
on the Boards of various other companies both 
locally and overseas.

tyeab akbarally 
Deputy Chairman and Non-Executive, 
Non-Independent Director

Tyeab Akbarally is a senior Director of Akbar 
Brothers (Pvt) Limited and its subsidiary companies 
for the past 30 years. Akbar Brothers (Pvt) Limited 
is a diversified group of companies and is the 
leading Tea export company which have won many 
prestigious awards for their export performances. 
He has served as a member of the Executive 
Committee and as a committee member at the 
National Chamber of Commerce. He has also been 
the Chairman of the Spice and Allied Products 
Traders’ Association and Colombo Tea Traders’ 
Association. He has considerable experience in the 
import and export trade and has strong business 
relationships with the Middle Eastern Countries. 
Tyeab Akbarally also holds directorship in other 
public quoted companies.

dato’ a. tajudin B.h.  abdul Rahman 
Senior Director and Non-Executive,  
Independent Director

Dato’ A. Tajudin B.H. Abdul Rahman is the former 
Managing Director of Bank Islam, Malaysia. He holds an 
MBA and a Bachelor’s Honours Degree in Economics. 
He counts over 30 years of banking experience of which 
21 years have been in Islamic banking. He is currently a 
Member of the Sharia Advisory Council of the Securities 
Commission Malaysia and is a Distinguished Fellow 
at the Islamic Economic Development Foundation 
Malaysia. He is also an Academic Fellow at the Islamic 
University Malaysia. The other past positions held by him 
include; Chairman of Syarikat Takaful Malaysia Berhad, 
Founder President of the Association of Islamic Banking 
Institutions Malaysia, Deputy Chairman of the General 
Council for Islamic Banks and Financial Institutions 
Bahrain, and Member of the Accounting and Auditing 
Organisations of Islamic Financial Institutions Bahrain. 
He has won several awards and honours in Malaysia in 
recognition of his contribution to banking and society 
and was conferred the title of Dato’ in 1994 by His 
Majesty the Sultan of Kedah. Other accolades he has 
received include; Deal Maker of the Year Award by 
Islamic Banking and Finance Forum Bahrain and Most 
Outstanding Contributions to Islamic Finance Award by 
Kuala Lumpur International Islamic Finance Forum.
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Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail 
Non-Executive, Independent Director

Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail is a Financial 
Consultant and the current Vice President of 
AAT Sri Lanka. He has served on the Directorate 
of Alhambra Hotels Limited, the Owners  
and Operators of Holiday Inn Colombo.  
He is a Fellow of The Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Sri Lanka and is a Member of the 
Institute of Certified Management Accountants, 
Australia. He is a Nominee of the ICASL on 
the Governing Council of the Association of 
Accounting Technicians of Sri Lanka, of which  
he is also a Fellow Member.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

dr. a.a. Mohamed haroon 
Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director

Dr. A.A. Mohamed Haroon is a graduate of  
King Edward Medical College; Lahore, Pakistan.  
Dr. Haroon is also the Chairman of Lucky 
Group of Companies which is engaged in the 
manufacturing and export of readymade  
garments and textiles, real estate development 
and health care. He was the President of the  
Sri Lanka-Pakistan Friendship Association and 
the Memon Association of Sri Lanka. Dr. Haroon 
practices as a Family Physician in Colombo. He is 
also a Panel Doctor for foreign airlines, foreign 
missions and Hotel Taj Samudra and is a Council 
Member of the Medical Practitioners’ Association.

harsha amarasekara, Pc
Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director

Harsha Amarasekera, President Counsel is a 
leading Lawyer in Sri Lanka having a wide practice 
in the Original Courts as well as in the Appellate 
Courts, specialising in Commercial Law, Business 
Law, Securities Law, Banking Law and Intellectual 
Property Law. He also serves as an Independent 
Director in several listed companies in the 
Colombo Stock Exchange including CIC Holdings 
PLC (Chairman), Chemanex PLC (Chairman), 
vallibel Once PLC, Royal Ceramics Lanka PLC, 
Expolanka Holdings PLC, Chevron Lubricants Lanka 
PLC, Keells Food Products PLC, Amaya Leisure 
PLC and vallibel Power Erathna PLC. He is also the 
Chairman of CIC Agri Business (Pvt) Limited.
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wahid ali Mohd. Khalil 
Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director

Wahid Ali Mohd. Khalil was the former Chief 
Operating Officer, Business Support of Bank 
Islam, Malaysia prior to his retirement in 2014. 
He holds a Master of Science in Economic Crime 
Management and Bachelor of Economics in 
Business Management. He is a Member of the 
Institute of Bankers Malaysia (MIBM) and an 
Associate Member of the Institute of Internal 
Auditors Malaysia (AIIA). He is also a member 
of the Financial Planning Association of Malaysia 
(FPAM) and the Federation of Malaysian unit 
Trust Managers (FMuTM). He joined Bank Islam 
as the Chief Internal Auditor in 2007. Prior to 
joining Bank Islam, he spent 5 years at Affin Bank 
Berhad handling various portfolios, including 
as Chief Internal Auditor, Director, Banking 
Operations and Services, as well as Group Head 
of Operation Risk Management. He also spent 
more than 20 years in HSBC Bank holding various 
positions which included stints at Branches, 
Head Office Departments such as Credit Cards, 
Credit Control, Credit Administration and Trade 
Finance, as well as Deputy Head of Internal Audit.

haseeb ullah Siddiqui 
Non-Executive, Non-Independant Director

Haseeb ullah Siddiqui is currently serving as Lead 
Specialist, Financial Sector Development and 
Inclusion, at the Islamic Development Bank (IDB). 

He brings over 20 years of broad experience 
in banking, project finance, strategy consulting 
and development, with leading organisations like 
American Express Bank, Riyad Bank, Ernst & 
Young and the IDB. At IDB, he currently focuses 
on regulatory reforms and capacity building to 
improve financial sector enabling environment 
and strengthening microfinance supply side and 
governance frameworks to promote financial 
inclusion. He is also responsible for IDB’s 
collaboration with World Bank and the IMF for 
development of financial sector. He also serves  
on the Technical Committee of the Islamic 
Financial Services Board (IFSB) and on the Board 
of International Islamic Financial Market (IIFM).  
He has represented IDB as a Board Member in 
Jaiz Bank (Nigeria). 

Prior to joining IDB, Haseeb was part 
of an award-winning advisory team at E&Y 
Bahrain, focusing on public sector development, 
infrastructure and social housing. In the private 
sector, he advised banks, investment funds, private 
equity and mortgage companies, assisting several 
Boards and C-suite management in strategy, 
capital raising and establishing organisations.  
To manage a strategic relationship, he was asked 
to lead the Waqf Fund at Central Bank of Bahrain, 
charged with developing the Islamic financial 
sector in Bahrain. 

Prior to consulting, he spent 9 years in 
corporate banking and project finance, arranging 
syndicated financing for oil and gas, petrochemical, 
water, power and agriculture sectors. He holds  
an MBA (Finance) from university of Missouri,  
and a BBA (Marketing & Economics) from  
Kansas State university.

Ruzly hussain 
Non-Executive, Independent Director

Ruzly Hussain has over 46 years experience in the 
field of Industry and Trading. He is the Company 
Director/Chairman of M.C. Abdul Rahims & 
Brothers Limited and holds Directorates at 
Worldstar Lanka (Pvt) Limited, Cleansol (Pvt) 
Limited and Free Lanka Media (Pvt) Limited.
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Mohammed wahidul haque 
Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director

Mohammed Wahidul Haque joined the  
Board of Directors of AB Bank Limited on  
12 December 2007 and was subsequently  
elected as the Chairman in July 2008. He also 
holds the Chairmanship of AB Investment  
Limited (ABIL), AB Securities Limited (ABSL) – 
the two capital market subsidiaries of AB Bank, 
Cashlink Bangladesh Limited (CBL) – the EFT 
business platform of AB Bank and AB Exchange 
(uK) Limited. He is a BA and LLB graduate under 
University of Dhaka. He is the present Managing 
Director of Deundi Tea Company (uK) Limited 
and Noyapara Tea Company Limited. The other 
posts he has held are Member – Bangladesh Tea 
Board (Dhaka), Board of Trustees – Plantation 
Employees’ Provident Fund and Cha Sramik 
Kalayan Trust, Government of Bangladesh and Past 
Chairman of Bangladesh Tea Association (BCS).

Rajiv nandlal dvivedi 
Non-Executive, Independent Director

Rajiv Nandlal Dvivedi is currently the CEO of 
Eagle Investments Limited, a privately owned 
Investment and Advisory firm based in Dubai.  
He has over 40 years of Commercial and 
Investment banking, Corporate finance and 
Investments experience. He spent 35 years at 
Citibank in various senior executive positions: 
28 years in Commercial and Investment Banking, 
Corporate Finance and Risk Management in the 
Middle East and 7 years in Consumer Banking 
with Citibank in New York, USA. In addition to 
Amãna Bank, he currently sits on the Board of 
China Rapid Finance (China), Harvest Network 
(China), Accordion Partners (uSA), Candor 
Group of Companies (Sri Lanka) and Eagle 
Investments Limited (uAE). He holds an  
MBA in Finance, Long Island university,  
New York, USA.

Mrs. Samitha dayani de Silva 
Company Secretary 

Mrs. Dayani de Silva was appointed as the 
Company Secretary of Amãna Bank PLC  
w.e.f. 19 March 2016. 

Dayani is a Fellow Member of the Institute 
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators, 
uK and also a Fellow Member of the Institute of 
Chartered Corporate Secretaries of Sri Lanka. 
She had also served as Deputy President of the 
Institute during the term 2011-2012. 

In 1989, she started her professional career at 
Alliance Management Services (Private) Limited 
(which is the Secretarial arm of Alliance Finance 
Company PLC) and served there as the Company 
Secretary for a period of 2 years. She then joined 
the AMW Group of Companies in 1991 and 
took on the responsibility of Company Secretary 
from 2008 after the takeover of the Group by 
a multinational group of companies based in 
Dubai. She was the Company Secretary for both 
AMW Capital Leasing & Finance PLC and Orient 
Insurance Company, from its inception. 

Dayani also served as Secretary to the AMW 
Supervisory Board from its inception.

Other than her wide experience in the 
Company Secretarial field, she has had exposure 
to People Management and CSR Projects.
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Independent Sharia  
Supervisory Council
ash-Sheikh dr. Mufti Muhammad 
Imran ashraf usmani
Chairman, Sharia Supervisory Council

Dr. Mufti Muhammad Imran Ashraf Usmani, son 
of Justice (Retd.) Mufti Muhammad Taqi usmani, 
graduated with specialisation in Islamic Fiqh 
(Islamic jurisprudence) from Jamia Darul-uloom, 
Karachi, where he has been teaching Fiqh since 
1990. He also holds an LLB and Ph.D. in Islamic 
Finance. He is a member of the administration 
board of Jamia Darul-uloom, Karachi.

Presently Dr. usmani is the Resident 
Sharia Board Member at Meezan Bank and is 
responsible for R&D and Product Development 
of Islamic banking products, advisory for Sharia-
compliant banking and supervision of Sharia 
Audit and Compliance.

Dr. usmani has served as an advisor/
member of Sharia Board of several renowned 
institutions since 1997 including the State 
Bank of Pakistan, HSBC – Amãnah Finance, 
UBS – Switzerland, Guidance Financial Group 
uSA, Lloyds TSB Bank – uK, Japan Bank for 
International Cooperation (JBIC), Credit Suisse 
Switzerland, RBS Global, Old Mutual Albarakah 
Equity & Balanced Funds South Africa, AIG 
Takaful, ACR Retakaful Malaysia, Capitas Group 
uSA, Bank of London and Middle East Kuwait, 
BMI Bank Bahrain, Al Khaliji Bank Qatar, 
Sarasin Bank Switzerland, DCD group Dubai 
and other Mutual and Property funds, Takaful 
companies and international Sukuk etc. He is also 
an Executive Committee Member of AAOIFI 
(Dubai) and member of Sharia Supervisory Board 
of International Islamic Financial Market (IIFM) 

Bahrain, Islamic Index Policy Committee, Steering 
Committee for promotion of Islamic Banking 
by Ministry of Finance, International Centre for 
Education in Islamic Finance (INCEIF) Malaysia, 
Institute of Business Administration (IBA), 
Karachi and Centre for Islamic Economics (CIE), 
Karachi. He is also the Chairman of Sharia Board 
of NBP Fullerton Asset Management Company 
and Sharia Advisor of Premier Insurance Limited 
Takaful Window operations. 

Dr. Usmani is the author of numerous 
publications related to Islamic finance and 
other Sharia-related subjects. He has presented 
papers in numerous national and international 
seminars and has delivered lectures at academic 
institutions including Harvard, LSE, LuMS and 
IBA. Dr. Usmani is also the Director of Hira 
Foundation School, a project of Jamia Darul 
uloom Karachi to provide a high standard 
education from Montessori level to University 
level combining conventional modern academics 
with Islamic teachings. He also serves as a 
lecturer of different subjects of Sharia and is 
amongst the administration board of Jamia 
Darul-uloom, Karachi. He is a visiting faculty 
member at Karachi university and IBA. He has 
also been leading Friday khuthbah and prayer at 
a Jamia Mosque for 20 years.

ash-Sheikh ustad Mohd. nazri  
Bin Chik
Vice Chairman, Sharia Supervisory Council

Ash-Sheikh Mohd. Nazri Chik is the General 
Manager/Head of Sharia Division, Bank Islam 
Malaysia. He holds a Master Degree in Sharia 
from University of Malaya and started his career 
as a tutor in the university until he joined Bank 
Islam in June 2004. He left the Bank to join Noor 
Investment Group, Dubai, UAE in September 
2009 as its Sharia Audit Manager. During this 
time, he has been appointed as a member of 
Bank Islam’s Sharia Supervisory Council until he 
rejoined the Bank as its Head of Sharia in January 
2011. He is also the External Sharia Advisor of 
Ghazanfar Bank, Afghanistan; Accredited Panel 
of Finance Accreditation Agency (FAA); Member 
of Professional Practices Bureau, Association 
of Sharia Advisors and Accredited Trainer for 
Islamic Banking and Finance Institute of Malaysia. 
In May 2014, he was selected as the recipient of 
the ‘Promising Young Banker Award 2014’ by the 
Asian Banker Magazine.
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ash-Sheikh M.M.a. Mubarak

Ash-Sheikh M.M.A. Mubarak is the former 
President and present General Secretary of the 
All Ceylon Jamiyyathul Ulema. He is a highly-
learned and respected scholar who holds a 
Bachelor of Islamic Law (Sharia) Degree from 
the Islamic University of Madina Al Munawwara, 
Saudi Arabia. He is a retired Principal of  
Sri Lanka’s leading Arabic College – Al-Ghafooria 
Arabic College of Sri Lanka and is the present 
Chairman of Ash-Shaikh Binbaaz Muslim Ladies 
Arabic College of Malwana, Sri Lanka.

ash-Sheikh Mufti M.I.M. Rizwe

Ash-Sheikh Mufti M.I.M. Rizwe is the President  
of the All Ceylon Jamiyyathul Ulema and is a 
highly-respected scholar and speaker from  
Sri Lanka. He is a Graduate of Jamiyyathul 
uloomil Islamiya, Karachi where he specialised in 
Islamic Jurisprudence. He is a Senior Lecturer of 
the reputed Kulliyathul Rashard Arabic College, 
Colombo and visiting lecturer at several leading 
Arabic colleges. He has been lecturing on Hadees 
and other subjects for more than a decade. 
He is a Member of the Board and Advisor to 
‘Jamiyyah Islamiyya’ at Nimal Road, Colombo, 
the first Arabic College established for students 
in the English Language. He is also a member of 
the Supreme Council of Congress of Religions 
and the present President of the SAARC Halaal 
Council. He is also a member of Sharia Councils 
of several Islamic banks and financial institutions 
in Sri Lanka and Maldives.

ash-Sheikh Mufti Muhammad  
hassaan Kaleem

Ash-Sheikh Muhammad Hassaan Kaleem is a 
permanent faculty member of Jamiah Darul-
uloom, Karachi (a leading Institute of Islamic 
Sciences in Pakistan) and the Centre of Islamic 
Economics, Karachi. He is also a trainer of 
Sharia standards at the Accounting and Auditing 
Organisation for Islamic Financial Institutions 
(AAOIFI), Bahrain and a visiting faculty member 
of the National Institute of Banking and  
Finance (State Bank of Pakistan). Ash-Sheikh 
Muhammad Hassaan Kaleem is a Sharia Board 
member of Pak Kuwait Takaful Company 
Limited, Pak Qatar Family Takaful, Deloitte 
(Global Islamic Finance Team), Siraj uBL Funds, 
Hanover Retakaful Bahrain and Takaful Emirate 
and has served many years as a Sharia Advisor 
to Al Baraka Islamic Bank (Pakistan Operations) 
and various Sukuk issues. He is also a member 
of the Committee for Revising the Takaful 
Rules 2005, formed by Security and Exchange 
Commission of Pakistan. He holds an Alimiyyah 
(Masters in Islamic Sciences) and Takhassus 
(Specialisation in Fatwa) Degree from  
Darul-uloom, Karachi.

INDEPENDENT SHARIA SuPERvISORy COuNCIL



22

Mohamed azmeer
Chief Executive Officer

M.M.S. Quvylidh
Vice President – Operations and  

SME Banking

M. Pharis Jazeel
Vice President – Treasury and 

Financial Institutions

amrit canagaRetna
Vice President – Business Banking

ajmal naleer
Chief Risk Officer

Preeni Koralege
Chief Legal Officer

M. ali wahid
Chief Financial Officer

chandralal wickramapathirana
Chief Information Officer

M. Irshad halaldeen
Vice President – Administration and 

Business Process Re-Engineering

Shahul hameed giado
Chief Internal Auditor

Siddeeque akbar
Vice President – Consumer Banking and 

Strategic Marketing

Irshad Iqbal
Chief Compliance Officer

Management Committee
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Mahesha thirimanne
Head of Legal

chaminda de Silva
Head of Leasing and Home Finance

Rajitha dissanayake
Asst. Vice President – IT 

Numair Cassim
Asst. Vice President – Internal Audit

Nista Badurdeen
Asst. Vice President –  

Central Operations and Trade Services

J. tariq Mahmud 
Acting Head of Sharia Supervision

Fazly Marikar
Head of Strategic Planning and New 

Product Initiatives

Assistant Vice Presidents and Heads of Departments
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Profiles of Strategic Shareholders
BanK ISLaM MaLaYSIa BERhad

Since its inception in July 1983, Bank Islam has 
not only become the symbol of Islamic banking 
in Malaysia, it has also played an integral role 
in setting the stage for a robust growth of the 
country’s Islamic financial services industry. 
True to its pioneering and innovative heritage, 
Bank Islam is committed to its role as a leading 
vehicle in transforming Malaysia into a global 
Islamic financial hub. To this end, Bank Islam 
continuously develops and introduces trend-
setting financial solutions, some of which are the 
first-of-its-kind in the world or at least in the 
region in widening the breadth of its innovative 
end-to-end Sharia-based financial products 
and services, comparable to that offered by its 
conventional counterparts. 

Today, Bank Islam parades a wide-ranging list 
of more than 70 innovative and sophisticated 
Islamic financial products and services as well as a 
fast growing network of 144 branches and more 
than 1,000 self-service terminals nationwide.  
In recognition of its prominence in the industry, 
Bank Islam was awarded the Reader’s Digest 
Platinum Award for being the Most Trusted 
Brand for Islamic Financial Services for five 
consecutive years from 2009 to 2011.

aB BanK LIMItEd BangLadESh

AB Bank is known as one of Bangladesh’s 
leading private banks since its commencement  
34 years ago. It continues to remain updated 
with the latest products and services, 
considering consumer and client perspectives. 
AB Bank has thus been able to keep their 
consumer’s and client’s trust while upholding 
their reliability, across time. AB Bank has 
established its presence in 101 different 
Business Centres of the country, one foreign 
Branch in Mumbai, India and also established 
a wholly-owned Subsidiary Finance Company 
in Hong Kong in the name of AB International 
Finance Limited. To facilitate cross border trade 
and payment-related services, the Bank has 
correspondent relationship with over  
220 international banks of repute across  
58 countries of the World.

aKBaR BRothERS (Pvt) LIMItEd

Export of Internationally renowned Sri Lankan 
Teas, being their core business, Akbar Brothers 
has successfully diversified into a range of 
sectors through strategic reinvention and 
expansion, and today, the Group has a firm 
presence in the sectors of Tea Export, Power 
Generation, Healthcare, Packaging, Property 
Development and Environmental Services. 
Akbar Brothers rank proudly as the largest 
exporter of Ceylon Tea in the country, a 
position held for the past 20 consecutive 
years, and has been the recipient of many top 
national and international awards over the years 
including the prestigious Presidential Award for 
Sri Lanka Exporter of the year, for outstanding 
exports to over 90 countries worldwide.

ISLaMIc dEvELoPMEnt BanK 
SaudI aRaBIa

The Islamic Development Bank is an 
international financial institution established in 
pursuance of the Declaration of Intent issued by 
the Conference of Finance Ministers of Muslim 
Countries held in Jeddah in December 1973. 
The functions of the Bank are to participate in 
equity capital and grant loans for productive 
projects and enterprises besides providing 
financial assistance to member countries 
in other forms for economic and social 
development. The Bank is authorised to  
accept deposits and to mobilise financial 
resources through Sharia compatible modes. 
The present membership of the Bank consists  
of 56 countries. The vision of the Bank is  
‘To be the leader in fostering socio-economic 
development in member countries and Muslim 
communities in non-member countries in 
conformity with Sharia’. The IDB Group is 
committed to alleviating poverty; promoting 
human development; science and technology; 
Islamic economics; banking and finance; and 
enhancing co-operation amongst member 
countries, in collaboration with its  
development partners.

ExPoLanKa hoLdIngS PLc

Expolanka’s origins date back to the 1970’s, 
as an exporter of fresh produce. Now more 
than 40 years later, Expolanka Holdings is one 
of Sri Lanka’s finest award-winning enterprises 
that have achieved phenomenal successes. 
The Company is listed in the Main Board of 
the Colombo Stock Exchange as a diversified 
conglomerate. With diversified interests 
in Freight & Logistics, Travel & Leisure, 
International Trading & Manufacturing and 
Strategic Investments sectors, the Group,  
which has a global presence in over 12 
countries and 38 cities, has 60 subsidiaries and 
joint venture companies. 

The Group firmly believes that 
entrepreneurship and business values need to 
go hand in hand to grow successful, sustainable 
businesses as Expolanka’s businesses have 
been built on a solid foundation of values, 
which has remained the bedrock of its 
operations. Expolanka’s ‘dare to do’ spirit has 
enabled the Company to transcend ordinary 
entrepreneurship and be in the forefront of idea 
and innovation in today’s business sector not 
only in Sri Lanka, but also in the international 
arena. In 2014, the Group reached a strategic 
partnership with SG Holdings Group, a leading 
logistics group in Japan which includes Sagawa 
Express, one of the largest delivery companies 
in Japan. SG Holdings Group has a presence in 
the Asian Region with 24 locally-incorporated 
subsidiaries in 14 countries outside Japan 
including China, Vietnam and Singapore.
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The financial year of 2015, will go down in the history books of  

Amãna Bank as a momentous year at the end of which the Bank 

recorded its first annual core business profit.

FInancIaL PERFoRMancE

As the country began a phase of consolidation 
after recording growth rates in excess of 7% 
during 2013 and 2014, Your Bank made the 
most of the opportunities available in the 
market to post its first core business profit in 
a financial year after commencing operations in 
August 2011. Core banking business performed 
well amidst shrinking margins with competition 
at its peak, which enabled the business segments 
to perform at their best, bringing fruitful results. 
Market rates remained stable for most part 
of 2015, whilst the Sri Lankan Rupee felt the 
pressure throughout the year with increased 
uS Dollar outflows, after it depreciated by 9% 
during the year under review.

The Bank’s total asset base, making its march 
towards the LKR 50 Billion milestone, reached 
LKR 47.8 Billion at the close of 2015, moving 
up from LKR 34.9 Billion in 2014, showcasing 
a noteworthy increase of 37.2%. Customer 
financing grew from LKR 25.4 Billion in 2014, 
to end 2015 at LKR 33.1 Billion and recorded a 
significant growth of 30.1%. Consumer and SME 
segments were the main areas of focus, in line 
with the Strategic Plan of the Bank. Customer 
deposits kept pace with the overall growth 
of the Bank by recording healthy numbers in 
2015. The portfolio grew by 32.1% to complete 
2015 at LKR 38.6 Billion from LKR 29.2 Billion 
in 2014, which once again demonstrates the 
depositor confidence your Bank has been able 
to build over the years. All this meant that 
the Bank operated at an optimum level with 
an Advance to Deposit ratio of 86% in 2015 
compared to 87% last year.
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The financial year of 2015, will go down 
in the history books of Amãna Bank as a 
momentous year at the end of which the 
Bank recorded its first annual core business 
profit. Successful implementation of financing 
and deposit mobilisation strategies paid rich 
dividends as the Bank recorded a post-tax profit 
of LKR 158.6 Million for the year under review, 
compared to the loss of LKR 80.2 Million 
recorded in 2014. This increase meant that 
post-tax profits grew by a remarkable 297.6%, 
which moved the earnings per share to positive 
territory to LKR 0.13 from a negative  
LKR 0.06 last year. Net financing income from 

core banking activities continued to impress 
with a growth of 22.4% from LKR 1.2 Billion 
a year ago to LKR 1.4 Billion in 2015, which 
was a result of enhanced customer financing 
numbers and the Bank maintaining one of the 
highest Current Accounts and Savings Accounts 
(CASA) ratios in the industry. Net fee and 
commission income grew by a steady 21.7% 
from LKR 138.4 Million in 2014 to LKR 168.5 
Million. This stream of income has been given 
high priority in the Strategic Plan of the Bank 
and the business units are making every effort 
to increase the contribution from fee based 
income and are confident that this could be 
achieved by leveraging on existing clientele 
and expanding the correspondent banking 
network. Gains from foreign exchange trading 
and other operating income ensured that the 
total operating income of the Bank reached 
LKR 2.0 Billion from LKR 1.6 Billion, a year 
ago. Continuous all-round efforts to keep the 
non-performing advances at a minimal level, 
reaped good results with the cost of impairment 
being limited to LKR 2.8 Million for 2015, 
compared to LKR 94.6 Million in 2014. The 
Bank closed the year under review with a net 
operating income of LKR 2.0 Billion, with the 
comparative figure being LKR 1.5 Billion, up by a 
commendable 31.1%.

Business and Operations Review



26

Amãna Bank PLC    Annual Report 2015

LKR Million

NET FINANCING INCOME

’12 ’13 ’14 ’15

0

300

600

900

1,200

1,500

Containing costs remains an important item 
in our agenda and through shared responsibility 
and close monitoring, the Bank was able to 
restrict the year-on-year growth in total 
operating expenses to 7.5%, when it incurred 
LKR 1.7 Billion. Taking all of the above into 
consideration, the Bank posted an impressive 

LKR 370.9 Million as operating profit, a 
complete turnaround from last year’s operating 
loss of LKR 0.9 Million. vAT on Financial 
Services and Nation Building Tax amounted 
to LKR 152.2 Million, resulting in a pre-tax 
profit of LKR 218.7 Million and after deducting 
Tax expenses of LKR 60.1 Million, the Bank 
recorded a post-tax profit for the year  
of LKR 158.6 Million marking a remarkable 
turnaround after it posted a loss of LKR 80.2 
Million in 2014. Other comprehensive income 
for 2015 amounted to LKR 538.1 Million, mainly 
driven by the revaluation gain from the Bank’s  
Property, which contributed LKR 533.3 Million 
and with the post-tax profit, the Bank ended 
2015 with a total comprehensive income of  
LKR 696.7 Million.

conSuMER BanKIng

deposit Mobilisation

Consumer banking accounts for approximately 
93% of total deposits. The Bank grew this 
portfolio in 2015, capitalising on its existing 
reach, diverse product range and growing 
customer base. 

The key focus in 2015 was to ensure that 
the Bank sustained long term deposits through 
its Term Investment offerings, which resulted in 
a portfolio growth of 41.5%. 

Other focus areas included the Bank’s 
propositions towards High Net-Worth 
customers, Non-Resident Sri Lankans as well as 
segments catered by our Ladies, Senior Citizen, 
Children and Salary Savings Propositions.

Towards growing its Non-Resident  
Sri Lankan segment and Remittance platform, 
the Bank embarked on two international 
roadshows in Qatar and uAE, where the 
Bank was successful in introducing its unique 
products and services to the diaspora market. 
The Bank’s Foreign Currency Account portfolio 
grew by 173%, whilst recording an Inward 
Remittance value of LKR 2.0 Billion. 

Supported by the launch of a revamped 
Amãna Bank Prestige Centre, the Bank’s high 
net worth platform performed substantially well 
during the year.

The Bank’s Children’s Savings Portfolio 
grew by 32%, while Ladies and Senior Citizen 
propositions, grew by LKR 575 Million and  
LKR 1.2 Billion respectively. The Bank’s Salary 
Savings customer accounts increased by 68%  
in 2015.

BuSINESS AND OPERATIONS REvIEW
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CONSUMER BANKING DEPOSITS

Consumer Financing

Having recorded a 65% increase in 2015, the 
Bank’s Vehicle Finance proposition, fuelled by 
aggressive marketing, faster turnaround times 
and competitive pricing continued to lead the 
growth in consumer financing. The Bank’s 
Housing Finance portfolio also achieved a 
substantial growth contributing to the overall 
financing portfolio.

The Bank’s Personal Financing portfolio 
led by the Easy Payment Plan Scheme, which 
provides financing to purchase furniture, 
electronics, household appliances and other 
items, grew by 86% during the year. 

The Gold Certificate Financing product, 
which caters to the financing needs of those at 
the grass roots level, recorded a remarkable 
growth in 2015. Having started the year with 
only one branch offering this alternative for 
conventional pawning, the Gold Certificate 
Financing solution was expanded to 11 more 
branches, which resulted in a staggering growth 
of 341% for the year under review. 

Despite the accelerated growth, Consumer 
Financing continued to maintain a healthy  
Non-Performing Advances ratio, recording 
0.62% by the year end.
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Offering Convenience

The Bank continued to invest in many initiatives to 
offer greater customer convenience during 2015.

Off-site ATMs were set up at 4 strategic 
locations, thereby giving greater access 
to customers to withdraw funds. The 
locations include Mt. Lavinia, Addalaichenai, 
Maruthamunai and Colombo 4. A second ATM 
was also installed at the Bank’s Main Branch in  
Colombo 3. The Bank’s very own ATM  
network at end of 2015 stood at 27 ATMs.

Opening of ATM at Addalaichenai

Opening of ATM at Maruthamunai

Internet Banking was introduced in the 
latter part of the year. With the introduction 
of this much waited service, customers are 
offered the convenience of performing a host 
of banking functions from the comfort of their 
home or office. In the initial phase, customers 
can have online access to any of their deposit 
and advance accounts, view account details and 
personal information, view and print account 
statements, enable standing order transactions 
and transfer funds within own accounts and any 
accounts within the Bank.

Amãna Bank Prestige Centre was relocated 
to a more spacious location at the first floor 
of the Main Branch in Colombo 3. With the 
relocation, Amãna Bank Prestige offers state-of-
the-art comfort and convenience to the Bank’s 
high net worth customers, which include Safety 
Locker and Meeting Room facilities.

Card Business

Having launched the VISA Debit Card in 
2014, the Bank focused on growing its Cards 
proposition with value additions and benefits. 
In order for customers to be notified of their 
Debit Card usage, the Bank introduced Debit 
Card SMS alert facility, where customers are 
informed of their payment or withdrawal value 
and current balance. 
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 In 2015, the Bank got onboard over 50 
merchants from categories such as dining, travel 
and shopping to offer discounts for customer 
purchases. Further, the Bank carried out a Bill 
Wipe out campaign in the latter part of the year, 
where 45 customers got their total spending 
upto a maximum of LKR 5,000/- refunded.

At the end of the year, the Bank had a Debit 
Card base of 36,588 customers, recording 
a significant growth of 140% from 2014. In 
addition to this, over 35,000 customers are in 
possession of the Bank’s ATM card.

A winner of the Debit Card Bill Wipe Out promotion

BuSInESS BanKIng

The Bank’s Business Banking unit (BBu) focused 
on achieving growth through strengthening 
relationships with existing customers and new 
acquisitions to increase market penetration. 
Cross-sell opportunities were pursued in 
order to increase the wallet share by providing 
bundled financing, investment and transactional 
banking products. BBU recorded highly 
satisfactory results in 2015, amidst shrinking 
financing margins in the industry. 

The export and import sectors of the 
country recorded negative growths of 5.6% 
and 2.5% respectively, during the year. Imports 
were heavily affected by tax increases and 
restrictions imposed on concessionary duty 
permits for vehicle imports, etc. The drop in 
oil prices reduced the purchasing power of 
Middle East countries, resulting in a contraction 
of demand for tea exports. The demand for 
natural rubber exports too were affected due 
to a drop in synthetic rubber prices. Despite 
the above, the Fee Income of BBU generated 
through import and export business grew by 
18%, demonstrating an encouraging upward 

trend. Moreover, BBU also played a leading 
role in financing several Mega Development 
Projects in areas such as Construction, Aviation, 
Renewable Energy Projects, Health and  
Agri-related Industries.

During the year under review, the Bank 
focused on strengthening its presence in the 
Trade business, primarily in agricultural and 
industrial sectors, through targeted marketing 
to new customers to expand the Corporate/
SME Banking Portfolio. Focusing on these 
sectors also allowed the Bank to pursue  
cross-sell opportunities by offering outward/
inward remittance services and transactional 
banking services to Trade Services customers. 

The Customer Relationship Management 
Process was also structured to develop 
relationships at multiple levels, facilitating 
a better understanding of the client’s 
requirements, positioning the Bank for  
growth and enhanced performance.

The new look Amãna Bank Prestige Centre



29

Amãna Bank PLC    Annual Report 2015

0

10

5

25

15

20

LKR Billion

BUSINESS BANKING ASSETS

’12 ’13 ’14 ’15

A key thrust area in the Bank’s strategic 
growth agenda, the SME Portfolio of Advances 
increased during the year from LKR 8.7 Billion 
to LKR 12.8 Billion, reflecting a healthy growth 
of 46% and is one of the Bank’s primary growth 
drivers. The SME proposition was rolled 
out through the Bank’s branches, enabling 
penetration in geographies outside the  
Western Province. 

The growing focus on long term and short 
term facilities, was also seen as the best way 
to ensure that the quality of the portfolio is 
maintained. Towards this end, despite an overall 
YoY growth of 15% in BBU advances, the NPA 
ratio stood at 1.03% as at 31 December 2015.

Reflective on this trend, the Business 
Banking Unit contributed 57.8% to the total 
income of the Bank in the year 2015.

tREaSuRY and FInancIaL 
InStItutIonS

During the year, the success of the Bank’s 
Treasury Division can be attributed to the 
increase in Foreign Exchange business, coupled 
with competitive strategic pricing initiatives 
and continuing to be prudent in managing 
the Banks’ treasury assets, particularly from 
the perspective of ‘profit rate risk’. Another 
initiative taken was, to be a proactive portfolio 
manager by providing liquidity to the business 
units by negotiating increased funding lines 

to help complement the asset growth of the 
Bank and liquidity management under the ALM 
process to drive long term funding to minimise 
mismatches of assets and liabilities arising from 
liquidity risk.

As at 31 December 2015, Treasury  
assets comprised 26% of the Bank’s total  
assets. Despite the fall in market premium, 
Amãna Bank’s Treasury Division continued  
to enjoy strong performance with revenue  
of LKR 517.1 Million or 18% of the total 
financing income, led by strong non-fund based 
Treasury income.

The Financial Institutions (FI) Department 
forms an integral part of Treasury. The FI 
Department is instrumental in establishing 
Correspondent Banking Relationships and  
also serves as a central point of contact for  
all Financial Institutions around the globe. 
During the financial year 2015, the FI 
Department established seven new RMA’s 
(Relationship Management Application) and 
opened four Nostro accounts to facilitate and 
develop the Bank’s Trade Finance, Remittances 
and Treasury solutions.

StRatEgIc PLannIng and 
nEw PRoduct InItIatIvES 
dEPaRtMEnt 

The Bank’s 5-year Strategic Plan, articulated by 
the Corporate Management Committee and 
approved by the Board in 2014, was reviewed 
and realigned in 2015, which brought into nexus 
the key elements that were essential in taking 
the Bank to new levels of performance. An 
off-site residential Strategic Plan Review Session 
was organised by the department for all key 
members of the Management Committee and 
Senior Management, to facilitate this annual 
review. Being resolute in strategy and execution 
through systematic tracking, enabled the Bank as 
a whole to achieve a more coherent, logical and 
strong operational model and set the Bank on a 
strong growth platform. The implementation of 
the strategy was monitored throughout the year 
with regular evaluations of actual achievements. 

The New Product Initiatives function, in 
collaboration with relevant SBUs, focused 
towards matching the wide array of solutions 
made available by the mature conventional 
players of the industry and catering to the 

unmet needs of the core market, un-banked and 
under-banked segments subject to Sharia and 
regulatory approvals and changes in the legal 
framework to accommodate products.

oPERatIonS and BuSInESS 
SuPPoRt

The Bank’s products and services are designed 
to provide superior services and value to all 
customers employing the best practices in the 
industry to exceed customer expectation.

The Bank’s operational and business 
model is different from that of other banks. 
Customer numbers and other statistical figures 
are an important benchmark to the Bank’s 
success, while being governed by the highest 
ethical standards, principles of integrity and 
transparency serving all Sri Lankans without any 
partiality whatsoever.

It is the Bank’s main focus not only to 
preserve but to expand its market share, while 
maintaining this unique concept of Banking.

Due to the increase in development and 
business activities, the Mawanella branch 
was overhauled with additional space and 
the Akurana branch was relocated to a new 
premises to enhance customer convenience 
during 2015.

To ensure better compliances of guidelines 
on Know your Customer (KyC) and Anti-
Money Laundering (AML), the Bank introduced 
a new AML software – COMPASS – which 
was implemented in 2015, to track and identify 
potential transactions pertaining to money 
laundering and financing of terrorism activities. 

Additionally, an effective approach to obtain 
KyC forms of customers based on value, 
proved a success by completing 99% of the 
customer accounts. 

A much needed awareness on cyber security 
on information security, was shared by the IT 
Department on ‘insights to overcoming cyber 
security challenges’ to branch operational staff 
and customers.

In conjunction with the Risk Department, 
a series of Risk Control and Self-Assessment 
(RCSA) workshops were conducted to branch 
managers on how to perform the RCSA with 
the objective to provide and establish RCSA 
standards, methodologies and tools.

BuSINESS AND OPERATIONS REvIEW
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Accepting the first deposit at newly relocated Akurana branch

BuSINESS AND OPERATIONS REvIEW

In order to reduce the Banks potential 
risk ‘Signature Custodians’ were set up in 
the branches and in the business units for 
the ‘guaranteeing of the validity of customer 
signatures’, if and when necessary, that the 
signature is authentic. This is in the interest of 
maintaining good customer relationships and to 
improve security and control. 

The Bank also remained customer  
focused by expanding reach and convenience 
through the installation of off-site ATMs in the  
following locations:

 z Fantasia Building – Mount Lavinia

 z Amãna Takaful Building – Kollupitiya

 z Addalaichenai – New Shopping Complex, 
Pradeshiya Sabha Building

 z Maruthumunai – Ceypetco Fuel Station

Opening of ATM at Fantasia premises

Opening of ATM at Amãna Takaful premises

Training programmes have been conducted 
by external resource personnel to all levels 
of staff on operational guidelines/processes/
practices and where necessary it has been 
cascaded to lower staff.

Central Processing 

The ‘Hub & Spoke Model’, which is a 
segregation of the Processing Units from the 
Business Units; has been a successful operation 
over the period 2010 to 2015. The cohesion of 
the seven processing units below, have enabled 
the Bank to keep to the highest standards 
in Banking practice and serve the customers 
effectively. In addition, the processing units 
have maintained strict discipline by adhering to 
operational procedures, policies, compliance, 
audit and regulatory requirements. Due to the 
focus on continuous improvement there has 
been process efficiency and greater access to 
MIS. These consequently enabled improved 
turnaround time and provision of valuable 
feedback to Business Units and Management.

The Central Processing unit (CPu) 
continues with training programmes in-house, 
especially to the new entrants in the back office, 
to facilitate better and efficient performance. 
The rotation of staff members within the CPU 
Departments are regular and effective; to 
facilitate leave, contingencies, along with staff 
development. Those with suitable aptitudes 
have also been given opportunities to move to 
other areas of the Bank, with a view to provide 
career development and new challenges. 
Operational Staff members from branches have 
visited the CPU in order to obtain a better 
understanding of the processes and similarly, 
the key staff members from the CPU have 
visited most of the branches to familiarise 
themselves with their operations and acquaint 
themselves with the branch staff members.

It is pertinent to note that during the year 
2015, there has been an average increase of 
109% in transaction volumes at the Processing 
Unit, with only an increase of 7% in the  
staff cadre during the same period; made 
possible due to process efficiency and system 
improvements, at the CPU. 
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Percentage Increase in Transaction Volumes 
at the Processing Units, for the period 2014  
to 2015:

1. Clearing 66% 

2. Account Processing and  
Ancillary Services 10%

3. Cash and Remittances 240%

4. Facility Disbursements 135%

5. Treasury Back Office 93%

6. Swift Operations 92%

7. Trade Services 130%

Offshore Banking

The Bank’s close relationships and 
understanding of the customer’s needs and 
prompt attention to same has helped it to 
increase the Offshore Banking base.

Comparing with the previous years, last year 
has produced an increase in demand for credit 
and the Offshore Banking unit was able to make a 
significant contribution to the Bank’s profitability. 

To support its international activities, 
the Bank continued to expand its network 
of foreign Bank relationships to Standard 
Chartered Ny, Mashreq Bank Ny and May  
Bank Malaysia. 

The Bank will continue to work at 
maintaining and developing relationships with 
other Banks and financial institutions worldwide.

InFoRMatIon tEchnoLogY

Information Technology has further enabled 
the Bank to continue the innovation process 
begun in the previous years through substantial 
investment in technology. The Bank continues 
to primarily focus on the use of technology 
for the benefit of customers, for regulatory 
compliance and to reduce information security 
risks and threats. Much work has been done 
in improving the front end customer facing 
systems, enhancing customer experience and 
the productivity of the staff. 

One of the new technology based channels 
launched in 2015, was the Internet Banking for 
Retail Customers. One other key customer 

convenience facility introduced during the year, 
was the internally developed SMS Alerts system. 
The basic system installed in the previous 
year was enhanced to cover all POS and ATM 
transactions and reversals giving our customers 
peace of mind when they use their Amãna VISA 
Debit Card.

With the introduction of Lanka Money 
Transfer (LMT) Inward remittance system 
together with DFCC Bank, remitting money 
to Sri Lanka is now fast and easy for our 
customers. Money is received directly to the 
beneficiaries’ bank account and withdrawal 
is easy and convenient without filling forms. 
Customers can draw out through ATMs using 
their Debit Card or use it at a POS merchant. 

While enhancing the customer reach and 
convenience, technology solutions enriched the 
system reliability and process improvements at 
every touchpoint too. Combined Statements to 
Customers, Salary Upload System for Corporate 
Customers, Lead Management System and 
Customs Link Enhancements are a few other 
IT based technology initiatives implemented 
during the year. The IT team with the support 
of vendors, delivered a new set of customer 
focussed products such as Amãna Savings Plan, 
Flexi Term Investments etc. during the year.

Among the other key IT systems launched 
in order to conform to regulatory compliance 
in 2015, were Anti-Money Laundering (AML), 
Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA), 
Know your Customer (KyC) and Fraud 
Management Systems. 

The Bank has also identified the importance 
of information security including cyber security, 
as risks and threats are on the rise with the 
growth of financial transactions in cyberspace. 
As these escalating threats are now becoming 
more sophisticated, the Bank has started 
focussing on higher vigilance and allocated 
investment in resources to thwart them. The 
Bank has raised IT Security awareness levels 
among the Bank staff which is also being 
extended to Bank’s customers as well. 

IT has helped the Bank to progress in a  
cost effective manner in technological 
investments with several cost containment 

initiatives, together with effective vendor 
management, through properly monitored 
outsourced and service level agreements.

The Bank will continue to innovate and 
adopt the latest developments in technology, 
while differentiating from the competitors, to 
meet the evolving needs of the customers and 
for the benefit of all stakeholders.

huMan RESouRcES

The Bank’s vision, mission and strategic plan 
are applied across every facet of business 
operations to promote a performance driven 
culture within the Bank. The Bank’s goal is 
to aspire at all times, to become the most 
competitive entity through compassionate 
management of its Human Capital. The Bank 
considers people as its most valuable asset 
and it is evident that staff engagement and 
commitment has been a crucial contributor  
to the Bank’s success.

 The Bank has been bestowed with a 
significant base of knowledge assets, which  
has enabled the Bank to deliver consistent  
value over the past year. The Bank’s skilled  
and knowledgeable workforce positively impacts 
on organisational performance; the Bank 
believes employee growth results in a highly 
motivated and committed workforce, that 
is demonstrated by greater productivity and 
higher job satisfaction.

Performance Management 

The Bank encourages its people to work 
with their maximum potential and bring out 
suggestions that would further streamline 
our business processes, while contributing 
towards the success of the Bank. As a result, 
the performance appraisal forms of Junior 
Executives and those ranked below, were 
redesigned and enriched with much more 
effective goals. This enables the staff members 
to form an outline of their collective goals in 
much clearer terms and thereby, helps them 
execute the goals with best possible efforts. 

BuSINESS AND OPERATIONS REvIEW
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Employee Relations 

The Bank’s primary objective is to strengthen 
the employer-employee relationship. We 
believe, maintaining good employee relations 
helps reduce work place conflict, raise staff 
morale and increase overall productivity. 
Staff concerns are always taken into account, 
while ensuring that the interests of both 
employee and employer have been saved. All 
policies and procedures to be followed by staff 
members have been put together in the Human 
Resources Policy, in order to reinforce  
the relationship between the Bank and the  
staff members. 

Employee Benefits

The employees of the Bank are subjected 
to annual performance appraisals, which are 
used to remunerate them. In addition, they 
are also entitled for bonuses based on their 
performances and special Ex Gratia is paid at the 
beginning of the month of Ramadan. Further, 
staff members have been granted Housing, 
Vehicle, Education and Easy Payment facilities at 
concessionary rates.

Staff transfers

Based on the emerging business needs from 
time to time, staff members are transferred 
to vacant positions within Branches and 
Departments, to ensure efficient and effective 
productive workflow. Staff members are given 
an opportunity to expose themselves, while 
acquiring knowledge and career development.

grievance handling 

The objective of the policy is to identify, appraise 
and provide solutions for grievances arising 
out of one’s employment. We have made our 
maximum efforts to ensure that the number 
of grievances is at extremity. Emphasis is made 
to provide amicable solutions with a view to 
nurturing healthy employee relations by handling 
grievances fairly, sensitively and expeditiously. 

Employee welfare 

We are always committed to provide an 
environment that enriches the mental, physical, 
social and spiritual well-being of our staff 
members. Several efforts have been carried 
out during the year 2015, to ensure employee 
welfare by conducting various programmes 
across the Bank. 

Medical Camp conducted for staff

talent acquisition and Selection

Our goal for the year 2015, was focused 
towards acquiring the right mix of talent and 
to ensure timely provision of staff. Recruitment 
has shown a steady increase in 2015, when 
compared to the previous years. A total of 
198 staff were recruited in 2015, to ensure 
smooth functioning of business and operations. 
Our objective is to provide opportunities to 
young and dynamic individuals, who have shown 
interest in joining the banking arena and to 

build a cohort of individuals to take up higher 
responsibilities in the future, as depicted in the 
graph below:
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New Employees Recruited

2015

Category
No. of 

Employees
Percentage 

(%)

Senior Managers 1 1

Managers 14 7

Executive Officers 26 13

Junior Executive 
Officers 29 15

Trainee Banking 
Associates 73 37

Business Development 
Officers 55 28

total 198 100

BuSINESS AND OPERATIONS REvIEW
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Staff Strength

The staff strength for the year 2015 was 644, 
this is a measured increase compared to the 
previous year 2014. Staff is encouraged to apply 
internally to fill in the void created  
via attrition which in turn is a strategy that 
showed positive results. External recruitments 
for experienced positions were kept at a 
minimal pace. 

STAFF STRENGTH – 2015
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Staff Strength

2015

Category
No. of 

Employees
Percentage 

(%)

Management Committee 12 2

Senior Managers 19 3

Managers 84 13

Executive Officers 168 26

Junior Executive Officers 210 33

Trainee Banking Associates 88 14

Business Development  
Officers 54 8

Office Assistants 9 1

total 644 100
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STAFF STRENGTH – BY AGE

Staff Strength – By Age

2015

Category
No. of 

Employees
Percentage 

(%)

61 and Above 10 2

51-60 27 4

41-50 63 10

31-40 172 27

21-30 329 51

20 and Below 43 7

total 644 100

training and development

Training and Development (T&D) and Staff 
engagement activities have grown enormously 
by training employees on their current jobs and 
focusing on development – preparing employees 
for future roles and responsibilities.

During the latter part of 2014 and the 
beginning of 2015, the required training was 
identified via Training Need Analysis (TNA), 
focused groups via Heads of Departments, 
Branch Managers and Senior Management Staff 
that paved the way to develop the training 
calendar covering all the required areas. All 
programmes are directed and are in line with 
the Bank’s overall strategy. 

Outbound Training

Our key area of focus on training and 
development for 2015 was on Career 
Development, which is an ongoing process of 
enhancing skills and knowledge including job 
mastery and professional development coupled 
with career planning activities such as: 

 z Career Development and Guidance Training

 z Core-Banking System and Excel Workshops

 z Individual Development Counselling 

Career Development which was an  
ongoing process for staff, required 
encouragement and support in reviewing and 
reassessing individual deployment goals aligned 
to the Bank’s objectives. 

T&D team played a key role to provide 
valuable feedback and learning activities 
whilst optimising resources in uplifting the 
competences of Amãna staff. 

2015 marked a significant year for T&D  
with an average satisfaction score of 86%  
along with 2092 man-days completed by  
31 December 2015.

Below is the numerical snapshot of the 
progress of training and development for the 
year 2015.

BuSINESS AND OPERATIONS REvIEW
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MAIN CATEGORIES

OF PROGRAMMES

Technical – 81%

Interpersonal – 19%

NuMBER OF TRAINING PROGRAMMES – 2015

Marketing  1
IT  7
Risk  5
Sharia  15
Trade  5
Credit  10
Administration  4
Audit  4
Compliance  6
Consumer  2
Treasury  10
Finance  8
HR  1
Interpersonal  8
Operations  7
Leadership  22
Legal  2
Mandatory  32

Internal – 44%

External – 56%

RESOURCE PERSONS

BuSINESS AND OPERATIONS REvIEW

Employee Engagement
In the year 2015, the T&D team was part of 
conducting a few career guidance sessions for 
schools highlighting the importance ‘Planning for 
the Future’.

Career guidance event

We are looking forward to 2016 to revamp the 
training and development function via redefining 
talent. We wish to launch innovative and 
exciting programmes by enabling staff to witness 
the modern art of learning and development 
through systematic identification of training 
needs which will be bridged by market 
expertise, internal and external facilitators.

‘we care’ Initiative 

Having launched this initiative in 2014, the Bank 
formed a dedicated team with a mandate of 
instilling a service excellence culture across the 
Bank. This team, which constitutes employees 
from cross functional departments, initiated 
many projects during the year to meet its 
varying objectives. Highlighted below are some 
of the key initiatives of the team. 

In order to inculcate a customer service 
ethos amongst all staff, the ‘We Care’ team 
carried out and internal communication 
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campaign using the Bank’s Vision and Mission. 
To this end, the team also revamped the Bank’s 
induction programme with a greater emphasis 
on service.

With a view to guide customers who visit 
the Bank’s branches, the team initiated the 
‘Floor Walker’ concept in selected high-traffic 
branches. Using digital technology to receive 
instant customer feedback, the team put in place 
Customer Feedback Tabs at select high traffic 
branches. Through this platform, customers 
could express the level of satisfaction of their 
service experience with the relevant customer 
touch point.

The team also established a platform 
for rewarding and recognising staff for their 
extraordinary display of customer service 
also known as a ‘We Care’ Moment with spot 
rewards and sharing of their best practice 
through a Bank wide staff communication. In 
addition to the above, inspirational quotes and 
real life incidents from a wide cross section of 
industries were shared regularly to energise and 
motivate all staff.

The team also introduced the Dress Down 
Day concept to the Bank, where on the last 
working Thursday of the Month, all staff can  
be casually attired wearing Amãna Bank 
corporate T-shirts. 

With a focus on celebrating the Bank’s 
achievements and milestones, the team also 
spearheaded the organising of the Bank’s 
inaugural Awards Ceremony.

Inaugural awards day 2015

The Bank held its inaugural Staff Awards 
Ceremony at the Nelum Pokuna Mahinda 
Rajapaksa Theatre. Held under the theme 
‘Rewarding Excellence’, Amãna Bank Awards 
2015 recognised the high performing individuals 
and branches during the aforementioned period. 
The event was held under the patronage of the 
Bank’s Chairman Osman Kassim, along with the 
participation of the Board of Directors and the 
members of the Management Committee. 

Role based Individual Awards were bestowed 
to recognise the Best Business Development 
Officers, Customer Relationship Managers, 

Assistant Branch Managers and Branch Managers. 
Grade based awards were dedicated towards 
recognising the best talent within each grade. 
Branches were recognised in terms of Best 
Deposit Mobilisation Branch, Best New Entrant 
Branch and Best Overall Branch. The Bank’s 
Akurana Branch walked away with the Gold 
Award for Best Overall Branch while Puttalam 
Branch was bestowed the Silver. The Bank’s 
support units were also separately recognised.

Further, the Bank availed a series of 
qualitative awards which went on to honour 
the Best Sportsman, the Best Project 
Implementation, the Best Idea, Best Innovative 
Product Solution and the ‘Can Do’ Icons of the 
Bank. The Gold for ‘Can Do’ Icon was awarded 
to Farhan Refai of HR while the Silver was 
awarded to Nizath Mustapha of IT. 

With a view to encourage excellent service 
across the Bank, the ceremony also recognised 
exceptional service moments by awarding the 
Best ‘We Care’ Moment. The Gold Award under 
this category went to Zakir Hisham of Prestige 
Banking and Silver Award was bestowed to  
Ms. Dilruba Sabry of the Ladies Branch.

BuSINESS AND OPERATIONS REvIEW

All Award Winners
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The crowning moment of the ceremony was 
the CEO Award, given to the most outstanding 
employees of the Bank for their unwavering 
display of dedication and passion going beyond 
the call of duty. The inaugural recipients of the 
CEO Award were Ramakrishnan Kirubakaran 
of Retail Credit, Rajendra Jayasinghe of Business 
Banking and Arshad Jamaldeen of Retail Banking.

CEO Award Winners with Chairman, Deputy 

Chairman and CEO

The ceremony also recognised the  
current employees who were there since the 
inception of the Bank in 2011 with Founder 
Member Mementos.

MaRKEtIng and coRPoRatE 
coMMunIcatIonS 

Amãna Bank continued its marketing and 
communication activities along the lines of 
the Bank’s strategic focus, in which marketing 
success is defined on the effectiveness of its 
image strategy and its media, content and 
promotions strategy. Focus was also emphasised 
on ensuring consistency and uniformity in all 
communication activities.

Similar to previous years, the Bank  
continued to adopt a very selective media 
strategy. However, the presence and impact 
of the Bank on such selected media was 
ensured to be very strong. Due to the intense 
competition for media space in the banking and 
finance industry, the focus was not to out-shout 
in the scattered media space, but instead to  
out-stand within selected media.

Having established a culture of focusing on 
the effectiveness of its marketing investments 
through Return on Marketing Investment 
(ROMI) analysis on key marketing initiatives, the 
Bank instills a learning culture on key success 
factors and areas for improvement. 

As an outcome of this strategy, the Bank  
was ranked amongst Sri Lanka’s 100 Most 
Valuable Brands. 

In addition to strengthening the mother 
brand through various corporate campaigns, the 
Bank carried out promotional campaigns giving 
prominence to the variety of products and 
services offered with high visibility in selected 
main stream media as well as below the line 
(BTL) platforms. The return on investment 
or the effectiveness of these campaigns was 
mirrored by the business growth, mentioned 
previously. Several campaigns were also 
executed for the new products and services 
launched by the Bank, which included the launch 
of Education Finance facility.

Leasing Promotion at Indra Traders

Participation at Ramazan Expo

BuSINESS AND OPERATIONS REvIEW

Segment specific promotions were carried 
out during the year to promote the Bank’s 
Children’s and Salary Saving Accounts while 
promotions were also initiated to increase 
usage of the Bank’s Debit Card. 

With a view to educate the public and 
generate interest on its unique banking model, 
the Bank continued to conduct many public 
awareness programmes along with the Sharia 
Supervisory Department. 

The Bank continued to invest in digital media 
to grow its communication reach to a wider 
audience. The Bank grew its presence in social 
media through Facebook, while also maintaining 
a strong web presence. 

The Bank once again partnered with the 
Sri Lanka Islamic Banking and Finance Industry 
(SLIBFI) Conference, which brought together 
the local Islamic banking industry to one forum 
to share knowledge and expertise in driving the 
industry forward. 

The Bank also partnered many other events 
as sponsors, including the 52nd Anniversary of 
the Sri Lanka Chamber of Small and Medium 
Industries and 50th Anniversary of the Colombo 
Municipal Council. The Bank sponsored the 
Captain of the National Softball Cricket Team, 
Mohamed Asik for two international tours in 
preparation for the Softball Cricket World Cup.

awaRdS and accoLadES

Best Islamic Financial Institution in  
Sri Lanka – global Finance world’s 
Best Islamic Financial Institutions 
awards 2015

Adjudged the Best ‘Up-and-Comer’ Islamic 
Bank of the World in 2014, Amãna Bank was 
once again recognised by the prestigious Global 
Finance Magazine for its contribution towards 
the development of the Islamic finance industry 
in Sri Lanka by being awarded the Best Islamic 
Finance Institution in Sri Lanka at the World’s 
Best Islamic Financial Institutions Awards 2015 
held in Peru, which coincided with the Annual 
World Bank and IMF conferences.
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IFn award for Best Islamic Bank in  
Sri Lanka

The Bank once again claimed the top spot at  
the prestigious IFN Awards 2016 by winning  
the Best Islamic Bank in Sri Lanka accolade.  
This is Amãna Bank’s 5th consecutive year to be 
voted as the country’s topmost Islamic finance 
institution, having first won it in 2012. The 
IFN Awards, which are based on a global poll 
conducted in 2015 by the Malaysia-based  
RedMoney Group, recognises the best 
providers of Islamic financial services across the 
global markets which also include World’s Best 
Islamic Bank, the Best Islamic Bank by Country, 
the Best Central Bank and the Best Islamic 
Banking Deals for the Year. 

CEO receiving the IFN Award

SLIBFI awards 2015

Amãna Bank strengthened its industry 
leadership status by being awarded the most 
number of accolades at the Sri Lankan Islamic 
Banking and Finance Industry (SLIBFI) Awards 
Night, the only platform which is established to 
recognise the local industry practitioners.

Silver Award for Islamic Finance Entity of the Year

Silver Award for Islamic Finance Product of the Year – 

Savings Plan

Silver Award for Islamic Finance Deal of the Year –  

Ocean Pick

Gold Award for Islamic Finance Product of the Year – 

Gold Certificate Financing

Sri Lanka’s 100 Most valuable Brands 

Amãna Bank achieved a significant milestone 
by being listed amongst Sri Lanka’s 100 Most 
Valuable Brands, a study and ranking index 
compiled by Brand Finance, an independent 
consultancy focused on the management and 
valuation of brands globally. The ranking index 
was published in the Brands Annual Magazine, 
which is presented by Media Services, the 
publishers of the renowned LMD Magazine.  
As per the Most Valuable Brands index in 2015, 
Amãna Bank was ranked 83rd with a Brand 
value of LKR 318 Million.

BuSINESS AND OPERATIONS REvIEW
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By the Grace of Almighty Allah, the year under 
review marks the fourth full year of commercial 
operations for Amãna Bank. 

During the year, the Sharia Supervisory 
Council (SSC) of Amãna Bank held three  
Sharia Council meetings to review various 
products, product modifications, concepts, 
transactions and processes including the 
approval of five new products and modifications 
to two existing products.

nEw PRoductS aPPRovEd BY 
thE SSc duRIng thE YEaR 

1. Salam-Based Facility for Agriculture and 
Trade

2. Cheque Management Service

3. Debt Instruments to Enhance Tier II 
Supplementary Capital

4. Obtaining Pledge of Stocks/Goods for 
Banking Facilities

5. Financing Construction of Condominium 
Apartments

ModIFIcatIonS MadE duRIng 
thE YEaR to ExIStIng PRoductS

1. Travel Finance Facility

2. Education Finance Facility

ShaRIa guIdELInES InItIatEd 
duRIng thE YEaR 

1. Sharia Guidelines for Sports and 
Recreational Activities

2. Sharia Guidelines for Express Cash Product

ShaRIa audIt and coMPLIancE 
REvIEwS

To ensure that all the revenue generated by the 
Bank strictly adheres to conjunctions of Sharia, 
the Bank’s Sharia Supervision Department 
actively observed various operational activities 
of the Bank throughout the year. The credit 
approvals, restructuring of financing facilities, 

customer specific transaction process flows, 
text of Letters of Guarantee and Security 
documents were reviewed to ensure Sharia 
compliance whilst offering financing products to 
the customers. 

Two staff members have been appointed 
for Central and Eastern regions who will focus 
on matters pertaining to Sharia, enabling the 
facilitation of smooth operations whilst ensuring 
Sharia compliance at all levels in the Bank.

Income generated from Advances via 
Consumer and Business Banking transactions 
that were audited are as follows:

Income Generated from  
Consumer Financing (LKR ’000) 845,733

Income Generated from  
Business Financing (LKR ’000) 1,919,912

Number of Transactions 10,672

Number of Transactions Audited 10,672

Total Gross Advances (LKR ’000) 33,287,572

Gross Non-Performing  
Advances (LKR ’000) 305,109

Moreover, physical inspections were 
conducted on a random basis and tangible 
measures were taken to verify the relevant 
purchase evidences/invoices, further enhancing 
the controls. 

All financing products were fully audited by 
the Sharia Supervision Department and their 
alignment with the guidelines given by the SSC 
was also verified. The process and the scope of 
the audit included the following:

 z Invoices and other related purchase 
evidences were verified by confirmations and 
the existence of suppliers was also confirmed 
by visiting their premises on sample basis.

 z Genuine purchase evidences were provided 
to execute Murabaha transactions so that 
Murabaha disbursements are not availed to 
set-off previous balances with the supplier 
and Murabaha Status Sheets.

 z Sharia documentation and other related 
security documents and procedures followed 
by different functional areas for Local 
Murabaha, Import Musawama/Murabaha, 
Extended Murabaha, Ijara (Leasing), 
Diminishing Musharaka, Local Musharaka, 
Istisna, Tijara, Wakalah, Education Finance 
and Gold Safekeeping Facility.

 z Declarations, description of assets, relevant 
purchase invoices, sequence and order of 
the documents and time difference between 
purchases and declaration in Murabaha.

 z Purchase deeds, treatment of ownership 
related cost and recovery of rentals in Ijara 
transactions, ownership ratio in Diminishing 
Musharaka for housing facilities and issuance 
of timely unit sale receipts.

 z Investments made in Equity with reference to 
the Equity stock screening criteria.

 z Import finance transactions and related 
documentation.

 z Extensive reviews of client payment, 
purchase cycle and periodic assessment of 
clients’ processes.

 z Profit-sharing ratio, pool working, asset and 
deposit allocation for deposit products.

 z Treasury placements made by the Bank 
with other Islamic Financial Institutions and 
Window Operations.

Report on Sharia Supervision
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MuRaBaha StatuS ShEEt 

A system for continuous monitoring of Murabaha 
transactions is in place whereby the branches 
extending Murabaha financing are required 
to submit a monthly report, after thorough 
review by the branch/department head, to the 
Sharia Supervision Department for review and 
continuous monitoring of Murabaha transactions 
to avoid any Sharia non-compliance.

tRaInIng and dEvELoPMEnt 

During the year, 11 internal Sharia training 
sessions were held in which 265 employees 
participated. These programmes were 
conducted with the objective of enhancing the 
knowledge and skills of staff members on Sharia 
Principles and Sharia documentation.

A session on Sharia was conducted by 
SSC for the members of the Management 
Committee and Line Managers with a total 
participation of 60.

Five workshops were held in different 
parts of the country with the participation 
of 314 Islamic Scholars under the subject 
‘Understanding the Practice of Islamic Banking’. 
The objective of this programme was to 
educate the Islamic Scholars on the application 
of Islamic Banking in practice and on the level 
of Sharia compliance at Amãna Bank, explaining 
how the Bank operates as an entity conforming 
to the principles of Sharia.

Eight programmes were conducted for 
customers, university lecturers, teachers, 
students and the general public to create 
awareness and educate all on Islamic Banking, 
products offered by the Bank and to inculcate 
a savings habit. The total participation for these 
programmes was 534.

Programme No. of Sessions Audience No. of Participants

Sharia and Introduction to  
Islamic Banking 1 Internal Staff 26

Sharia Refresher Programme 3 Internal Staff 167

Islamic Banking Products and  
Documentation 7 Internal Staff 72

Session on Sharia by the  
Sharia Supervisory Council 1

Management Committee 
Members and Managers 60

Understanding the Practice of  
Islamic Banking 5 Islamic Scholars 314

Awareness Programme on  
Islamic Banking 8

Academics, Students, 
Customers and General Public 534

ShaRIa RISK ManagEMEnt 
coMMIttEE

The Sharia Risk Management Committee 
(SRMC) which is a Sub-Committee of the 
Management Committee of the Bank was 
established to discharge the responsibilities of 
management on Sharia Compliance. The SRMC 
met six times during the year in order to take 
up issues relating to Sharia Audit, Compliance 
and Risk.

REgIonaL ShaRIa audIt unItS 

During the year, the Bank took the initiative 
to set-up two regional Sharia Audit Units in 
the Central and Eastern regions respectively 
in order to streamline the Sharia audit process 
and facilitate smooth operations, whilst ensuring 
Sharia compliance at all levels. 

ShaRIa advISoRY SERvIcES

Internal Support

Sharia Supervision Department provides 
advisory services on structuring of products and 
transactional processing on an ongoing basis, 
based on the previous guidelines and resolutions 
made by SSC.

External Support

Amãna Bank continues its Sharia Advisory 
Services to a public listed company engaged in 
commodity brokerage, in order to structure 
their financing operations to be in compliance 
with Sharia principles. 

In this regard, the Bank provides Advisory 
Services for Product Development, Transaction 
Structuring, Internal Process, Procedures and 
Guidelines, Documentation, Monitoring and 
Control, provide Training as well as monitor 
Compliance to the requirements of Sharia.

chaRItY

During the year, an amount of LKR 450,811.69 
was transferred to the Charity Payable Account. 
As at 31 December 2015 the total balance in 
this account amounted to LKR 1,702,139.38.

REPORT ON SHARIA SuPERvISION
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Statement of Sources and uses of charity Fund

2015
LKR

2014 
LKR

opening balance as at 1 January 1,525,902.69 1,367,544.29

additions during the year 

Purification of Dividends/Disposal Gains of Equity 13,625.56 32,651.18

– 11,111.53

Interest Accumulated in Nostro Accounts 177,504.48 917,757.12

Excess Cash 194,050.00 –

Profit Write Off 65,631.65 4,500.00

450,811.69 966,019.83

Less: distribution of charity (274,575.00) (309,430.00)

Reversal of Insurance Claim – (498,231.43)

closing balance as at 31 december 1,702,139.38 1,525,902.69

The total amount of LKR 274,575/- that  
was disbursed from the Charity Account was 
done with the approval of Head of Sharia 
Supervision and it was duly reported to the SSC 
for its concurrence.

thE waY FoRwaRd FoR thE YEaR 
2016

 z Continue to ensure the zero tolerance 
culture on Sharia non-compliance.

 z Strengthen the Sharia risk management 
process and mitigation of Sharia violations 
through the involvement of the Sharia Risk 
Management Committee.

 z Review and update the Sharia product 
process, guidelines, documentation and 
checklists to offer the most appropriate 
product for the customer.

 z Facilitate the New Product Development 
process by providing advice on the 
appropriate Sharia principles and contracts 
to structure new products.

 z Facilitate and conduct training sessions as 
follows to develop Sharia competency levels 
and instil onus on all stakeholders –

o Sharia Principles and Islamic Banking for 
new staff members

o Sharia Refresher programmes for existing 
staff members

o Focused training programmes on Sharia 
Principles, Documentation and Sharia 
Compliance

o Master Class for the Management 
Committee members on Sharia 
Compliance and Sharia Risk Management.

 z Conduct special awareness programmes for 
Customers and the General Public, whilst 
continuing workshops for Islamic Scholars on 
Islamic Banking.

 z Appointment of Sharia Coordinators at 
branch level to facilitate smooth operations 
while ensuring Sharia compliance at all levels.

May Almighty Allah make us successful in 
accomplishing His precious tasks and reward us 
in this world and in the Hereafter.

J. tariq Mahmud
Acting Head of Sharia Supervision Department and 
Secretary to the Sharia Supervisory Council
29 Jumaadal Oola 1437 A.H.
10 March 2016

REPORT ON SHARIA SuPERvISION
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The Bank’s CSR is focused on the betterment 
of children, paying attention to their health, 
education and general well-being amongst other 
key needs. Together with the involvement of 
Bank staff, CSR initiatives were carried out with 
enthusiasm to encourage a culture of sharing 
and giving back to society. Highlighted below is 
a summary of CSR initiatives implemented by 
the Bank in 2015.

In the area of Children’s Health, the 
Bank continued its contribution towards the 
maintenance of the Children’s Ward at the 
Kalubowila General Hospital. In 2015, the Bank 
further strengthened its commitment through 
donating essential medical and IT equipment to 
the Ward, which included a Multi Para Cardiac 
Monitor. The Bank also made a significant 
donation to the Children’s Ward at the 

Thoppur Hospital in order to purchase essential 
hospital equipment to maintain the ward. 

In the area of Children’s Education, the 
Bank continued its support to the Serendib 
Educational Foundation (SEF) by making a 
generous contribution for the third consecutive 
year to carry out their programme of providing 
financial assistance and scholarships to deserving 
students who are unable to pursue their studies 
due to financial constraints. SEF provided 
scholarships for more than 300 needy and 
talented students. The eligible students were 
selected from all over the island following a 
thorough evaluation process.

Having initiated a partnership with the Lanka 
Relief and Development Foundation (LRADF) in 
2014, the Bank continued its financial support 
towards the betterment of secondary education 

standards of underprivileged students in Kirinda.  
LRADF has contributed towards helping over 
300 students in O/L and A/L classes by teaching 
English, IT and Mathematics in selected schools 
in the Southern Province. As an outcome of this 
initiative, many underprivileged students have 
shown great results at the examinations.

Contributing towards the general well-being 
of children, the Bank organised a get-together 
with the orphans at the Givelight Home 
Orphanage located in Bandaragama to celebrate 
World Children’s Day. For this occasion the 
Bank provided the orphans with lunch,  
preloaded savings accounts and gift items.

Adding on towards the contribution to 
orphans, preloaded accounts were donated 
to the orphan children at the Balapokuna 
Orphanage. The Bank also continued its annual 
project of donating school stationery and 
exercise books for the use of children at the 
Makola Orphanage.

The Bank also continued its donation 
towards The Child Foundation for Inter 
Religious and Ethnic Harmony in their 
celebration of World Children’s Day. Another 
successful donation was made by the Bank  
to the Deaf Hearing Exchange Programme  
of the Overseas School of Colombo.  
A contribution was made to ESCO Rehab, 
an institute dedicated to the welfare of the 
differently-abled children.

Further to strengthen its activities with the 
Kalubowila Hospital Children’s Ward, the Bank 
joined hands with the hospital to commemorate 
World Children’s Day, where an event was held 
at the Ward premises with the participation of 
over 30 in-house kids. 

The Bank’s CSR is focused on the betterment of children, paying 

attention to their health, education and general well-being amongst 

other key needs.

Corporate Social Responsibility

Donation of medical equipment at Kalubowila General Hospital
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The Bank’s other key CSR projects included 
the contribution towards the Kalmunai City 
Beautification Project initiated by Hon. Mayor 
of Kalmunai, Mr. Nizam Kariapper through the 
construction of a state-of-the-art Bus Stand 
in the city’s unity Square premises. Many 
travellers to and from Kalmunai have benefited 
from this spacious bus stand which also included 
a separate feeding area for mothers. 

With the objective of strengthening 
interfaith relationships, the Bank for the second 
consecutive year, contributed towards the Ifhtar 
function organised by the Royal College Old 
Hostellers Association for all present hostellers 
of the school irrespective of their religious 
background. This event was also attended by 
school staff and old boy representatives of 
various faiths.

The Bank also supported the cause of the  
Sri Lanka Foundation of the visually 
Handicapped by donating towards their 
activities. Due to the lack of infrastructure 
in the Sammanthurai Base Hospital, the Bank 
assisted in funding the building of reception area 
for the hospital.

As an initiative of the Amãna Bank  
Sports Club, the Bank conducted a Blood 
Donation Drive with the participation of over 
60 staff members.

2 3

4 5

6 7

1. Donation of equipment at Thoppur Hospital.

2. Get-together at Givelight Home Orphanage, 
Bandaragama.

3. Donation of stationery at Makola Orphanage.

4. State-of-the-art busstand in Kalmunai.

5. Donation of funds for Sammanthurai  
Base Hospital.

6. Awarding pre-loaded accounts to 
underprivileged children. 

7. Blood Donation Drive.

1

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITy
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Banks are exposed to various risks in their 
day-to-day business operations. Risk is inherent 
in every level of activity carried out by a bank, 
but is managed through a process of ongoing 
identification, measurement and monitoring, 
with the aid of risk limits and other controls. 
The major categories of risks are credit, 
market, liquidity and operational risks. Banks 
also face other risks including but not limited to 
reputational, legal, regulatory risks, etc.

Amãna Bank has adopted an Integrated 
Risk Management (IRM) framework with a set 
of policies and procedures approved by its 
Board of Directors (BOD). The purpose of 
these policies and procedures is to manage and 
optimise the risk-reward trade-off. Through 
the IRM framework, the BOD assesses the risk 
profile and oversight over the implementation 
of the IRM framework of the Bank and its 
management on a regular basis, at the minimum 
on a quarterly basis.

The IRM framework covers identification 
of potential risks and sources of such risk, the 
mechanism of managing such information and 
reporting to monitor such risks. It also defines 
relevant officers and committees responsible 
for risk control and mitigation. The risk 
management policies and procedures approved 
by the BOD inter alia addresses:

 z A system to aggregate overall risk exposures 
for monitoring and control

 z Measures for risk diversification with limits 
for various exposures based on risk appetite

 z Risk measurement approaches such as use 
of historical databases, stress testing and 
scenario analyses

 z Capital maintenance considering expected 
losses and unexpected losses

 z Capital allocation to businesses and products 
in order to optimise risk adjusted returns 
and economic value additions

 z Disaster recovery and contingency plans

RISK ManagEMEnt StRuctuRE

The Risk Management Department (RMD) is 
mandated to design and operate the Bank’s 
integrated risk management process and is 
independent of the Bank’s business lines. 
The Bank has developed a risk management 
framework adhering to Basel II Accord 
which provides guidance to the overall risk 
management goals and strategy. This risk 
management framework provides the basis for 
the ongoing development and enhancement 
of the Bank’s integrated risk management 
infrastructure and capabilities. The framework 
provides a structured approach to the 
management, measurement and control of  
risk – i.e., a way that people and processes 
ensure that business activities provide an 
appropriate balance of return for the risks. 
The primary goals of risk management are to 
ensure that the outcomes of risk taking activities 
are consistent with the Bank’s strategies and 
risk appetite. The Bank’s enterprise-wide risk 
management framework provides the foundation 
for achieving these goals.

The Bank’s risk management framework is 
applied on an enterprise-wide basis and consists 
of three key elements as depicted below:
 

The Bank has in place a strong risk management 
framework which is based on the need to 
assess the Bank’s exposure to risks while 
minimising adverse impacts of Credit Risk, 
Market Risk, Liquidity Risk and Operational 
Risk on resources, earnings and cash flows 
through a robust framework of integrated 
risk management. The Bank has ensured that 
its portfolios/exposures remain aligned to 
the defined risk appetite and strategy whilst 
proactively managing risks supported by strong 
open-minded risk identification.

The Bank’s mission with respect to risk 
management is to advance its risk management 
capabilities, culture and practices so as to be 
in line with internationally accepted standards 
and practices. As such, the Bank has continued 
to invest in its risk management capabilities in 
terms of human resources, processes, policies 
and introduced newer tools during the year 
under review. The global economic crisis has 
provided an opportunity for a fundamental 
restructuring of the approach to risk and 
regulation in the financial sector. The Board 
is required to define the risk appetite for the 
Bank and is responsible for the activities and 
overall performance of the Bank. This risk 

Risk Management

RISK ManagEMEnt FRaMEwoRK

ManagEMEnt 

tEchnIQuES
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Board of Directors
Board Integrated Risk Management Committee (BIRMC) and Senior Management
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appetite supports effective decision-making, 
capital allocation and is central to embedding 
risk management in business decisions and risk 
reporting across the Bank. 

A strong and pervasive integrated risk 
management culture provides a bank with 
a sound foundation of risk management 
framework consistent with the bank’s 
objectives, risk tolerance, control standards and 
management philosophy. 

The risk governance structure at Amãna 
Bank stems from the Board of Directors and is 
monitored by the following committees: 

 z Board Integrated Risk Management 
Committee (BIRMC) 

 z Board Audit Committee (BAC) 

 z Board Credit Committee (BCC) 

 z Asset and Liability Management Committee 
(ALCO) 

 z Executive Risk Management Committee 
(ERMC) 

 z Operational Risk Management Committee 
(ORMC) 

 z Management Audit Committee (MAC)

 z Executive Credit Committees (ECC)

The Board has defined the risk appetite for 
the Bank which would then be rolled out to each 
business line and subsequently to the business 
unit. The Board is assisted by a number of Board 
level and Management level committees.

typical Roles/Responsibilities in Setting Risk appetite

Stakeholders Roles/Responsibilities

Board of Directors  z Review and approve risk appetite

 z Review strategic objectives and positioning

BIRMC  z understand the risk profile of the Bank and the Bank’s performance  
against same

 z Set basic goals for the Bank’s risk appetite and strategy, such as ratings or 
earnings-volatility targets with Senior Management and issue guidelines 
for Senior Management in implementing Risk Management Policies and 
Procedures throughout the Bank

 z Ensure that the Risk Function is adequately staffed with professionals who are 
sufficiently competent in managing and monitoring all risks within the Bank 
and that they can avail of appropriate systems and tools

CEO, CRO 
and Senior 
Management 

 z Set business strategy

 z Identify availability of capital

 z Coordinate process of aligning risk appetite and risk strategy with business 
strategy and capital capacity

 z Oversee monitoring, reporting and governance around the risk appetite process

 z Align business lines and goals within the risk parameters

 z Communicate risk appetite

 z Promote risk culture

 z Communicate and integrate objectives throughout the business processes

 z Embed risk appetite-related goals in performance objectives and 
compensation rewards

Business/Support 
Unit Heads

 z Propose key initiatives in light of economic, risk and competitive outlook

 z Align risk policies, processes and limits used in managing day-to-day business 
operations with the metrics contained in the risk appetite statement

With the intention of being consistent with 
the risk-ownership concept under Basel II 
Accord the Bank’s strategy to manage various 
risks is structured into ‘3 Lines of Defence’ as 
summarised below:

1st Line of defence: Risk taking units

These are the units directly exposed to 
specific risks daily and must assume primary 
responsibility in their management. By 
identifying and analysing risks and shortcomings, 
instituting regular controls, monitoring and 
reporting procedures and taking appropriate 
action, they are in the best position to mitigate 
or avoid risks. The overall ownership of the risk 
environment and responsibility to manage the 
risks therefore reside with them.

2nd Line of defence: Risk control units

This refers to the respective Risk Management 
Team and the Risk Control Committees, 
including other control and monitoring 
departments such as Legal, Compliance and 
Sharia Supervision. The Risk Management 
Department shall be responsible for the 
development and maintenance of the 
Risk Management Framework and its 
implementation. Other controlling and 
monitoring departments are responsible to 
develop guidelines in managing risks under their 
purview. Both RMD and controlling/monitoring 
departments ensure timely receipt of reports 
and perform analyses before submitting them 
to top management and the Board of Directors 
for their oversight. Where appropriate, they 
provide support to the risk taking units and 
initiate changes to policies and procedures. 

RISK MANAGEMENT
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3rd Line of defence: Independent 
assurance

This refers to the Internal Audit function 
whose roles and responsibilities under the Risk 
Management Policy are to provide independent 
assurance to the Board of Directors on 
the effectiveness of the Risk Management 
Framework, that the policy has been 
implemented with integrity.

Going forward, the Bank aims to leverage 
the risk management system capabilities to drive 
the following business benefits:

(i) increase efficiency and reduce operating 
cost for risk management through 
optimised utilisation of resources and skills 
(reduction in manual operations)

(ii) reduce potential losses with enhanced 
risk management and increase profitability 
through better control over risk appetite

(iii) adhere to regulatory compliance  
[i.e., Central Bank of Sri Lanka (CBSL), 
Securities and Exchange Commission 
(SEC), etc.]

(iv) enhance strategic decisions with foresight 
into risks

(v) enhance product and services strategy 
by providing confidence in introducing 
innovative and profitable offerings

(vi) timely detection of risks to reduce losses 
due to risk events

During 2015, a prudent risk management 
approach in line with industry best practices 
assisted Amãna Bank to reach its current 
growth which is its highest ever recorded. In 
order to achieve this level of growth, the Bank 
was able to cultivate a risk based culture by 
means of a robust risk management framework 
throughout all the branches and departments. 
The Bank’s Risk Management Department 
(RMD) strategically manages the risks by 
working closely with the business units at 
every stage of the process and with the use 
of credit risk, market risk and operational risk 
management tools has successfully managed 
Non Performing Advances (NPA) ratio to a 
very low level compared to the industry.

assessment of capital adequacy

In order to provide assurance that Amãna Bank 
has sufficient capital to support all its business 
and risk taking activities, the Bank has carried 
out the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment 
Process (ICAAP) as required by Central Bank of 
Sri Lanka (CBSL).

ICAAP helps to suggest the minimum internal 
capital requirement for the Bank’s current 
and future business strategies and financial 
plans for the next 3 years via a comprehensive 
risk assessment process on its portfolio risk 
exposures, its risk management practices 
towards its material risks and potential capital 
planning buffer required in the event of stress.

CBSL, based on the above, directed all 
licensed commercial banks in Sri Lanka to come 
up with their ICAAP document and submit 
the same for regulatory evaluation within six 
months of the financial year end. The Bank 
has, in compliance with the CBSL guidelines, 
formulated the ICAAP document to meet the 
said requirement.

The compilation of the document is 
spearheaded by the ICAAP Steering Committee, 
a cross functional team which consists of 
resource personnel from Risk, Audit and finance.

ICAAP document helps the Bank meet the 
following objectives: 

(i) ensure that the Bank is adequately 
capitalised beyond the minimum regulatory 
capital requirements at all times

(ii) formulate a process that forms an integral 
part of the Bank’s risk management 
processes so as to enable the Board of 
Directors and senior management to 
assess the risks that are inherent in their 
activities and are material to the Bank on 
an on-going basis

(iii) have a process for assessing the overall 
capital adequacy in relation to the  
risk profile

(iv) enable the Bank to withstand adverse 
business conditions by evaluating the 
adequacy of capital in stress scenarios

cREdIt RISK ManagEMEnt

Overview

Credit Risk is the loss arising from failure of 
the counterparty to perform according to its 
contractual arrangements with the Bank. It 
includes failure in the repayment of capital plus 
the Bank’s profit/mark-up in full within the 
agreed tenure and in the agreed currency.

Credit risk arises from the financing 
and investment activities of the Bank. Risk 
identification and evaluation hence focuses on 
identifying sources giving rise to credit risk, 
which typically revolves around appraisal of 
the borrower and facility characteristics and 
the economic/socio-political and industrial 
environment to assess the borrower’s 
willingness and ability to repay their obligation 
to the Bank in full. The Bank also has listed 
down ‘favoured, selective, cautious and 
avoid’ categories in terms of credits to 
particular borrower types based on the sector 
or nature of business. 

The credit evaluation process follows 
procedures for pre-clearance of credit 
proposals, proposals to be prepared in 
determined formats, financial appraisal, 
presentation of credit, independent review of 
financial and non financial information such as 
credit ratings, security and covenants and credit 
approval based on delegation of authority (DA). 

The credit portfolio of the Bank is risk-rated 
using an internally developed system that takes 
into account quantitative as well as qualitative 
factors. This rating system is used as a guide 
for account monitoring, provisioning/collective 
impairment, granting delegated authority and 
pricing. The Bank has also revised the rating 
model with a more robust risk rating system 
which has the capability of predicting the 
Probability of Default (PD) of the customer. 
This assists in measuring the profile of the 
credit portfolio in an objective manner. 

RISK MANAGEMENT
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Credit Risk Administration

The Bank has a separate Credit Risk 
Administration Department which functions 
independently of the business units. 
Typical responsibilities of the Credit Risk 
Administration Department are: 

 z ensure legally enforceable security 
documentation 

 z control and custody over security documents 
and maintenance of database of same 

 z maintenance of facility limits, including tariffs 
and financing rates 

 z maintenance and monitoring of credit 
covenants and conditions 

 z monitoring of adherence to CBSL guidelines 
on securities obtained against banking 
facilities 

 z preparation of reports for external and 
internal purposes 

 z Credit Information Bureau of Sri Lanka 
(CRIB) compliance functions

Collateral Policy 

Collateral policy differs from business line to 
business line in accordance with the products 
offered. For instance, if a term facility is granted 
for project financing it is usual to obtain a 
mortgage over the project assets of the specific 
project financed by the Bank. However, it is 
not the Bank’s policy to grant financing purely 
based on collateral. Customers’ cash flows 
and income generating capacity are the prime 
considerations. Collateral obtained by the Bank 
is utilised as secondary source of recovery, in 
the event that cash flows are not forthcoming. 
Collateral is usually the last way out. 

The main types of collateral taken by the 
Bank are immovable and movable property 
mortgages, cash deposits, fixed assets such 
as plant and machinery, inventories and 
receivables, tradable securities, guarantees,  
bills and standby letters of credit and 
Corporate/ Personal Guarantees. It is the 
Bank’s policy to be on a pari passu status with 
other banks. A decision to the contrary may be 
acceptable only where a non pari passu position 

is accepted due to unavailability of security as a 
result of the Bank being a recent entrant to the 
relationship or is supported by strong financial 
position of the entity financed. This policy is 
mainly applicable to corporate clients. Exposure 
to the SME is usually backed by tangible 
security. Facilities under Product Programmes 
are governed by guidelines given in respective 
individual programmes. 

Credit Risk Monitoring

Credit risks are inherent in banking business 
and losses on the financing portfolio are always 
possible. Credit risk is the highest contribution 
to overall risk exposure of the Bank and credit 
risk management is an activity that is critical  
for the sustainable growth and profitability of 
the Bank.

However, a bank can avoid or reduce 
losses if before a customer defaults, the 
bank’s management responds to early warning 
signals in an appropriate manner. Amãna 
Bank recognises problem credits as those 
facilities which carry an above-normal risk due 
to clear signs of deterioration in customers’ 
creditworthiness or information, which 
indicates that the customers’ creditworthiness 
may start to deteriorate. 

The Bank has an established procedure 
for post credit risk identification, monitoring 
and management. Credit Risk Management 
Department works closely with the Bank’s 
business units at every stage of the credit 
process, from facility origination to approval 
to collections, adding value as appropriate 
and developing the proposal in terms of risks, 
mitigants and returns. A post sanction review 
and monitoring mechanism is in place to ensure 
that the quality of credit is not compromised. 
Any deteriorating credits with emphasis on 
internal and external early warning signals are 
identified and such accounts are captured in the 
‘Watch List’. These clients are monitored closely 
with reports submitted to the Executive Credit 
Committee and Board Credit Committee.

Further, based on the Watch List, the 
Bank assesses the portfolio at risk in the event 
such accounts deteriorate further. NPAs are 

identified at an early stage enabling management 
to take action as appropriate. This process 
has enabled the Bank to control and maintain 
a low NPA ratio compared to the industry. 
In addition to the above, an Independent 
Review Committee carries out assessments to 
determine the level of compliance with designed 
processes, adequacy of controls and identifies 
areas for improvement. 

The Bank identifies possible symptoms of 
weaknesses by systematic examination of a 
number of key ratios drawn from the annual 
accounts of a company to help identify potential 
problems. Other aspects of the monitoring 
framework of the Bank are assessments of: 

 z large and unexpected losses and provisions in 
the books of account of the customer  
and/or delays in the preparation of accounts 
and in the submission of figures by the 
company to the Bank 

 z frequent over-drawings and/or an unforeseen 
requirement for cash

 z breaches of covenants or conditions in 
stock or financing agreements, commonly 
concerning maximum debt/equity ratios, 
finance charges cover and maintenance of 
working capital cover 

 z requests from Directors for a release of 
personal guarantees 

 z difficulties in meeting payments or inability 
to supply additional collateral after a fall in 
prices of the existing collateral

 z inability to repay seasonal facilities 

 z rating downgrade of the company by external 
rating agencies

Customer Relationship Managers are 
required to follow-up on the customers in 
the watch list much more closely, to prevent 
the accounts from moving to NPA category. 
Further, the Bank carries out a valuation 
of security and a completeness check of all 
existing credit and security documentation 
for a watch-listed account. A regular review 
is done on watch list clients, at least quarterly 
and discussed at the relevant Executive Credit 
Committee meeting. 

RISK MANAGEMENT
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ManagIng cREdIt RISK

Managing credit Risk through Portfolio 
Management

One of the key functions of the RMD is to 
conduct portfolio analysis on a quarterly basis 
or even more frequently if the need arises. This 
exercise covers analysis of the portfolio based 
on industry sectors, products and trends in 
NPA, etc. 

2015  Non-Performing Advances (NPA) Ratio (%)

March 1.52

June 1.38

September 1.21

December 0.92

0

0.40

0.80

1.20

1.60

2.00

(%)

NON-PERFORMING ADVANCES

(NPA) RATIO – 2015

Mar Jun Sep Dec

In addition, stress tests/scenario analyses 
are carried out to assess the impact of any 
material changes in the external environment 
with suitable recommendations to restructure 
the portfolio.

Concentration Risk

Concentration risk is the probability of loss arising 
from significantly imbalanced credit exposure to 
a particular individual, group, industry sector or 
geographical area. The Bank’s prudential Single 
Borrower Exposure Limits are more stringent 
than the ceiling set by the Regulator.

The sector exposure limits, which are 
also approved by the Board of Directors, 
are reviewed periodically taking into account 
changes in internal/external factors in order to 
mitigate risk and explore business opportunities.

In order to mitigate the concentration risk, 
the Bank’s appetite for credit exposures is 
predefined for:

 z single borrower

 z group of related borrowers

 z major economic sectors

Concentration risk is monitored closely, and 
the relevant limits are reviewed and changed 
periodically to suit the changes in economic 
and environmental outlook, Bank policies and 
regulatory requirements. RMD monitors and 
reports Concentration Risk to the BIRMC and 
concerns, if any, are escalated to the Board of 
Directors on a periodic basis.

EXPOSURE BY SEGMENT

AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2015

Consumer – 29%

Corporate – 32%

SME – 39%

The Bank is aware of the importance of 
SMEs in the country’s development plans 
and also expects to tap the potential in the 

Consumer segment. Whilst considering the 
above to be the thrust segments, the Bank will 
supplement its advances portfolio by providing 
finance to selected corporate customers.

In line with the Strategic Plan, more 
emphasis has been placed to SME financing. 
Hence the reason for SME segment to have 
the highest exposure followed by corporate 
segment. However, with the expansion of the 
branch network and implementation of future 
business strategies, the Bank expects the 
consumer segment to play a prominent role  
in the future.

EXPOSURE BY PRODUCT

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015

Extended Murabaha – 2%

Ijara – 18%

Import Murabaha – 1%

Import Musawama – 5%

Local Murabaha – 9%

Local Musharaka – 4%

Overdraft – 2%

Pre Contract – 4%

Thijara – 3%

Wakala – 6%

Others – 1%

Diminishing Musharaka – 45%

The overall risk of the credit portfolio can 
be increased or reduced for a level of return, 
depending on how the product portfolio is 
concentrated or diversified. Accordingly, for 
the Bank, product wise concentration risk is 
considered to be an important element due to 
the limitation in product range compared to 
conventional banks. 

RISK MANAGEMENT
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Diminishing Musharaka is a widely used 
product for various types of customer 
requirements. Hence as illustrated above, the 
highest concentration of the Bank’s advances 
portfolio is in Diminishing Musharaka.

Apart from Diminishing Musharaka the 
rest of the portfolio is well diversified among 
Wakalah Local Murabaha, Ijara (Lease), Thijara 
and Import Musawama products respectively. 
Also Pre Contracts, which represents 4% of 
the portfolio, is a Transitional Account where a 
facility amount is first disbursed until Offer and 
Acceptance is completed.

EXPOSURE BY SECTOR

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015

Agriculture and Fishing – 15%

Manufacturing – 16%

Tourism – 2%

Transport – 5%

Construction – 13%

Traders – 20%

New Economy – 0%

Financial and Business Services – 1%

Infrastructure – 2%

Other Services – 6%

Other Retail Financing – 20%

Industry or Sector Concentration Risk arises 
when the credit portfolio is not sufficiently 
diversified. The Bank, according to its risk 
appetite policies and strategies, has segregated 
the main sectors into ‘favoured, selective, 
cautious and avoid’ categories. This strategy 
is developed to improve penetration of low risk 
industries and conversely reduce exposure to 
high risk industries.

As illustrated above, the overall exposure in 
2015 has been distributed among Manufacturing, 
Agriculture, Other Retail Financing and Trading 
and Infrastructure sectors.

TOP 20 CUSTOMER EXPOSURE

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015

Top 20 Customers – 33%

Rest of the Portfolio – 67%

Adopting and assessing Single Customer 
Borrowing Limits (Individual or Group) is vital 
to a bank. This enables a bank to manage its 
advances portfolio in a well diversified manner. 
Hence the Bank has set its own limits for single/
group borrowing, which are more stringent 
than the regulatory requirement. 

By setting these limits, the Bank focuses 
on having an equally distributed and well 
diversified credit portfolio. Amãna Bank's top 
20 customers account for 33% of the advance 
portfolio. With the continuation of the current 
focused approach to financing, the Bank is 
confident that this ratio will decline in the 
following years.

BY TENUREEXPOSURE

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015

Short Term Exposure – 35%

Medium Term Exposure – 23%

Long Term Exposure – 42%

Based on tenure, overall advances portfolio 
is classified as short term (up to 12 months), 
medium term (between one and three years) 
and long term (over three years). Having an 
ideal combination of asset maturity is of utmost 
importance in meeting depositor commitments. 
The Bank has maintained a healthy balance in 
tenure by keeping 58% of its portfolio within 
Short and Medium term range. This benefits the 
Bank in re-pricing the assets within a quick span 
of time.

MaRKEt RISK ManagEMEnt

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss from changes in 
market prices and rates (including rates, credit 
spreads, foreign exchange rates, equity prices 
and commodity prices), the correlations among 
them and their levels of volatility. A description 
of each market risk category is provided below.

Rate Risk

The risk of loss due to changes in the level, 
slope and curvature of the yield curve, the 
volatility of rates and prepayment rates.

RISK MANAGEMENT
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Credit Spread Risk

The risk of loss due to changes in the market 
price of credit or the creditworthiness of issuers.

Foreign currency Risk

The risk of loss due to changes in spot and 
forward prices and the volatility of currency 
exchange rates.

 

Equity Risk

The risk of loss due to changes in the prices and 
the volatility of individual equity instruments and 
equity indices.

commodity Risk

The risk of loss due to changes in spot and 
forward prices and the volatility of precious and 
base metals.

Market risk mainly arises from activities 
undertaken by the Bank’s Treasury and foreign 
exchange, equity, commodity and money market 
portfolios. A Board approved limit structure 
has been adopted by the Bank to mitigate and 
monitor its market risk. Further, the Board of 
Directors and the Management have ensured 
effective monitoring and management of market 
risk with the following:

(i) BIRMC reviews market risk policies and 
limits and obtains approval from Board of 
Directors for any changes necessary.

(ii) BIRMC and ALCO monitor and manage 
market risk of the Bank in accordance with 
the Board approved risk framework.

(iii) Risk Middle Office independently monitors 
all significant market risks and submits 
reports to CEO, ERMC and ALCO.

As required by the Central Bank of  
Sri Lanka, the Bank uses the Internal 
Measurement Approach to calculate Market 
Risk under Basel II. The Bank classifies quoted 
equity exposures into either Trading or 
Available for Sale (AFS) portfolios and manages 
those portfolios separately. Market risk for  
the portfolios is monitored based on a  
vaR methodology and also using other 
sensitivity analyses.

objectives of the Methodologies used 
to assess Market Risk

Value at Risk (VaR)

vaR is a method of measuring market risk  
based upon a common confidence interval 
and time horizon. It is a statistical estimate 
of expected potential loss that is derived by 
translating the risk of any financial instrument 
into a common standard. 

The Bank calculates general market risk 
and equity specific risk vaR using historical 
simulation based on 365 days of market data. 
Changes in vaR between reporting periods are 
generally due to changes in levels of exposure, 
volatilities and/or correlations among asset 
classes. vaR is also used to evaluate risks arising 
in certain funding and investment portfolios. 
Back Testing is also an important and necessary 
part of the vaR process, by validating the quality 
and accuracy of the Bank’s vaR model. 

Stress Testing

vaR measures potential losses in normally active 
markets. Accordingly, stress testing examines 
the impact that abnormally large swings in 
market factors and periods of prolonged 
inactivity might have on trading portfolios. The 
stress testing programme is designed to identify 
key risks and quantify potential losses from 
abnormal events. The Bank subjects its trading 
and investment portfolios to stress tests on a 
periodic basis, using stress tests based on risk 
factor sensitivities and specific market events. 

The stress testing programme is an essential 
component of the Bank’s comprehensive risk 
management framework which complements 
the current vaR methodology and other risk 
measures and controls employed by the Bank. 

Sensitivity Analysis 

Sensitivity analysis assesses the effect of changes 
in rates on current earnings and on the economic 
value of shareholders’ equity related to AFS 
portfolios. It is applied globally to each of the 
major currencies within the Bank’s operations.

Gap Analysis

Gap analysis is used to assess the rate sensitivity 
of the Bank’s operations. Under gap analysis, 
rate sensitive assets and liabilities and Off 
Balance Sheet instruments are assigned to 
defined time periods on the basis of expected 
re-pricing dates.

VaR Assumptions

The vaR that the Bank measures is an estimate, 
using a confidence level of 99% of the potential 
loss that is not expected to be exceeded if 
the current market risk positions were to be 
held unchanged for one day. The use of a 99% 
confidence level means that, within a one day 
horizon, losses will be below the vaR limit on 
average under normal market conditions, for 99 
out of 100 days.

Since vaR is an integral part of the Bank’s 
Market Risk Management, vaR figures are 
reviewed monthly against the loss limits by 
ALCO and at every BIRMC.

vaR of Foreign 
Exchange Exposures   

LKR Million

Approved Loss Limits 
for FX Operations

LKR Million

vaR of Equity 
Portfolio

LKR Million

Approved Loss Limits 
for Equity Operations

LKR Million

End December 2015 0.03 7.92 7.86 35

Daily Average 1.51 8.43

High 3.94 11.65

Low 0.03 6.80

In practice, the actual trading results will 
differ from the vaR calculation and in particular 
the calculation does not provide a meaningful 
indication of profits and losses in stressed 
market situations.

RISK MANAGEMENT
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Foreign Exchange Risk

Foreign Exchange Risk in the Bank’s unhedged 
financing and investment activities arises primarily 
from the Bank’s foreign currency operations.

Such risks are primarily due to changes in 
foreign exchange rates which are managed 
by setting and monitoring dealer, currency, 
counterparty and settlement limits for On and 
Off Balance Sheet instruments.

Foreign exchange exposures in individual 
currencies are managed according to the limits 
approved by the Board of Directors. In addition 
to this, it is managed and monitored against the 
regulatory/statutory limits approved for the 
Bank by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka.

The Bank engages in interbank forward 
transactions to cover positions created due 
to customer transactions and mismatches 
in Balance Sheet positions. Cash flows of 
currencies are managed by undertaking 
promissory buy/sell transactions on a matching 
basis. In addition, the Bank’s activities in the 
trade finance business result in Off Balance 
Sheet exposures.

The concentration of On and Off Balance 
Sheet foreign currency risk as at 31 December 
2015 is given in the table below:

Spot Forward Net Open 
Position

Net Position 
in Other 
Exchange 

Contracts

Overall 
Exposure in 
Respective 

Foreign 
Currency

Overall 
Exposure in 

Sri Lankan 
Rupees

Currency Assets Liabilities Net Assets Liabilities Net

US Dollar 74,228,843 (39,313,315) 34,915,528 17,037,336 (51,646,718) (34,609,382) 306,146 – 306,146 53,477,651 

Pound Sterling 103,528 (2,453,769) (2,350,241) 2,350,000 – 2,350,000 (241) – (241) (72,630)

Euro 489,770 (830,919) (341,149) 400,000 – 400,000 58,851 – 58,851 10,060,068 

Japanese Yen 656,800 (23,872) 632,928 7,575,000 (7,572,460) 2,540 635,468 – 635,468 761,037 

Australian Dollar 113,717 (330,981) (217,264) 225,000 – 225,000 7,736 – 7,736 787,767 

Canadian Dollar 20 – 20 – – – 20 – 20 2,078 

Other Currencies 32,382,909

total Exposure 97,544,140

Total Capital Funds –  
   31 December 2015 5,020,407,000

Total Exposure as a % of  
   Total Capital Funds  
   (should not exceed 30%) 1.94%

During the year 2015, the LKR depreciated by 9% against the uS Dollar.
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USD/LKR RATE – 2015

LKR

(Source: CBSL Daily Weighted Average Rates)

Revaluation of all foreign currency assets and liabilities is carried out daily by the i-Mal core  
banking system.

RISK MANAGEMENT



51

Amãna Bank PLC    Annual Report 2015

A graph giving daily vaR figures of the foreign currency exposure is given below:
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Equity Position Risk

The Bank holds investment portfolios for 
investment purposes. These portfolios expose 
the Bank to rate risks, credit spread and 
equity risks. Equity position risk arises due to 
changes in individual equity prices. The Bank’s 
equity portfolio is classified as Held for Trading 
(HFT) and Available for Sale (AFS) portfolios. 
HFT portfolio comprise of equities purchased 
with a view to take advantage of short term 
capital gains. The equities in AFS portfolio are 
purchased in order to realise capital gains in the 
medium term and for dividend income. 

The performance of the equity portfolio is 
monitored by the Equity Investment Committee 
(EIC), ALCO and BIRMC. The Board of 
Directors has laid down sector, portfolio and 
loss limits to control and mitigate the risks of 
the equity portfolio. The Bank also adheres 
to the Guidelines issued by CBSL regarding 
the exposure to a single entity and the total 
exposure limit for the equity portfolio. The 
Bank conducts transactions only in Sharia 
compliant equities which are listed in the 
published White List.

The sectorial exposure of equity portfolio is given below:

Equity/Sector Total Cost Mark-to-Market 
Value

 as at 31.12.2015

Maximum Exposure 
Limit for Sector

Manufacturing 44,447,433 39,815,089 87,500,000

Motor 4,020,680 3,691,807 52,500,000

Construction 45,509,905 30,173,567 52,500,000

Chemicals 181,005 164,900 52,500,000

Food & Beverages 101,756 102,500 52,500,000

Trading 63,450,606 51,448,782 52,500,000

Power 9,102,692 8,716,732 52,500,000

Diversified Holding 3,220,612 3,207,203 87,500,000

Telecommunication 7,989,249 8,025,000 87,500,000

Services 5,258,994 5,577,108 52,500,000

Sub total 183,282,932 150,922,688

Strategic Investments 300,512,829 337,614,750

total Equity Portfolio 483,795,761 488,537,438

total approved Portfolio Limit 710,000,000

The Bank’s Treasury system, SunGard, carries out daily marking to market of the equity portfolio 
against the closing weighted average prices published by the Colombo Stock Exchange.
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A graph indicating the daily vaR figures for Total Equity portfolio is given below:
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Rate Risk

Rate risk arising from the Bank’s financing and 
investment activities is managed in accordance 
with the Board approved policies and limits, 
which are designed to control the risk to 
net financing income and economic value of 
shareholders’ equity.

Mismatches in maturity of assets and 
liabilities that mature or are re-priced during a 
specified time period, does have an impact on 
the Bank’s exposure to rate risk. In order to 
manage and mitigate such risks, ALCO reviews 
the re-pricing of assets and liabilities on a 
monthly basis. The Bank’s rate risk is limited 
due to the business model adopted where 
majority of customer deposits have been taken 
on the profit and loss sharing basis.

However, rate risk is monitored by 
measuring the impact on rate sensitive maturity 
gaps with yield curve shifts of parallel and  

non-parallel nature. Impact of yield curve shifts on rate sensitive assets and liabilities on contractual 
and behavioural basis are given below:

1 to 30 
Days

%

1-3 
Months

%

3-6 
Months

%

6-9 
Months

%

9-12 
Months

%

1-3 
Years

%

3-5 
Years

%

5-10 
Years

%

10-15 
Years

%

Over 15 
Years

%

unclassified

%

Scenario I 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00   2.00

Scenario II -2.00 -2.00 -2.00 -2.00 -2.00 -2.00 -2.00 -2.00 -2.00 -2.00 -2.00

Scenario III -1.50 -1.50 -1.25 -1.25 -1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.50 1.50

Scenario IV 1.50 1.50 1.25 1.25 1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.25 -1.25 -1.50 -1.50

RISK MANAGEMENT

Contractual Basis

Scenario Rate Risk 
LKR Million

Impact on CAR 
%

Scenario I (614.42) -1.51

Scenario II 673.02 1.66

Scenario III (369.79) -0.91

Scenario IV 325.96 0.80

Behavioural Basis

Scenario Rate Risk 
LKR Million

Impact on CAR 
%

Scenario I (18.13) -0.04

Scenario II (9.16) -0.02

Scenario III (26.43) -0.07

Scenario IV 13.66 0.03
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Maturity Gaps of Assets and Liabilities (Behavioural Basis) as at 31 December 2015

Up to 3 Months

LKR

3-12 Months

LKR

1-3 Years

LKR

3-5 Years

LKR

Over 5 Years

LKR

Total
As at 31.12.2015

LKR

Sensitive to 
Rates

Cash and Cash Equivalents 5,016,458,817 – – – – 5,016,458,817 Yes

Balances with Central Bank of Sri Lanka 1,111,631,258 561,323,014 193,763,631 195,606,094 230,563,940 2,292,887,937 Yes

Derivative Financial Assets 5,024,461 56,012,849 – – – 61,037,310 Yes

Placements with Banks 2,177,148,977 1,447,780,016 – – – 3,624,928,993 Yes

Balances with Licensed Finance 
Companies 4,528,071 950,000,000 – – – 954,528,071 Yes

Financial Investments – Held for Trading 59,474,357 – – – – 59,474,357 Yes

Financing and Receivables to  
Other Customers 11,050,028,485 6,073,585,917 9,848,252,079 4,673,074,205 1,428,655,508 33,073,596,195 Yes

Financial Investments – Available for Sale – – 91,448,330 – 340,607,750 432,056,080 Yes

Other Financial Assets 433,426,396 2,318,000 5,520,000 15,024,634 – 456,289,030 Yes

Other Non Financial Assets 91,732,716 32,954,150 132,530,032 – – 257,216,898 No

Property, Plant and Equipment – – – – 1,271,732,452 1,271,732,452 No

Intangible Assets – – – – 236,502,947 236,502,947 No

Deferred Tax Assets – – – – 145,702,993 145,702,993 No

total assets 19,949,453,538 9,123,973,947 10,271,514,073 4,883,704,933 3,653,765,590 47,882,412,080

Liabilities

Due to Banks 2,955,277,882 – – – – 2,955,277,882 Yes

Derivative Financial Liabilities 22,273,016 45,132,169 – – – 67,405,185 Yes

Due to Customers 11,703,927,399 12,842,336,070 4,397,604,699 4,439,725,615 5,224,406,820 38,608,000,603 Yes

Other Financial Liabilities 335,333,376 – 6,264,306 – – 341,597,682 Yes

Other Non Financial Liabilities 54,378,731 49,962,015 8,722,702 – – 113,063,448 No

Deferred Benefit Liabilities – – – – 74,070,679 74,070,679 No

total Liabilities 15,071,190,403 12,937,430,254 4,412,591,708 4,439,725,615 5,298,477,499 42,159,415,479

Maturity Gap 4,878,263,135 (3,813,456,308) 5,858,922,365 443,979,318 (1,644,711,909) 5,722,996,601

RISK MANAGEMENT
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Maturity Gaps of Assets and Liabilities (Contractual Basis) as at 31 December 2015

Up to 3 Months

LKR

3-12 Months

LKR

1-3 Years

LKR

3-5 Years

LKR

Over 5 Years

LKR

Total
As at 31.12.2015

LKR

Sensitive to 
Rates

Cash and Cash Equivalents 5,016,458,817 – – – – 5,016,458,817 Yes

Balances with Central Bank of Sri Lanka 2,292,887,937 – – – – 2,292,887,937 Yes

Derivative Financial Assets 5,024,461 56,012,849 – – – 61,037,310 Yes

Placements with Banks 2,177,148,977 1,447,780,016 – – – 3,624,928,993 Yes

Balances with Licensed Finance 
Companies 4,528,071 950,000,000 – – – 954,528,071 Yes

Financial Investments – Held for Trading 59,474,357 – – – – 59,474,357 Yes

Financing and Receivables to  
Other Customers 11,050,028,485 6,073,585,917 9,848,252,079 4,673,074,205 1,428,655,508 33,073,596,195 Yes

Financial Investments – Available for Sale – – 91,448,330 – 340,607,750 432,056,080 Yes

Other Financial Assets 433,426,396 2,318,000 5,520,000 15,024,634 – 456,289,030 Yes

Other Non Financial Assets 91,732,716 32,954,150 132,530,032 – – 257,216,898 No

Property, Plant and Equipment – – – – 1,271,732,452 1,271,732,452 No

Intangible Assets – – – – 236,502,947 236,502,947 No

Deferred Tax Assets – – – – 145,702,993 145,702,993 No

total assets 21,130,710,217 8,562,650,933 10,077,750,442 4,688,098,839 3,423,201,650 47,882,412,080

Liabilities

Due to Banks 2,955,277,882 – – – – 2,955,277,882 Yes

Derivative Financial Liabilities 22,273,016 45,132,169 – – – 67,405,185 Yes

Due to Customers 26,811,134,553 9,540,459,449 723,830,775 765,951,691 766,624,134 38,608,000,603 Yes

Other Financial Liabilities 335,333,376 – 6,264,306 – – 341,597,682 Yes

Other Non Financial Liabilities 54,378,731 49,962,015 8,722,702 – – 113,063,448 No

Deferred Benefit Liabilities – – – – 74,070,679 74,070,679 No

total Liabilities 30,178,397,557 9,635,553,633 738,817,784 765,951,691 840,694,813 42,159,415,479

Maturity Gap (9,047,687,340) (1,072,902,700) 9,338,932,657 3,922,147,147 2,582,506,837 5,722,996,601

Adequate liquid assets are maintained 
by the Bank to ensure the Statutory Liquid 
Assets Ratio (SLAR) is maintained according to 
regulatory requirements. Liquid assets defined 
for purposes of the liquidity ratio are mainly 
cash holdings, bank balances and short-term 
interbank deposits. The maintenance of SLAR is 
given below:

Liquid assets to Liabilities Ratios

Year-end 24.39%

Minimum 20.09%

Maximum 24.39%

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable 
to meet its financial obligations in a timely 
manner without incurring high cost.

Effective liquidity risk management is essential 
in order to maintain the confidence of depositors 
and counterparties, manage cost of funds, and 
to enable business units to continue to generate 
revenue, even under adverse circumstances.

Liquidity risk is managed within the 
framework of policies and limits that are 
approved by the Board of Directors. The Board 
of Directors receive reports on risk exposures 
and performance against approved limits. 
ALCO provides senior management oversight 
of liquidity risk and meets at least monthly to 
discuss the Bank’s liquidity profile.

RISK MANAGEMENT
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asset and Liability Maturity gaps

The contractual and behavioural assets and liability maturity gaps as at end of year are indicated below:
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Stress testing

Stress testing is carried out based on Board approved stress testing guidelines and the results 
are reviewed by BIRMC and ALCO regularly. Stress testing is carried out for areas in relation 
to exchange exposure, equity portfolio and liquidity to ascertain the impact if the markets faced 
stressed situations. 

RISK MANAGEMENT
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Foreign Exchange

Amãna Bank’s foreign exchange exposure has been stress tested using three scenarios which are 
based on 10%, 15% and 20%, in order to assess adverse rate movements of exchange rates, for 
which the result would impact upon the Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR). The stress testing results of 
exchange exposures as of 31 December 2015 are given below:

Particulars Scenario I Scenario II Scenario III

Adverse Change in Exchange Rate (%) 10 15 20

Net Exposure (LKR) 87,702,873 87,702,873 87,702,873

Exchange Loss (LKR) 8,770,287 13,155,431 17,540,575

Capital Funds – December 2015 (LKR) 5,020,407,000 5,020,407,000 5,020,407,000

Capital Adjusted for Loss (LKR) 5,011,636,713 5,007,251,569 5,002,866,425

Risk Weighted Assets – December 2015 (LKR) 40,614,099,000 40,614,099,000 40,614,099,000

Adjusted Risk Weighted Assets (LKR) 40,605,328,713 40,600,943,569 40,596,558,425

Revised Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) 12.34 12.33 12.32

Capital Adequacy Ratio as at  
   31 December 2015 (%) 12.36 12.36 12.36

Decline in CAR (%) 0.02 0.03 0.04

Equity Portfolio

Amãna Bank’s equity portfolio has been stress tested using three scenarios which are based on 10%, 
20% and 30% in order to assess adverse price movements of equities, for which the result would 
impact upon the CAR. The stress testing results of equity portfolio as of 31 December 2015 are 
given below:

Particulars Scenario I Scenario II Scenario III

Adverse Change in Equity Price (%) 10 20 30

Market value of Equity Portfolio (LKR) 488,537,437 488,537,437 488,537,437

Revaluation Loss (LKR) 48,853,744 97,707,487 146,561,231

Capital Funds – December 2015 (LKR) 5,020,407,000 5,020,407,000 5,020,407,000

Capital Adjusted for Loss (LKR) 4,971,553,256 4,922,699,513 4,873,845,769

Risk Weighted Assets – December 2015 (LKR) 40,614,099,000 40,614,099,000 40,614,099,000

Adjusted Risk Weighted Assets (LKR) 40,565,245,256 40,516,391,513 40,467,537,769

Revised Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) 12.26 12.15 12.04

Capital Adequacy Ratio as at  
   31 December 2015 (%) 12.36 12.36 12.36

Decline in CAR (%) 0.11 0.21 0.32

Liquidity

The Bank’s ability to maintain regulatory liquidity requirements is undertaken based on stress 
testing due to the concentration of liquidity which could lead to the impact of large outflows due to 
customer withdrawals.

This analysis takes into consideration the large deposit concentrations and the impact on the 
Bank’s liquidity.

oPERatIonaL RISK 
ManagEMEnt

Management of operational Risk at 
amãna Bank

Operational risk is defined as the risk of 
losses resulting from inadequate or failed 
internal processes, people and systems or 
from external events, which includes legal 
risk. This definition excludes Strategic and 
Reputation Risks. Therefore, in line with 
the Basel II risk management framework 
and leading practices, operational risk in the 
Bank is composed of the following risk types: 
operations risk, legal risk, regulatory compliance 
risk, financial crime risk, people risk, property 
risk, technology risk, vendor risk, financial 
risk and environmental risk. While the overall 
operational risk management responsibility is 
with RMD, different departments such as Legal, 
Compliance, IT manages the individual risks, 
which can be classified as operational risk. 

Operational risk exposure is managed 
through a comprehensive set of internal 
controls and management processes that 
include risk assessment (identification, 
description and estimation), risk evaluation, 
reporting, mitigation, residual risk reporting 
and monitoring and control associated with 
the Bank’s business operations as an ongoing 
activity. Operational Risk is recognised as a 
distinct risk category, which the Bank strives to 
manage within acceptable levels through sound 
operational risk management practices. The 
Bank’s approach to managing operational risk 
is to adopt practices that are fit and prudent 
to suit the organisational maturity and relevant 
business environments. 

Managing Operational Risk forms part of the 
day to day responsibilities of management at all 
levels. The objective in managing Operational 
Risk is to increase the efficiency and 
effectiveness of the Bank’s resources, minimise 
losses and utilise opportunities. The Bank’s 
framework defines the minimum requirements 
for Operational Risk management and is 
supported by specific policies and procedures. 
Business units implement the Bank’s framework, 
policies and procedures but may customise 
these to better suit their unique environments.

RISK MANAGEMENT
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Business unit/line management as the first 
line of defence is ultimately responsible for 
managing risks that arise within the scope of 
their respective areas. Both centralised and 
decentralised operational risk management 
functions are independent from business 
line management and work in partnership as 
the second line of defence. Their role is to 
monitor, manage and report on risks to ensure 
Operational Risk exposure remains within the 
policy parameters as mandated by the Senior 
Management and the Board of Directors. These 
independent functions are also responsible for 
developing and implementing the Operational 
Risk management framework and for promoting 
sound risk management practices across the 
Bank. Internal Audit is the Bank’s third line of 
defence and performs an independent review of 
the Operational Risk management framework, 
policies and practices to ensure that Operational 
Risk practices are adequate, comprehensive, 
consistent and efficiently implemented.

operational Risk Identification

Operational 
Risk Identification

As shown in the above diagram, risk 
management starts with risk identification. Risks 
that have the potential to affect the Bank are 
identified through analysis of internal factors, 
such as key control lapses and external factors 
such as environmental threats.

The Bank has established different processes 
that identify the nature and types of Operational 
Risk and their causes along with resulting 
effects on the Bank. Proper Operational 
Risk identification supports the reporting 

and maintenance of capital for Operational 
Risk exposure and events, facilitates the 
establishment of mechanisms to mitigate or 
control the risks, and ensures that management 
is fully aware of the sources of emerging 
Operational Risk loss events. 

Risk identification is performed at all 
levels of units in the Bank. Risks that have the 
potential to impact the Bank must be identified 
through analysis of internal factors and 
external factors. Risk identification takes into 
consideration of the following: 

 z risks arising from control lapses 

 z risks identified through root cause analysis of 
operational events in a timely manner 

 z risks arising from potential infrequent but 
severe events 

 z risks arising from change initiatives  
(example: new products and projects) 

 z external events with risk implications  
to the Bank 

The Bank uses the following tools for 
Operational risk identification:

Risk control and Self-assessments 
(RcSas) 

Risk Control and Self-Assessment (RCSA) 
is a structured means for a Business Line, 
Supporting unit, Product Line or Process to 
identify and assess its own risks and introduce 
measures aimed at improving risk control. 
It focuses on Operational Risks. In addition, 
the ownership of key risks – and measures 
introduced to mitigate unacceptable risk 
exposure – is clearly defined. 

RCSA is conducted by staff of the Bank’s 
unit being assessed (i.e., those who know the 
process best) with the guidance of the Head 
of Operational Risk Management unit, where 
necessary. As a consequence, RCSA is regarded 
as an effective Operational Risk Management 
tool, to be deployed throughout the Bank. 

RCSAs will assist business and support units 
in identifying and assessing the operational risks 
for certain key processes for which they are 
responsible. RCSA will also help to address 
those risks by evaluating the effectiveness of 
controls and, if necessary, establishing action 
plans to address any identified gaps.

Since the business units have expertise in 
their functions and the process, Operational 
Risk Coordinators of respective units, conduct 
the RCSA which is reviewed and evaluated by 
the Risk Management Department along with 
the heat map for escalation to the Management 
and Board Sub-Committees for their comments 
and suggestions.

Key Risk Indicators (KRIs) 

The function of KRIs is to allow the early 
detection of operational risk before actual 
failure occurs. It is an early warning indicator of 
risks and not losses.

Data collection, analysis and presentation of 
key risk indicators are carried out on a monthly 
basis along with root cause identification and 
follow-up on corrective actions.

Internal Operational Risk Events  
and Losses 

Departments report all operational risk events 
and losses to the Operational Risk Management 
Unit which will maintain a centralised database 
on all internal risk events and losses (both 
historical and current). This data will then be 
classified into various risk categories.

Loss event database is maintained in line with 
the BASEL and CBSL requirements to identify 
operational loss trends from internal loss data 
collection and prepare analysis for management 
reporting. Root cause of operational losses to 
facilitate control/process/system improvements 
are reidentified and monitored for resolution.

External Risk Events data

External events which have Operational risk 
implication to the Bank, are monitored as a 
source of potential operational risk 

 

Scenario analysis and Stress testing

Scenarios of potential events, which are 
infrequent, but have severe impact to the Bank 
when they happen are identified and analysed 
for risk identification at least once a year 
during review of the Internal Capital Adequacy 
Assessment Process (ICAAP) process. 

RISK MANAGEMENT
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new/change Initiatives Risk analysis

Operational risks are identified and assessed 
in the evaluation and implementation of new/
change initiatives such as new products, 
acquisition, integration and projects.

operational Risk assessment

All risks identified are assessed using the 
operational risk-grading matrix. Risks are 
assigned risk grades (High, Medium and 
Low) based on the assessments of likelihood 
and impact of the risks. Impact is assessed 
qualitatively and quantitatively against the 
operational risk tolerance and limits set for 
the five dimensions of impacts: Financial, 
Reputational, Regulatory, Human Resources 
and Business Disruption. The use of the 
said dimensions ensures a comprehensive 
assessment of the impact. 

The risk grades of the assessed risks reflect 
the status of adherence to the risk appetite 
of the Bank. Qualitative and quantitative 
methodologies and tools are applied to identify 
and assess operational risks and to provide 
management with information for determining 
appropriate mitigating measures. 

operational Risk Mitigation and 
Control

All risks must have mitigation plans established 
to reduce the inherent risks within the risk 
appetite of the Bank. Actions to mitigate or 
control identified risks are prioritised based on 
assessed impact of the risks, and are directed at 
the root cause of the risk. All action plans are 
assigned to owners. Risk grades are reassessed 
periodically to appropriately reflect changes 
in the environment and the progress of the 
mitigation plans. Mitigation plans are captured 
and progress is monitored. 

There are different levels of controls 
operational in the Bank. The following levels of 
control are distinguished in this respect: 

 z Individual level 

 z Management control 

 z Assessments carried out by specialist units 
such as Internal/Group Audit or Compliance 

 z Assessments carried out by external 
parties (External Auditors and Supervisory 
Authorities).

Together, these four levels of risk  
control form the basis for Operational Risk 
control system.

operational Risk Monitoring

The final step of the risk management process 
is to monitor unresolved risks until the point 
when the risk exposures are within the risk 
appetite of the Bank. This involves periodic 
reassessment of risk grades to capture changes 
in environment that may increase or decrease 
potential impact of the risks. 

Managing operational Risks in new 
Product development

A process is in place to identify the operational 
risks of new products along with possible 
mitigates prior to launch of such products 
and a similar process is followed during 
the annual review of existing Product 
Programmes. Risk management is a key aspect 
of product development, as the Bank thrives 
on innovation to deliver new products that 
would cater to the growing and evolving 
needs of the consumers, SMEs and corporate 
customers of our developing economy. These 
Product Programmes are approved by all 
the stakeholders including the compliance 
department of the Bank. 

Business continuity Management 
(BcM)

As an integral component of the Bank’s risk 
management framework, the Bank has deployed 
a Business Continuity Plan (BCP) enabling it to 
be adequately prepared to continue its business 
in the event of a disaster. This plan is not only 
designed to comply with Central Bank of  
Sri Lanka’s requirements but also with leading 
practices promoted by Disaster Recovery 
Institute International (DRI) of uSA. The Bank’s 
business continuity strategy is structured to 
ensure centralised monitoring and reporting and 
decentralised execution, and is supported by a 
robust governance process. 

The developed BCM contains four different 
areas, which include, Recovery Plans, Emergency 
Response Plans, Support Plans and Management 
System Plans. The Business Continuity Plans 
so developed are backed by infrastructure to 
support key services, core systems and critical 
business processes. 

The BIRMC of the Bank approves the Plan 
and its implementation is coordinated via the 
Operational Risk unit of the Bank. The Bank 
has appointed a Disaster Management Team 
representing critical business units and officers 
who manage resources required for disaster 
recovery. The Disaster Management Team 
consists of three layers, where the Incident 
Commander occupies the top most layer, the 
Team Leaders the second layer and the Team 
Members who will operate the continuity of 
operations and recovery form the third layer. 

The Bank gives primary importance 
to ensuring safety of its customers, staff, 
contractors and other visitors. In this regard, 
the Bank not only has an able emergency 
response team but also a team dedicated to 
support people and families affected. 

Management plans within the BCP spells out 
the tools and processes required to maintain 
the continued effectiveness of the plan. Business 
Continuity Plan is periodically reviewed through 
comprehensive Business Impact Analysis (BIA) 
to accommodate organisational changes and is 
subjected to regular drills and testing as well. 

BCP Testing/Activation Drills

The Bank has successfully conducted Disaster 
Recovery (DR) Testing in August 2015 from the 
Bank’s Disaster Recovery Site in respect of its 
critical business operations.

BCP/DR Drill reports highlighting test 
results, technical and operational functions, 
issues encountered, lessons learnt and risk 
mitigation measures adopted during the testing 
process were reported to the Regulator with 
the review and recommendation of the BIRMC 
and approval of the Board of Directors well 
within stipulated deadlines of the Regulator.
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Corporate Governance

Rule Number Rule Status of Compliance

3 (1) the Responsibilities of the Board

3 (1) (i) The Board shall strengthen the safety and soundness of the 
Bank by ensuring the implementation of the following:

3 (1) (i) (a) Approve and oversee the Bank’s strategic objectives and 
corporate values and ensure that these are communicated 
through the Bank.

Complied.
The Strategic Plan for the period 2015 – 2019 has been approved by the 
Board which includes strategic objectives and corporate values. These 
are monitored and assessed at regular meetings with the Management 
Committee and cascaded to all staff by each Management Committee 
member through the use of KPI’s, goals and targets.

3 (1) (i) (b) Approve the overall business strategy of the Bank, including 
the Risk Policy and Risk Management procedures and 
mechanisms with measurable goals, for at least for the next 
three years.

Complied.
The Bank has a five-year approved Strategic Plan. The Board also 
approved Integrated Risk Management (IRM) Framework, which includes 
risk management procedures and mechanism with measurable goals that 
are being practiced in line with the Strategic Plan. The Bank’s performance 
is monitored in line with these goals regularly at Board meetings. 

3 (1) (i) (c) Identify the principal risks and ensure implementation of 
appropriate systems to manage the risks prudently.

Complied.
The implementation and management of the IRM Framework is being 
monitored through the use of monthly risk dashboard by the Board 
Integrated Risk Management Committee (BIRMC). Minutes and BIRMC 
Chairman’s report are submitted to the Board periodically to manage and 
implement appropriate systems to address the risk identified by the Bank.

Sound Corporate Governance structure is 
about information flow, escalation, decision 
making and accountability. In this regard, 
the Central Bank of Sri Lanka (CBSL) as the 
Regulator of the banking industry has issued 
Corporate Governance Direction No. 11 of 
2007 for Corporate Governance for Licensed 
Commercial Banks in Sri Lanka. Further, 
the Securities and Exchange Commission 
of Sri Lanka has jointly with The Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka has 
issued a Code of Best Practices on Corporate 
Governance.

As a Licensed Commercial Bank and an 
entity listed on the Diri Savi Board of the 
Colombo Stock Exchange, Amãna Bank 
complies with the Standards of Conduct set by 

the above Direction and Guidelines. The Board 
of Directors of the Bank are fully committed 
to upholding the best practices in Corporate 
Governance and has during the year 2015 
continued to strengthen the Bank’s Corporate 
Governance structures by addressing the issues 
identified by CBSL and proactively taking steps 
to maintain standards of sound governance. In 
this Annual Report, the Board of Directors has 
presented their report to the shareholders in 
page 84. Further, the Board Audit Committee, 
Board Integrated Risk Management Committee, 
Board Human Resources and Remuneration 
Committee and the Board Nomination 
Committee have also presented their reports 
to the shareholders in pages 90, 92, 94 and 95 
respectively. The report below sets out in detail 

the Bank’s compliance with the requirements of 
sound Governance as set out by Direction No. 
11 of 2007 issued by the Central Bank of Sri 
Lanka and subsequent amendments thereof. 

StatEMEnt oF ExtERnaL 
audItoRS

The External Auditors have performed audit 
agreed upon procedures on the Corporate 
Governance Principles from 3 (1) to 3 (8) 
specified in Banking Act Direction No. 11 of 
2007 and amendments thereto on Corporate 
Governance for Licensed Commercial Banks in 
Sri Lanka issued by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka. 
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Rule Number Rule Status of Compliance

3 (1) (i) (d) Approve implementation of a policy of communication with all 
stakeholders, including depositors, creditors, shareholders and 
borrowers.

Complied.
The Board has approved a communication policy which addresses the 
communication to all stakeholders, depositors, creditors, shareholders 
and clients.

3 (1) (i) (e) Review the adequacy and the integrity of the Bank’s internal 
control systems and management information systems.

Complied.
The Internal Audit Department has reviewed the MIS and has submitted a 
report to the BAC. The BAC has examined the report and has noted their 
satisfaction on the adequacy and integrity of the MIS and has informed the 
Board accordingly.

3 (1) (i) (f) Identify and designate Key Management Personnel, as defined 
in the International Accounting Standards, who are in a 
position to –

(i) significantly influence policy;

(ii) direct activities; and

(iii) exercise control over business activities, operations and 
risk management.

Complied.
The Board has identified Key Management Personnel (KMP) as per the 
Bank Supervision Department Guideline Ref. 02/17/550/0002/003 dated 
2 December 2015, who significantly influence policy, direct activities 
and exercise control over those business activities, operations and risk 
management.

3 (1) (i) (g) Define the areas of authority and key responsibilities for the 
Board of Directors themselves and for Key Management 
Personnel.

Complied.
Article 29 of the Bank’s Articles of Association, covers the areas of 
authority and key responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Terms 
of Reference (TOR) of the Management Committee defines the authority 
and the key responsibilities of the KMPs.

3 (1) (i) (h) Ensure that there is appropriate oversight of the affairs of the 
Bank by Key Management Personnel that is consistent with 
Board’s policy.

Complied.
Oversight of the Bank by KMP is assessed by the Board through a number 
of ways. These include –

(a) Sub-Committees meet regularly to ensure that key matters of the 
Bank’s affairs are reviewed.

(b) Sub-Committees’ minutes are tabled at the Board meetings.  
The respective Sub-Committees’ Chairmen also presents reports  
to the Board.

(c) KMPs are regularly called in by the Board to explain matters under 
their purview. 

3 (1) (i) (i) Periodically assess the effectiveness of the Board of Directors’ 
own governance practices, including –

Complied.

(i) the selection, nomination and election of Directors and 
Key Management Personnel;

The Board has delegated the functions of selecting, nominating and 
election of Directors and KMPs to the Board Nomination Committee 
(BNC) as per the approved Terms of Reference (TOR).

(ii) the management of conflicts of interest; and Conflicts of interest are disclosed to the Board. A Director who has an 
interest abstains from voting and is not counted in the quorum. Directors’ 
Interest Register is maintained at Board meetings.

(iii) the determination of weaknesses and implementation of 
changes where necessary.

Weaknesses and implementation of changes are discussed through 
submission of a summary of the findings of self-evaluation to Board  
of Directors.
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3 (1) (i) (j) Ensure that the Board has an appropriate succession plan for 
Key Management Personnel.

Complied.
The succession plan of the Key Management Personnel has been reviewed 
by the BNC and subsequently, approved by the Board. 

3 (1) (i) (k) Ensure that the Board has regular meetings with the 
Key Management Personnel to review policies, establish 
communication lines and monitor progress towards corporate 
objectives.

Complied.
CEO has made regular presentations to the Board on the performance of 
the Strategic Plan. The KMPs were invited during the presentations.

Further, KMPs are called regularly at the Board meetings to review 
policies, establish communications and monitors progress towards 
corporate objectives.

3 (1) (i) (l) Understand the regulatory environment and ensure that the 
Bank maintains an effective relationship with regulators.

Complied.
On being appointed to the Board, the Company Secretary furnishes 
the Director with the Board Orientation Pack which includes CBSL 
Guidelines, Regulatory Guidelines, Determinations and Rules of Corporate 
Governance for their information.

A presentation was also organised for the Board on Corporate Governance.

Further, the Chief Compliance Officer submits quarterly compliance 
reports to the Board which are monitored closely by the Board. The CEO 
attended CBSL meetings regularly. 

3 (1) (i) (m) Exercise due diligence in the hiring and oversight of External 
Auditors.

Complied.
The External Auditors are appointed at the Annual General Meeting 
(AGM). Oversight of the External Auditors is carried out by the BAC as 
per the approved TOR of the BAC.

3 (1) (ii) The Board shall appoint the Chairman and the Chief 
Executive Officer and define and approve the functions and 
responsibilities of the Chairman and the Chief Executive 
Officer in line with Direction 3 (5) of these Directions.

Complied.
The Board has appointed the Chairman and the CEO. The Board has 
also approved their functions and responsibilities maintaining a balance 
between the two roles.

Board Procedure

3 (1) (iii) The Board shall meet regularly and Board meetings shall be 
held at least twelve times a year at approximately monthly 
intervals. Such regular Board meetings shall normally involve 
active participation in person of a majority of Directors 
entitled to be present. Obtaining the Board’s consent through 
the circulation of written resolutions/papers shall be avoided 
as far as possible.

Complied.
The Board has held twelve (12) meetings during the year.

There were 4 circular resolutions passed for the year which was 
subsequently ratified by the Board.

3 (1) (iv) The Board shall ensure that procedures are in place to enable 
all Directors to include matters and proposals in the agenda 
for regular Board meetings where such matters and proposals 
relate to the promotion of business and the management of 
risks of the Bank.

Complied.
A formal procedure for Directors to include any matter in the agenda for 
regular Board meetings is in place. The Directors inform such matters to 
the Board Secretary to include in the Board meetings.

3 (1) (v) The Board procedures shall ensure that notice of at least 
7 days is given of a regular Board meeting to provide all 
Directors an opportunity to attend. For all other Board 
meetings, reasonable notice may be given.

Complied.
Board has been given notice of 7 days for regular Board meetings.
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3 (1) (vi) The Board procedure shall ensure that a Director, who has 
not attended at least two-thirds of the meetings in the period 
of 12 months immediately preceding or has not attended 
the immediately preceding three consecutive meetings held, 
shall cease to be a Director. Participation at the Directors’ 
meetings through an alternative Director shall, however, be 
acceptable as attendance.

Complied.
The Directors have attended the required number of meetings during the 
year 2015 in accordance with the Corporate Governance Code.

The attendances of the Directors are set out on page 78 of the  
Annual Report.

3 (1) (vii) The Board shall appoint a Company Secretary who satisfies 
the provisions of Section 43 of the Banking Act No. 30 of 
1988, whose primary responsibilities shall be to handle the 
secretarial services to the Board and shareholder meetings  
and to carry out other functions specified in the statutes and 
other regulations.

Complied.
The Board has appointed a Company Secretary, an Attorney at Law who 
satisfies the provisions of Section 43 of the Banking Act No. 30 of 1988 
(as amended).

3 (1) (viii) All Directors shall have access to advice and services of 
the Company Secretary with a view to ensure that Board 
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

Complied.
As a practice all Directors have access to advice and services of the 
Company Secretary. Further, a formal process to enable Directors to have 
access to advice and services of the Company Secretary is in place.

3 (1) (ix) The Company Secretary shall maintain the minutes of the 
Board meetings and such minutes shall be open for inspection 
at any reasonable time, on reasonable notice by any Director.

Complied.
The minutes of the Board meetings are maintained by the Company 
Secretary. A formal process to enable Directors to inspect such minutes 
is in place.

3 (1) (x) Minutes of Board meetings shall be recorded in sufficient detail 
so that the minutes clearly contain or refer to the following:

(a) A summary of data and information used by the Board in 
its deliberations.

(b) The matters considered by the Board.

(c) The fact-finding discussions and the issues of contention 
or dissent which may illustrate whether the Board was 
carrying out its duties with due care and prudence.

(d) The matters which indicate compliance with the Board’s 
strategies and policies and adherence to relevant laws  
and regulations.

(e) The understanding of the risks to which the Bank is 
exposed and an overview of the Risk Management 
measures adopted.

(f) The decisions and Board resolutions.

Complied.
Detailed minutes are maintained by the Company Secretary which 
addresses this rule.

3 (1) (xi) There shall be a procedure agreed by the Board to enable 
Directors, upon reasonable request, to seek independent 
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the  
Bank’s expense.

Complied.
A Board approved procedure is in place for Directors to obtain 
independent professional advice.
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3 (1) (xii) Ensure that there is a procedure to determine, report, resolve 
and to take appropriate action relating to Directors to avoid 
conflicts of interests, or the appearance of conflicts of interest.

Complied.
The Directors are conscious of their obligations with regard to the 
conflicts of interest in accordance to the Corporate Governance 
Direction No. 11 of 2007 and inform their interest if any at the Board 
meeting. Further, the Related Party Policy covers this issue. A register is 
maintained by the Board Secretary to record such interests. Accordingly 
any interests are also recorded in the Board minutes.

A Director shall abstain from voting on any Board resolution 
in relation to which he/she or any of his/her close relation  
or a concern in which a Director has substantial interest,  
is interested.

The Directors abstain from participating in discussions, opinion or 
approving situations where there is a conflict of interest.

He/She shall not be counted in the quorum for the relevant 
agenda item at the Board meeting.

Such Director is not counted in the quorum in such instances.

3 (1) (xiii) The Board shall have a formal schedule of matters specifically 
reserved to it for decision to ensure that the direction and 
control of the Bank is firmly under its authority.

Complied.
A formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board is in place 
for its decision to ensure that the direction and control of the Bank is 
within Board’s authority. 

3 (1) (xiv) The Board shall, if it considers that the Bank is, or is likely 
to be, unable to meet its obligations or is about to become 
insolvent or is about to suspend payments due to depositors 
and other creditors, forthwith inform the Director of Bank 
Supervision of the situation of the Bank prior to taking any 
decision or action.

Complied.
Such a situation has not arisen during the year 2015. The Board is 
aware of its responsibilities and would inform the Director of Banking 
Supervision prior to taking any decision in this regard.

3 (1) (xv) The Board shall ensure that the Bank is capitalised at levels 
as required by the Monetary Board in terms of the capital 
adequacy ratio and other prudential grounds.

Complied.
The Bank is in compliance with the capital requirements. The Board 
monitors the capital adequacy ratio and other prudential requirements on 
a monthly basis.

Further, the Board has had discussion on strategies with regard to capital 
raising to meet the capital requirement as stipulated.

3 (1) (xvi) The Board shall publish in the Bank’s Annual Report, an annual 
corporate governance report setting out the compliance with 
Direction 3 of these Directions.

Complied.
The Bank publishes the Corporate Governance Report in the Annual 
Report. Refer pages 59 to 78 of the Annual Report.

3 (1) (xvii) The Board shall adopt a scheme of self-assessment to be 
undertaken by each Director annually, and maintain records of 
such assessments.

Complied. 
The Board has implemented a self-assessment process to be completed by 
each Director and records are maintained by the Company Secretary.

3 (2) the Board’s composition

3 (2) (i) The number of Directors on the Board shall not be less than 7 
and not more than 13.

Complied.
The Bank’s Board comprised 11 Directors during the year 2015 which is 
in line with the regulations. 

3 (2) (ii) (a) The total period of service of a Director other than a Director 
who holds the position of a Chief Executive Officer shall not 
exceed nine years.

Complied.
There are no Directors whose tenure of service has exceeded 9 years 
during the year under review.

CORPORATE GOvERNANCE



64

Amãna Bank PLC    Annual Report 2015

Rule Number Rule Status of Compliance

3 (2) (ii) (b) Ensure that any Director serving more than nine years, the 
transitional provisions have been applied with.

Complied.
There are no Directors whose tenure of service has exceeded 9 years 
during the year under review.

3 (2) (iii) Ensure that the number of Executive Directors, including the 
CEO does not exceed one-third of the number of Directors 
of the Board.

Complied.
Currently, there are no Executive Directors on the Board of the Bank, 
thus the Bank complies with the requirement.

3 (2) (iv) The Board shall have at least three Independent Non-Executive 
Directors or one-third of the total number of the Directors, 
whichever is higher.

The Board shall not consider the Non-Executive Directors 
independent if he/she –

(a) Holds directly and indirectly shareholdings of more than 
1% of the Bank.

(b) Has currently or had during the period of two years 
immediately preceding his/her appointment as Director, 
any business transactions with the Bank as described in 
Direction 3 (7) hereof, exceeding 10% of the regulatory 
capital of the Bank.

(c) Has been employed by the Bank during the two-year period 
immediately preceding the appointment as Director.

(d) Has had a close relation; who is a Director, CEO, a 
member of Key Management Personnel, a material 
shareholder of the Bank or another bank (a ‘close relation’ 
means the spouse or a financially dependent child).

(e) Represents a specific stakeholder of the Bank.

(f) Is an employee or Director or a material shareholder in a 
company or business organisation:

I. Which currently has a transaction with the Bank as 
defined in, or

II. In which any of the other Directors of the Bank 
are employed or are Directors or are material 
shareholders; or

III. In which any of the other Directors of the Bank have 
a transaction as defined in Direction 3 (7) of these 
Directions, exceeding 10% of the regulatory capital of 
the Bank.

Complied.
The Board has 4 Independent Non-Executive Directors in the current year.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors appointed to the Board 
comply with the regulatory requirements.

3 (2) (v) In the event an Alternate Director is appointed to represent 
an Independent Director, the person so appointed shall also 
meet the criteria that applys to the Independent Director.

Complied.
There have been no alternative Directors appointed to represent the 
Independent Directors during the year 2015.
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3 (2) (vi) The Bank shall have a process to evaluate the appointment 
of Independent Directors, who possess credible track 
records and/or have necessary skills and experience to 
bring an independent judgment to bear in issues of strategy, 
performance and resources. 

Complied.
There has been no Independent Directors appointed during the year 
under review.

Further, the Board Nomination Committee has a formal documented 
process approved by the Board for appointing Independent Directors to 
the Board. Such Independent Directors possess the necessary skills and 
experience to bring an independent judgment on Bank issues.

3 (2) (vii) The Board shall ensure that the Board meetings are duly 
constituted only where the quorum includes more than 50% of 
the Directors out of which 50% should include Non-Executive 
Directors.

Complied.
The required quorum was strictly observed and the required number of 
Non-Executive Directors were present at the Board meetings during the 
year 2015.

3 (2) (viii) The Board shall disclose the composition of the Board, by 
category of Directors, including the names of the Chairman, 
Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors and Independent 
Directors in the Annual Corporate Governance Report.

Complied.
The Bank discloses the composition of the Board, by category of 
Directors on page 78 and pages 16 to 19 of the Annual Report.

3 (2) (ix) There shall be a formal, considered and transparent procedure 
for the appointment of new Directors to the Board. There 
shall also be procedures in place for the orderly succession of 
appointment of the Board.

Complied.
There have been no Directors appointed during the year under review.

Further, Article 28 of the Bank’s Articles of Association, covers the 
appointments of new Directors. Further, Board Nomination Committee 
(BNC) has a formal documented process approved by the Board for 
appointing new Directors to the Board.

3 (2) (x) All Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be subject 
to election by shareholders at the first General Meeting after 
their appointment.

Complied.
Directors appointed will stand for election at the next AGM in accordance 
with the provision of Article 28 of the Bank’s Articles of Association. There 
were no such appointments to fill casual vacancies during the year 2015.

3 (2) (xi) If a Director resigns or if removed from office, the Board shall:

(a) Announce the Director’s resignation or removal and 
reasons for such removal or resignation including but not 
limited to information relating to the relevant Director’s 
disagreement with the Bank, if any; and

(b) Issue a statement confirming whether or not there are 
any matters that need to be brought to the attention of 
shareholders.

Complied.
Resignations or removal of Directors are communicated to the regulators, 
shareholders and CSE together with a statement confirming whether 
or not any matters should be brought to the attention of shareholders, 
including the reasons for such resignations or removal.

There were no such resignations or removals of Directors during the year 
under review. 

3 (2) (xii) Ensure that there is a process where the Board shall identify 
whether a Director or an employee of the Bank is appointed, 
elected or nominated as a Director of another bank.

Complied.
Such a situation has not arisen during the year 2015.
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3 (3) criteria to assess the Fitness and Propriety of 
directors

In addition to provisions of Section 42 of the Banking  
Act No. 30 of 1988, the criteria set out below shall apply to 
determine the fitness and propriety of a person who serves 
or wishes to serve as a Director of a bank. Non-compliance 
with any one of the criteria as set out herein shall disqualify a 
person to be appointed, elected or nominated as a Director or 
to continue as a Director.

3 (3) (i) A Director shall not exceed the age of 70 years to serve in  
the Board. 

Complied.
There are no Directors who are over 70 years of age during the year 
under review.

3 (3) (ii) A person shall not hold office as a Director of more than 
20 companies/entities/institutions inclusive of subsidiaries or 
associate companies of the Bank.

Complied.
During the year under review there has been no Director who has held 
Directorships of more than 20 companies.

3 (4) Management Functions delegated by the Board

3 (4) (i) The Board shall approve the delegation arrangements and 
ensure that it is in place. 

Complied.
Delegation arrangements approved by the Board are in place and are 
periodically reviewed to ensure that the extent of delegation addresses 
the needs of the Bank.

3 (4) (ii) The Board shall be responsible for the matters in 3 (1) (i) even 
in the instances such actions are delegated. The Board shall not 
delegate any matters to the Board Committee, CEO, Executive 
Directors or Key Management Personnel, to an extent that such 
delegation would significantly hinder or reduce the ability of the 
Board as a whole to discharge its functions.

Complied.
The Board has not delegated any matters to Board Committees, CEO 
or Key Management Personnel, to an extent that such delegation would 
significantly hinder or reduce the ability of the Board as a whole to 
discharge its functions.

3 (4) (iii) The Board shall review the delegation process in place on a 
periodic basis to ensure that they remain relevant to the needs 
of the Bank.

Complied.
The Board periodically reviews and approves the delegation arrangements 
in accordance to the needs of the Bank. 

3 (5) the chairman and the chief Executive officer

3 (5) (i) The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive  
Officer shall be separated and shall not be performed by the 
same individual.

Complied.
The roles of the Chairman and the CEO are separate and the positions 
are held by two individuals who are appointed by the Board.

Chairman provides leadership to the Board and the CEO manages the  
day to day operations of the Bank giving effect to the strategies and 
policies approved by the Board.
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3 (5) (ii) The Chairman shall be a Non-Executive Director.

In the case where the Chairman is not an Independent 
Director, the Board shall designate an Independent  
Director as the Senior Director with suitably documented 
terms of reference.

The designation of Senior Director shall be disclosed in the 
Bank’s Annual Report

Complied.
The Chairman is a Non-Executive Director. Since the Chairman is a  
Non-Independent Director the Board has appointed an Independent 
Director, Dato’ A. Tajudin B.H. Abdul Rahman as the Senior Director.  
Refer page 16 of the Annual Report.

3 (5) (iii) The Board shall disclose in its corporate governance report, 
which shall be an integral part of its Annual Report, the 
identity of the Chairman and the CEO and the nature of  
the relationship (including financial, business, family or  
other material/relevant relationship(s), if any, between the 
Chairman and the CEO and the relationships among members 
of the Board.

Complied.
The process to identify relationships of the Board members is in place and 
maintained at the Board Secretary’s division. Further, the Board members 
submit annual declarations to this effect and the Director’s Interest 
Register is updated regularly. 

The relationships among the Directors are given below:

Family Ties
1. The Chairman, Mr. Osman Kassim and Dr. A.A.M. Haroon
2. Mr. Ruzly Hussain and Mr. J.M. Ismail

Business Relationship
1. The Chairman, Mr. Osman Kassim and Mr. Harsha Amarasekara

3 (5) (iv) The Chairman shall;

(a) Provide leadership to the Board

(b) Ensure that the Board works effectively and discharges its 
responsibilities; and

(c) Ensure all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the 
Board in a timely manner.

Complied.
A self-evaluation process is in place that ensures that the Chairman 
provides leadership to the Board, ensures that the Board works effectively 
and discharges its responsibilities and all key and appropriate issues are 
discussed by the Board in a timely manner.

3 (5) (v) The Chairman shall be primarily responsible for drawing 
up and approving the agenda of the Board meetings. The 
Chairman may delegate the drawing up of the agenda to the 
Company Secretary.

Complied.
The Company Secretary draws up the agenda for Board meetings in 
consultation with the Chairman.

3 (5) (vi) The Chairman shall ensure that all the Directors are  
properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and  
also ensure that Directors receive adequate information in a 
timely manner.

Complied.
The Chairman ensures that the Board is adequately briefed on matters 
arising at the Board meetings. Further, minutes of the previous Board 
meeting are distributed to the Board members and tabled at the next 
Board meeting for confirmation.

The Board papers are forwarded to the Board members seven days prior 
to the meeting.

3 (5) (vii) The Chairman shall encourage all the Directors to make a full 
and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and take the lead 
to ensure that the Board acts in the best interest of the Bank.

Complied.
The Chairman encourages all Directors to make full and active 
contribution to the affairs of the Bank. The self-evaluation forms submitted 
by the Directors annually capture their contributions made to the affairs 
of the Bank.
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3 (5) (viii) The Board shall have a self-evaluation process that assesses the 
contribution of Non-Executive Directors.

Complied.
The Board has a self-evaluation process for Non-Executive Directors as 
well as to assess the contributions made by them to the Bank. 

3 (5) (ix) The Chairman shall not engage in activities involving direct 
supervision of Key Management Personnel or any other 
executive duties whatsoever.

Complied.
The Chairman is a Non-Executive Director and does not get involved in 
the supervision of KMPs or any other executive duties. 

3 (5) (x) The Chairman shall ensure that appropriate steps are taken to 
maintain effective communication with shareholders and that 
the views of shareholders are communicated to the Board.

Complied.
The AGM of the Bank is the main forum where the Board maintains 
effective communication with the shareholders and where shareholders’ 
issues are discussed.

3 (5) (xi) The CEO shall function as the apex executive-in-charge of the 
day-to-day management of the Bank’s operations and business.

Complied.
The CEO is the apex executive-in-charge of the day-to-day management 
of the Bank’s operations and business.

3 (6) Board appointed committees

3 (6) (i)  – The Bank shall have at least the following committees;
3 (6) (ii) – Audit Committee
3 (6) (iii) – Human Resources and Remuneration Committee
3 (6) (iv) – Nomination Committee
3 (6) (v) – Integrated Risk Management Committee

Complied.
The Board has established four Board Sub-Committees, namely Board 
Audit Committee (BAC), Board Human Resources and Remuneration 
Committee (BHRRC), Board Nomination Committee (BNC) and  
Board Integrated Risk Management Committee (BIRMC) as per the 
regulatory requirement.

Each Committee shall report directly to the Board. Reports/Minutes of the above Committees are submitted to the Board for 
discussion and ratification at the monthly Board meetings.

Each Committee shall appoint a Secretary to arrange the 
meetings and maintain, minutes, records etc. under the 
supervision of the Chairman of the Committee.

Each Committee has appointed a Secretary to arrange the meetings and 
maintain minutes under the supervision of the Chairmen of the  
Sub-Committees. 

The Board shall present a report of the performance on  
each Committee, on their duties and roles at the  
Annual General meeting.

Individual Reports of each Committee are included in the Annual Report. 
Refer pages 90 to 95 of the Annual Report.

3 (6) (ii) audit committee

3 (6) (ii) (a) The Chairman of the Committee shall be an Independent  
Non-Executive Director who possess qualifications and 
experience in accounting and/or audit.

Complied.
The Chairman of the BAC is a Non-Executive, Independent Director who 
is a Fellow of The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka and 
possesses the required qualifications and experience. 

3 (6) (ii) (b) All members of the Committee shall be Non-Executive 
Directors.

Complied.
All members of the BAC are Non-Executive Directors.

3 (6) (ii) (c) The Committee shall make recommendations on matters in 
connection with;

Complied.

(a) The appointment of an External Auditor for audit services 
to be provided in compliance with the relevant statues;

The Committee has considered the appointment of External Auditors for 
audit services in compliance with the relevant statutes.

(b) The implementation of the Central Bank Guidelines issued 
to Auditors from time to time;

The Committee has discussed issues raised by the External Auditors and 
the Bank’s response as required by the regulators with regard to the 
Corporate Governance Report.
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(c) The application of the relevant accounting standards; and The application of the relevant accounting standards were taken into 
consideration for the year 2015 based on the IFRS requirements. 

(d) The service period, audit fees and any resignation or 
dismissal of the Auditor, provided that the engagement of 
the Audit Partner shall not exceed five years, and that the 
particular Audit Partner is not re-engaged for the audit 
before the expiry of three years from the date of the 
completion of the previous term.

There has been no resignation or dismissal of the External Auditor in the 
year 2015 and the Audit Engagement Partner has not exceeded five years 
of service.

3 (6) (ii) (d) The Committee shall review and monitor the External 
Auditor’s independence and objective and the effectiveness  
of the audit process in accordance with SLAuS. 

Complied.
The External Auditors are independent as they present their reports 
directly to the BAC. Further, the BAC obtains representations from the 
External Auditors on its independence through the Engagement Letter and 
that the audit is carried out in accordance with the SLAuS for the year 2015.

3 (6) (ii) (e) The Committee shall have in place an implemented policy on 
the engagement of an External Auditor to provide non-audit 
services in accordance with the relevant regulations.

Complied.
A Board approved policy is in place to engage the External Auditors to 
provide non-audit services. 

3 (6) (ii) (f) The Committee shall discuss and finalise the nature and scope 
of the audit, with the External Auditors in accordance with 
SLAuS before the audit commences.

Complied.
External Auditors have submitted the Financial Statement audit plan for 
2015 and the BAC has discussed the nature and scope of the audit with 
the External Auditors in accordance with the SLAuS.

3 (6) (ii) (g) The Committee shall review the financial information of 
the Bank, in order to monitor the integrity of the Financial 
Statements of the Bank, its Annual Report, accounts and 
quarterly reports prepared for disclosure and receive the 
following from the Financial Controller;

Complied
In respect of the audited Financial Statement the Committee has reviewed 
the financial information of the Bank extensively in line with the stipulated 
areas mention in the rule. 

(i) Major judgmental areas

(ii) Any changes in accounting policies and practices

(iii) The going concern assumption; and

(iv) The compliance with relevant accounting standards and 
other legal requirements; and

(v) In respect of the Annual Financial Statements the 
significant adjustments arising from the audit.

Not Complied.
As for the quarterly Financial Statements, the 4th quarter Financial 
Statements were tabled at the BAC meeting in February 2016 for review.  
In respect of the first three quarters, the Financial Statements were 
circulated to the Committee for review. Going forward improved process 
of tabling the quarterly Financial Statements at BAC meetings will be 
implemented.

3 (6) (ii) (h) The Committee shall discuss issues, problems and  
reservations arising from the financial audit in the absence of 
the executive management.

Complied.
The Committee has met the External Auditors and discussed issues, 
problems and reservations arising from the financial audit in the absence 
of the executive management.

3 (6) (ii) (i) The Committee shall review the External Auditor’s 
management letter and the management’s response thereto.

Complied.
The Committee has reviewed the External Auditor’s management letter 
and the management’s response thereto.
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3 (6) (ii) (j) The Committee shall take the following steps with regard to 
the internal audit function of the Bank;

Complied.

(i) Review the adequacy of the scope, functions and resources 
of the Internal Audit Department, and satisfy itself that  
the Department has the necessary authority to carry  
out its work;

The adequacy of the scope, functions and resources of the Internal Audit 
Department has been reviewed as per the Audit Plan for 2015 and Board 
approved Internal Audit Policy by the BAC.

(ii) Review the internal audit programme and results of the 
internal audit process and, where necessary, ensure that 
appropriate actions are taken on the recommendations of 
the Internal Audit Department;

BAC reviewed the Internal Audit Programmes during the year 2015 
as part of its review and recommendation of the Internal Audit Policy 
Manual for the approval of the Board. BAC has also reviewed all Internal 
Audit Reports issued during the year relating to Branches, Head Office, 
Departments, IS Audit and other special assignments along with the 
related progress reports on implementation of past audit findings. BAC 
has also noted the actions taken by the Management Audit Committee 
(MAC) in relation to the above-mentioned Internal Audit Reports. 
Where necessary the BAC has provided directions to the Internal Audit 
Department and to the Auditees based on the Internal Audit Programmes 
and Internal Audit Recommendations (that are included in the Internal 
Audit Reports) respectively. 

(iii) Review any appraisal or assessment of the performance  
of the head and senior staff member of the Internal  
Audit Department;

The performance appraisal of the Head of Internal Audit was carried out 
at the BAC meeting on 27 November 2015. 

(iv) Recommend any appointment or termination of the head, 
senior staff members and outsourced service providers to 
the internal audit function;

There had been no appointment or termination of the Head of Internal 
Audit during the year 2015.

(v) Ensure that the Committee is appraised of resignations 
of senior staff members of the Internal Audit Department 
including the Chief Internal Auditor and any outsourced 
service providers, and to provide an opportunity to the 
resigning senior staff members and outsourced services 
providers to submit reasons for resigning;

Such a situation has not arisen during the year 2015.

(vi) Ensure that the internal audit function is independent 
of the activities it audits and that it is performed with 
impartiality, proficiency and due professional care;

Internal Audit Department reports directly to the BAC. Hence it is 
independent and the audits are performed with impartiality, proficiency 
and due professional care.

3 (6) (ii) (k) The Committee shall consider the major findings of internal 
investigation and management’s responses thereto.

Complied.
BAC has considered major findings of internal investigation and 
management’s responses and have discussed in detail with suitable action 
points agreed upon. 

Where required, the relevant Head of the Department is required to 
attend the meeting to provide clarifications. 

3 (6) (ii) (l) The Committee shall meet the External Auditors at least twice 
a year without the Executive Directors being present. 

Complied.
The BAC has met the External Auditors twice during the year 2015 in the 
absence of all members of the Executive Management. Currently, there 
are no Executive Directors on the Board.
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3 (6) (ii) (m) The Committee shall have

(i) Explicit authority to investigate into any matter within its 
terms of reference;

(ii) The resources which it needs to do so;

(iii) Full access to information; and 

(iv) Authority to obtain external professional advice and invite  
outsiders with relevant experience and attend, if necessary.

Complied.
The Board approved Terms of Reference of the BAC covers the 
requirements as stipulated.

3 (6) (ii) (n) The Committee shall meet at least four times a year and has 
maintained minutes of such meeting.

Complied.
The BAC has had nine meetings in the year 2015.

3 (6) (ii) (o) The Board shall disclose in an informative way,

(i) Details of the activities of the Audit Committee

(ii) The number of Audit Committee meetings held in the year

(iii) Details of attendance of each individual Director at  
such meetings

Complied.
The Board has disclosed the required information in the Annual Report. 
Refer pages 90 and 91 of the Annual Report.

3 (6) (ii) (p) The Secretary of the Committee may be the Company 
Secretary or the Head of Internal Audit who shall keep and 
record detailed minutes of the meetings.

Complied.
The Head of the Internal Audit has been appointed by the Secretary to the 
BAC and detailed minutes are maintained.

3 (6) (ii) (q) The Committee shall review and ensure that the  
‘Whistle-Blower’ Policy is in place which covers the process  
of dealing with:

(i) The improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or 
other matters;

(ii) In relation to (i) the Committee shall ensure that proper 
arrangements are in place for the fair and independent 
investigation of such matters; and 

(iii) Appropriate follow-up action.

Complied.
The Board approved ‘Whistle-Blowing’ policy is in place which covers the 
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters, fair 
and independent investigation of such matters and appropriate follow-up 
action. 

The policy was reviewed by BAC and recommended to the March 2015 
Board meeting, where it was approved. 

3 (6) (iii) Human Resource and Remuneration Committee

3 (6) (iii) (a) The Committee shall determine the remuneration policy 
relating to Directors, CEO and Key Management Personnel of 
the Bank by review of the ‘Terms of Reference’ and minutes.

Complied.
BHRRC has implemented a policy to determine the remuneration relating 
to Directors, CEO and Key Management Personnel of the Bank.

3 (6) (iii) (b) The Committee shall set goals and targets for the Directors, 
CEO and Key Management Personnel and document the same.

Complied.
The goals and targets of each KMP have been set out in the KPIs for the 
year 2015, in line with the Strategic Plan. The BHRRC has agreed that the 
Strategic Plan be considered as the KPI for the CEO.

A paper was tabled outlining the goals and targets for the Directors at the 
BHRRC meeting held on 29 January 2016 which was approved.

3 (6) (iii) (c) The Committee shall evaluate the performance of the CEO 
and Key Management Personnel against the set targets 
and goals periodically and determine the basis for revising 
remuneration, benefits and other payments of performance-
based incentives.

Complied.
The BHRRC has evaluated the performance of the CEO and the KMPs 
against the goals and targets set out in the KPIs for the year 2015.
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3 (6) (iii) (d) The CEO shall be present at all meetings of the Committee, 
except when matters relating to the CEO are being discussed.

Complied.
The Board approved Terms of Reference of the BHRRC includes the 
provisions stipulated. The CEO was not present at meetings when matters 
relating to the CEO were being discussed.

3 (6) (iv) Nomination Committee

3 (6) (iv) (a) The Committee shall implement a procedure to select/appoint 
new Director, CEO and Key Management Personnel.

Complied.
The BNC has a Board approved policy/procedure on selection and 
appointment of new members to the Board, CEO and Key Management 
Personnel.

3 (6) (iv) (b) The Committee shall consider and recommend (or not 
recommend) the re-election of current Directors, taking into 
account the performance and contribution made by a Director 
concerned towards the overall discharge of the Board’s 
responsibilities. 

Complied.
The Committee has reviewed the services rendered by the existing 
Directors and recommended the re-appointment accordingly for  
the year 2015. 

3 (6) (iv) (c) The Committee shall set criteria such as qualifications, 
experience and key attributes required for eligibility to be 
considered for appointment or promotion to the post of CEO 
and the key management positions.

Complied.
Criteria for the appointment or promotion to the post of CEO has  
been recommended by the Committee and approved by the Board.  
Job descriptions for other KMPs has been presented to the Committee 
for review and subsequently approved at the Board meeting held on  
30 January 2016. 

3 (6) (iv) (d) The Committee shall ensure that Directors, CEO and Key 
Management Personnel are fit and proper persons to hold office 
as specified in the criteria given in Direction 3 (3) and as set out 
in the statutes and obtain signed declaration in this regard.

Complied.
The Committee ensures that the Directors, CEO and Key Management 
Personnel are fit and proper persons to hold office as specified in the 
criteria by evaluating the signed declaration submitted by the Directors, 
CEO and Key Management Personnel. 

3 (6) (iv) (e) The Committee shall consider and recommend from time 
to time, the requirement of additional/new expertise and 
the succession arrangements for retiring Directors and Key 
Management Personnel.

Complied.
A Board approved policy and procedure for the appointment of new 
Directors is in place. 

Succession plan for the Management Committee has been approved by the 
BNC and the Board in 2015.

The BNC has discussed a succession plan and to choose a suitable 
candidate for a Director, who is set to retire in April 2016. Further, BNC 
has considered a particular replacement and have escalated the subject 
matter to the Board meeting held on 30 January 2016. 

3 (6) (iv) (f) The Committee shall be Chaired by an Independent  
Director and preferably be constituted with a majority of 
Independent Directors.

Complied.
An Independent Director has been appointed as the Chairman of the 
BNC. The Committee comprises two Independent Directors and one 
Non-Independent Director.

The CEO may be present at the meeting by invitation. The CEO is present at meetings only by invitation.
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3 (6) (v) Integrated Risk Management committee

3 (6) (v) (a) The Committee shall consist of at least three Non-Executive 
Directors, CEO and Key Management Personnel supervising 
Board risk categories, i.e., credit, market, liquidity, operational 
and strategic risks.

Complied.
The constituents of the BIRMC satisfy the said criteria.

3 (6) (v) (b) The Committee shall assess all risks, i.e., credit, market, 
liquidity, operational and strategic risks to the Bank on 
a monthly basis through appropriate risk indicators and 
management information. In the case of subsidiary companies 
and associate companies, Risk Management shall be done, both 
on a bank basis and group basis.

Complied.
RMD profiles the risk of the Bank to BIRMC, through the use of 
dashboards prepared monthly. These dashboards are shared with BIRMC 
members on a monthly basis for monitoring the following categories:

 z Credit Risk
 z Market Risk
 z Liquidity Risk
 z Operational Risk
 z Enterprise Risk
 z Strategic Risk
 z Legal Risk
 z Reputational Risk

3 (6) (v) (c) The Committee shall review the adequacy and effectiveness 
of all management level committees, such as the Credit 
Committee and Asset Liability Committee to address specific 
risks and to manage those risks within quantitative and 
qualitative risk limits as specified by the Committee.

Complied.
Minutes of management committees namely ECC 1, ALCO and ERMC 
are submitted to the subsequent BIRMC meeting to review the adequacy 
and effectiveness of such committees. TORs of all these committees are 
evaluated and reviewed by the BIRMC annually. 

3 (6) (v) (d) The Committee shall review and consider all risk indicators 
which have gone beyond the specific quantitative and 
qualitative risk limits in accordance to the Bank’s policies and 
the regulatory and supervisory requirements.

Complied.
The Committee has reviewed and considered all risk indicators which 
have gone beyond the specific quantitative and qualitative risk limits and 
have taken prompt corrective action to mitigate the effects.

3 (6) (v) (e) The Committee shall meet at least quarterly to assess all 
aspects of risk management including updated Business 
Continuity Plans.

Complied.
The Committee has held four meetings during the year 2015.

3 (6) (v) (f) The Committee shall take appropriate action against the officers 
responsible for failure to identify specific risks and take prompt 
corrective actions as recommended by the Committee, and/or 
as directed by the Director of Bank Supervision.

Complied.
The Bank’s specific risks and the limits are identified by the relevant 
committees such as ALCO, ERMC and ORMC and as such the decisions 
are taken collectively.

3 (6) (v) (g) The Committee shall submit a risk assessment report within a 
week of each meeting to the Board seeking the Board’s views, 
concurrence and/or specific directions.

Complied.
The Chairman of the Committee (BIRMC) submits a risk assessment 
report on key issues to the next Board meeting immediately after the 
meeting of BIRMC informing BIRMC decision and seeking the Board’s 
views, concurrence and/or for specific directions.

3 (6) (v) (h) The Committee shall establish a compliance function to assess 
the Bank’s compliance with laws, regulations, regulatory 
guidelines, internal controls and approved policies on all 
areas of business operations. A dedicated Compliance Officer 
selected from Key Management Personnel shall carry out the 
compliance function and report to the committee periodically.

Complied
The compliance function assesses the Bank’s compliance with laws, 
regulations and regulatory guidelines and reports to the BIRMC regularly.

The quarterly Compliance Status Reports are submitted to the BIRMC.

The compliance function currently assesses the internal controls and 
policies on all areas of business operations through the confirmation 
submitted by the respective departments and branches.

CORPORATE GOvERNANCE



74

Amãna Bank PLC    Annual Report 2015

Rule Number Rule Status of Compliance

3 (7) Related Party transactions

3 (7) (i) The Bank establish and document a process to avoid any 
conflicts of interest that may arise from any transaction of 
the Bank with any person, and particularly with the following 
categories of persons who shall be considered as ‘related 
parties’ for the purpose of this Direction:

(a) Any of the Bank’s subsidiary companies.

(b) Any of the Bank’s associate companies.

(c) Any of the Directors of the Bank.

(d) Any of the Bank’s Key Management Personnel.

(e) A close relation of any of the Bank’s Directors or Key 
Management Personnel.

(f) A shareholder owning a material interest in the Bank.

(g) A concern in which any of the Bank’s Directors or a 
close relation of any of the Bank’s Directors or any of its 
material shareholders has a substantial interest.

Complied.
The Board approved Related Party Policy is in place, which covers types 
of specific related parties and related party transactions as noted in the 
Direction and for the Bank to avoid any conflicts of interest that may arise 
from any related party transactions.

3 (7) (ii) The Bank shall identity and report the following types of 
transactions been identified as transactions with related parties 
that is covered by this Directions:

(a) The grant of any type of accommodation, as defined in 
the Monetary Board’s Directions a maximum amount of 
accommodation.

(b) The creation of any liabilities of the Bank in the form of 
deposits, borrowings and investments.

(c) The provision of any services of a financial or non-financial 
nature provided to the Bank or received from the Bank.

(d) The creation or maintenance of reporting lines and 
information flows between the Bank and any related 
parties which may lead to the sharing of potentially 
proprietary, confidential or otherwise sensitive 
information that may give benefits to such related parties.

Complied.
The Board approved Related Party Policy is in place, which covers types 
of specific related parties and related party transactions as noted in the 
Direction and for the Bank to avoid any conflicts of interest that may arise 
from any related party transactions. 
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3 (7) (iii) The Board shall ensure that the Bank does not engage in 
transactions with related parties as defined in Direction  
3 (7) (i) above, in a manner that would grant such parties 
‘more favourable treatment’ than that accorded to other 
constitutes of the Bank carrying on the same business. In this 
context, ‘more favourable treatment’ shall mean and include 
treatment, including the –

(a) Granting of ‘total net accommodation’ to related parties, 
exceeding a prudent percentage of the Bank’s regulatory 
capital, as determined by the Board. For purposes of this 
sub-direction:

(i) ‘Accommodation’ shall mean accommodation as 
defined in the Banking Act Directions No. 07 of 2007 
on Maximum Amount of Accommodation.

(ii) The ‘total net accommodation’ shall be computed 
by deducting from the total accommodation, the 
cash collateral and investments made by such 
related parties in the Bank’s share capital and debt 
instruments with a maturity of 5 years or more.

(b) Charging a lower rate than the Bank’s best lending rate or 
paying more than the Bank’s deposit rate for a comparable 
transaction with an unrelated comparable counterparty.

(c) Providing of preferential treatment, such as favourable 
terms, covering trade losses and/or waiving fees/
commissions that extend beyond the terms granted  
in the normal course of business undertaken with 
unrelated parties.

(d) Providing services to or receiving services from a related 
party without an evaluation procedure.

(e) Maintaining reporting lines and information flows that 
may lead to sharing potentially proprietary, confidential 
or otherwise sensitive information with related parties, 
except as required for the performance of legitimate 
duties and functions.

Not Complied.
There has been no instance that a related party has been granted more 
favourable treatment than accorded to other constituents of the Bank. 
Improvements to the IT systems were made in the latter part of the year 
which ensures all relevant details are captured in a comprehensive manner 
assuring that no favourable treatment is given. 

Complied.
In respect of a group of companies the exceeded limit last year has 
significantly reduced in the current year and has now come under the 
limits of the stipulated Direction.

3 (7) (iv) The Bank shall not grant any accommodation to any of the 
Directors or to any Key Management Personnel unless such 
accommodation is sanctioned at a meeting of its Board of 
Directors, with not less than two-thirds of the number of 
Directors other than the Director concerned, voting in 
favour of such accommodation and that this accommodation 
be secured by such security as may from time to time be 
determined by the Monetary Board as well.

Complied.
The Board approved Related Party Policy is in place, which covers on 
types of specific related parties and related party transactions as noted in 
the Direction and for the Bank to avoid any conflicts of interest that may 
arise from any related party transactions.

All accommodation granted to KMPs of the Bank are subject to staff 
financing schemes of the Bank.
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3 (7) (v) (a) Where any accommodation has been granted by a bank to 
a person or a close relation of a person or to any concern 
in which the person has a substantial interest, and such 
person is subsequently appointed as a Director of the 
Bank, that steps have been taken by the Bank to obtain the 
necessary security as may be approved for that purpose 
by the Monetary Board, within one year from the date of 
appointment of the person as a Director.

(b) Where such security is not provided by the period 
as provided in Direction 3 (7) (v) (a) above, the Bank 
shall take steps to recover any amount due on account 
of any accommodation, together with interest, if any 
within the period specified at the time of the grant of 
accommodation or at the expiry of a period of eighteen 
months from the date of appointment of such Director, 
whichever is earlier.

(c) Any Director who fails to comply with the above  
sub-directions shall be deemed to have vacated the  
office of a Director and the Bank shall disclose such fact  
to the public.

(d) The sub-direction, however, shall not apply to a Director 
who at the time of grant of the accommodation was an 
employee of the Bank and the accommodation was granted 
under a scheme applicable to all employees of the Bank.

Complied.

3 (7) (vi) The Bank shall not grant any accommodation or ‘more 
favourable treatment’ relating to the waiver of fees and/or  
commissions to any employee or a close relation of such 
employee or to any concern in which the employee or close 
relation has a substantial interest other than on the basis of 
a scheme applicable to the employees of the Bank or when 
secured by security as may be approved by the Monetary 
Board in respect of accommodation granted as per Direction 
3 (7) (v) above.

Such a situation has not arisen during the year 2015.

3 (7) (vii) No accommodation granted by the Bank under Directions  
3 (7) (v) and 3 (7) (vi) above, nor any part of such 
accommodation, nor any interest due thereon shall be 
remitted without the prior approval of the Monetary Board 
and any remission without such approval shall be void and of 
no effect.

Such a situation has not arisen during the year 2015.
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3 (8) disclosure

3 (8) (i) The Board shall ensure that –
(a) Annual Audited Statements and Quarterly Financial 

Statements are prepare and published in accordance with 
the formats prescribed by the supervisory and regulatory 
authorities and applicable accounting standards and that

Complied.
Annual Audited Financial Statements and Quarterly Financial Statements 
are prepared and published in accordance with the regulatory 
requirements and as per the accounting standards. 

(b) Such statements are published in the newspapers in an 
abridged form, in Sinhala, Tamil and English.

Financial Statements are published in all three languages.

3 (8) (ii) The Board shall ensure that the following minimum disclosures 
are made in the Annual Report:

Complied.

(a) A statement to the effect that the Annual Audited Financial 
Statements have been prepared in line with applicable 
accounting standards and regulatory requirements, 
inclusive of specific disclosures.

Refer Statement of Directors’ Responsibility on pages 96 and 97. 

(b) A report by the Board on the Bank’s internal control 
mechanism that confirms that the financial reporting 
system has been designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting, and that the 
preparation of Financial Statements for external purposes 
has been done in accordance with relevant accounting 
principles and regulatory requirements.

Refer Directors’ Statement on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
on pages 81 and 82. 

(c) To obtain the External Auditors’ certification on the 
effectiveness of the internal control mechanism referred 
to in Direction 3 (8) (ii) (b) above.

Refer Independent Assurance Report on Directors’ Statement on Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting on page 83.

(d) Details of Directors, including names, qualifications, age, 
experience fulfilling the requirements of the guidelines 
fitness and propriety, transactions with the Bank and the 
total of fees/remuneration paid by the Bank.

Refer Details of Directors on pages 16 to 19.

Transactions with the Bank:
(a) Financing and Receivables: Nil
(b) Financing Income: Nil 
(c) Deposits: LKR 122,408,969/-
(d) Financing Expenses: LKR 6,120,129/-
(e) Commitment and Contingencies: Nil 

Total fees/remuneration paid by the Bank: Refer Note 11 (page 120) to 
the Financial Statements.

(e) Total net accommodation as defined in 3 (7) (iii) granted 
to each category of related parties. 

 The net accommodation granted to each category of 
related parties shall also be disclosed as a percentage of 
the Bank’s regulatory capital.

Category of Related Parties Total Net 
Accommodation

LKR

% of Regulatory

Directors of the Bank NIL NIL

KMPs 155,367,433 3.1

A concern in which any of the Bank’s 
Directors or a close relation of 
any of the Bank’s Directors or any 
of its material shareholders has a 
substantial interest 1,874,586,734 37.3
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(f) The aggregate values of remuneration paid by the Bank to 
its Key Management Personnel and the aggregate values 
of the transactions of the Bank with its Key Management 
Personnel, set out by Board categories, such remuneration 
paid, accommodation granted and deposits or investments 
made in the Bank.

Nature of Transaction KMPs
LKR 

Remuneration 136,596,920

Accommodation Granted 155,367,433

Deposits 77,268,026

(g) To obtain the External Auditors’ certification of the 
compliance with these Corporate Governance Directions.

The External Auditors’ certification on compliance with these Corporate 
Governance Directions has been obtained.

(h) A report setting out details of the compliance with 
prudential requirements, regulations, laws and internal 
controls and measures taken to rectify any material non-
compliance.

Refer Bank’s Compliance with Prudential Requirements, on pages 79 and 80.

(i) A statement of the regulatory and supervisory concerns on 
lapses in the Bank’s risk management, or non-compliance 
with these Directions that have been pointed out by 
the Director of Bank Supervision, if so directed by the 
Monetary Board to be disclosed to the public, together with 
the measures taken by the Bank to address such concerns.

The Monetary Board has not directed the Bank to disclose any lapses.

Name of the Director  Main Board  Board Audit 
Committee

 Board Credit 
Committee

 Board Nomination 
Committee

 Board Integrated 
Risk Management 

Committee

 Board Human 
Resources and 
Remuneration 

Committee

 Board Executive 
Committee

Participated Eligibility Participated Eligibility Participated Eligibility Participated Eligibility Participated Eligibility Participated Eligibility Participated Eligibility

Mr. Osman Kassim 12 12 2 3 2 2 1 1

Mr. Tyeab Akbarally 9 12 9 10 0 2 0 1

Dr. A.A.M. Haroon 9 12 7 7 0 2 1 1

Dato’ A.T.B.H.A. Rahman 11 12 3 5 2 2

Mr. Harsha Amarasekara 9 12 1 2 2 2 1 1

Mr. M. Jazri Magdon Ismail 12 12 9 9 4 4 2 2 5 5 2 2

Mr. Ruzly Hussain 12 12 7 7 10 10 2 2 1 1 2 2 1 1

Mr. Haseeb ullah Siddiqui 10 12

Mr. Wahid Ali 11 12 4 4 3 3

Mr. M. Wahidul Haque 8 12

Mr. Rajiv Nandlal Dvivedi 11 12 5 7 4 4

Please refer profiles of Board of Directors from pages 16 to 19 for additional details.
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Bank’s Compliance with 
Prudential Requirements
Due to the highly significant role banks play in 
the financial systems and National Economy 
banks are one of the most highly regulated 
institutions in any country. Thus the Banks 
have a duty to comply with a multitude of 
Laws, Regulations, Rules, Directions and Codes 
of Conduct and Ethics to comply within the 
conduct of their business. The failure to comply 
with such requirements can result in regulatory 
sanctions being imposed on the Bank leading to 
financial and reputational losses and damages. 
The Governing Institution of Banks in Sri Lanka, 
the Central Bank of Sri Lanka (CBSL) thus 
requires Banks to establish an independent 
compliance function within the banks to enable 
banks to monitor and manage its Compliance 
with the prudential requirements. Accordingly, 
Amãna Bank PLC has established a Compliance 
Department which is responsible for monitoring 
the Bank’s overall Compliance risk. 

 The Compliance Department functions  
as an independent department within Amãna 
Bank and is headed by the Chief Compliance 
Officer (CCO). The CCO directly reports 
to the Board Integrated Risk Management 
Committee (BIRMC).

The Compliance Policy formulated by the 
Board of Directors sets out the Terms of 
Reference of the CCO and set the framework 
for compliance function. The policy itself 
is based on the consultative document on 
compliance by the BASEL Committee on 
Banking Supervision. This policy guarantees 
the independence of the compliance function 
and sets out the status, authority and role and 
responsibility of the compliance function to 
ensure that the Compliance Department has 
the necessary authority and freedom to carry 
out its functions independently.

The Compliance Department addresses 
effective compliance management across the 
Bank whilst the CEO and Senior Management 
remains responsible for due compliance of the 
Bank with all the prudential requirements in the 
course of carrying out the business activities of 
the Bank.

The Compliance Department continuously 
engages with the Management Committee 
(Mancom) and the executive management to 
guide them and also oversee and assess the 
level of compliance by obtaining management 
confirmations and where necessary initiating 
corrective action. The compliance staff also 
carries out regular reviews of the level of 
compliance with statutory requirements 
and the internal procedures at branches and 
other departments. All exceptions that may 
be identified would be discussed with the 
departmental staff concerned and Management 
Committee members in order to take 
corrective action whilst exceptions reports are 
raised to either the Executive Risk Management 
Committee, BIRMC or the Board of Directors 
and followed up to ensure that corrective 
action is taken as appropriate. On the other 
hand, the Compliance Department also provides 
advice and guidance to the Management and 
staff in respect of matters relating to compliance 
with laws, rules and regulations and standards 
of conduct.

MonItoRIng oF coMPLIancE 
wIth StatutoRY REQuIREMEntS

The Compliance Department takes a two 
pronged approach to monitor compliance 
with statutory requirements. The Compliance 
Department takes an overview approach 
through process assurances obtained from 
relevant department and functional heads. On 
the other hand, the Compliance Department 
also conducts direct reviews. In addition, the 
Compliance Department also carries out 
weekly, monthly and annual auditing, checking 
and reviewing branches and selected areas 
of operations to ensure due compliance 
with requirements. A quarterly compliance 
report is submitted to the Board of Directors 
and BIRMC, which is based on the Mancom 
Assurance and also independent review findings. 

The Quarterly Compliance Report covers:

 z Compliance with statutory/mandatory 
reporting requirements.

 z Status of compliance with the key compliance 
requirements under the Directions issued  
by CBSL.

 z Significant non-compliance events if any.

 z Actual/potential non-compliances if any.

During the year 2015, Compliance 
Department has prepared compliance risk 
assessments to evaluate the effectiveness of the 
controls in place, to manage the risk of non-
compliance with important CBSL Directions and 
Exchange Control Regulations and conducted 
reviews in these areas rectifying and improving 
the compliance process and reporting. In 
this process, any areas where there is risk of 
actual or potential breach or non-compliance 
corrective action had been taken to strengthen 
controls. The Compliance function works 
closely with the relevant business unit or 
departments in these matters playing an 
advisory role.

antI-MonEY LaundERIng (aML) 
coMPLIancE

The Bank has established a sound framework 
for AML Compliance based on relevant laws 
enacted by the Government of Sri Lanka to 
combat Money Laundering/Terrorist Financing 
and in line with the rules governing the conduct 
of all account relationships issued by Financial 
Intelligence unit (FIu) of the Central Bank of 
Sri Lanka. A separate policy for AML/CFT has 
been approved by the Board of Directors and 
is reviewed periodically. In accordance with 
such policy, the Compliance Department has 
taken steps from the inception of the Bank 
to addresses the Bank’s compliance with 
regulations such as Know your Customer 
(KyC) and Anti-Money Laundering (AML) 
functions. Appropriate mechanisms have been 
devised by the department to identify and 
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assess the regulatory compliance requirements 
which are then disseminated to the Business/
Operations Departments on a regular basis.

The Bank’s AML Policy establishes 
standards of AML compliance which applies 
to all Branches/Departments and ensures 
strict compliance with all existing laws and 
regulatory requirements. During the year 
2015, the Bank acquired the ‘Compass’ AML/
FATCA compliance/fraud monitoring solution 
in accordance with the CBSL Directions in 
this regard. This state-of-the-art technology 
has automated the management of Suspicious 
Transactions thus bringing in operational 
efficiency in the management of Money 
Laundering/Terrorist Financing risks.

In addition, the Bank also uses the Bankers 
Accuity system for screening of customers and 
counterparties to monitor against international 
sanctions as per the prudential requirements.

nEw PRoduct dEvELoPMEnt 

The Compliance Department plays a key role 
in product development to ensure legal and 
regulatory compliance. Given that the Bank 
structures all its products in a totally Sharia 
compliant manner, the Compliance Department 
along with the Legal Department ensures that 
the new product structures are cleared for 
regulatory and legal compliance within the 
normal regulatory and legal framework of  
the country. 

caPacItY BuILdIng on 
coMPLIancE

Capacity building on compliance through various 
internal and external training forms a critical 
building block of the Bank’s Compliance plan to 
instil an organisation wide compliance culture. 
Internal training and orientation for new 
recruits include training modules on compliance. 
Existing and new staff are provided training 

regularly to ensure that sufficient numbers 
of trained staff members are present in all 
branches and departments.

Some of the key training programmes that 
were conducted during the year 2015 included:

 z Compliance forums held in the Eastern  
and the Western Provinces for all staff in 
those areas.

 z A workshop and seminar on Exchange 
Control Regulations was conducted for 
staff engaged in the relevant areas organised 
through the Institute of Bankers of Sri Lanka. 

 z A training programme was conducted to the 
Board of Directors by a senior and eminent 
Attorney-at-Law on Corporate Governance. 

 z Eight induction programmes have been 
conducted by the Compliance team for Bank’s 
staff on AML KyC throughout the year.
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Directors’ Statement on Internal 
Control Over Financial Reporting
RESPonSIBILItY

In line with the Banking Act Direction  
No. 11 of 2007, Section 3 (8) (ii) (b), the Board 
of Directors present this Report on Internal 
Control Over Financial Reporting. 

The Board of Directors (‘Board’) is 
responsible for the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the internal control mechanism in place at 
Amãna Bank PLC, (‘the Bank’). In considering 
such adequacy and effectiveness, the Board 
recognises that the business of banking 
requires reward to be balanced with risk 
on a managed basis and as such the internal 
control systems are primarily designed with 
a view to highlighting any deviations from the 
limits and indicators which comprise the risk 
appetite of the Bank. In this light, the system of 
internal controls can only provide reasonable, 
but not absolute assurance, against material 
misstatement of financial information and 
records or against financial losses or fraud.

The Board has established an ongoing 
process for identifying, evaluating and managing 
the significant risks faced by the Bank and this 
process includes enhancing the system of internal 
control over financial reporting as and when 
there are changes to the business environment 
or regulatory guidelines. The process is regularly 
reviewed by the Board and accords with 
the Guidance for Directors of banks on the 
Directors’ Statement on Internal Control issued 
by The Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Sri Lanka. The Board has assessed the internal 
control over financial reporting taking into 
account principles for the assessment of internal 
control system as given in that guidance.

The Board is of the view that the system 
of internal controls over financial reporting 
in place is sound and adequate to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting, and that the preparation of 
Financial Statements for external purposes is in 
accordance with relevant accounting principles 
and regulatory requirements.

The Management assists the Board in the 
implementation of the Board’s policies and 
procedures on risk and control by identifying 
and assessing the risks faced, and in the design, 
operation and monitoring of suitable internal 
controls to mitigate and control these risks.

KEY FEatuRES oF thE PRocESS 
adoPtEd In aPPLYIng In 
REvIEwIng thE dESIgn and 
EFFEctIvEnESS oF thE IntERnaL 
contRoL SYStEM ovER 
FInancIaL REPoRtIng

The key processes that have been established 
in reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the 
system of internal controls with respect to 
financial reporting include the following:

 z Various committees are established by the 
Board to assist the Board in ensuring the 
effectiveness of the Bank’s daily operations 
and that the Bank’s operations are in 
accordance with the corporate objectives, 
strategies and the annual budget as well as 
the policies and business directions that have 
been approved. 

 z The Internal Audit Department of the Bank 
checks for compliance with policies and 
procedures and the effectiveness of the 
internal control systems on an ongoing basis 
using samples and rotational procedures and 
highlight significant findings in respect of any 
non-compliance. Audits are carried out on all 
units and branches, the frequency of which is 
determined by the level of risk assessed, to 
provide an independent and objective report. 
The Annual Audit Plan is reviewed and 
approved by the Board Audit Committee. 
Findings of the Internal Audit Department 
are submitted to the Board Audit Committee 
for review at their periodic meetings.

 z The Board Audit Committee of the Bank 
reviews internal control issues identified by 
the Internal Audit Department, the External 

Auditors, Regulatory Authorities and the 
Management, and evaluates the adequacy  
and effectiveness of the risk management  
and internal control systems. They also 
review the internal audit functions with 
particular emphasis on the scope of audits 
and quality of the same. The minutes of 
the Board Audit Committee meetings are 
forwarded to the Board on a periodic basis. 
Further, details of the activities undertaken 
by the Board Audit Committee of the Bank 
are set out in the Board Audit Committee 
Report on pages 90 and 91.

 z In assessing the internal control system over 
financial reporting, identified officers of the 
Bank collated all procedures and controls 
that are connected with significant accounts 
and disclosures of the Financial Statements of 
the Bank. These in turn were observed and 
checked by the Internal Audit Department 
for suitability of design and effectiveness on 
an ongoing basis. 

 z The Bank adopted the new Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standards comprising LKAS 
and SLFRS in 2012. The processes and 
procedures initially applied to adopt the 
aforementioned Accounting Standards were 
further strengthened during the subsequent 
years based on the feedback received 
from the External Auditors, Internal Audit 
Department, Regulators and the Board Audit 
Committee. The Bank is in the process 
of updating relevant procedure manuals 
pertaining to these new requirements. The 
Bank will continue to further strengthen the 
processes for impairment of Financing and 
Receivables as well as Financial Statement 
Disclosures related to risk management. 
The Bank has also recognised the need to 
introduce an automated financial reporting 
process in order to comply with the 
requirements of recognition, measurement, 
classification and disclosure of the financial 
instruments more effectively and efficiently.
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 z The comments made by the External 
Auditors in connection with internal control 
system over financial reporting in previous 
years were reviewed during the year and 
appropriate steps have been taken to rectify 
them. The recommendations made by the 
External Auditors in 2015, in connection with 
the internal control system over financial 
reporting will be dealt with, in the future.

conFIRMatIon

Based on the above processes, the Board 
confirms that the financial reporting system 
of the Bank has been designed to provide a 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability  
of financial reporting and the preparation  
of Financial Statements for external purposes 
and has been done in accordance with  
Sri Lanka Accounting Standards and regulatory 
requirements of the Central Bank of Sri Lanka.

REvIEw oF thE StatEMEnt BY 
ExtERnaL audItoRS

The External Auditors, Messrs Ernst & Young, 
have reviewed the above Directors’ Statement 
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
included in the Annual Report of the Bank 
for the year ended 31 December 2015 and 
reported to the Board that nothing has come 

to their attention that causes them to believe 
that the Statement is inconsistent with their 
understanding of the process adopted by 
the Board in the review of the design and 
effectiveness of the internal control over 
financial reporting of the Bank. Their Report 
on the Statement of Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting is given on page 83 of this 
Annual Report.

By Order of the Board,

osman Kassim
Chairman – Board of Directors

Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail
Chairman – Board Audit Committee

29 February 2016
Colombo

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OvER FINANCIAL REPORTING
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Independent Assurance Report on 
Directors’ Statement on Internal 
Control Over Financial Reporting

IndEPEndEnt aSSuRancE REPoRt 
to thE BoaRd oF dIREctoRS oF 
aMÃna BanK PLc

IntRoductIon

We were engaged by the Board of Directors of 
Amãna Bank PLC (“Bank”) to provide assurance 
on the Directors’ Statement on Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting (“Statement”) 
included in the annual report for the year ended 
31 December 2015.

ManagEMEnt’S RESPonSIBILItY

Management is responsible for the preparation 
and presentation of the Statement in 
accordance with the “Guidance for Directors  
of Banks on the Directors’ Statement on 
Internal Control” issued in compliance with 
Section 3 (8) (ii) (b) of the Banking Act 
Direction No. 11 of 2007, by The Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka.

ouR RESPonSIBILItIES and 
coMPLIancE wIth SLSaE 3050

Our responsibility is to issue a Report to the 
Board on the Statement based on the work 
performed. We conducted our engagement 
in accordance with Sri Lanka Standard on 
Assurance Engagements (SLSAE) 3050 – 
Assurance Report for Banks on Directors’ 
Statement on Internal Control issued by The 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka.

SuMMaRY oF woRK PERFoRMEd

We conducted our engagement to assess 
whether the Statement is supported by the 
documentation prepared by or for directors; and 
appropriately reflected the process the directors 
have adopted in reviewing the system of internal 
control over financial reporting of the Bank.

The procedures performed were limited 
primarily to inquiries of bank personnel and the 
existence of documentation on a sample basis 
that supported the process adopted by the 
Board of Directors. 

SLSAE 3050 does not require us to 
consider whether the Statement covers all 
risks and controls or to form an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Bank’s risk and control 
procedures. SLSAE 3050 also does not require 
us to consider whether the processes described 
to deal with material internal control aspects of 
any significant problems disclosed in the annual 
report will, in fact, remedy the problems.

ouR concLuSIon

Based on the procedures performed, nothing 
has come to our attention that causes us 
to believe that the Statement included in 
the annual report is inconsistent with our 
understanding of the process the Board of 
Directors has adopted in the review of the 
design and effectiveness of internal control  
over financial reporting of the Bank.

29 February 2016
Colombo

Partners: A D B Talwatte FCA FCMA   M P D Cooray FCA FCMA   R N de Saram ACA FCMA   Ms. N A De Silva FCA   Ms. Y A De Silva FCA   W R H Fernando FCA FCMA
 W K B S P Fernando  FCA FCMA   Ms. L K H L Fonseka FCA   A P A Gunasekera  FCA FCMA   A Herath FCA   D K Hulangamuwa  FCA FCMA  LLB (Lond)   H M A Jayesinghe FCA FCMA
 Ms. A A Ludowyke  FCA FCMA   Ms. G G S Manatunga FCA   N M Sulaiman ACA ACMA   B E Wijesuriya FCA FCMA

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Annual Report of the Board of 
Directors on the Affairs of the Bank
Contents of this Report are in accordance with 
the statutory requirements, the requirements 
of relevant regulatory authorities and best 
accounting practices. This Report was approved 
by the Directors.

gEnERaL

Your Directors have pleasure in presenting 
their Annual Report on the State of Affairs, 
together with the Audited Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2015. Amãna 
Bank PLC, a licensed commercial bank was 
incorporated under the Companies Act No. 07  
of 2007 as a public limited liability company in 
Sri Lanka under the registration number  
PB 3618. It was listed in the Colombo Stock 
Exchange on 29 January 2014 and re-registered 
under the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007  
under the registration number PB 3618 PQ on 
28 August 2014. 

Amãna Bank PLC is a licensed commercial 
bank under the Banking Act No. 30 of 1988. 

PRIncIPaL actIvItIES

The principal activities of the Bank are  
the provision of Sharia-based commercial 
banking services.

Compliance and Corporate 
governance for Licensed commercial 
Banks in Sri Lanka

The Board of Directors of the Bank has adopted 
a comprehensive policy on compliance and in 
accordance with the regulations of the Central 
Bank of Sri Lanka (CBSL) have established an 
independent compliance function in respect of 

statutory requirements and CBSL Directions 
relating to licensed commercial banks.  
Further in accordance with the provisions of  
the Financial Transaction Reporting  
Act No. 06 of 2006, the Board has appointed a 
Compliance Officer at Senior Management level 
in charge of compliance of the Bank. The Bank 
has also a Compliance Policy and Guideline 
on KyC (Know your Customer) and AML 
(Anti-Money Laundering). The Compliance 
Department monitors the compliance of the 
statutory requirements of the Bank and a 
report is submitted to the Board Integrated 
Risk Management Committee and the Board of 
Directors on a quarterly basis ensuring the Bank 
complies with all such requirements.

The Bank also complies with the Banking 
Act Direction No. 11 of 2007 on Corporate 
Governance issued by CBSL and compliant 
with the provisions of the said direction. The 
Corporate Governance Report is disclosed on 
pages 59 to 78. 

In addition the Bank is currently a listed 
entity and is in compliance with the Directions of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission of Sri 
Lanka, Continuing Listing Rules of the Colombo 
Stock Exchange and all other relevant authorities.

Financial Results

2015
LKR

2014
LKR

Net Operating Income  2,064,304,991  1,574,015,219 

Total Operating Expenses  (1,693,340,866)  (1,574,995,479)

Operating Profit/(Loss) Before value Added Tax  370,964,125  (980,260)

Value Added Tax on Financial Services and Nation Building Tax  (152,248,222)  (79,288,996)

Profit/(Loss) Before Tax  218,715,903  (80,269,256)

Tax Expenses  (60,086,657) –

Profit/(Loss) for the year  158,629,246  (80,269,256)

Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss) for the year Net of Tax  538,128,423  44,474,808 

total comprehensive Income/(Loss)  
   for the Year net of tax  696,757,669  (35,794,448)

Property, Plant and Equipment and 
depreciation

Details of the property, plant and equipment of 
the Bank, additions made during the year and 
the depreciation charges for the year are shown 
in Note 25 to the Financial Statements.

donations

During the year under review, the Bank made 
donations amounting to LKR 6,800/-  
(2014 – LKR 22,300/-).

Events after the Reporting date

No circumstances have arisen since the 
reporting date which would require adjustments 
to, or disclosure in the Financial Statements 
except for the events disclosed in Note 43 to 
the Financial Statements.



85

Amãna Bank PLC    Annual Report 2015

accounting and valuation Methods

For the year under review, the Financial 
Statements were prepared in accordance  
with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards  
(SLFRS/LKAS) which have materially converged 
with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board.

Stated Capital and Shareholders

The stated capital of the Bank is  
LKR 5,866,808,141/- (1,250,695,267 shares).

Financial Statements

The Financial Statements of the Bank are given 
on pages 103 to 149.

accounting Policies 

The Accounting Policies adopted in the 
preparation of Financial Statements are given on 
pages 108 to 117. 

directors

The following were Directors of Amãna Bank 
PLC during the year ended 31 December 2015:

1. Mr. Osman Kassim (Chairman,  
Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

2. Mr. Tyeab Akbarally (Deputy Chairman,  
Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

3. Dato’ A. Tajudin B.H. Abdul Rahman 
(Non-Executive, Independent Senior Director)

4. Dr. Aboobacker Admani Mohamed Haroon 
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

5. Mr. Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail  
(Non-Executive, Independent Director)

6. Mr. Ruzly Hussain  
(Non-Executive, Independent Director)

7. Mr. Haseeb ullah Siddiqui  
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

8. Mr. Wahid Ali Bin Mohd. Khalil  
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

9. Mr. Harsha Amarasekara, PC  
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

10. Mr. Mohammed Wahidul Haque  
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director) 

11. Mr. Rajiv Nandlal Dvivedi  
(Non-Executive, Independent Director) 

alternate directors 

The following were Alternate Directors of 
Amãna Bank PLC during the year ended  
31 December 2015:

1. Mr. Huzefa Inayetally Akbarally  
(Alternate Director to Mr. Tyeab Akbarally)

2. Dato’ Wan Ismail Wan yusoh (Alternate 
Director to Mr. Wahid Ali Bin Mohd. Khalil)

3. Mr. Mohamed Faizel Mohamed Haddad 
(Alternate Director to Mr. Osman Kassim)

4. Mr. Kevin Mark Pocock (Alternate Director 
to Mr. Harsha Amarasekara)

5. Mr. Faheemul Huq (Alternate Director to  
Mr. Mohammed Wahidul Haque) 

Rotation of directors

In terms of Article 29 (6) of the Articles of 
Association of the Company one-third of the 
Directors shall retire from office at each Annual 
General Meeting. The following Directors retire 
by rotation and stand for re-appointment at the 
Annual General Meeting of Amãna Bank: 

(a) Mr. Osman Kassim

(b) Mr. Tyeab Akbarally

(c) Dato’ A. Tajudin B.H. Abdul Rahman 

(d) Dr. Aboobacker Admani Mohamed Haroon 

Interest Register

The Directors’ interest in shares has been 
disclosed in the Interest Register. 

directors’ Remuneration and  
other Benefits

Directors’ remuneration in respect of the Bank 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 
is given in Note 11 to the Financial Statements.

directors’ Interest in contracts

As at 31 December 2015, none of the Directors 
had interests in contracts with the Bank,  
other than those disclosed in Note 42 to the 
Financial Statements.

As required by the Section 168 (1) (e) of 
the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007, the Bank 
maintains an Interest Register. We wish to 
confirm that all Directors have made declarations 
as required by the Sections 192 (1) and (2) of  
the Companies Act aforesaid and all related 
entries were made in the Interest Register  
during the year under review. The share 
ownership of Directors is disclosed on page 86. 
The Interest Register is available for inspection by 
shareholders or their authorised representatives 
as required by the Section 119 (1) (d) of the 
Companies Act No. 07 of 2007.

ANNuAL REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON THE AFFAIRS OF THE BANK
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directors’ Investments in Shares

The shareholdings of Directors who held office as at 31 December 2015 were as follows:

Name of Director number of 
Shares Held

Percentage of 
Shareholding (%)

Mr. Osman Kassim 438,520 0.03

Mr. Tyeab Akbarally 26 0.00

Dato’ A. Tajudin B.H. Abdul Rahman Nil Nil

Dr. A.A.M. Haroon 08 0.00

Mr. Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail 13,500 0.00

Mr. Ruzly Hussain Nil Nil

Mr. Haseeb ullah Siddiqui Nil Nil

Mr. Wahid Ali Mohd. Khalil Nil Nil

Mr. Harsha Amarasekara, PC Nil Nil

Mr. Mohammed Wahidul Haque Nil Nil

Mr. Rajiv Nandlal Dvivedi Nil Nil

Dato’ Wan Ismail Wan Yusoh  
(Alternate Director to Mr. Wahid Ali Mohd. Khalil) Nil Nil

Mr. Huzefa Inayetally Akbarally  
(Alternate Director to Mr. Tyeab Akbarally) 01 0.00

Mr. Mohamed Faizel Mohamed Haddad  
(Alternate Director to Mr. Osman Kassim) Nil Nil

Mr. Kevin Mark Pocock  
(Alternate Director to Mr. Harsha Amarasekera, PC) Nil Nil

Mr. Faheemul Huq 
(Alternate Director to Mr. Mohammed Wahidul Haque) Nil Nil

Board Committees

The Board of Directors, while assuming the 
overall responsibility and accountability for 
the management oversight of the Bank has 
also appointed Board Committees to ensure 
oversight and control over certain functions 
of the Bank conforming to Directions on 
Corporate Governance issued by the Monetary 
Board of the Central Bank of Sri Lanka. 
Accordingly the following committees have 
been constituted by the Board:

 z Board Audit Committee

1. Mr. Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail – 
Chairman 

2. Dato’ A. Tajudin B.H. Abdul Rahman – 
Member (appointed with effect from  
13 June 2015)

3. Mr. Wahid Ali Mohd. Khalil – Member 
(resigned with effect from 13 June 2015)

4. Mr. Ruzly Hussain – Member (resigned with 
effect from 19 September 2015)

5. Mr. Harsha Amarasekera – Member 
(appointed with effect from  
19 September 2015)

6. Mr. Rajiv Nandlal Dvivedi – Member 
(appointed with effect from  
21 February 2015)

The report of the Board Audit Committee 
is given on pages 90 and 91 which forms part of 
the Annual Report of the Board of Directors.

 z Board Integrated Risk Management 
Committee

1. Mr. Rajiv Nandlal Dvivedi – Chairman 
(appointed to the committee with effect from  
21 February 2015)

2. Mr. Ruzly Hussain – Member  
(resigned with effect from 21 February 2015)

3. Dato’ A. Tajudin B.H. Abdul Rahman –
Member (appointed with effect from  
13 June 2015)

4. Mr. Wahid Ali Mohd. Khalil – Member 
(resigned with effect from 13 June 2015)

5. Mr. Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail – Member 

6. Mr. Mohamed Azmeer (CEO) – Member

7. Mr. Irshad Iqbal – Member

The report of the Board Integrated Risk 
Management Committee is given on pages 92 
and 93 which forms part of the Annual Report 
of the Board of Directors.

 z Board Nomination Committee

1. Mr. Ruzly Hussain – Chairman

2. Mr. Harsha Amarasekara – Member

3. Mr. Jazri Magdon Ismail – Member 

The report of the Board Nomination 
Committee is given on page 95 which  
forms part of the Annual Report of the  
Board of Directors.

 z Board Human Resources and Remuneration 
Committee  

1. Mr. Osman Kassim – Chairman

2. Mr. Tyeab Akbarally – Member

3. Mr. Ruzly Hussain – Member 

4. Mr. Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail – Member 

The report of the Board Human Resources 
and Remuneration Committee is given on page 
94 which forms part of the Annual Report of 
the Board of Directors.

In addition to the above mandatory Board 
appointed Committees the Board of Directors 
has also appointed a Board Credit Committee 
which oversees the credit approval functions of 
the Bank.

ANNuAL REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON THE AFFAIRS OF THE BANK
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 z Board Credit Committee

1. Mr. Tyeab Akbarally – Chairman 

2. Mr. Ruzly Hussain – Member  
(appointed with effect from 19 September 2015)

3.  Dr. A.A.M. Haroon – Member  
(resigned with effect from 21 February 2015)

4. Mr. Harsha Amarasekara – Member (resigned 
with effect from 19 September 2015)

5. Mr. Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail – Member

auditors

The Financial Statements for the year ended  
31 December 2015 have been audited by 
Messrs Ernst & Young, Chartered Accountants 
who offer themselves for re-appointment.  
A resolution relating to their re-appointment 
and authorising the Directors to determine 
their remuneration will be proposed at the 
Annual General Meeting.

The Auditors, Messrs Ernst & Young, 
Chartered Accountants were paid  
LKR 2,798,957/- as Audit fees by the Bank.

As far as the Directors are aware the 
Auditors do not have any relationship (other 
than that of an Auditor and Tax Consultant) 
with the Bank. The Auditors also do not have 
any interest in the Bank. 

annual Report

The Directors approved the Financial 
Statements together with the reviews  
which forms part of the Annual Report.  
The appropriate number of copies have been 
submitted to the Central Bank of Sri Lanka, 
Sri Lanka Accounting and Auditing Standard 
Monitoring Board, the Registrar of Companies 
and the Colombo Stock Exchange.

 

annual general Meeting

The Annual General Meeting will be held on 
27 May 2016 at 4.00 p.m. at the Main Banquet 
Hall, Bandaranaike Memorial International 
Conference Hall (BMICH), Bauddhaloka 
Mawatha, Colombo 7.

The Notice of the Annual General Meeting  
is given on page 167.

By Order of the Board,

Mrs. Samitha dayani de Silva
Company Secretary

19 March 2016
Colombo

ANNuAL REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON THE AFFAIRS OF THE BANK
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Directors’ Interest in Contracts
Name of Director/ 
Alternate Director

Company Name Position Nature of Transaction current Limit
2015
LKR

amount
2015
LKR

Amount
2014
LKR

Mr. Tyeab Akbarally Amãna Takaful PLC Chairman Due to Other Customers 94,231,415  16,733,483 

Mr. Osman Kassim Director Financing and Receivables to  
Other Customers  102,615,873  102,615,873  3,735,132 

Dr. A.A.M. Haroon Director Financial Investments Held for 
Trading/Available for Sale 343,191,858 272,971,800

Other Income 18,485,410 10,132,861

Other Financial Assets 10,814,287 1,693,980

Takaful Policies 30,266,759 26,155,900

Mr. Osman Kassim Expolanka Holdings PLC 
and Group

Director Due to Other Customers
50,293,681  500,474,476 

Mr. Harsha 
Amarasekara

Director Financing and Receivables to  
Other Customers  862,490,000  600,749,903 –

Financial Investments Held for 
Trading/Available for Sale  3,207,203 –

Mr. Osman Kassim A.P.I.I.T. Lanka (Pvt) 
Limited

Chairman Due to Other Customers
162,439,040  154,835,356 

Mr. Osman Kassim Aberdeen Holdings 
Limited and Group*

Director Due to Other Customers
31,719,973  55,639,813 

Financing and Receivables to  
Other Customers  1,954,428,000  1,303,346,111  971,958,520 

Letters of Credit, Letters of 
Guarantee, Shipping Guarantees  
and Other  9,959,283  125,241,683 

Mr. Osman Kassim Alhasan Foundation Chairman Due to Other Customers  643,002  1,500,213 

Mr. Osman Kassim Amãna Takaful (Maldives) 
PLC

Director Due to Other Customers
10,288,903  996,851 

Mr. Osman Kassim, Chairman of the Bank is the Chairman of vidullanka PLC, Crescentrating (Pvt) Limited (Singapore) and a Director of Pak Kuwait 
Takaful PLC and Crescentrating (Pvt) Limited (Japan).

Dr. A.A.M. Haroon Vanguard Industries  
(Pvt) Limited

Chairman Due to Other Customers
15,144,044  22,768 

Financing and Receivables to  
Other Customers  141,041,000  96,139,686  82,238,523 

Letters of Credit, Letters of 
Guarantee, Shipping Guarantees  
and Other 35,512,537  47,230,244 

Dr. A.A.M. Haroon Colombo Medi Lab  
(Pvt) Limited

Chairman Other Staff Related Expenses
248,600  70,400 

Dr. A.A.M. Haroon Amãna Holdings Limited Director Due to Other Customers 128,962  16,459,495 

Financing and Receivables to  
Other Customers 10,503,062 10,503,062 –

Dr. A.A.M. Haroon Amãna Capital Limited Director Due to Other Customers 805,483  1,770 

Dr. A.A.M. Haroon Amãna Asset  
Management Limited

Director Due to Other Customers
17,909,750  19,905,966 
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Name of Director/ 
Alternate Director

Company Name Position Nature of Transaction current Limit
2015
LKR

amount
2015
LKR

Amount
2014
LKR

Dr. A.A.M. Haroon, a Director of the Bank is the Chairman of Liberty Textiles Exports (Pvt) Limited, Liberty Textiles Mills (Pvt) Limited, Lucky Industries 
(Pvt) Limited, Lucky Property Developers (Pvt) Limited, Master Apparels (Pvt) Limited, vanguard Trading Company (Pvt) Limited and is also a Director 
of vidullanka PLC.

Mr. Harsha 
Amarasekera

Delmege Forsyth &  
Company Limited

Chairman Due to Other Customers
75,574 29,495,000

Financing and Receivables to  
Other Customers 453,645,100 393,070,131 472,134,352

Letters of Guarantee, Shipping 
Guarantees and Other 23,115,948 82,595,094

Mr. Harsha Amarasekara, a Director of the Bank is the Chairman of Bensons (Pvt) Limited, Chemanex PLC, CIC Agri Business (Pvt) Limited and CIC 
Holdings PLC and a Director of Amaya Leisure PLC, Keells Food Products PLC, vallibel One PLC, vallibel Power Erathna PLC, Chevron Lubricants 
Lanka PLC, Royal Ceramic PLC, Ceylon Hotel Holdings (Pvt) Limited, Galle Face Management Company (Pvt) Limited, Millennium Airlines (Pvt) Limited, 
Millennium Investments Lanka (Pvt) Limited, The Hill Club Company Limited and Link Natural Products (Pvt) Limited.

Mr. Tyeab Akbarally Akbar Brothers (Pvt) 
Limited

 Director Due to Other Customers
596,578  581,853 

Mr. Huzefa Akbarally  Director 

Mr. Tyeab Akbarally Akbar Pharmaceuticals 
(Pvt) Limited

 Director Due to Other Customers
87,824  85,656 

Mr. Huzefa Akbarally  Director 

Mr. Tyeab Akbarally, a Director of the Bank is also a Director of A B Properties (Pvt) Limited, A B Development (Pvt) Limited, Akbar Brothers Exports 
(Pvt) Limited, Zahara Exports (Pvt) Limited, Energy Reclamation (Pvt) Limited, Falcon Apperals (Pvt) Limited, Falcon Developments (Pvt) Limited, 
Quick Tea (Pvt) Limited, Falcon Trading (Pvt) Limited, Land & Buildings (Pvt) Limited, Lina Manufacturing (Pvt) Limited, Mosaic Art (Pvt) Limited, Onally 
Holdings PLC, Falcon Apparels (Pvt) Limited and Flinth Commercial Park (Pvt) Limited.

Mr. Huzefa Akbarally, an Alternate Director of the Bank is a Director of A B Properties (Pvt) Limited, A B Developments (Pvt) Limited, Akbar Brothers 
Exports (Pvt) Limited, Energy Reclamation (Pvt) Limited, Falcon Developments (Pvt) Limited, Falcon Trading (Pvt) Limited, Land & Buildings (Pvt) Limited, 
Quick Tea (Pvt) Limited, Lina Manufacturing (Pvt) Limited, Terraqua International (Pvt) Limited, Daily Life Renewable Energy Limited, Diyaviduli (Pvt) 
Limited, Seguwantiv Windpower (Pvt) Limited, vidatamuni Windpower (Pvt) Limited, Terraqua Kokavita (Pvt) Limited, Flinth Commercial Park (Pvt) 
Limited, and Wind Force (Pvt) Limited.

Mr. Ruzly Hussain, a Director of the Bank is the Chairman of M C Abdul Rahim’s & Brothers (Pvt) Limited, Cleansol (Pvt) Limited and World Star Lanka 
(Pvt) Limited.

Mr. Rajiv Nandlal Dvivedi, a Director of the Bank is also a Director of Candor Securities Limited, Candor Asset Management (Pvt) Limited, Candor 
Capital (Pvt) Limited, Candor Shared Services (Pvt) Limited, BI Group (uK), Shanghai Harvest Network Technology (China), Noor Financial Investment 
Company (Kuwait), China Risk Finance (China) and Accordion Partners (uSA).

Mr. Mohammed Wahidul Haque, a Director of the Bank is the Chairman of AB Bank Limited, AB Investment Limited, AB Securities Limited, Cashlink 
Bangladesh Limited and AB Exchange (uK) Limited.

Mr. M.F.M. Hadad, an Alternate Director of the Bank is a Director of Paragon Mangement Services (Pvt) Limited and Serendib Grand (Pvt) Limited.

Mr. Kevin Mark Pocock, an Alternate Director of the Bank is the Chairman of Millennium Airlines (Pvt) Limited and also a Director of Millennium 
Investments (Pvt) Limited.

Dato’ Wan Ismail Wan yusoh, an Alternate Director of the Bank is the Chairman of Farihan Corporation Sdn Bhd, Al-Wakalah Nominees (Tempatan) 
Sdn Bhd, Chicken Cottage Distribution Limited, PTB unit Trust Berhad and To Global Food Management Limited and also a Director of Malaysian 
Electronic Payment Sdn Bhd, MARA Education Foundation, Terengganu Incorporated Son BHD, Tgganu Entreprenuer Dev Foundation and university 
Sultan Zainal Abidin.

* Vidullanka PLC is a member of Aberdeen Holdings Group

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS
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Board Audit Committee Report
1.  coMPoSItIon oF thE BoaRd 
audIt coMMIttEE 

The Board Audit Committee conducts its 
proceedings in accordance with the Terms of 
Reference approved by the Board of Directors. 
The Committee, as at the end of the year 2015, 
comprised four Non-Executive Directors, three 
of them being Independent. The Chairman of 
the Committee, Mr. Mohamed Jazri Magdon 
Ismail is an Independent Director and is a 
Fellow Member of The Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Sri Lanka.

Table below shows the list of members 
of the Board Audit Committee during the 
year under review and their attendance at the 
Committee meetings held during the year.

2.  RoLE oF thE BoaRd audIt 
coMMIttEE 

The Committee assists the Board of Directors 
in carrying out its responsibilities in relation 
to financial reporting requirements and 
assessment of internal controls. The role and 
responsibilities of the Committee is defined 
in the Committee’s ‘Terms of Reference’ 
document. The Committee amongst other 
functions performs the following key tasks:

(i) Reviewing the operations and 
effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control 
system to ensure that a good financial 
reporting system is in place to comply 
with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards.

(ii) Ensuring that the presentation of 
Financial Statements satisfies all applicable 
accounting standards as well as the relevant 
legal and regulatory requirements.

(iii) Recommending appointment or  
re-appointment of the External Auditor 
for audit services in compliance with the 
relevant statutes.

(iv) Reviewing and monitoring the External 
Auditors’ independence and objectivity 
and the effectiveness of the audit 
processes in accordance with applicable 
standards and best practices.

(v) Discussing and finalising with the External 
Auditors the nature and scope of the audit 
before the commencement of the audit.

(vi) Ensuring an Audit Charter and a 
comprehensive Internal Audit Manual and 
Guidelines are in place. 

(vii) Monitoring the effectiveness of the Bank’s 
Internal Audit function.

(viii) Reviewing the adequacy of the scope, 
functions and resources of the Internal 
Audit Department and ensuring that 
appropriate actions are taken on the 
findings and recommendations of the 
Department. 

3.  REguLatoRY coMPLIancE

The role and functions of the Board Audit 
Committee are regulated by the Banking Act 
Direction No. 11 of 2007, the Mandatory 
Code of Corporate Governance for Licensed 
Commercial Banks issued by the Central 
Bank of Sri Lanka and the Best Practices of 
Corporate Governance issued by The Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka. 

Member Total Number of Meetings 
Attended/Total Number of 
Meetings Eligible to Attend

Mr. Jazri Magdon Ismail (Chairman)  
(Non-Executive, Independent Director) 9/9

Mr. Wahid Ali Mohd. Khalil  
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director) Resigned w.e.f. 13 June 2015 4/4

Mr. Ruzly Hussain  
(Non-Executive, Independent Director) Resigned w.e.f. 19 September 2015 7/7

Mr. Rajiv Nandlal Dvivedi  
(Non-Executive, Independent Director) Appointed w.e.f. 21 February 2015 5/7

Dato’ A. Tajudin B.H. Abdul Rahman   
(Non-Executive, Independent Senior Director) Appointed w.e.f. 13 June 2015 3/5

Mr. Harsha Amarasekara  
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director) Appointed w.e.f. 19 September 2015 1/2

The Chief Internal Auditor functions as the Secretary to the Board Audit Committee.
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4.  MEEtIngS

The Board Audit Committee met nine times 
during the year under review. The Chief 
Executive Officer and the Chief Internal Auditor 
attended these meetings by invitation. On the 
invitation of the Committee, the Engagement 
Partner of the Bank’s External Auditors, Messrs 
Ernst and Young also attended three meetings 
held during the year. Further where necessary, 
Key Management Personnel from pertinent 
business and support departments of the Bank 
were also invited to attend relevant segments 
of the meetings to enhance the awareness of 
the Committee with regard to issues and/or 
developments relating to such departments. 
Such invitations were extended to ensure that 
the Committee is provided with all relevant 
information to facilitate the discharge of its  
role and responsibilities.

5.  FInancIaL REPoRtIng

The Board Audit Committee, as part of its 
responsibility to oversee the Bank’s financial 
reporting process on behalf of the Board of 
Directors, has reviewed and discussed with the 
Management, the Annual Financial Statements 
for the year 2015, prior to its release. These 
Financial Statements have been prepared in 
line with the Sri Lanka Accounting Standards 
(SLFRS/LKAS) and are an integral part of the 
Bank’s Annual Report.

Above review by the Committee included 
the extent of compliance with the Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standards, the Companies Act  
No. 07 of 2007, the Banking Act No. 30 of 1988 
and amendments thereto. 

6.  RISKS and IntERnaL 
contRoLS

The internal controls within the Bank are 
designed to provide reasonable but not absolute 
assurance to the Directors and assist them 
to monitor the financial position of the Bank. 
During the year, the Committee reviewed the 
effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control 
system and assessed the effectiveness of the 
internal controls over financial reporting as of 
31 December 2015, as required by the Banking 
Act Direction No. 11 of 2007, Corporate 
Governance for Licensed Commercial Banks 

in Sri Lanka, Subsection 3 (8) (ii) (b), based on 
the “Guidance for Directors of Banks on the 
Directors’ Statement of Internal Control” issued 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Sri Lanka. The result of the assessment is given 
on pages 81 and 82 of the Annual Report, titled 
“Directors’ Statement on Internal Controls 
over Financial Reporting”. The External 
Auditors have issued an Assurance Report on 
the Directors’ Statement on Internal Controls 
over Financial Reporting. This report is given 
on page 83 of the Annual Report. Based on 
its assessment of the Internal Control System, 
the Committee concluded and confirmed to 
the Board as of 31 December 2015 that the 
Bank’s internal control over financial reporting 
is effective.

7.  ExtERnaL audIt

The Board Audit Committee reviewed and 
monitored the independence of the External 
Auditors and the objectivity as well as the 
effectiveness of the audit process and assisted 
the Board with its recommendations to  
the shareholders on re-appointment of  
Messrs Ernst & Young, Chartered Accountants 
as External Auditors for the financial year ended  
31 December 2015.

As part of the Committee meetings held 
during the year, the external audit approach 
and procedures, including matters relating 
to the scope of such audit and the External 
Auditors’ independence were discussed with 
the External Auditors. Further, the Committee 
met the External Auditors two times during 
the year without the presence of the Executive 
Management to ensure that there was no 
limitation of scope in relation to the audit and 
any other related incidents which could have 
had a negative impact on the effectiveness of the 
external audit and concluded that there was no 
cause for concern. Moreover the Committee 
also reviewed the External Auditors’ 
Management Letter and the management’s 
responses thereto.

8.  IntERnaL audIt

During the year, the Board Audit Committee 
reviewed the independence, objectivity and 
performance of the Internal Audit function. 

This review also included the findings from the 
internal audits completed and the Internal Audit 
Department’s evaluation of the Bank’s internal 
controls. The Committee also reviewed the 
adequacy of internal audit coverage through  
the Internal Audit Plan and approved the same.  
It also assessed the Internal Audit Department’s 
resource requirements. 

Introducing revised formats for audit reports 
and revision of the Internal Audit Charter and 
Internal Audit Policy Manual are some of the 
initiatives taken during the year to improve the 
processes within the Internal Audit Department.

 ‘Management Audit Committee’, which 
is a Management Level Executive Committee 
headed by the CEO, discusses Audit Reports 
issued by the Internal Audit Department and 
follows-up on actions taken by the auditees to 
resolve such issues, before they are submitted 
to the Board Audit Committee.

9.  PRoFESSIonaL advIcE

The Committee has the authority to seek 
external professional advice on matters within 
its purview.

10.  whIStLE-BLowIng

The Bank is in the process of finalising a new 
mechanism to facilitate whistle-blowing by the 
employees of the Bank through an update to the 
Whistle-Blowing Policy. The Bank expects to 
launch the new Whistle-Blowing scheme during 
the second quarter of 2016. 

11.  coMMIttEE EvaLuatIon

The annual evaluation of the Board Audit 
Committee was carried out by the members of 
the Board and the Committee has taken note of 
the feedback received. 

Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail
Chairman – Board Audit Committee

29 February 2016
Colombo

BOARD AuDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
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Board Integrated Risk 
Management Committee Report
1.  coMPoSItIon oF  
thE coMMIttEE 

The Board Integrated Risk Management 
Committee (BIRMC) comprising of members 
listed below conducts its proceedings in 
accordance with the Terms of Reference 
approved by the Board of Directors. The 
Committee was appointed by the Board on  
30 May 2011 and the current Chairman is  
Mr. Rajiv Nandlal Dvivedi.

The Committee met 5 times during the year 
2015 and the attendance is as follows:

Member Meetings Attended/
Meetings Eligible to Attend

Mr. Rajiv Nandlal Dvivedi 
(Non-Executive, Independent Director) appointed w.e.f. 21 February 2015 4/4

Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail 
(Non-Executive, Independent Director) 5/5

Dato’ A. Tajudin B.H. Abdul Rahman  
(Non-Executive, Independent Senior Director) appointed w.e.f. 13 June 2015 2/2

Mr. Mohammed Azmeer 
(Chief Executive Officer) 5/5

Mr. Irshad Iqbal
(Risk Officer) 5/5

Mr. Wahid Ali Mohd. Khalil 
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director) resigned w.e.f. 13 June 2015 3/3

Mr. Ruzly Hussain
(Non-Executive, Independent Director) resigned w.e.f. 21 February 2015 1/1

Mr. Wahid Ali Bin Mohd. Khalil stepped down 
from the BIRMC and Mr. Rajiv Nandlal Dvivedi 
was appointed as the Chairman of BIRMC 
as per the decision made by the Board of 
Directors at its 55th meeting held on  
13 June 2015.

2.  REguLatoRY coMPLIancE

The BIRMC was established by the Board of 
Directors, in compliance with the Section 3 (6)  
of Direction No. 11 of 2007, on Corporate 
Governance for Licensed Commercial Banks in 
Sri Lanka, issued by the Monetary Board of the 
Central Bank of Sri Lanka (CBSL) under powers 
vested in the Monetary Board, in terms of the 
Banking Act No. 30 of 1988 as amended.

3.  MEEtIngS

Vice President – Credit, Vice President – 
Operations and Business Support and  
Manager – Risk Middle Office attended BIRMC 
meetings by invitation. Key Management 
Personnel from relevant business and support 
departments of the Bank were also invited to 
attend segments of the meetings to articulate 
and clarify matters relating to their respective 
areas. Such invitations were extended to ensure 
that the BIRMC is provided with all relevant 
information to facilitate the discharge of its 
role and responsibilities. After every BIRMC 
meeting, a report from the BIRMC Chairman 
along with the respective BIRMC meeting 
minutes is forwarded to the Board of  
Directors for perusal.

4.  RoLE and RESPonSIBILItIES 
oF thE BIRMc

The BIRMC is primarily responsible for the 
effective functioning of the risk management 
function within the Bank. The BIRMC has 
the authority to request different kinds of 
information from various sources, in order to 
effectively carry out its responsibilities on the 
risk management process of the Bank. Its main 
responsibilities include the following:

(i) Ensure that the Bank has a comprehensive 
risk management policy and framework 
and appropriate compliance policies and 
processes are in place and to continuously 
monitor their effectiveness so as to 
inculcate a proactive risk management 
culture within the Bank.

(ii) Review and recommend the risk  
appetite/tolerance for the Bank at all levels 
of business, to the Board for adoption.
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(iii) Assess and oversee risks, i.e. credit, 
market, liquidity, operational and strategic 
risks to the Bank, on a monthly basis 
through appropriate risk indicators and 
management information. 

(iv) Reviewing the independence and 
robustness of risk management processes 
and internal controls throughout the Bank, 
with a view to manage the Bank’s key risk 
control and mitigation processes.

(v) To oversee all management level 
committees managing risk, such as Executive 
Risk Management Committee (ERMC), 
Executive Credit Committee 1(ECC I) and 
the Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO). 

(vi) Ensuring that there are clear and 
independent reporting lines and 
responsibilities for risk management 
functions.

(vii) Apprising the Board on the proper 
management of risk, specifically relating  
to Capital, Market, Credit and Operational 
risks and seeking the Board’s endorsement 
on any strategic decisions taken relating  
to such risks.

(viii) Take prompt corrective action to mitigate 
the effects of specific risks, in case such 
risks are at levels beyond prudent levels 
decided by the Committee, on the basis 
of the Bank’s policies and regulatory and 
supervisory requirements.

(ix) Take appropriate actions against the 
officers responsible for failure to 
identify specific risks and take prompt 
corrective actions as recommended by 
the Committee, and/or as directed by the 
Director of Bank Supervision.

(x) Submit an update on key matters discussed 
and resolved at the next Board meeting, 
prior to the issuance of the BIRMC 
minutes.

(xi) Establish a compliance function to assess  
the Bank’s compliance with laws, 
regulations, regulatory guidelines, internal 
controls and approved policies on all 

areas of business operations. A dedicated 
Compliance Officer selected from the Key 
Management Personnel shall carry out the 
compliance function and report to the 
Committee periodically.

The BIRMC has the authority to seek 
external professional advice on matters within 
its purview.

5.  RISK ManagEMEnt and 
IntERnaL contRoLS

Risk management controls are implemented 
across the Bank to provide reasonable 
assurance to the Board and Senior Management 
that effective mitigation action plans are 
implemented to address all risk exposures. 
During the year, BIRMC has reviewed and 
assessed the effectiveness of the Bank’s risk 
management controls for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2015. In pursuit of 
managing its risk profile, the Bank has further 
strengthened the Risk Management Department 
(RMD) with the objective of effectively managing 
the core functions of risk: credit, market, 
liquidity and operational risks. 

6.  coMMIttEE EvaLuatIon

The Risk Management Department has carried 
out Risk Control and Self-Assessment (RCSA) 
in the critical business units for identifying, 
assessing, mitigating, monitoring and reporting 
of operational risks. The results of such 
exercises were also escalated to the relevant 
management levels and taken up for discussions 
at BIRMC meetings for creating awareness and 
appropriate action.

The Risk Management Department 
implemented a Risk Dashboard and is 
maintaining the dashboard to assess all risks in 
the Bank and helps the Management to mitigate 
potential risk, which is escalated to the Board  
of Directors.

Risk Management Department has 
conducted a Business Continuity Plan (BCP) 
drill successfully with a negligible number of 

issues compared to previous drills. The BCP/DR 
(Disaster Recovery) test results were validated 
by the Internal Audit Department and submitted 
to the Board Audit Committee (BAC). BCP/DR 
test result was recommended by the BIRMC 
to be tabled for the approval of the Board of 
Directors for onward submission to CBSL.

BIRMC has reviewed nine policies during 
the year 2015 and recommended for onward 
submission to Board of Directors for approval.

In 2015, the Bank continued to be aggressive 
in terms of balance sheet growth, pursuing 
industry benchmarked performances. In this 
backdrop, the Bank managed the overall risk 
profile successfully, whilst ensuring that the right 
balance is maintained between risk and rewards, 
without hindering business growth. The Board 
and the BIRMC are satisfied with the effective 
risk management strategies implemented by the 
Bank, under its Integrated Risk Management 
Framework (IRMF) and Road Map for the year 
ended 31 December 2015. 

The Bank shall continue to review, monitor 
and proactively address potential risks identified 
in all its operations and implement appropriate 
mitigation strategies, to remain in a steady 
growth and expansion phase. The Bank shall 
also continue to function within its approved 
risk appetite as well as comply with BASEl II, 
BASEL III and CBSL requirements of effective 
risk management practices.

Rajiv nandlal dvivedi
Chairman – Board Integrated Risk Management 
Committee

17 March 2016
Colombo

BOARD INTEGRATED RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE REPORT
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Board Human Resources and 
Remuneration Committee Report
The Board Human Resources and 
Remuneration Committee (BHRRC) comprises 
the following members:

1. Mr. Osman Kassim (Non-Executive,  
Non-Independent Director, Chairman)

2. Mr. Tyeab Akbarally (Non-Executive,  
Non-Independent Director)

3. Mr. Ruzly Hussain (Non-Executive,  
Independent Director)

4. Mr. Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail  
(Non-Executive, Independent Director)

All four (4) Directors in the Committee are 
Non-Executive Directors with two (2) being 
Independent Directors.

authoRItY and 
RESPonSIBILItIES

The BHRRC has the explicit authority to decide 
on and review the Bank’s Human Resources 
and Remuneration Policy and Structure within 
its Terms of Reference on behalf of the Board 
of Directors. It may however, refer any matter 
which in the opinion of BHRRC should be 
decided by the Board of Directors together 
with its recommendations.

In discharging its duties and functions the 
BHRRC has all the resources it needs to do so 
and full and unrestricted access to information 
and the right to obtain external professional 
advice and invite outsiders with relevant 
experience to attend meetings if necessary.

The Roles and Responsibilities of the 
Committee include:

(i) Approving and updating the Human 
Resource Policies as per recommendation 
from CEO.

(ii) Approval of Remuneration

a. Directors’ emoluments
b. Annual salary and bonus based on 

performance evaluations
c. Incentives, allowances and other 

perquisites 
(iii) Evaluating the performance of the CEO and 

Key Management Personnel against the set 
targets and determine the basis for revising 
remuneration, benefits and other payments 
of performance-based incentives.

(iv) Approving periodic Human Resource Policy 
and Procedure revisions.

MEEtIngS 

The Committee held two meetings during the 
year under review. Meetings are held as and 
when necessary after providing sufficient notice 
to all members.

osman Kassim
Chairman – Board Human Resources and 
Remuneration Committee

16 April 2016
Colombo
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conStItutIon oF thE BoaRd 
noMInatIon coMMIttEE

Amãna Bank’s Board Nomination Committee 
(BNC) constitutes of three (3) Non-Executive 
Directors, majority of whom are Independent 
Directors as follows:

1. Mr. Ruzly Hussain – Chairman  
(Non-Executive, Independent Director)

2. Mr. Harsha Amarasekera – Member  
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

3. Mr. M. Jazri Magdon Ismail – Member  
(Non-Executive, Independent Director)

RESPonSIBILItIES oF thE BoaRd 
noMInatIon coMMIttEE

According to the Terms of Reference (TOR) 
given by the Board to the BNC, the following 
are its key responsibilities: 

(i) Establishing a procedure to select/appoint 
new Directors, CEO and Key Management 
Personnel (KMP).

(ii) Considering and recommending (or 
not recommending) the re-election of 
current Directors, taking into account the 
performance and contribution made by the 
Director concerned towards the overall 
discharge of the Board’s responsibilities. 

(iii) Setting the criteria such as qualifications, 
experience and key attributes required for 
eligibility to be considered for appointment 
or promotion to the post of CEO and the 
Key Management Positions. 

(iv) Ensuring that the Directors, CEO and KMP 
are fit and proper persons to hold office as 
specified and set out in the Banking Act and 
other relevant Statutes and in terms of the 
Directions issued by the Central Bank of  
Sri Lanka (CBSL) from time to time. 

(v) Considering and recommending from time 
to time, the requirements of additional/new 
expertise and the succession arrangements 
for retiring Directors and KMP.

The quorum necessary for transactions of 
business is three members.

The Company Secretary is Secretary to the 
BNC.

FREQuEncY oF MEEtIngS

The Committee is required to meet as and 
when necessary and at least twice during a 
financial year.

authoRItY

The Board Nomination Committee has the 
authority to seek any information that it 
requires from any officer or employee of 
the Bank. In connection with its duties, the 
BNC is authorised by the Board to take such 
independent advice (including legal or other 
professional advice, at the Bank’s expense) 
as it considers necessary, including requests 
for information from, or commissioning 
investigations by external advisers.

PERFoRMancE duRIng thE YEaR

During the year of 2015, the BNC held  
two meetings.

As mandated under the Corporate 
Governance Direction issued by the Central 
Bank of Sri Lanka the Committee also considered 
the re-appointment of Directors who retire by 
rotation in terms of Article 29 (6) of the Articles 
of Association of the Bank and fitness and 
propriety of the continuing Directors.

BNC is actively involved in the selection and 
appointments of Directors and KMP to ensure 
that they are fit and proper persons to hold 
their offices.

The Board of Directors also re-constituted 
the BNC at the 51st Board meeting held on  
21 February 2015 following the resignation 
of Dr. A.A.M. Haroon, Non-Executive, 
Non-Independent Director from the BNC. 
Therefore, the composition of the BNC will be 
a maximum of three (3) members with effect 
from 21 February 2015, as follows:

 z Mr. Ruzly Hussain – Chairman

 z Mr. Harsha Amarasekera – Member

 z Mr. Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail – Member

Ruzly hussain
Chairman – Board Nomination Committee

31 March 2016
Colombo

Board Nomination  
Committee Report
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Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibility
The responsibility of the Directors, in relation 
to the Financial Statements of Amãna Bank 
PLC (the Bank) is set out in this Statement. 
The responsibilities of the External Auditors in 
relation to the Financial Statements are set out 
in the Auditors’ Report given on page 102.

In terms of Sections 150, 151 and 153 of the 
Companies Act No. 07 of 2007, the Directors 
of the Bank are responsible for ensuring that 
the Bank keeps proper books of account of all 
transactions and prepare Financial Statements 
that give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Bank, as at the end of each 
financial year and of the financial performance 
of the Bank for each year and place them before 
the shareholders at a General Meeting. The 
Financial Statements comprise the Statement 
of Financial Position as at 31 December 2015, 
Statement of Profit or Loss, Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes 
in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows for the year 
then ended and Notes thereto.

Accordingly, the Directors confirm that the 
Financial Statements of the Bank give a true and 
fair view of:

(a) the state of affairs of the Bank as at 
reporting date; and

(b) the profit of the Bank for the financial year 
ended on the reporting date.

The Financial Statements of the Bank have 
been certified by the Bank’s Chief Financial 
Officer, the officer responsible for their 
preparation as well as the Chief Executive 
Officer and have been signed by three Directors 
and the Company Secretary of the Bank on 
27 February 2016, as required by the Sections 
150 and 152 of the Companies Act and other 
regulatory requirements.

Under Section 148 of the Companies 
Act, the Directors are also responsible for 
ensuring that the Bank keeps accounting 
records, which correctly record and explain 
the Bank’s transactions that will enable the 
determination of the Bank’s financial position, 
with reasonable accuracy at any point of time 
and facilitate the preparation of the Financial 
Statements, in accordance with the provisions 
of the Companies Act and enable such Financial 
Statements to be readily and properly audited.

The Directors have taken appropriate steps 
to ensure that the Bank maintains proper books 
of accounts and reviewed the financial position 
of the Bank regularly at Board meetings and  
also through the Board Audit Committee.  
The Report of the said Committee is given  
on pages 90 and 91 of this Annual Report.

The Financial Statements for the year 
2015, presented in this Annual Report, are 
in agreement with the underlying books of 
accounts of the Bank. The said Annual Financial 
Statements are prepared and presented in 
conformity with the requirements of the  
Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, Companies 
Act No. 07 of 2007, Sri Lanka Accounting 
and Auditing Standards Act No. 15 of 1995, 
Banking Act No. 30 of 1988 as amended and the 
Directions on Corporate Governance No. 11 
of 2007, issued by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka.

In addition, these Financial Statements 
comply with the prescribed format issued by the 
Central Bank of Sri Lanka for the preparation 
of Annual Financial Statements of licensed 
commercial banks.

The Board of Directors accepts 
responsibility for the integrity and objectivity 
of the Financial Statements presented in this 
Annual Report. The Directors confirm that in 

preparing the Financial Statements exhibited 
on pages 103 to 149, appropriate Accounting 
Policies based on the financial reporting 
framework, had been selected and applied in 
a consistent manner and that reasonable and 
prudent judgments have been made, so that 
the form and substance of the transactions are 
properly reflected.

The Directors also have taken reasonable 
measures to safeguard the assets of the Bank 
and to prevent and detect frauds and other 
irregularities. In this regard, the Directors 
have instituted an effective and comprehensive 
system of internal controls, comprising of 
internal checks, internal audit and financial 
and other controls, required to carry on the 
business of banking in an orderly manner 
and safeguard its assets and secure as far as 
practicable, the accuracy and reliability of the 
records. The Directors’ Statement on Internal 
Control Over Financial Reporting is given on 
pages 81 and 82 of this Annual Report.

The Board of Directors also wishes to 
confirm that, as required by the Sections 
166 (1) and 167 (1) of the Companies Act, 
they have prepared this Annual Report on 
time and ensured that a copy thereof is sent 
to every shareholder of the Bank, who have 
expressed desire to receive a hard copy or 
to other shareholders, a soft copy each, in a 
CD containing the Annual Report within the 
stipulated period of time. The Directors also 
wish to confirm that all shareholders have been 
treated equally in accordance with the original 
terms of issue.

The Bank’s External Auditors, Messrs Ernst 
& Young were reappointed by a resolution 
passed by the shareholders at the last Annual 
General Meeting, in terms of the Section 158 of 
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the Companies Act. They were provided with 
every opportunity to undertake the inspections 
they considered appropriate during the course 
of the Audit. They carried out reviews and 
sample checks on the system of internal controls, 
as they considered appropriate and necessary 
for expressing their opinion on the Financial 
Statements and maintaining accounting records. 
They have examined the Financial Statements 
made available to them by the Board of Directors 
of the Bank, together with all financial records, 
related data and minutes of shareholders’ and 
Directors’ meetings and expressed their opinion 
which appears as reported by them on page 102 
of this Annual Report.

coMPLIancE REPoRt

The Directors confirm that to the best of their 
knowledge, all taxes, duties and levies payable 
by the Bank, all contribution, levies and taxes 
payable on behalf of and in respect of the 
employees of the Bank, and all other known 
statutory dues, as were due and payable by 
the Bank as at the reporting date, have been 
paid or, where relevant, provided for. The 
Directors further confirm that, after considering 
the financial position, operating conditions, 
regulatory and other factors and relevant 
matters, the Directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the Bank possesses adequate 
resources to continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future.

For this reason, the Directors continue to 
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 
Financial Statements.

The Directors are of the view that they have 
discharged their responsibilities as set out in 
this Statement. 

By Order of the Board,

Mrs. Samitha dayani de Silva
Company Secretary

19 March 2016
Colombo

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITy
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Independent Sharia Supervisory 
Council Report
To the Shareholders of Amãna Bank PLC

In carrying out the roles and the responsibilities 
of the Sharia Supervisory Council, we hereby 
submit our report for the financial year ended 
31 December 2015.

The management is responsible for ensuring 
that the Bank conducts its business in accordance 
with the Sharia rules and principles and it is our 
responsibility to form an independent opinion, 
based on our review of the operations of the 
Bank and to report to you.

We had three (3) meetings during the 
financial year in which we reviewed inter alia 
the contracts relating to the transactions and 
applications introduced by the Bank. 

We have also conducted our review to 
form an opinion as to whether the Bank has 
complied with Sharia rules and principles and 
also with the specific rulings and guidelines 
issued by us. We conducted our review which 
included examining on a test basis each type of 
transaction, the relevant documentation and 
procedures adopted by the Bank. We planned 
and performed our review so as to obtain all 
the information and explanations which we 
considered necessary in order to provide us 
with sufficient evidence to give reasonable 
assurance that the Bank has not violated Sharia 
rules and principles. 

Based on the above, in our opinion:

1. The contracts, transactions and dealings 
entered into by the Bank during the financial 
year ended 31 December 2015, that we have 
reviewed are in compliance with the Sharia 
rules and principles. 

2. The allocation of profit and charging of losses 
relating to Investment Accounts conform to 
the basis that had been approved by us in 
accordance with Sharia rules and principles.

3. All earnings that have been realised from 
sources or by means prohibited by the 
Sharia were disposed to charitable causes 
upon our approval.

Allah Knows Best.

ash-Sheikh dr. Muhammad Imran ashraf usmani
Chairman

 
ash-Sheik Mohd. nazri chik ash-Sheik Mufti M.I.M. Rizwe
Vice-Chairman Member

 

ash-Sheik M.M.a. Mubarak ash-Sheik Mufti Muhammad hassan Kaleem
Member Member
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Sharia Governance

The cornerstone of the unique business  
model of Amãna Bank rests on Sharia principles 
which are the foundation for the practice of 
Islamic banking. 

Therefore, Amãna Bank has placed great 
importance in ensuring that the overall 
operations of the Bank are in accordance with 
Sharia principles.

In this regard Amãna Bank has a established 
Sharia Governance Framework with the Sharia 
Supervisory Council (SSC) as the apex body. 

The roles and responsibilities of the SSC are 
spelt out in the Terms of Reference (TOR) of 
the SSC.

ShaRIa SuPERvISoRY councIL 
(SSc)

Functionally, the SSC will report to the Bank’s 
shareholders reflecting the status of the Council 
as an independent body of the Bank.

The SSC is assisted by five (5) internal Sharia 
compliance functions namely Sharia Audit, 
Sharia Inspection, Sharia Compliance, Sharia 
Advisory and Training & Research.

 The diagram below describes the framework:

SHARIA
AUDIT

DIRECT REPORTING LINE

INDIRECT REPORTING LINE

SHARIA 
SuPERvISION

DEPARTMENT

MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE

BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

SHARIA 
SuPERvISORy 
COuNCIL

SHARIA
INSPECTIONS

SHARIA
COMPLIANCE

SHARIA
ADvISORy

TRAINING &
RESEARCH
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Composition of the SSC

The composition of the SSC would be a 
minimum of three (3) members and as at  
31 December 2015, the SSC has five (5) 
members comprising of two (2) local scholars 
and three (3) foreign scholars. 

Coming from diverse backgrounds with 
wide experience and knowledge, each SSC 
member is an expert in their specialised field 
such as Islamic law, Islamic banking, capital 
market, takaful, waqf, zakat, halal industry 
etc. Additionally, their qualification in Islamic 
jurisprudence (usul al-fiqh) and Islamic 
commercial laws (fiqh al-mu’amalat), expertise 
and vast experiences in the academia as well as 
in the industry definitely support the depth and 
breadth of the Sharia deliberations.

Responsibilities of the Bank towards 
Sharia Compliance

While the SSC is responsible for forming 
and expressing decisions on the Bank’s 
compliance with Sharia rules and principles, the 
responsibility for compliance therewith rests 
with the management of the Bank.

Therefore, it is crucial that the Bank works 
hand-in-hand with the SSC to ensure that 
all business activities, products, services and 
operations are in compliance with Sharia. 
Therefore, it is the responsibility of the Bank to 
perform the following:

(i) To refer all Sharia issues in its business 
operations to the SSC for decision;

(ii) To adopt and take necessary measures for 
implementation of the SSC’s decisions;

(iii) To provide sufficient resources to the SSC 
including budget allocation, independent 
expert consultation, reference materials and 
training;

(iv) To ensure that the SSC is familiar with the 
operations and business of the Bank;

(v) To provide the SSC access to all relevant 
records, transactions, manuals and relevant 
information, as required by its members in 
performing their duties; and

SHARIA GOvERNANCE

(vi) To recommend the appropriate 
remuneration to the SSC members which 
commensurate with and reflect the duties 
and responsibilities of the SSC.

It is the Bank’s responsibility to perform the 
following with regard to Sharia Compliance:

(i) To comply with SSC decisions and establish 
Sharia requirements in its entire products, 
services, legal documentations and activities;

(ii) The Bank shall not act in contravention to 
the SSC decisions to suit its convenience. 

As part of the Bank’s efforts to improve the 
oversight on the Sharia risk management, a Sharia 
Risk Management Committee at management 
level was formed in the year 2015.

authority of the SSc

The SSC assumes the following authority based 
on its TOR:

(i) The decision of the SSC is binding on the 
Bank, whilst its recommendation is not 
binding on it. 

(ii) The SSC has the right to check the assets 
and liabilities of the Bank. 

(iii) The SSC has the right to review the Bank’s 
books, registers and documents at any time 
and it shall have the right to request to 
check any data it deems necessary.

(iv) In the event that the Bank is unable to 
provide information requested of it, which 
results in the SSC’s inability to carry on its 
role and responsibilities, it will submit a 
written report to the Board of Directors 
and may demand that a meeting of the 
Shareholders be convened to look into  
this matter.

(v) The SSC has the right to accept or reject 
any activity carried out by the Bank based on 
Sharia rules and principles.

SSc Meetings

SSC meetings are scheduled to be held at least 
three (3) times annually with additional meetings 
convened as and when warranted, to facilitate 
important decisions that are required between 
the scheduled meetings.

Three (3) SSC meetings were held during 
the financial year ended 31 December 2015,  
as follows:

Date of Meeting Percentage of Members 
Attendance (%)

12 March 2015 100

23 July 2015 100

17 December 2015 80

appointment and Re-appointment of 
SSc Members

(i) The shareholders of the Bank shall appoint 
the member of the SSC based on the 
recommendation made by the Board of 
Directors. 

(ii) Each member of the SSC shall have a term 
of office of one (1) year as appointed by the 
shareholders. Upon expiry of such term, 
the members may be reappointed at the 
approval of the shareholders in conformity 
with the governance standards defined by 
the Accounting and Auditing Organisation 
for Islamic Financial Institution (AAOIFI).

(iii) Notwithstanding the above, the Board of 
Directors may appoint new members to 
the posts which become vacant in the SSC 
during the year, subject to the approval of 
the shareholders at the subsequent Annual 
General Meeting.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AmãNA BANK PLC

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial 
statements of Amãna Bank PLC (“the Bank”), 
which comprise the statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2015, and the 
statement of profit or loss and statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes 
in equity and statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory 
information as set out on pages 103 to 149.

Board’s Responsibility for the Financial 
Statements 

The Board of Directors (“Board”) is responsible 
for the preparation of these financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards and for 
such internal control as Board determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Sri Lanka Auditing Standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to 
obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the 
Bank’s preparation of the financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Bank’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by Board, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Bank as at 31 December 2015, and of its 
financial performance and cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standards.

Partners: A D B Talwatte FCA FCMA   M P D Cooray FCA FCMA   R N de Saram ACA FCMA   Ms. N A De Silva FCA   Ms. Y A De Silva FCA   W R H Fernando FCA FCMA
 W K B S P Fernando  FCA FCMA   Ms. L K H L Fonseka FCA   A P A Gunasekera  FCA FCMA   A Herath FCA   D K Hulangamuwa  FCA FCMA  LLB (Lond)   H M A Jayesinghe FCA FCMA
 Ms. A A Ludowyke  FCA FCMA   Ms. G G S Manatunga FCA   N M Sulaiman ACA ACMA   B E Wijesuriya FCA FCMA

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements

As required by section 163 (2) of the 
Companies Act No. 07 of 2007, we state  
the following:

a) The basis of opinion, scope and limitations of 
the audit are as stated above.

b) In our opinion: 

 z we have obtained all the information and 
explanations that were required for the audit  
and, as far as appears from our examination, 
proper accounting records have been kept by 
the Bank and,

 z the financial statements of the Bank, comply 
with the requirements of section 151 of the 
Companies Act No. 07 of 2007.

29 February 2016
Colombo.
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Statement of Profit or Loss
Year ended 31 December Note 2015 

Rs.
2014 

Rs.

Financing Income 4 2,885,931,540 2,407,652,724

Financing Expenses 5 (1,405,258,772) (1,198,032,200)

Net Financing Income 1,480,672,768 1,209,620,524

Net Fee and Commission Income 6 168,555,950 138,484,328

Net Trading Gain 7 390,234,591 287,377,278

Net Other Operating Income 8 27,659,037 33,213,115

Total Operating Income 2,067,122,346 1,668,695,245

Impairment on Financial Assets 9 (2,817,355) (94,680,026)

Net Operating Income 2,064,304,991 1,574,015,219

Personnel Expenses 10 908,236,747 858,179,900

Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment 25 150,818,192 150,665,594

Amortisation of Intangible Assets 26 40,881,465 39,373,883

Other Operating Expenses 11 593,404,462 526,776,102

Total Operating Expenses 1,693,340,866 1,574,995,479

Operating Profit/(Loss) before Value Added Tax on Financial Services and  
   Nation Building Tax 370,964,125 (980,260)

Value Added Tax on Financial Services and Nation Building Tax (152,248,222) (79,288,996)

Profit/(Loss) before Tax 218,715,903 (80,269,256)

Tax Expenses 12 60,086,657 –

Profit/(Loss) for the Year 158,629,246 (80,269,256)

Earnings/(Loss) per Share 13 0.13 (0.06)

The Accounting Policies and Notes on pages 108 through 149 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December Note 2015 

Rs.
2014

Rs.

Profit/(Loss) for the Year 158,629,246 (80,269,256)

Other Comprehensive Income

Other Comprehensive Income to be reclassified to Profit or Loss in Subsequent Periods:

Financial Investments – Available for Sale:

    Net Gain on Financial Investments – Available for sale 10,182,244 49,799,448

Net Other Comprehensive Income to be reclassified to Profit or Loss in Subsequent Periods: 10,182,244 49,799,448

Other Comprehensive Income not to be Reclassified to Profit or Loss in Subsequent Periods:

    Revaluation Surplus on Property, Plant and Equipment 25 533,340,869 –

    Deferred Tax Effect on Revaluation Surplus 27 (5,541,360) –

    Remeasurement Gain/(Loss) on Defined Benefit Plans 33 203,709 (7,395,333)

    Deferred Tax Effect on Defined Benefit Plans 27 (57,039) 2,070,693

Net Other Comprehensive Income not to be Reclassified to Profit or Loss in Subsequent 
Periods: 527,946,180 (5,324,640)

Other Comprehensive Income for the Year Net of Tax 538,128,423 44,474,808

Total Comprehensive Income/(Loss) for the Year Net of Tax 696,757,669 (35,794,448)

The Accounting Policies and Notes on pages 108 through 149 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December Note 2015 

Rs.
2014 

Rs.

Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 15 5,016,458,817 1,627,383,695

Balance with Central Bank of Sri Lanka 16 2,292,887,937 1,036,425,974

Derivative Financial Assets 17 61,037,310 23,269,364

Placements with Banks 18 3,624,928,993 3,306,210,009

Placements with Licensed Finance Companies 19 954,528,071 1,172,213,115

Financial Investments – Held for Trading 20 59,474,357 48,998,818

Financing and Receivables to Other Customers 21 33,073,596,195 25,426,941,810

Financial Investments – Available for Sale 22 432,056,080 427,582,574

Other Financial Assets 23 456,289,030 295,502,221

Other Non Financial Assets 24 257,216,898 306,189,958

Property, Plant and Equipment 25 1,271,732,452 794,829,469

Intangible Assets 26 236,502,947 270,615,476

Deferred Tax Assets 27 145,702,993 161,426,033

Total Assets 47,882,412,080 34,897,588,516

Liabilities
Due to Banks 28 2,955,277,882 –

Derivative Financial Liabilities 29 67,405,185 7,844,969

Due to Other Customers 30 38,608,000,603 29,224,330,525

Other Financial Liabilities 31 341,597,683 556,030,302

Other Non Financial Liabilities 32 113,063,448 24,941,209

Retirement Benefit Liability 33 74,070,679 58,202,580

Total Liabilities 42,159,415,480 29,871,349,585

Shareholders’ Funds
Stated Capital 34 5,866,808,141 5,866,808,141

Statutory Reserve Fund 35 15,231,195 7,299,733

Other Reserves 36 (261,525,053) (271,707,297)

Revaluation Reserve 37 527,799,509 –

Retained Earnings (425,317,192) (576,161,646)

Total Equity 5,722,996,600 5,026,238,931

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Funds 47,882,412,080 34,897,588,516

Commitments and Contingencies 41 18,272,602,735 14,978,855,627

We certify that these Financial Statements are in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007.

 
m. Ali Wahid mohamed Azmeer
Chief Financial Officer Chief Executive Officer

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these Financial Statements. Signed for and on behalf of the Board by:

   
Osman Kassim  Tyeab Akbarally Jazri magdon Ismail mrs. P.m.D. Koralege
Chairman Deputy Chairman Director Company Secretary

The Accounting Policies and Notes on pages 108 through 149 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

27 February 2016
Colombo
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Statement of Changes in Equity
 Stated Capital Other Reserves

Year ended 31 December

Note

 Stated  
 Capital 

 Capital Funds 
  Raised Pending 

  Allotment of  
 Shares 

Statutory
Reserve

Fund

Investment 
Fund

 Revenue 
 Reserve 

Available for  
Sale Reserve

Revaluation 
Reserve

 Retained 
 Earnings

 Total 

Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

As at 1 January 2014 4,216,821,341 1,649,986,800 7,299,733 39,416,784 (216,926,328) (104,580,417) – (529,984,533) 5,062,033,380

IPO Share Issue –  
   Pending Allotment 1,649,986,800 (1,649,986,800) – – – – – – –

Loss for the Year – – – – – – – (80,269,256) (80,269,256)

Other Comprehensive  
   Income 36 – – – – – 49,799,448 – (5,324,640) 44,474,808

Transfers to Investment  
   Fund 36 – – – (39,416,784) – – – 39,416,784 –

As at 1 January 2015 5,866,808,141 – 7,299,733 – (216,926,328) (54,780,969) – (576,161,646) 5,026,238,931

Profit for the Year – – – – – – – 158,629,246 158,629,246

Other Comprehensive  
   Income 36 – – – – – 10,182,244 527,799,509 146,670 538,128,423

Transfers to Statutory  
   Reserve Fund 37 – – 7,931,462 – – – – (7,931,462) –

As at 31 December 2015 5,866,808,141 – 15,231,195 – (216,926,328) (44,598,725) 527,799,509 (425,317,192) 5,722,996,600

The Accounting Policies and Notes on pages 108 through 149 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December Note 2015 

Rs. 
2014

Rs.

Cash Flow from Operating Activities
Financing Income Received 2,837,479,587 2,342,700,329

Fees and Commission Received 175,984,738 147,064,012

Financing Expenses Paid (1,337,511,370) (1,203,060,077)

Foreign Exchange Income Received 390,175,384 263,332,216

Gratuity Payments Made 33 (4,477,070) (11,704,745)

Payments to Employees and Suppliers (1,605,790,969) (1,434,410,707)

Operating Profit before Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities (Note A) 455,860,300 103,921,028

Increase/(Decrease) in Due to Other Customers 9,319,800,559 11,246,246,821

Increase/(Decrease) in Due to Banks 2,951,400,000 –

(Increase)/Decrease in Financing and Receivables to Other Customers (7,621,151,689) (10,467,462,701)

(Increase)/Decrease in Other Financial Assets (216,921,197) 241,707,894

(Increase)/Decrease in Other Non Financial Assets 48,973,060 (65,412,345)

(Increase)/Decrease in Balance with Central Bank of Sri Lanka (1,256,461,963) (351,105,554)

Increase/(Decrease) in Other Liabilities (86,118,265) 280,817,211

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities before Income Tax 3,595,380,806 988,712,354

Income Tax Paid – –

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities 3,595,380,806 988,712,354

Cash Flows From/(Used In) Investing Activities
Acquisition of Property, Plant and Equipment (79,158,094) (92,991,840)

Proceeds from Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 2,579,000 4,813,206

Acquisition of Intangible Assets (37,618,427) (30,873,379)

Placements with Licensed Finance Companies 202,719,544 (510,566,104)

Placements with Banks (311,171,166) (1,573,066,785)

Sale/(Acquisition) of Financial Investments – Available for Sale 24,756,902 245,830,345

Sale/(Acquisition) of Financial Investments – Held for Trading (8,413,442) 150,973,527

Net Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities (206,305,683) (1,805,881,030)

Cash Flows From/(Used In) Financing Activities
Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities – –

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,389,075,122 (817,168,676)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Year 1,627,383,695 2,444,552,371

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year 15 5,016,458,817 1,627,383,695

A. Reconciliation of Operating Profit

Profit/(Loss) before Taxation 218,715,903 (80,269,256)

Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment 25 150,818,192 150,665,594

Amortisation of Intangible Assets 26 40,881,465 39,373,883

(Profit)/Loss on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment 8 (1,647,624) (3,118,900)

Impairment for Financing and Receivables to Other Customers and Financial Assets 9 2,817,355 94,680,026

Provision for Gratuity 33 20,548,878 17,440,650

(Increase)/Decrease in Placement Income Receivable 7,417,683 5,063,775

Increase/(Decrease) in Profit Payable 67,747,401 (5,027,877)

Other Non Cash Items (46,961,883) (103,182,123)

Gratuity Payments 33 (4,477,070) (11,704,745)

455,860,300 103,921,028

The Accounting Policies and Notes on pages 108 through 149 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1.  CORPORATE INFORmATION

1.1  General

Amãna Bank PLC (‘the Bank’) is a licensed 
commercial bank established under the 
Banking Act No. 30 of 1988 (Banking Act) 
and amendments thereto. It is a public limited 
liability company incorporated on  
5 February 2009 and is domiciled in Sri Lanka. 
The registered office of the Bank is located at 
No. 480, Galle Road, Colombo 3. The Bank 
commenced commercial banking operations 
on 1 August 2011. The shares of the Bank are 
listed on the Colombo Stock Exchange.

The staff strength of the Bank as at  
31 December 2015 was 640 (2014 – 583).

1.2  Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Bank continues 
to be providing Sharia compliant banking and 
related activities such as accepting customer 
deposits, personal banking, lease financing, 
home and property financing, advances against 
gold, resident and non-resident foreign currency 
operations, trade financing, import and export 
financing, equipment and machinery financing, 
working capital financing and project financing.

1.3  Parent Entity and Ultimate  
Parent Entity

The Bank does not have an identifiable parent 
of its own.

1.4  Date of Authorisation of Issue

The Financial Statements of Amãna Bank PLC 
for the year ended 31 December 2015 was 
authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the Board of Directors on  
27 February 2016.

2.1  Basis of Preparation

2.1.1  Basis of Measurement

The Financial Statements are prepared under 
the historical cost basis, except for Derivative 
Financial Instruments, Financial Assets at Fair 
Value through Profit or Loss, Financial Assets 
Available for Sale and Freehold Land and Building, 
all of which have been measured at fair value. 

The Financial Statements are presented in 
Sri Lankan Rupees (Rs.), except as otherwise 
indicated.

2.1.2  Statement of Compliance

The Financial Statements of the Bank which 
comprise of the Statement of Financial Position, 
Statement of Profit or Loss, Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes 
in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows and 
Significant Accounting Policies and Notes, have 
been prepared in accordance with Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standards (SLFRSs and LKASs) 
laid down by The Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Sri Lanka and are in compliance 
with the requirements of the Companies 
Act No. 07 of 2007. The presentation of the 
Financial Statements is also in compliance with 
the requirements of the Banking Act No. 30 of 
1988 and amendments thereto.  

2.1.3  Presentation of Financial Statements

The Bank presents its Statement of Financial 
Position broadly in order of liquidity. An analysis 
regarding recovery or settlement within 12 
months after the Statement of Financial Position 
date (current) and more than 12 months after 
the Statement of Financial Position date (non-
current) is presented in Note 40. 

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities are 
offset and the net amount is reported in the 
Statement of Financial Position only when there is 
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a 
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the 
liability simultaneously. Income and expense is not 
offset in the Statement of Profit or Loss unless 
required or permitted by any accounting standard 
or interpretation, and as specifically disclosed in 
the accounting policies of the Bank.

The Financial Statements of the Bank provide 
comparative information in respect of the 
previous period. 

2.1.4  Changes in Accounting Policy

The accounting policies have been used on 
a consistent basis except for the change in 
subsequent measurement of Freehold Land and 
Building from cost model to revaluation model.

Subsequent measurement of Freehold 
Land and Building from cost model to 
revaluation model

The Bank has re-assessed its accounting 
policy with regard to the subsequent 
measurement of Freehold Land and Building.

The Bank previously recognised Freehold 
Land and Building at cost model where  
carrying value was equal to cost less any 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

During 2015, the Bank determined that it 
would change its accounting policy to measure 
Freehold Land and Building at revalued amount, 
as it believes this policy is more consistent with 
the practice of its immediate industry peers.

LKAS 8 exempts this change in accounting 
policy from the requirement to retrospectively 
apply the policy and provide a detailed 
disclosure as outlined in the said standard. 
Hence, the Bank has applied the change in 
accounting policy for the measurement of 
Freehold Land and Building to the revaluation 
model prospectively.

2.1.5  Going Concern

The Board of Directors of the Bank has made 
an assessment of its ability to continue as a going 
concern and is satisfied that it has the resources 
to continue in business for the foreseeable 
future. Furthermore, the Board of Directors 
is not aware of any material uncertainties that 
may cast significant doubt upon the Bank’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the 
Financial Statements continue to be prepared on 
the going concern basis.

2.2  Significant Accounting Judgments, 
Estimates and Assumptions 

The preparation of Financial Statements of the 
Bank in conformity with Sri Lanka Accounting 
Standards, requires the management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of accounting policies 
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Uncertainty about these 
assumptions and estimates could result in 
outcomes that require a material adjustment 
to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities 
affected in future periods.  
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Estimates and assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in  
which the estimate is revised and in any future 
periods affected.

The most significant areas of estimation, 
uncertainty and critical judgments in applying 
accounting policies that have most significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the 
Financial Statements of the Bank are as follows:

a. Fair Value of Property, Plant and 
Equipment

The Freehold Land and Buildings of the Bank 
are reflected at fair value. The management 
determined that these constitute class of 
assets under SLFRS 13, based on the nature, 
characteristics and risks of the properties. 
The Bank engages independent valuers to 
determine fair value of Freehold Land and 
Building. When current market prices of similar 
assets are available, such evidence is considered 
in estimating fair values of these assets using 
comparable prices adjusted for specific market 
factors such as nature, location and condition of 
the property.

The method used to determine the fair value 
of Property, Plant and Equipment are disclosed 
in Note 25 to the Financial Statements. 

b. Fair value of Financial Instruments

Where the fair values of Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities are recorded in 
the Statement of Financial Position cannot 
be derived from active markets, they are 
determined using a variety of valuation 
techniques that include the use of mathematical 
models. The valuation of Financial Instruments is 
described in more detail in Note 38.

c.  Impairment Losses on Financing and 
Receivables to Other Customers
The Bank reviews its individually significant 
Financing and Receivables to Other Customers 
at each reporting date to assess whether an 
impairment loss should be recorded in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss. In particular, 
management’s judgment is required in the 
estimation of the amount and timing of future 
cash flows when determining the impairment 
loss. These estimates are based on assumptions 

about a number of factors and actual results 
may differ, resulting in future changes to the 
impairment allowance. 

Financing and Receivables to Other 
Customers that have been assessed individually 
and found not to be impaired and all individually 
insignificant Financing and Receivables to Other 
Customers are then assessed collectively, in 
groups of assets with similar risk characteristics, 
to determine whether provision should be made 
due to incurred loss events for which there is 
objective evidence, but the effects of which are 
not yet evident. 

The impairment loss on Financing and 
Receivables to Other Customers is disclosed  
in more detail in Notes 2.3.3.g.(i), 21.4 and 
Note 39.3 (a) and (c).

d.  Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect 
of tax losses to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which 
the losses can be utilised. Judgment is required 
to determine the amount of deferred tax 
assets that can be recognised, based upon the 
likely timing and level of future taxable profits, 
together with future tax planning strategies.

Details on deferred tax assets are disclosed 
in Note 27. 

e.  Defined Benefit Plans 

The cost of the defined benefit plan is 
determined using an actuarial valuation. The 
actuarial valuation involves making assumptions 
about discount rates, salary increment rate, age 
of retirement and mortality rates. Due to the 
long term nature of these plans, such estimates 
are subject to significant uncertainty. 

Assumptions used are reviewed at each 
reporting date and disclosed in Note 33.

f.  Commitments and Contingencies

All discernible risks are accounted for in 
determining the amount of all known liabilities. 
Contingent liabilities are possible obligations 
whose existence will be confirmed only by 
uncertain future events or present obligations 
where the transfer of economic benefit is not 
probable or cannot be reliably measured.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised 
in the Statement of Financial Position but are 
disclosed unless they are remote.

2.3  Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies

2.3.1  Foreign Currency Transactions  
and Balances

These Financial Statements are presented in 
Sri Lankan Rupees (Rs.) which is the Bank’s 
functional and presentation currency. 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially 
recorded at the spot rate of exchange prevailing 
at the date of the transactions. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
functional currency rate of exchange at the 
reporting date. All differences arising on 
non-trading activities are taken to ‘Net Other 
Operating Income’ in the Statement of Profit 
or Loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rates as at the 
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates 
at the date when the fair value was determined. 

Forward exchange contracts are valued at 
the forward market rates ruling on the date of 
the reporting date. The resulting net unrealised 
gains or losses are dealt within the Statement of 
Profit or Loss.

2.3.2  Derivative Financial Instruments 

Derivatives are financial instruments that  
derive their value in response to changes 
in market rates, financial instrument prices, 
commodity prices, foreign exchange rates  
and credit risk indices. Derivatives are 
categorised as trading unless they are designated 
as hedging instruments.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value 
at the date the derivative transaction is entered 
into and are subsequently re-measured to their 
fair value at the end of each reporting period. The 
resulting gain or loss is recognised in Statement of 
Profit or Loss immediately unless the derivative is 
designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

Derivative assets/liabilities represent the 
forward exchange contracts as at the reporting 
date. There are no Derivative Financial 
Instruments that qualify for hedge accounting.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEmENTS



110

Amãna Bank PLC    Annual Report 2015

2.3.3  Non-Derivative Financial 
Instrument

a.  Date of Recognition

All Non-Derivative Financial Assets and 
Liabilities are initially recognised on the trade 
date (i.e. the date that the Bank becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument). This includes ‘regular way trades’: 
purchases or sales of financial assets that 
require delivery of assets within the time 
frame generally established by regulation or 
convention in the market place.

b.  Initial Measurement of Financial 
Instruments

The classification of financial instruments at 
initial recognition depends on their purpose and 
characteristics and the management’s intention 
in acquiring them. All financial instruments 
are measured initially at their fair value plus 
transaction costs, except in the case of Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities which are recorded 
at Fair Value through Profit or Loss. Transaction 
costs in relation to Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 
are dealt within the Statement of Profit or Loss.  

c.  ‘Day 1’ Profit or Loss

When the transaction price differs from the 
fair value of other observable current market 
transactions in the same instrument or based on 
a valuation technique whose variables include 
only data from observable markets, the Bank 
immediately recognises the difference between 
the transaction price and fair value (a ‘Day 1’ 
profit or loss) in Financing Income. In cases 
where fair value is determined using data which 
is not observable, the difference between 
the transaction price and model value is only 
recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss 
when the inputs become observable, or when 
the instrument is derecognised.

d.  Classification and Subsequent 
Measurement of Financial Assets

At the inception a Financial Asset is classified 
into one of the following: 

(i) Financial Investments at Fair Value through 
Profit or Loss –

a. Financial Investments – Held for Trading 

b. Financial Investments Designated at Fair 
Value through Profit or Loss

(ii) Held to maturity Financial Investments

(iii) Advances and Receivables 

(iv) Financial Investments – Available for Sale

The subsequent measurement of Financial 
Assets depends on their classification. 

(i)  Financial Investments at Fair Value 
through Profit or Loss

A Financial Investment is classified as Fair Value 
through Profit or Loss if it is held for trading or is 
designated at Fair Value through Profit or Loss.

a.  Financial Investments – Held for Trading

Financial Investments acquired or incurred 
principally for the purpose of selling or 
repurchasing it in the near term or it is part 
of a portfolio that are managed together and 
for which there is evidence of a recent actual 
pattern of short term profit-taking.

Financial Investments – Held for Trading are 
recorded in the Statement of Financial Position 
at fair value. Changes in fair value, results if 
buying and selling and dividend income are 
recognised in Net Trading Gain according to 
the terms of the contract or when the right to 
the payment has been established.

This has been classified in the Statement of 
Financial Position as ‘Financial Investments – 
Held for Trading’. 

Details of Financial Investments –  
Held for Trading are given in Note 20 to the 
Financial Statements. 

b.  Financial Investments Designated at Fair 
Value through Profit or Loss

The Bank designates Financial Investments 
at Fair Value through Profit or Loss in the 
following circumstances:  

 z Such designation eliminates or significantly 
reduces measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would otherwise arise 
from measuring the assets.

 z The assets are part of a group of Financial 
Assets, Financial Liabilities or both, which are 
managed and their performance evaluated 
on a fair value basis, in accordance with a 
documented risk management or investment 
strategy.

 z The asset contains one or more embedded 
derivatives that significantly modify the 
cash flows that would otherwise have been 
required under the contract.

Financial Investments designated at Fair 
Value through Profit or Loss are recorded 
in the Statement of Financial Position at fair 
value. Changes in fair value are recorded in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss.

The Bank has not designated any Financial 
Assets upon initial recognition as designated at 
Fair Value through Profit or Loss.

(ii)  Held to maturity Financial Investments

Held to Maturity Financial Investments are 
non-derivative Financial Assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturities, 
which the Bank has the intention and ability to 
hold to maturity. After the initial recognition, 
Held to Maturity Financial Investments are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the Effective Profit Rate (EPR) less impairment. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into 
account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and fees that are an integral part of the EPR. 
The amortisation is included in ‘Financing 
Income’ in the Statement of Profit or Loss. The 
losses arising from impairment are recognised in 
the Statement of Profit or Loss.

The Bank has not classified any Financial 
Assets upon initial recognition as Held to 
Maturity Financial Investments.  

(iii)  Advances and Receivables 

Advances and Receivables include non-
derivative Financial Assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market, other than:

 z Those that the Bank intends to sell immediately 
or in the near term and those that the Bank 
upon initial recognition designates as at Fair 
Value through Profit or Loss.

 z Those that the Bank, upon initial recognition, 
designates as Available for Sale.

 z Those for which the Bank may not recover 
substantially all of its initial investment, other 
than because of credit deterioration.

Advances and Receivables are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the Effective 
Profit Rate (EPR), less allowance for impairment. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into 
account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and fees and costs that are an integral part of the 
EPR. The amortisation is included in ‘Financing 
Income’ in the Statement of Profit or Loss. The 
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losses arising from impairment are recognised in 
the Statement of Profit or Loss in ‘Impairment on 
Financial Assets’. 

This has been classified in the Statement of 
Financial Position as – 

(i)  Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents as referred to in the 
Statement of Financial Position and Statement 
of Cash Flows, comprises of cash in hand and 
balances with banks on demand or with an 
original maturity of three months or less.

(ii)  Balance with Central Bank of Sri Lanka

The monetary Law Act requires that all 
commercial banks operating in Sri Lanka 
maintain reserves against all deposit liabilities 
(‘Due to Other Customers’) denominated in  
Sri Lankan Rupees. 

(iii)  Placement with Banks

(iv)  Placements with Licensed Finance 
Companies

(v)  Financing and Receivables to Other 
Customers 

(iv)  Financial Investments – Available for Sale

Financial Investments Available for Sale consists 
of equity investments. Equity investments 
classified as Available for Sale are those which 
are neither classified as Held for Trading nor 
designated at Fair Value through Profit or Loss. 

The Bank has not designated any Financing 
and Receivables to Other Customers as 
Available for Sale.

After initial measurement, Available for 
Sale Financial Investments are subsequently 
measured at fair value.

Unrealised gains and losses are recognised 
directly in equity (Statement of Comprehensive 
Income) in the Available for Sale Reserve. When 
the investment is disposed of, the cumulative 
gain or loss previously recognised in equity is 
recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss 
in ‘Net Other Operating Income’. Where the 
Bank holds more than one investment in the 
same security, gains or losses arising from the 
disposal of the investment is calculated based on 
the weighted average basis. 

Dividends earned whilst holding Available 
for Sale Financial Assets are recognised 
in the Statement of Profit or Loss in ‘Net 
Other Operating Income’ when the right to 
receive the dividend is established. The losses 
arising from impairment of such assets are 
recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss in 
‘Impairment on Financial Assets’ and removed 
from the ‘Available for Sale Reserve’.

Details of Financial Investments –  
Available for Sale are given in Note 22 to the 
Financial Statements.

e.  Financial Liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement of Financial 
Liabilities within the scope of LKAS 39 are 
classified as Due to Banks, Due to Other 
Customers (Deposits) and Other Financial 
Liabilities. The Bank determines the classification 
of its Financial Liabilities at initial recognition.

The Bank classifies Financial Liabilities 
into Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through 
Profit or Loss or Other Financial Liabilities 
in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangement and the definitions of 
Financial Liabilities. 

The Bank recognises Financial Liabilities 
in the Statement of Financial Position when 
the Bank becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the Financial Liability.

(i)  Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through 
Profit or Loss

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or 
Loss include Financial Liabilities Held for Trading 
or designated as such upon initial recognition. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, Financial 
Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss are 
measured at fair value and changes therein are 
recognised in Statement of Profit or Loss. 

Upon initial recognition, transaction costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition are 
recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss 
as incurred. The criteria for designation of 
Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit 
or Loss upon initial recognition are the same as 
those of Financial Assets at Fair Value through 
Profit or Loss.

As at the reporting date the Bank does not 
have any Liabilities under this classification.
 

(ii)  Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost

Financial Liabilities including Due to Banks, 
Due to Other Customers and Other Financial 
Liabilities are initially measured at fair value less 
transaction cost that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the EPR method.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking 
into account any discount or premium on the 
issue and costs that are an integral part of 
the EPR. The EPR amortisation is included in 
‘Finance Expenses’ in the Statement of Profit 
or Loss. Gains or losses are recongnised in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss when the liabilities 
are derecognised.

The details of the Bank’s Financial Liabilities 
at amortised cost are shown in Notes 28, 29, 30 
and 31 to the Financial Statements.
 

f.  Derecognition of Financial Assets/
Liabilities 

(i)  Derecognition of Financial Assets

A Financial Asset (or, where applicable a part 
of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is derecognised when:

 z The rights to receive cash flows from the 
asset have expired;

 z The Bank has transferred its rights to receive 
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full 
without material delay to a third party under a 
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either: 

 z The Bank has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the asset; or

 z The Bank has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset.

When the Bank has transferred its rights 
to receive cash flows from an asset or has 
entered into a pass-through arrangement, 
and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the 
asset nor transferred control of the asset, the 
asset is recognised to the extent of the Bank’s 
continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, 
the Bank also recognises an associated liability. 
The transferred asset and the associated liability 
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights 
and obligations that the Bank has retained.
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Continuing involvement that takes the form 
of a guarantee over the transferred asset is 
measured at the lower of the original carrying 
amount of the asset and the maximum amount 
of consideration that the Bank could be 
required to repay.

(ii)  Derecognition of Financial Liabilities

A Financial Liability is derecognised when the 
obligation under the liability is discharged 
or cancelled or expires. Where an existing 
Financial Liability is replaced by another from 
the same party on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification, is treated as a derecognition 
of the original liability and the recognition of 
a new liability. The difference between the 
carrying value of the original Financial Liability 
and the consideration paid is recognised in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss.

g.  Impairment of Financial Assets

The Bank assesses at each reporting date 
whether there is any objective evidence that a 
Financial Asset or a group of Financial Assets 
is impaired. A Financial Asset or a group of 
Financial Assets is deemed to be impaired if, and 
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment 
as a result of one or more events that have 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset 
(an ‘incurred loss event’), and that loss event (or 
events) has an impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of the Financial Asset or the group of 
Financial Assets that can be reliably estimated.

(i)  Financial Assets Carried at Amortised 
Cost

For Financial Assets carried at Amortised 
Cost (Placements with  Banks, Placements 
with Licensed Finance Companies, Financing 
and Receivables to Other Customers and 
Other Financial Assets), the Bank first assesses 
individually whether objective evidence of 
impairment exists for Financial Assets that 
are individually significant, or collectively 
for Financial Assets that are not individually 
significant. If the Bank determines that no 
objective evidence of impairment exists for an 
individually assessed Financial Asset, it includes 
the asset in a group of Financial Assets with 

similar credit risk characteristics and collectively 
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are 
individually assessed for impairment and for 
which an impairment loss is, or continues to 
be, recognised are not included in a collective 
assessment of impairment. The criteria that the 
Bank uses to determine that there is objective 
evidence of an impairment loss include:

(a) Customer is experiencing significant  
financial difficulties.

(b) Breach of covenants or conditions.
(c) Economic and legal reasons relating to the 

customers financial difficulty.
(d) Likelihood of client becoming bankrupt/

insolvent.
(e) Concessions given to customer in view of 

deteriorating financial condition.
(f) Statutory indicators such as new regulations/

Government policies would prevent the 
operations to repay the dues as agreed.

If there is objective evidence that an 
impairment loss has been incurred, the amount 
of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the assets’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows 
(excluding future expected credit losses that 
have not yet been incurred) discounted at the 
asset’s original effective rate. If the facility has 
a variable rate, the discount rate for measuring 
any impairment loss is the current effective rate. 
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
through the use of an allowance account and 
the amount of the loss is recognised in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss. Financing Income 
continues to be accrued on the reduced 
carrying amount and is accrued using the profit 
rate used to discount the future cash flows for 
the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

Individually Assessed Financing and Receivables 
to Other Customers

Impairment on individual significant Financing and 
Receivables to Other Customers are identified 
by the management based on the circumstances 
evidencing overdue payment of profit/return, 
downward adjustment of risk rating and breach 
of contract terms. In order to ascertain presence 
of such evidence, the Bank uses a detailed 
questionnaire, which is completed by the 
respective Customer Relationship manager, who 
has a better understanding of the customer’s 
financial condition as at each reporting date.

If there are any indications of impairment, 
the future cash flows with regard to the 
financing is estimated. Subsequently, amortised 
cost and the impairment loss are calculated.

Allowance amount is decided considering 
many integrated factors, i.e., possibility of 
achieving the business plan, ability to withstand 
the financial difficulties, projected cash flows 
should bankruptcy ensue, supplementary 
financial support, net realisable value of 
collateral and timing of anticipated cash flows:

Collectively Assessed Financing and Receivables 
to Other Customers

For the purpose of a collective evaluation 
of impairment, the Bank determines the 
provisioning for collective assessment using  
data in relation to the performance of its 
financing portfolio using Net Flow Rate method. 
Under this methodology the movement in  
the outstanding balance of customers are 
classified into categories over the periods and 
are used to estimate the amount of financial 
assets that will eventually be written off as 
a result of the events occurring before the 
reporting date which the Bank is not able to 
identify on an individual financing basis, and that 
can be reliably estimated. 

Impairment is assessed on a collective basis 
for following two categories of financing and 
receivables to other customers:

 z To cover losses which have been incurred 
but have not yet been identified on financing 
and receivables to other customers subject 
to individual assessment; and

 z For financing and receivables to other 
customers that are not considered as 
individually significant.

In addition to the above, economic factors 
both at macroeconomic and at Bank levels 
are considered in arriving at the collective 
assessment.

See Note 9 for details of impairment losses 
on Financial Assets carried at amortised cost.  

Reversal of Impairment

If the amount of an impairment loss decreases 
in a subsequent period, and the decrease can 
be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised, the excess 
is written back by reducing the financial asset 
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impairment allowance account accordingly. The 
write-back is recognised in the Statement of 
Profit or Loss.

(ii)  Financial Investments – Available for Sale

For Available for Sale financial investments, the 
Bank assesses at each reporting date whether 
there is objective evidence that an investment 
is impaired.

In the case of equity investments classified 
as Available for Sale, objective evidence would 
also include a ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ 
decline in the fair value of the investment 
below its cost. Where there is evidence of 
impairment, the cumulative loss measured as 
the difference between the acquisition cost 
and the current fair value, less any impairment 
loss on that investment previously recognised 
in the Statement of Profit or Loss, is removed 
from equity and recognised in the Statement 
of Profit or Loss. Impairment losses on equity 
investments are not reversed through the 
Statement of Profit or Loss; increases in the fair 
value after impairment are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(iii)  Collateral Valuation

The Bank seeks to use collateral, where 
possible, to mitigate its risks on financial 
assets. The collateral comes in various 
forms such as cash, gold, securities, letters 
of credit/guarantees, real estate, receivables, 
inventories, other non-financial assets and credit 
enhancements such as netting arrangements. 
The fair value of collateral is generally assessed, 
at a minimum, at inception and based on the 
Bank’s approved valuation policy.

To the extent possible, the Bank uses active 
market data for valuing financial assets, held as 
collateral. Other financial assets which do not 
have a readily determinable market value are 
valued using models. Non financial collateral, 
such as real estate, is valued based on data 
provided by third parties such as independent 
professional valuers.

– Collateral Repossessed

The Bank’s policy is to sell the repossessed 
assets at the earliest possible opportunity. 
Such collateral repossessed are held on a 
memorandum basis without derecognising the 
underlying receivable.

– Rescheduled Financing and Receivables to 
Other Customers

Financing and Receivables to Other Customers 
(facilities) whose original terms have been 
modified including those subject to forbearance 
strategies are considered rescheduled facilities. 
This may involve extending the payment 
arrangements and the agreement of new 
facility conditions. If the renegotiations are 
on terms that are not consistent with those 
readily available in the market, this provides 
objective evidence of impairment. Once the 
terms have been renegotiated, any impairment 
is measured using the EPR as calculated before 
the modification of terms and the facility is 
no longer considered past due. Management 
continually reviews renegotiated facilities to 
ensure that all criteria are met and the future 
payments are likely to occur. The facilities 
continue to be subjected to an individual or 
collective impairment assessment, calculated 
using the EPR of the Original facility.

(iv)  Write-off of Financial Assets Carried at 
Amortised Cost

Financial assets (and the related impairment 
allowance accounts) are normally written off, 
either partially or in full, when there is no 
realistic prospect of recovery. Where financial 
assets are secured, this is generally after receipt 
of any proceeds from the realisation of security.

2.3.4  Reclassification of Financial 
Instruments 

The Bank does not reclassify any Financial 
Instrument into the ‘Fair value through Profit or 
Loss’ category after initial recognition. Further, 
the Bank does not reclassify any Financial 
Instrument out of the ‘Fair value through Profit 
or Loss’ category if upon initial recognition it was 
designated as at Fair value through Profit or Loss. 

The Bank reclassifies non-derivative financial 
assets out of the ‘Held for Trading’ category and 
into the ‘Available for Sale’ or ‘Advances and 
Receivables’, categories as permitted by the  
Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (LKAS 39)  
‘Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and measurement’. Further, in certain 
circumstances, the Bank is permitted to 
reclassify Financial Instruments out of the 
‘Available for Sale’ category and into the 
‘Advances and Receivables’ category. 

Reclassifications are recorded at fair value 
at the date of reclassification, which becomes 
the new amortised cost. For a Financial Asset 
reclassified out of the Available for Sale 
category, any previous gain or loss on that asset 
that has been recognised in equity is amortised 
to profit or loss over the remaining life of 
the investment using the EPR. Any difference 
between the new amortised cost and the 
expected cash flows is also amortised over 
the remaining life of the asset using the EPR. 
If the asset is subsequently determined to be 
impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is 
recycled to the Statement of Profit or Loss.

Reclassification is at the election of 
management, and is determined on an 
instrument by instrument basis.

2.3.5  Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities are 
offset and the net amount reported in the 
Statement of Financial Position if, and only if, 
there is a currently enforceable legal right to 
offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.3.6  Determination of Fair Value

‘Fair Value’ is the price that would be received 
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
(exit price) in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date 
in the principle or, in its absence, the most 
advantageous market to which the Bank has 
access at that date. The fair value of a liability 
reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the Bank measures the fair 
value of an instrument using the quoted price 
in an active market for that instrument (Level 
1 valuation). A market is regarded as active if 
transactions for the asset or liability take place 
with sufficient frequency and volume to provide 
pricing information on an ongoing basis. 

If there is no quoted price in an active market, 
then the Bank uses valuation techniques that 
maximise the use of relevant observable inputs 
and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The 
chosen valuation technique incorporates all of 
the factors that market participants would take 
into account in pricing a transaction. 
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The best evidence of the fair value of a 
financial instrument at initial recognition is 
normally the transaction price – i.e., the fair 
value of the consideration given or received. If 
the Bank determines that the fair value at initial 
recognition differs from the transaction price 
and the fair value is evidenced neither by a 
quoted price in an active market for an identical 
asset or liability (Level 1 valuation) nor based on 
a valuation technique that uses only data from 
observable markets (Level 2 valuation), then the 
financial instrument is initially measured at fair 
value, adjusted to defer the difference between 
the fair value at initial recognition and the 
transaction price. Subsequently, that difference 
is recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss 
on an appropriate basis over the life of the 
instrument, but no later than when the valuation 
is wholly supported by observable market data 
or the transaction is closed out. 

Fair values reflect the credit risk of the 
instrument and include adjustments to take 
into account of the credit risk of the Bank and 
the counterparty where appropriate. Fair value 
estimates obtained from models are adjusted 
for any other factors, such as liquidity risk or 
model uncertainties; to the extent that the Bank 
believes a third-party market participant would 
take them into account in pricing a transaction.

The fair value of a demand deposit is not less 
than the amount payable on demand, discounted 
from the first date on which the amount could 
be required to be paid. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial 
asset takes into account a market participant’s 
ability to generate economic benefits by using 
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling 
it to another market participant that would use 
the asset in its highest and best use. An external 
valuer is involved for valuation of non-financial 
asset (Freehold Land and Buildings). 

The Bank recognises transfers between 
levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end of 
the reporting period during which the change 
has occurred.

An analysis of fair values of Financial 
Instruments and non-financial assets (Freehold 
Land and Buildings) are provided in Note 38 and 
Note 28 respectively.

2.3.7  Other Financial Assets

Other Financial Assets are stated at cost less 
impairment for unrecoverable amount.

2.3.8  Other Non-Financial Assets 

Other Non-Financial Assets are valued net of 
specific provision, where necessary, so as to 
reduce the carrying value of such assets to their 
estimated realisable value.

2.3.9  Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, Plant and Equipment are tangible 
items that are held for use in the production or 
supply of goods or services, for rental to others 
or for administrative purposes and are expected 
to be used during more than one period.

(a)  Valuation 

Freehold Land and Buildings are measured at 
fair value less accumulated depreciation on 
buildings and impairment losses recognised 
at the date of revaluation. Valuations are 
performed with sufficient frequency to ensure 
that the carrying amount of a revalued asset 
does not differ materially from its fair value.

A revaluation surplus is recorded in 
Statement of Other Comprehensive Income 
and credited to the asset revaluation surplus in 
equity. However, to the extent that it reverses 
a revaluation deficit of the same asset previously 
recognised in Statement of Profit or Loss,  
the increase is recognised in Statement of  
Profit or Loss. A revaluation deficit is 
recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss, 
except to the extent that it offsets an existing 
surplus on the same asset recognised in the 
asset revaluation reserve.
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An annual transfer from the asset revaluation 
reserve to retained earnings is made for the 
difference between depreciation based on 
the revalued carrying amount of the asset and 
depreciation based on the asset’s original cost. 
Additionally, accumulated depreciation as at 
the revaluation date is eliminated against the 
gross carrying amount of the asset and the net 
amount is restated to the revalued amount 
of the asset. Upon disposal, any revaluation 
reserve relating to the particular asset being 
sold is transferred to retained earnings.

(b) Cost 

Property, Plant and Equipment other than 
Freehold Land and Building is stated at 
cost, excluding the costs of day to day 
servicing, less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment in value. Such cost 
includes the cost of replacing part of the 
Property, plant and equipment when that cost 
is incurred, if the recognition criteria are met.

(c)  Depreciation

The provision for depreciation is calculated 
by using a straight line method on the cost or 
valuation of all Property, Plant and Equipment 
other than freehold land, in order to write-off 
such amounts over the estimated useful lives by 
equal instalments.

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is 
available for use, i.e., when it is in the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management. 

The asset’s residual values, useful lives and 
methods of depreciation are reviewed, and 
adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year end. 

The useful lives of the assets are estimated 
as follows:

2015 2014

Freehold Buildings 40 years 40 years

Furniture and Fittings 5 years 5 years

Office and Other Equipment 5-6 years 5-6 years

Computer Equipment 5-6 years 5-6 years

Motor Vehicles 4 years 4 years

Computer Servers 5 years 5 years

Improvements to  
   Leasehold Premises

Over the Period of Lease or
Useful Life whichever is Lower

Over the Period of Lease or
Useful Life whichever is Lower
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(d)  Derecognition

An item of Property, Plant and Equipment 
is derecognised upon disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are expected from 
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included 
in the Statement of Profit or Loss in the year 
the asset is derecognised.

2.3.10  Intangible Assets

The Bank’s Intangible Assets include the value 
of computer software. An intangible asset is 
recognised only when its cost can be measured 
reliably and it is probable that the expected 
future economic benefits attributable to it will 
flow to the Bank.  

Amortisation is calculated using the 
straight-line method to write down the cost of 
intangible assets to their residual values over 
their estimated useful lives as follows:

2015 2014

Computer Software 10 years 10 years

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed 
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible Assets 
with finite lives are amortised over the useful 
economic life. The amortisation period and the 
amortisation method for an intangible asset with 
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each 
financial year end. 

Derecognition of Intangible Assets

The carrying amount of an item of intangible 
asset is derecognised on disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are expected from its 
use. The gain or loss arising from derecognition 
of an item of intangible asset is included in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss in the year the item 
is derecognised. 

2.3.11  Leasing

The determination of whether an arrangement 
is a lease, or it contains a lease, is based on 
the substance of the arrangement and requires 
an assessment of whether the fulfilment of 
the arrangement is dependent on the use of a 
specific asset or assets and the arrangement 
conveys a right to use the asset.

(a)  Finance Lease

Agreements which transfer to counterparties 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 
to the ownership of assets, but not necessarily 
legal title, are classified as finance leases.

The Bank has no agreement that is to  
be recognised as finance lease as at the 
reporting date. 

(b)  Operating Lease

All other leases are classified as operating 
leases. When acting as lessor, the Bank includes 
the assets subject to operating leases in 
‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ and accounts 
for them accordingly. Impairment losses are 
recognised to the extent that residual values are 
not fully recoverable and the carrying value of 
the assets is thereby impaired. 

When the Bank is the lessee, leased assets 
are not recognised on the Statement of Financial 
Position. Rentals payable and receivable under 
operating leases are accounted for on a straight-
line basis over the periods of the leases and are 
included in ‘Other Operating Expenses’ and 
‘Other Operating Income’, respectively.

2.3.12  Retirement Benefit Liability

(a)  Defined Benefit Plan – Gratuity

Based on the Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 
LKAS 19 – ‘Employee Benefits’, the Bank has 
adopted the actuarial valuation technique to 
ascertain the retirement benefit liability. An 
Actuarial Valuation has been carried out as at 
31 December 2015 by a qualified actuary using 
projected unit credit method. 

The principal assumptions, which have the 
most significant effects on the valuation, are 
the rate of discount, rate of increase in salary, 
rate of turnover at the selected ages, rate of 
disability, death benefits and expenses.

The defined benefit plan liability is 
discounted using rates equivalent to the market 
yields at the date of Statement of Financial 
Position that are denominated in the currency 
in which benefits will be paid, and that have 
a maturity approximating to the terms of the 
related pension liability. 

The Bank recognises the total actuarial 
gains and losses that arise in calculating the 
Bank’s obligation in respect of the plan in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income during the 
period in which it occurs.

However, according to the Payment of 
Gratuity Act No. 12 of 1983, the liability for 
payment to an employee arises only after the 
completion of 5 years continued service. The 
liability is not externally funded.

Details of the key assumptions used in the 
estimates are contained in Note 33 to the 
Financial Statements.

(b)  Defined Contribution Plan - 
Employees' Provident Fund and 
Employees' Trust Fund

Employees are eligible for Employees' Provident 
Fund Contributions and Employees' Trust 
Fund Contributions in line with the respective 
Statutes and Regulations. The Bank contributes 
12% and 3% of gross salary, respectively.

2.3.13  Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Bank has 
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as 
a result of a past event, and it is probable that 
an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. The expense relating 
to any provision is presented in the Statement 
of Profit or Loss net of any reimbursement.

2.3.14  Taxes

(a)  Current Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current 
and prior years are measured at the amount 
expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws 
used to compute the amount are those that 
are enacted or substantively enacted by the 
Statement of Financial Position date.

The provision for Income Tax is based 
on the elements of income and expenditure 
as reported in the Financial Statements and 
computed in accordance with the provisions 
of the Inland Revenue Act No. 10 of 2006 and 
amendments thereto at the rates specified in 
Note 12 to the Financial Statements.  

(b)  Deferred Tax

Deferred income tax is provided, using the 
liability method, on temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes.
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Deferred income tax liabilities are 
recognised for all taxable temporary differences 
except where the deferred income tax liability 
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit or loss nor 
taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised 
for all deductible temporary differences, carry-
forward of unused tax assets and unused tax 
losses, to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which 
the deductible temporary differences, and 
the carry-forward of unused tax assets and 
unused tax losses can be utilised, except where 
the deferred income tax asset relating to the 
deductible temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit or loss nor taxable 
profit or loss.

The carrying amount of deferred income 
tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date 
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred 
income tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
are measured at the tax rates that are expected 
to apply to the year when the asset is realised 
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates 
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred income tax relating to items 
recognised directly in equity is recognised in 
equity and not in the Statement of Profit or Loss.

(c)  Value Added Tax on Financial Services

The Bank's total value addition is subjected to a 
11% Value Added Tax on Financial Services as 
per Section 25A of the Value Added Tax Act 
No. 14 of 2002 and amendments thereto. 

(d)  Nation Building Tax (NBT) on 
Financial Services

NBT on financial services is calculated in 
accordance with Nation Building Tax (NBT) Act 
No. 09 of 2009 and subsequent amendments 
thereto with effect from 1 January 2014. NBT 

on Financial Services is calculated as 2% of the 
value addition used for the purpose of VAT on 
Financial Services.

2.3.15  Equity Reserves

The reserves recorded in equity (Statement 
of Comprehensive Income) on the Bank’s 
Statement of Financial Position include ‘Available 
for Sale’ reserve which comprises of changes in 
fair value of Financial Investments – Available 
for Sale.

2.3.16  Recognition of Financial Income 
and Expenses

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that the economic benefits will  
flow to the Bank and the revenue can be  
reliably measured. The following specific 
recognition criteria must also be met before 
revenue is recognised. 

(a)  Income

Financing income and expenses are recognised 
in Statement of Profit or Loss using the Effective 
Profit Rate (EPR).

The EPR is the rate that exactly discounts 
the estimated future cash payments and receipts 
through the expected life of the Financial Asset 
or Liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter 
period) to the carrying amount of the Financial 
Asset or Liability. 

When calculating the EPR, the Bank estimates 
future cash flows considering all contractual 
terms of the Financial Instrument, but not 
future credit losses. The calculation of the EPR 
includes all fees and points paid or received that 
are an integral part of the effective profit rate. 
Transaction costs include incremental costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition or 
issue of a Financial Asset or Liability.

(b)  Fee and Commission Income

Fee and Commission Income and expense  
that are integral to the EPR on a Financial Asset 
or Liability are included in the measurement of 
the EPR.

The Bank earns Fee and Commission Income 
from a diverse range of services it provides 
to its customers comprising of fees receivable 
from customers for issuing letters of credit, 

guarantees, account servicing fees, legal fees and 
other services provided by the Bank and are 
recognised as the related services are performed.

(c)  Dividend Income

Dividend Income is recognised when the Bank’s 
right to receive the payment is established.

(d)  Net Trading Income

Results arising from trading activities include all 
gains and losses from changes in fair value and 
related Income or Expense and Dividends for 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities that are 
classified as ‘Held for Trading’.

(e) Short Term Employee Benefits

Short term employee benefit obligations are 
measured on an undiscounted basis and are 
expensed as the related service is provided, 
and are included under Personnel Expenses 
in the Statement of Profit or Loss. A liability 
is recognised for the amounts expected to be 
paid under short term bonus if the Bank has a 
present legal or constructive obligation to pay 
this amount as a result of past service rendered 
by the employee and the obligation can be 
measured reliably.

2.3.17  Financial Guarantees

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank 
gives Financial Guarantees, consisting of letters 
of credit, guarantees and acceptances. Financial 
Guarantees are initially recognised in the 
Financial Statements (within ‘Other Liabilities’) 
at fair value, being the premium received. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s 
Liability under each guarantee is measured at 
the higher of the amount initially recognised 
less cumulative amortisation recognised in 
the Statement of Profit or Loss, and the best 
estimate of expenditure required to settle any 
financial obligation arising as a result of the 
guarantee.

Any increase in the Liability relating to 
Financial Guarantees is recorded in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss in Impairment for 
Financing and Receivables to Other Customers. 
The premium received is recognised in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss in ‘Net Fee and 
Commission Income’ on a straight line basis 
over the life of the guarantee.
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2.3.18  Segment Reporting

A Segment is a distinguishable component of 
the Bank that is engaged in providing services 
(Business Segments) or in providing services 
within a particular economic environment 
(Geographical Segment) which is subject to risks 
and rewards that are different from those of 
other segments.

In accordance with the Sri Lankan 
Accounting Standard SLFRS 8 – ‘Segmental 
Reporting’, segmental information is presented 
in respect of the Bank based on Bank’s 
management and internal reporting structure.

The Bank’s segmental reporting is based on 
the following operating segments.

 z Consumer Banking: Individual customers’ 
deposits and consumer financing including 
overdrafts, equipment financing, lease 
financing, advances against gold, home and 
property financing.

 z Business Banking: Trade financing, overdraft, 
equipment and machinery financing, working 
capital financing, lease financing and other 
credit facilities and deposits of corporate and 
SME customers. 

 z Treasury: Placements of funds with other 
banks and financial institutions, equity 
investments and managing exposures in 
foreign exchange.

Management monitors the operating results 
of its business units separately for the purpose 
of making decisions about resource allocation 
and performance assessment. Segment 
performance is evaluated based on operating 
profit or loss of respective segment.

Details of segment reporting are given in 
Note 3 to the Financial Statements.

2.3.19  Earnings/(Loss) per Share 

Basic Earnings/(Loss) per Share is calculated by 
dividing profit or loss attributable to Ordinary 
Shareholders of the Bank by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
for the period.

Details of Earnings/(Loss) per Share are 
given in Note 13 to the Financial Statements.

2.3.20  Cash Flow Statement

The Cash Flow Statement has been prepared 
using the direct method of preparing cash flows 
in accordance with the Sri Lanka Accounting 
Standard LKAS 7 – ‘Statement of Cash Flows’ 
whereby gross cash receipts and gross cash 
payments of operating activities, finance 
activities and investing activities have been 
recognised. Cash and cash equivalents comprise 
of short term, highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and are subject to an insignificant risk of change 
in value. The cash and cash equivalent include 
cash in hand and balances with banks.

2.3.21  Standards Issued But Not Yet 
Effective 

The following Sri Lanka Accounting Standards 
have been issued by The Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Sri Lanka which are not yet 
effective as at 31 December 2015.

2.3.21.1  SLFRS 14 – ‘Regulatory Deferral 
Accounts’

The objective of this Standard is to specify the 
financial reporting requirements for regulatory 
deferral account balances that arise when an 
entity provides goods or services to customers at 
a price or rate that is subject to rate regulation.

SLFRS 14 will become effective on  
1 January 2016. 

2.3.21.2  SLFRS 15 – ‘Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers’

The objective of this Standard is to establish 
the principles that an entity shall apply to 
report useful information to users of Financial 
Statements about the nature, amount, timing 
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows 
arising from a contract with a customer.

SLFRS 15 will become effective on  
1 January 2018.

2.3.21.3  SLFRS 9 – ‘Financial 
Instruments’

In December 2014, The Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Sri Lanka issued the final version 
of SLFRS 9 Financial Instruments which reflects 
all phases of the financial instruments project 
and replaces LKRS 39 Financial Instruments, 
Recognition and Measurement. The standard 
introduces new requirements for classification 
and measurement of impairment and hedge 
accounting. SLFRS 9 is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, 
with early application permitted. Retrospective 
application is required. But comparative 
information is not compulsory. The adoption of 
SLFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification 
and measurement of the Bank’s Financial 
Assets, but no impact on the classification and 
measurement of the Bank’s Financial Liabilities.  

management believes that the SLFRS 14 
would not be applicable for the Bank, as it is 
an existing SLFRS preparer/does no regulatory 
activities. Pending the completion of the detail 
impact analysis, possible impact from SLFRS 9 
and SLFRS 15 estimable as of the reporting date.  
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3.  SEGmENT INFORmATION 

The following table presents information on total income, profit, total assets and liabilities regarding the Bank’s operating segments:

Consumer 
Banking

2015 
Rs.

Business
Banking 

2015
 Rs.

Total
Banking

2015
Rs.

Treasury

2015
 Rs.

Unallocated/
Elimination

2015 
Rs.

 Total

2015 
Rs. 

Income 

Financing Income 845,732,921 1,919,911,921 2,765,644,843 100,879,687 19,407,010 2,885,931,540

Net Fee and Commission Income 77,909,067 87,562,811 165,471,878 – 3,084,072 168,555,950

Net Trading Gain – – – 390,234,591 – 390,234,591

Other Operating Income – – – 26,011,413 1,647,624 27,659,037

Total Income 923,641,989 2,007,474,732 2,931,116,721 517,125,691 24,138,706 3,472,381,118

Profit/(Loss) after Tax 146,457,361 102,084,373 (89,912,489) 158,629,246

Total Assets 9,572,234,011 23,501,362,184 33,073,596,195 12,413,617,194 2,395,198,691 47,882,412,080

Total Liabilities 35,992,390,395 2,615,610,208 38,608,000,603 2,957,801,907 593,612,970 42,159,415,480

Consumer 
Banking

2014 
Rs.

Business
Banking 

2014
 Rs.

Total
Banking

2014 
Rs.

Treasury

2014
 Rs.

Unallocated/
Elimination

2014 
Rs.

 Total

2014 
Rs. 

Income 

Financing Income 525,399,333 1,621,462,592 2,146,861,925 236,611,349 24,179,450 2,407,652,724

Net Fee and Commission Income 63,515,009 74,292,150 137,807,159 – 677,170 138,484,328

Net Trading Gain – – – 287,377,278 – 287,377,278

Other Operating Income – – – 30,094,214 3,118,900 33,213,115

Total Income 588,914,342 1,695,754,742 2,284,669,084 554,082,842 27,975,520 2,866,727,445

Profit/(Loss) after Tax 126,681,920 94,275,439 (301,226,616) (80,269,256)

Total Assets 5,077,075,661 20,349,866,149 25,426,941,811 6,342,788,995 3,127,857,711 34,897,588,516

Total Liabilities 26,900,168,090 2,324,162,435 29,224,330,525 2,818,282 644,200,777 29,871,349,585

4.  FINANCING INCOmE

2015
 Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Financing Income 2,785,051,853 2,171,041,375

Placement Income 100,879,687 236,611,349

Total 2,885,931,540 2,407,652,724

5.  FINANCING ExPENSES

2015
 Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Financing Expenses on Due to Other Customers 1,381,905,220 1,195,337,351

Expenses on Other Liabilities 23,353,552 2,694,849

Total 1,405,258,772 1,198,032,200
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6.  NET FEE AND COmmISSION INCOmE

2015
 Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Trade Related Services 73,841,310 60,323,038

Other Banking and Financial Services 94,714,641 78,161,290

Total 168,555,950 138,484,328

7.  NET TRADING GAIN

2015
 Rs.

2014
Rs.

Gain on Financial Investments – Held for Trading 59,206 24,045,063

Gain/(Loss) from Derivative Financial Instruments Transactions (21,792,270) (2,915,515)

Foreign Exchange Income 411,967,655 266,247,730

Total 390,234,591 287,377,278

Gain/(Loss) on Financial Investments – Held for Trading includes the results of buying and selling and changes in the fair value of equity securities. 
Foreign Exchange Income includes gains and losses from spot and promissory forward transactions.

8.  NET OTHER OPERATING INCOmE

2015
 Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Income from Dividends 6,963,248 6,818,715

Gain from Disposal of Financial Investments – Available for Sale 19,048,165 23,275,500

Gain on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment 1,647,624 3,118,900

Total 27,659,037 33,213,115

9.  ImPAIRmENT ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

2015
 Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Financing and Receivables to Other Customers (Note 21.4)

  - Individual Impairment Charge/(Reversal) (255,420) 42,013,953

  - Collective Impairment Charge 3,072,775 52,666,073

2,817,355 94,680,026

10.  PERSONNEL ExPENSES

2015
 Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Salaries and Bonus 667,452,576 643,522,924

Defined Contribution Plan – EPF/ETF 83,861,658 78,529,237

Defined Contribution Plan – Gratuity 20,548,878 17,440,650

Other Staff Related Expenses 136,373,635 118,687,088

Total 908,236,747 858,179,900
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11.  OTHER OPERATING ExPENSES

2015 
Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Directors’ Emoluments 11,735,484 14,029,763

Auditors’ Remuneration 

  - Audit Fee and Expenses    2,798,957 2,611,980

  - Non-Audit Service    1,440,000 539,885

Professional and Legal Fees 23,921,656 23,878,628

Establishment Expenses 247,299,589 237,165,886

Advertising and Promotion 40,924,988 29,449,679

Deposit Insurance Premium 33,378,868 24,756,610

Printing and Stationery 35,847,521 29,777,133

System Support Fee 77,402,666 70,883,914

Others 118,654,733 93,682,624

Total 593,404,462 526,776,102

12.  INCOmE TAx ExPENSES

2015 
Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Current Tax:

Current Income Tax 49,962,015 –

Deferred Tax:

Deferred Taxation Charged/(Reversal) (Note 27) 10,124,642 –

Income Tax Expense Reported in the Statement of Profit or Loss 60,086,657 –

12.1  A Reconciliation between Current Tax Expense and the Product of Accounting Profit 

2015 
Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Accounting Profit/(Loss) before Income Tax 218,715,903 (80,269,256)

Statutory Tax Rate 28% 28%

At the Statutory Income Tax Rate 61,240,453 (22,475,392)

Income Exempt from Tax (5,015,049) 18,772,250

Non-Deductible Expenses 587,035,844 221,343,587

Deductible Expenses (556,245,109) (285,022,719)

Adjustment for Tax Losses Arisen/(Utilised) (26,929,481) 67,382,274

Income Tax Expense/(Reversals) 60,086,657 –

The effective income tax rate for 2015 is 27.48% (2014 – 0%).
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13.  EARNINgS/(LOSS) PER ShARE

Basic Earnings/(Loss) per Share is calculated by dividing the net Profit or Loss for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

The following reflects the income and share data used in the Basic Earnings/(Loss) per Share computations:

2015 2014

Amount used as the Numerator:

Net Profit/(Loss) Attributable to Ordinary Shareholders (Rs.) 158,629,246 (80,269,256)

Number of Ordinary Shares used as Denominator:

Weighted Average Number of Ordinary Shares in Issue (Nos.) 1,250,695,267 1,250,695,267

Earnings/(Loss) per Share (Rs.) 0.13 (0.06)

14.  ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUmENTS BY mEASUREmENT BASIS

14.1  Analysis of Financial Instruments by measurement as at 31 December 2015

Financial instruments are measured on an ongoing basis either at fair value or at amortised cost. The summary of significant accounting policies describes 
how the classes of financial instruments are measured and how income and expenses, including fair value gains and losses, are recognised. The following 
table analyses the carrying amounts of the financial instruments by category as defined in LKAS 39 and by headings of the Statement of Financial Position:

Held for  
Trading 

Rs.

Advances and
Receivables

Rs.

Held to 
Maturity 

Rs.

Available
for Sale 

Rs.

 Total
As at 31.12.2015 

Rs.

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents – 5,016,458,817 – – 5,016,458,817

Balance with Central Bank of Sri Lanka – 2,292,887,937 – – 2,292,887,937

Derivative Financial Assets 61,037,310 – – – 61,037,310

Placements with Banks – 3,624,928,993 – – 3,624,928,993

Placements with Licensed Finance Companies – 954,528,071 – – 954,528,071

Financial Investments – Held for Trading 59,474,357 – – – 59,474,357

Financing and Receivables to Other Customers – 33,073,596,195 – – 33,073,596,195

Financial Investments – Available for Sale – – – 432,056,080 432,056,080

Other Financial Assets – 456,289,030 – – 456,289,030

Total Financial Assets 120,511,667 45,418,689,043 – 432,056,080 45,971,256,790

Financial Liabilities

Derivative Financial Liabilities 67,405,185 – – – 67,405,185

Due to Other Customers – 38,608,000,603 – – 38,608,000,603

Other Financial Liabilities – 341,597,683 – – 341,597,683

Total Financial Liabilities 67,405,185 38,949,598,286 – – 39,017,003,471
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14.2  Analysis of Financial Instruments by measurement as at 31 December 2014

Held for   
Trading 

Rs.

Advances and
Receivables

Rs.

Held to 
Maturity 

Rs.

Available 
for Sale 

Rs.

 Total
As at 31.12.2014 

Rs.

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents – 1,627,383,695 – – 1,627,383,695

Balance with Central Bank of Sri Lanka – 1,036,425,974 – – 1,036,425,974

Derivative Financial Assets 23,269,364 – – – 23,269,364

Placements with Banks – 3,306,210,009 – – 3,306,210,009

Placements with Licensed Finance Companies – 1,172,213,115 – – 1,172,213,115

Financial Investments – Held for Trading 48,998,818 – – – 48,998,818

Financing and Receivables to Other Customers – 25,426,941,810 – – 25,426,941,810

Financial Investments – Available for Sale – – – 427,582,574 427,582,574

Other Financial Assets – 295,502,221 – – 295,502,221

Total Financial Assets 72,268,182 32,864,676,824 – 427,582,574 33,364,527,580

Financial Liabilities

Derivative Financial Liabilities 7,844,969 – – – 7,844,969

Due to Other Customers – 29,224,330,525 – – 29,224,330,525

Other Financial Liabilities – 556,030,302 – – 556,030,302

Total Financial Liabilities 7,844,969 29,780,360,827 – – 29,788,205,796

15.  CASh AND CASh EqUIVALENTS

2015
 Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Cash in Hand  1,141,098,971  814,868,193 

Balances with Banks  3,875,359,846  812,515,502 

Total  5,016,458,817  1,627,383,695 

16.  BALANCE WITH CENTRAL BANK OF SRI LANKA

2015
 Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Statutory Deposit with the Central Bank of Sri Lanka  2,292,887,937  1,036,425,974 

Total  2,292,887,937  1,036,425,974 

As required by the Provisions of Section 93 of the monetary Law Act, a cash balance is required to be maintained with Central Bank of Sri Lanka. As 
at 31 December 2015, the minimum cash reserve requirement was 6% (2014 – 6%) of rupee liabilities of the Domestic Banking Unit. There is no reserve 
requirement for foreign currency deposit liabilities of the Domestic Banking Unit. 

The Statutory Deposit with Central Bank of Sri Lanka is not available for financing the Bank’s day to day operations and therefore it is not considered 
as part of Cash and Cash Equivalents.

17.  DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS

2015
 Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Spot and Promissory Forward Foreign Exchange Transactions  61,037,310  23,269,364 

Total  61,037,310  23,269,364 
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18.  PLACEmENTS WITH BANKS

2015
 Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Savings Deposits  4,437,909  4,408,758 

Term Deposits  3,620,491,084  3,301,801,250 

Total  3,624,928,993  3,306,210,009 

19.  PLACEmENTS WITH LICENSED FINANCE COmPANIES

2015
 Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Saving Deposits  1,123,961  60,636,402 

Term Deposits  953,404,110  1,111,576,713 

Total  954,528,071  1,172,213,115 

20.  FINANCIAL INVESTmENTS – hELD FOR TRADINg

2015
 Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Investments in Equity Securities – Quoted (Note 20.1)  59,474,357  48,998,818 

 59,474,357  48,998,818 

20.1  Investments in Equity Securities – quoted

No. of Ordinary Shares Carrying Value

2015 2014 2015 
Rs.

2014
 Rs.

Access Engineering PLC  406,215  –    9,383,567  –   

Amãna Takaful  PLC  3,718,072  1,600,000  5,577,108  2,880,000 

Bairaha Farms PLC  –    11,563  –    1,445,375 

C.W. mackie PLC  253,922  189,673  14,702,084  11,190,707 

Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC  –    282,282  –    11,573,562 

Chevron Lubricants Lanka PLC  16,000  –    5,504,000  –   

Dankotuwa Porcelain PLC  225,000  –    1,912,500  –   

Dipped Products PLC  30,000  –    3,300,000  –   

Expolanka Holdings PLC  395,951  –    3,207,203  –   

Renuka Agri Foods PLC  25,000  –    102,500  –   

Panasian Power PLC  100,000  2,165,029  350,000  6,928,093 

Textured Jersey Lanka PLC  –    547,672  –    11,282,043 

Tokyo Cement Company (Lanka) PLC  25,039  –    1,226,911  –   

Tokyo Cement Company (Lanka) PLC – Non-Voting  266,245  –    10,516,678  –   

United motors Lanka PLC  40,172  35,705  3,691,807  3,699,038 

Total Carrying Value  59,474,357  48,998,818 
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21.  FINANCINg AND RECEIVABLES TO OThER CUSTOmERS

2015
 Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Summary

Gross Financing and Receivables to Other Customers  33,287,572,358  25,644,604,039 

Less: Individual Impairment  (47,189,934)  (53,948,775)

Less: Collective Impairment  (166,786,229)  (163,713,454)

Total  33,073,596,195  25,426,941,810 

21.1  By Product

2015
 Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Overdraft  701,251,591  40,204,034 

Trade Finance  2,401,645,476  1,685,083,681 

Lease Receivables  6,122,478,332  1,889,322,995 

Staff Facilities  401,481,712  239,782,039 

Term Financing:

 - Short Term  7,832,809,071  7,773,417,439 

 - Long Term  15,105,539,763  11,958,956,586 

Gold Facilities  230,435,099  52,318,585 

Others  491,931,315  2,005,518,680 

 33,287,572,358  25,644,604,039 

Less: Individual Impairment  (47,189,934)  (53,948,775)

Less: Collective Impairment  (166,786,229)  (163,713,454)

Total  33,073,596,195  25,426,941,810 

21.2  By Currency

2015
 Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Sri Lankan Rupees 29,572,347,798 21,570,053,605

United States Dollars 3,688,985,331 4,074,550,434

Others 26,239,230 –

33,287,572,358 25,644,604,039

Less: Individual Impairment (47,189,934) (53,948,775)

Less: Collective Impairment (166,786,229) (163,713,454)

Total 33,073,596,195 25,426,941,810
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21.3  By Industry

2015
Rs.

2014
 Rs.

Agriculture and Fishing  5,117,272,093  4,715,292,695 

Manufacturing  5,179,482,411  6,561,865,352 

Tourism  572,752,682  70,230,812 

Transport  1,543,985,881  1,786,275,436 

Construction  4,400,963,523  1,967,479,197 

Traders  6,780,077,639  4,018,138,959 

New Economy  96,499,604  104,038,523 

Financial and Business Services  390,683,375  238,540,358 

Infrastructure  593,702,229  1,044,027,660 

Services  2,003,147,254  1,002,820,502 

Consumers  6,579,896,600  1,808,848,411 

Others  29,109,066  2,327,046,134 

 33,287,572,358  25,644,604,039 

Less: Individual Impairment  (47,189,934)  (53,948,775)

Less: Collective Impairment  (166,786,229)  (163,713,454)

Total  33,073,596,195  25,426,941,810 

21.4  Impairment Allowance for Financing and Receivables to Other Customers

A reconciliation of the allowance for impairment losses for financing and receivables to customers, is as follows:

Individual
Impairment

Rs.

Collective
Impairment

Rs.

Total 
Impairment

Rs.

As at 1 January 2014  12,664,005  111,047,380  123,711,385 

Charge/(Write Back) for the Year  42,013,953  52,666,073  94,680,026 

Amounts Written Off  (729,182)  –    (729,182)

As at 31 December 2014  53,948,775  163,713,454  217,662,229 

Charge/(Write Back) for the Year  (255,420)  3,072,775  2,817,355 

Amounts Written Off  (6,503,421)  –    (6,503,421)

As at 31 December 2015  47,189,934  166,786,229  213,976,163 

22.  FINANCIAL INVESTmENTS – AVAILABLE FOR SALE

2015
Rs.

2014
 Rs.

Investments in Securities

Equity - Quoted (Note 22.1)  429,063,080  424,589,574 

 - Unquoted (Note 22.2)  2,993,000  2,993,000 

 432,056,080  427,582,574 
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22.1  Investments in Equity – quoted

No. of Ordinary Shares Carrying Value

2015 2014 2015
 Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Access Engineering PLC  900,000  1,110,000  20,790,000  35,631,000 

ACL Cables PLC –  93,617 –  7,152,339 

Amãna Takaful PLC  225,076,500  150,051,000  337,614,750  270,091,800 

Bairaha Farms PLC –  204,199 –  25,524,875 

C.W. mackie PLC  634,658  634,658  36,746,698  37,444,822 

Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC –  657,218 –  26,945,938 

Chevron Lubricants Lanka PLC  50,000  3,000  17,200,000  1,198,800 

Dialog Axiata PLC  750,000 –  8,025,000 –

Haycarb PLC  1,000 –  164,900 –

Kelani Tyres PLC  2,000 –  155,000 –

Textured Jersey Lanka PLC –  1,000,000 –  20,600,000 

Lanka IOC PLC  57,258 –  2,124,272 –

Vallibel Power Erathna PLC  701,400 –  6,242,460 –

Total  429,063,080  424,589,574 

22.2  Investments in Equity – Unquoted

No. of Ordinary Shares Carrying Value

2015 2014 2015
 Rs.

2014
Rs.

LankaClear (Private) Limited  50,000  50,000  2,000,000  2,000,000 

Credit Information Bureau of Sri Lanka  300  300  993,000  993,000 

Total Carrying Value  2,993,000  2,993,000 

All unquoted available for sale investments are recorded at cost and the Bank intends to hold them for the long term.

23.  OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

2015
 Rs.

2014
Rs.

Deposits, Prepayments and Advances  34,769,920  10,180,090 

Pre-paid Staff Costs  119,976,288  74,867,178 

Outward Clearing Receivable  140,539,847  134,789,336 

Other Receivables  161,002,975  75,665,617 

Total  456,289,030  295,502,221 

24.  OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

2015 
Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Stationery Stock  9,591,712  2,590,480 

Prepayments and Advances  143,284,319  107,467,021 

Tax Receivables  104,340,867  196,132,458 

Total  257,216,898  306,189,958 
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25.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EqUIPmENT

Freehold Land 
and Building

Rs.

Improvements 
to Leasehold 

Premises
Rs.

Furniture and 
Fittings

Rs.

Office 
Equipment

Rs.

Computer 
Equipment

Rs.

Motor Vehicles

Rs.

Computer 
Servers

Rs.

Total

Rs.

Cost or Valuation:

As at 1 January 2014  349,598,673  130,605,295  92,945,365  280,614,735  150,167,944  30,723,923  83,164,320  1,117,820,255 

Additions  9,372,627  25,277,659  18,462,807  16,599,142  20,200,712  150,264  3,847,160  93,910,370 

Disposals  –    (182,988)  (6,995)  (428,808) (1,045,842)  (13,898,141)  –    (15,562,775)

As at 31 December 2014  358,971,300  155,699,965  111,401,177  296,785,069  169,322,814  16,976,047  87,011,479 1,196,167,850 

Additions  4,384,600  28,021,828  17,667,791  19,620,982  13,260,522  8,278,520  3,821,862  95,056,105 

Revaluation (Note 25.5)  533,340,869  –     –        –        –        –        –       533,340,869 

Transfer*  (4,696,769)   –        –        –        –        –        –       (4,696,769)

Disposals  –    –    –    –    –    (2,423,021)  –    (2,423,021)

As at 31 December 2015  892,000,000  183,721,794  129,068,967  316,406,051  182,583,336  22,831,545  90,833,341 1,817,445,034 

Depreciation

As at 1 January 2014  1,729,456  52,371,477  20,538,418  96,620,585  43,041,740  14,749,201  35,808,805  264,859,681 

Disposals  –    (37,738)  (3,103)  (93,048)  (183,669)  (13,869,335)  –    (14,186,893)

Depreciation Charge for the Year  1,455,859  27,228,483  20,291,015  50,847,157  29,465,030  6,279,937  15,098,113  150,665,594 

As at 31 December 2014  3,185,314  79,562,221  40,826,330  147,374,694  72,323,101  7,159,803  50,906,918  401,338,382 

Disposals  –   –  –    –    –    (1,747,222)  –    (1,747,222)

Depreciation Charge for the Year  1,511,454  24,366,482  21,807,381  54,042,592  31,876,010  1,369,703  15,844,571  150,818,192 

Transfer*  (4,696,769)   –        –        –        –        –        –       (4,696,769)

As at 31 December 2015  –    103,928,704  62,633,710  201,417,286  104,199,111  6,782,283  66,751,489  545,712,582 

Net Book Value

As at 31 December 2015 892,000,000 79,793,090 66,435,257 114,988,764 78,384,225 16,049,262 24,081,853 1,271,732,452

As at 31 December 2014 355,785,986 76,137,744 70,574,847 149,410,374 96,999,713 9,816,244 36,104,561 794,829,469

*This transfer relates to the accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date that was eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the revalued asset.

25.1  During the year, the Bank acquired Property, Plant and Equipment to the aggregate value of  Rs. 95,056,105/- (2014 – Rs. 93,910,370/-). Cash 
payments amounting to Rs. 79,158,094/- (2014 – Rs. 92,991,840/-) were made during the year for purchase of Property Plant and Equipment.

25.2  Property, Plant and Equipment includes fully depreciated assets with a gross carrying amount of Rs. 84,451,467/- (2014 – Rs. 57,727,631/-) which are 
still in use at the date of the Statement of Financial Position.

25.3   There were no Property, Plant and Equipment identified as temporarily idle as at the date of the Statement of Financial Position.

25.4  No assets have been pledged by the Bank.

25.5  The Bank measures land and buildings at revalued amounts with gains in fair value being recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income 
and losses in the Statement of Profit or Loss. An independent valuation specialist was engaged to assess the fair value as at 31 December 2015 for the 
revalued land and buildings. Land and buildings were valued by reference to market-based evidence, using comparable prices adjusted for specific market 
factors such as nature, location and condition of the property.

The key assumptions used to determine the fair value of the revalued land and buildings and the sensitivity analyses are further discussed below.
The revalued land and buildings consist of office properties in Colombo 3, Sri Lanka. management determined that these constitute one class of asset 

under SLFRS 13, based on the nature, characteristics and risks of the property.
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Valuation methods, assumptions and measurement hierarchy
Fair value of the land and building is determined at Rs. 892,000,000/- as at 31 December 2015 that falls under Level 3 (Significant unobservable inputs) 
of the fair value measurement hierarchy. The fair value was determined using the market comparable method. This means that valuations performed by 
the valuer are based on market prices, significantly adjusted for differences in the nature, location or condition of the specific property. As at the date of 
revaluation on 31 December 2015, the property’s fair values are based on valuations performed by mr. P.P.T. mohideen (Chartered Valuation Surveyor 
and Fellow of the Institute of Valuers of Sri Lanka), an accredited independent valuer and having recent experience in the location and category of the 
Land and Building during the year.

Key valuation assumptions used are:
Significant unobservable valuation input:
Land : Price per Perch Rs. 11,500,000/-
Building : Price per Square Foot Rs. 3,000/- – Rs. 3,600/-

Significant increases/(decreases) in estimated price per perch and square feet in isolation would result in a significantly higher/(lower) fair value.

Reconciliation of fair value of revalued land and buildings
Rs.

As at 1 January 2014 and 31 December 2014* –

Level 3 revaluation recognised due to change in accounting policy to revaluation model 533,340,869

As at 31 December 2015 533,340,869

* The Bank changed the accounting policy with respect to measurement of Freehold Land and Buildings during 2015, therefore the fair value of the Land and Buildings was not measured at 1 January 2014 and  
31 December 2014.

If Freehold Land and Buildings were measured using the cost model, the carrying amounts would be as follows:

Freehold Land
Rs.

Building
Rs.

2015
Rs.

Cost  300,299,702  63,056,198  363,355,900 

Accumulated Depreciation  –    (4,760,333)  (4,760,333)

Net Carrying Amount  300,299,702  58,295,865  358,595,566 

25.6  The details of the Land and Building owned by the Bank are as follows:

Extent
2015

Valuation
2014
Cost

Land 
(Perches)

Building 
(Sq.ft.)

Land 
Rs.

Building 
Rs.

Land 
Rs.

Building 
Rs.

486, Galle Road, Colombo 03 70.80 22,718  813,850,000  78,150,000  300,299,702  58,671,598 
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26.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Computer 
Software 

Rs.

Total 

Rs.

Cost:

As at 1 January 2015 377,162,051 377,162,051

Additions 6,768,936 6,768,936

Disposal – –

As at 31 December 2015 383,930,986 383,930,986

Amortisation:

As at 1 January 2015 106,546,574 106,546,574

Amortisation Charge for the Year 40,881,465 40,881,465

Disposal – –

As at 31 December 2015 147,428,039 147,428,039

Net Book Value:

As at 31 December 2015 236,502,947 236,502,947

As at 31 December 2014 270,615,476 270,615,476

27.  DEFERRED TAx

Statement of Financial Position Statement of Profit or Loss Statement of Comprehensive Income

2015
Rs.

2014 
Rs.

2015
Rs.

2014 
Rs.

2015
Rs.

2014 
Rs.

Deferred Tax Liability

Capital Allowances for Tax Purposes  325,209,855  200,323,378  (119,345,117)  (66,452,296)  (5,541,360)  –   

 325,209,854  200,323,378 

Deferred Tax Assets 

Defined Benefit Plans  (20,739,790)  (16,296,722)  4,500,106  1,606,054  (57,039)  2,070,693 

Unused Tax Losses  (450,173,058)  (345,452,689)  104,720,369  64,846,242  –    –   

 (470,912,848)  (361,749,411)

Deferred Income Tax Income/(Expense) (10,124,642)  –    (5,598,398)  2,070,693 

Net Deferred Tax Liability/(Asset)  (145,702,993)  (161,426,033)

Deferred tax assets have been recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax 
losses can be utilised.

28.  DUE TO BANKS

2015 
Rs.

2014
 Rs.

Balances with Foreign Banks  2,955,277,882  –   

Total  2,955,277,882  –   
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29.  DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

2015 
Rs.

2014
 Rs.

Spot and Promissory Forward Foreign Exchange Transactions  67,405,185  7,844,969 

Total  67,405,185  7,844,969 

30.  DUE TO OTHER CUSTOmERS

2015 
Rs.

2014
 Rs.

30.1  Total Amount Due to Other Customers  38,608,000,603  29,224,330,525 

30.2  By Product

2015 
Rs.

2014
 Rs.

Demand Deposits  3,136,802,776  3,004,738,928 

Savings Deposits  16,075,778,348  12,515,089,351 

Time Deposits  19,395,419,478  13,704,502,248 

Total  38,608,000,603  29,224,330,525 

30.3  By Currency

2015 
Rs.

2014
 Rs.

Sri Lankan Rupees  34,274,108,052  27,638,372,616 

United States Dollars  3,639,797,855  1,502,157,368 

Other  694,094,695  83,800,543 

Total  38,608,000,603  29,224,330,525 

31.  OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

2015 
Rs.

2014
 Rs.

Accrued Expenses  145,693,105  104,802,790 

Balances Held in Margin  58,132,143  54,811,512 

Cheques Pending Realisation  106,049,240  350,920,913 

Other Liabilities  26,946,689  41,103,837 

Sundry Creditors  4,776,506  4,391,251 

Total  341,597,683  556,030,302 

32.  OTHER NON-FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

2015 
Rs.

2014
 Rs.

Statutory Payable  113,063,448  24,941,209 

Total  113,063,448  24,941,209 
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33.  RETIREmENT BENEFIT LIABILITY – gRATUITY

Note
2015 

Rs.
2014
 Rs.

As at 1 January  58,202,580  45,071,342 

Expenses recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss 33.1  20,548,878  17,440,650 

Actuarial Loss 33.1  (203,709)  7,395,333 

Benefits Paid  (4,477,070)  (11,704,745)

As at 31 December  74,070,679  58,202,580 

33.1  Expenses Recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss

2015 
Rs.

2014
 Rs.

Current Service Cost  15,601,659  12,482,803 

Finance Cost  4,947,219  4,957,847 

Components Recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss  20,548,878  17,440,650 

Remeasurement of Net Defined Benefit Obligations

Recognition of Actuarial Loss  (203,709)  7,395,333 

Components Recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income  (203,709)  7,395,333 

As at 31 December 2015, the gratuity liability of the Bank was actuarially valued under Projected Unit Credit method by messrs Piyal S. Goonetilleke 
& Associates, a firm of professional actuaries.

Appropriate and compatible assumptions were used in determining the cost of retirement benefits. The principal assumptions used are as 
follows: 

2015 2014

Discount Rate (%) 10.19 8.5

Salary Increment Rate (%) 9.0 8.0

Age of Retirement                               55 55

Mortality                               GA 1983
 mortality Table

GA 1983 
Mortality Table

33.2  Sensitivity of Assumptions Employed in Actuarial Valuation 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the key assumptions employed with all other variables held constant in 
the employment benefit liability measurement.

The sensitivity of the Statement of Profit or Loss and Statement of Financial Position is the effect of the assumed changes in discount rate and salary 
increment rate on the profit or loss and employment benefit obligation for the year.

Increase/(Decrease) 
in Discount Rate

Increase/(Decrease) 
in Salary Increment

Sensitivity Effect on Comprehensive Income 
 Increase/(Reduction) in Results for the Year 

(Rs. million)

Sensitivity Effect on Employment Benefit Obligation 
 Increase/(Decrease) in the Liability

(Rs. million)

2015 2014 2015 2014

1%  – 5.75 4.92 (5.75) (4.92)

(1%)  – (6.70) (5.76) 6.70 5.76 

– 1% (6.95) (6.10) 6.95 6.10 

– (1%) 7.96 5.31 (7.96) (5.31)
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33.3  Distribution of Defined Benefit Obligation Over Future Lifetime

The following table demonstrates distribution of the future working lifetime of the Defined Benefit Obligation as at the reporting date:

2015
Rs.

2014
Rs.

Less than 1 Year  10,901,251  3,052,138 

Between 1 and 2 Years  28,423,336  3,605,678 

Between 2 and 5 Years  21,973,155  19,103,592 

Beyond 5 Years  67,809,218  37,318,654 

Total Expected Payments  129,106,960  63,080,062 

34.  STATED CAPITAL

34.1  Summary

2015 2014

Number Rs. Number Rs.

Fully-Paid Ordinary Shares (Note 34.2)  1,250,695,267  5,866,808,141  1,250,695,267  5,866,808,141 

Total  1,250,695,267  5,866,808,141  1,250,695,267  5,866,808,141 

34.2  Fully-Paid Ordinary Shares 

2015 2014

Number Rs. Number Rs.

Balance as at 1 January  1,250,695,267  5,866,808,141  1,014,982,867  4,216,821,341 

Issue of Shares for Cash  –    –    235,712,400  1,649,986,800 

Balance as at 31 December  1,250,695,267  5,866,808,141  1,250,695,267  5,866,808,141 

35. STATUTORY RESERVE FUND

The Statutory Reserve Fund is maintained as required by Section 20 (1) of the Banking Act No. 30 of 1988. A sum equivalent to 5% of the profit for 
the year should be transferred to the reserve until the reserve is equal to 50% of the paid-up capital of the Bank and thereafter a sum equivalent to 2% 
of such profits until the amount of reserve is equal to the paid-up capital of the Bank. This Reserve Fund will be used only for the purpose specified in 
Section 20 (2) of the Banking Act No. 30 of 1988.

35.1  Statutory Reserve Fund

2015
Rs.

2014
Rs.

Balance as at 1 January 7,299,733 7,299,733

Transfers during the Year 7,931,462 –

Balance as at 31 December 15,231,195 7,299,733
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36. OThER RESERVES

 Investment Fund

Rs.

 Revenue Reserve 

Rs.

 Available for Sale
Reserve 

Rs.

 Total 

Rs.

As at 1 January 2014 39,416,784 (216,926,328) (104,580,417) (282,089,961)

Transferred during the Year (39,416,784) – – (39,416,784)

Net Gain/(Loss) on Financial Investments – Available for Sale – – 49,799,448 49,799,448

As at 31 December 2014 – (216,926,328) (54,780,969) (271,707,297)

Net Gain/(Loss) on Financial Investments – Available for Sale – – 10,182,244 10,182,244

As at 31 December 2015 – (216,926,328) (44,598,725) (261,525,053)

36.1  Investment Fund

In line with the Budget Proposals 2011, the Bank made transfers to the Investment Fund Account to build up a permanent fund within the Bank. 
Subsequently, the operation of the Investment Fund Account ceased with effect from 1 October 2014. As such, the Bank transferred the balances as at 
30 September 2014 from the Investment Fund Account to retained earnings.

36.2  Revenue Reserve

Revenue Reserve includes expenses incurred on issuance of Ordinary Shares.

36.3 Available for Sale Reserve

The Available for Sale Reserve comprises of the cumulative changes in fair value of Financial Investment – Available for Sale, until such investments are  
derecognised or impaired.

37.  REVALUATION RESERVE

2015
Rs.

As at 1 January 2015  –   

Revaluation of Freehold Land and Building (Note 25.5)  533,340,869 

Deferred Tax effect on revaluation surplus  (5,541,360)

As at 31 December 2015  527,799,509 

38.  FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Financial instruments comprise financial assets, financial liabilities, derivatives, financial instruments and off-balance sheet instruments. ‘Fair value’ is 
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (exit price) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Bank has access at that date. The fair value of a liability 
reflects its non-performance risk. The information presented herein represents the determination of fair values as at the reporting date.

38.1  Financial Instruments Carried at Fair Value

The following is a description of how fair values are determined for financial instruments that are recorded at fair value as at the reporting date. These 
incorporate the Bank’s estimate of assumptions that a market participant would make when valuing the instruments.

Derivative Financial Assets and Liabilities:
Derivative products are promissory forward foreign exchange transactions, valued using a valuation technique with market-observable inputs. The most 
frequently applied valuation techniques include promissory forward foreign exchange spot and Net Present Value.

Financial Investments – held for Trading, Financial Investments – Available for Sale:
The estimated fair values are based on quoted and observable market prices.
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Fair Value hierarchy
SLFRS 13 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are observable or unobservable. 
Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources and unobservable inputs reflect the Bank’s market assumptions. The fair value 
hierarchy is as follows:

 z Level 1:  Quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for the identical assets or liabilities. This level includes listed equity securities and debt instruments.

 z Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). 

 z Level 3:  Inputs for asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). This level includes equity instruments and 
debt instruments with significant unobservable components.

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy:

Level 1
Rs. 

Level 2
Rs.

Level 3
Rs.

Total
Rs.

31 December 2015

Financial Assets

Derivative Financial Assets  –    61,037,310  –    61,037,310 

Financial Investments – Held for Trading  59,474,357  –    –    59,474,357 

Financial Investments – Available for Sale  429,063,080  –    –    429,063,080 

 488,537,437  61,037,310  –    549,574,747 

Financial Liabilities

Derivative Financial Liabilities  –    67,405,185  –    67,405,185 

 –    67,405,185  –    67,405,185 

31 December 2014

Financial Assets

Derivative Financial Assets  –    23,269,364  –    23,269,364 

Financial Investments – Held for Trading  48,998,818  –    –    48,998,818 

Financial Investments – Available for Sale  424,589,574  –    –    424,589,574 

 473,588,392  23,269,364  –    496,857,756 

Financial Liabilities

Derivative Financial Liabilities  –    7,844,969  –    7,844,969 

 –    7,844,969  –    7,844,969 
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38.2  Financial Instruments Not Carried at Fair Value

Set out below is a comparison, by class, of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Bank’s financial instruments that are not carried at fair value in the 
Financial Statements. This table does not include the fair values of Non-Financial Assets and Non-Financial Liabilities:

2015 2014

Carrying Value
Rs.

Fair Value
Rs.

Carrying Value
Rs.

Fair Value
Rs.

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents  5,016,458,817  5,016,458,817  1,627,383,695  1,627,383,695 

Balance with Central Bank of Sri Lanka  2,292,887,937  2,292,887,937  1,036,425,974  1,036,425,974 

Placements with Banks  3,624,928,993  3,624,928,993  3,306,210,009  3,306,210,009 

Placements with Licensed Finance Companies  954,528,071  954,528,071  1,172,213,115  1,172,213,115 

Financing and Receivables to Other Customers  33,073,596,195  29,067,929,001  25,426,941,810  24,355,658,926 

Other Financial Assets  456,289,030  456,289,030  295,502,221  295,502,221 

 45,418,689,043  41,413,021,849  32,864,676,824  31,793,393,940 

Financial Liabilities

Due to Other Customers  38,608,000,603  38,608,000,603  29,224,330,525  29,224,330,525 

Other Financial Liabilities  341,597,683  341,597,683  556,030,302  556,030,302 

 38,949,598,286  38,949,598,286  29,780,360,827  29,780,360,827 

The following describes the methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values for those financial instruments which are not already recorded at 
fair value in the Financial Statements:

Balances with Banks, Balances with Licensed Finance Companies, Other Financial Assets and Other Financial Liabilities

For the above, which includes only instruments with maturities of less than 12 months, the carrying value is a reasonable estimate of fair values.

Financing and Receivables to Other Customers

The fair value of the above are estimated by discounting the estimated future cash flows using the prevailing market rates of financing as of the reporting 
date with similar credit risks and maturities (Level 3).

Due to Other Customers

The fair values of the above are deemed to approximate their carrying amounts as rate of returns are determined at the end of their holding periods 
based on the profit generated from the assets invested.

39.  RISK mANAGEmENT

39.1  Introduction

Risk is inherent in the Bank’s activities but is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and 
other controls. This process of risk management is critical to the Bank’s continuing profitability and each individual within the Bank is accountable for the 
risk exposures relating to his or her responsibilities. The Bank is mainly exposed to –

1.  Credit Risk
2.  Liquidity Risk
3.  Market Risk

39.2  Risk management Structure

The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall risk management approach and for approving the risk management strategies and principles. Risk 
management Department (RmD) oversees the risks faced by the Bank in its internal operations and from external environment.
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The Board Integrated Risk Management Committee (BIRMC)

The Board Integrated Risk management Committee (BIRmC), is a Sub-Committee of the Board, meets quarterly or more regularly as required to review and 
assess the Bank’s overall risk and to focus on policy recommendations and strategies in an integrated manner. The BIRmC is commissioned and officiated by 
the Board of Directors. BIRMC functions as an overall supervisory body comprising of 3 Directors. 

Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO)

The Bank’s Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) regularly reviews and monitors the maintenance of liquidity position of the Bank and the 
concentration of large deposits in order to avoid undue dependence on individual deposits. The Bank monitors liquidity by way of various ratios as 
required by the Board approved Asset Liability management Policy.

Risk Measurement and Reporting Systems

The Bank’s risks are measured using a method which reflects the expected loss likely to arise in normal circumstances. These are an estimate of the 
ultimate actual loss based on statistical models.

monitoring and controlling risks, is primarily performed, based on limits established by the Bank. These limits reflect the business strategy and market 
environment of the Bank as well as the level of risk that the Bank is willing to accept, with additional emphasis on selected industries.

Information compiled from all businesses is examined and processed in order to analyse, control and identify risks on a timely basis. This information 
is presented and explained to the Board of Directors, the BIRmC and the head of each business unit.

The report includes aggregate credit exposure, Value at Risk (VaR), liquidity ratios and risk profile changes.

Risk Concentration

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities or have similar economic features that would cause their 
ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative 
sensitivity of the Bank’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry.

39.3  Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a loss because its customers or counterparties fail to discharge their contractual obligations. The Bank 
manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is willing to accept for individual counterparties and industry concentrations 
and by monitoring exposures in relation to such limits.

(a)  Impairment Assessment  

The approach used for the assessment of impairment is elaborated under Accounting Policies (Note 2.3.3).

(b)  Credit-Related Commitment Risk

The risk arising from transactions relating to contingent liabilities (Letters of Credit, Letters of Guarantees and undrawn amount under approved 
authorisations) is included under this caption. Notwithstanding the non-funded nature of these products, the Bank is prone to a resultant financial loss 
due to the nature of such products, i.e., claim on guarantees, negotiation of LCs and utilisation of facilities.

(c)  Collateral and Other Credit Enhancement

An  assessment of the credit risk of an individual at the time of issuing or enhancing a facility shall determine the amount and type of collateral that is 
required.

In the event of default, the Bank may, as a remedial measure, exercise its charge of the collateral obtained at the time of approval of credit facilities. 
Hence, the credit risk is eliminated to the extent of the net realisable value of such collateral, which has a weightage depending on the nature of the 
collateral. Management monitors the market value of such collateral and requests additional collateral if required when reviewing the adequacy of the 
allowance for impairment losses. 
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(d)  Credit Quality by Class of Financial Assets (Gross)

The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Bank using internal credit ratings. The table below shows the credit quality by class of asset for all 
financial assets exposed to credit risk, based on the Bank’s internal credit rating system. The amounts presented are gross of impairment allowances.

Neither Past due Nor Impaired

Past due but 
not Impaired* 

Rs.

Individually
Impaired 

Rs.

Total 

Rs.

Financial Assets as at   
   31 December 2015

High 
Grade 

Rs.

Standard
 Grade 

Rs.

Sub-Standard
 Grade

 Rs.

Un-Rated 

Rs.

Cash and Cash Equivalents 5,016,458,817 – – – – – 5,016,458,817

Balance with Central Bank of  
   Sri Lanka 2,292,887,937 – – – – – 2,292,887,937

Derivative Financial Assets 60,779,845 257,465 – – – – 61,037,310

Placements with Banks 3,624,928,993 – – – – – 3,624,928,993

Placements with Licensed  
   Finance Companies 954,528,071 – – – – – 954,528,071

Financial Investments –  
   Held for Trading 21,127,155 38,347,202 – – – – 59,474,357

Financing and Receivables to  
   Other Customers 10,242,611,789 21,314,456,512 883,670,951 547,780,623 159,926,960 139,125,522 33,287,572,358

Financial Investments –  
   Available for Sale 30,939,272 398,123,808 – 2,993,000 – – 432,056,080

Other Financial Assets 144,200,000 – – 312,089,030 – – 456,289,030

Total 22,388,461,879 21,751,184,988 883,670,951 862,862,653 159,926,960 139,125,522 46,185,232,952

Neither Past due Nor Impaired

Past due but 
not Impaired* 

Rs.

Individually
Impaired 

Rs.

Total 

Rs.

Financial Assets as at   
   31 December 2014

High 
Grade 

Rs.

Standard
 Grade 

Rs.

Sub-Standard
 Grade

 Rs.

Un-Rated 

Rs.

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,627,383,695 – – – – – 1,627,383,695

Balance with Central Bank of  
   Sri Lanka 1,036,425,974 – – – – – 1,036,425,974

Derivative Financial Assets 23,269,364 – – – – – 23,269,364

Placements with Banks 3,306,210,009 – – – – – 3,306,210,009

Placements with Licensed  
   Finance Companies 1,172,213,115 – – – – – 1,172,213,115

Financial Investments –  
   Held for Trading 1,445,375 47,553,443 – – – – 48,998,818

Financing and Receivables to  
   Other Customers 10,580,537,095 13,494,421,352 1,134,482,531 52,318,585 204,159,452 178,685,024 25,644,604,039

Financial Investments –  
    Available for Sale 25,524,875 399,064,699 – 2,993,000 – – 427,582,574

Other Financial Assets – – – 295,502,221 – – 295,502,221

Total 17,773,009,502 13,941,039,494 1,134,482,531 350,813,806 204,159,452 178,685,024 33,582,189,809

* Age Analysis of Past due but not impaired financing by class of Financial Assets.
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Past due but not Impaired

Past due but not Impaired  Less than 30 days 
Rs.

31 to 59 days 
Rs.

60 to 89 days 
Rs.

more than 89 days 
Rs.

Total
 Rs.

Financing and Receivables to Other Customers  –  
   31 December 2015 18,113,880 7,240,041 11,204,295 123,368,744 159,926,960

Financing and Receivables to Other Customers  –  
   31 December 2014 30,362,610 13,235,050 30,189,426 130,372,367 204,159,452

(e)  Analysis of Risk Concentration

Maximum exposure to credit risk is reviewed/monitored without taking account of any collateral and other credit enhancements. The concentration risk 
is monitored by industry. The following table shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the Statement of Financial Position, 
including sector:

Industry Analysis

The following table shows the risk concentration by industry for the components of the Statement of Financial Position:

Financial Assets as at 31 December 2015 government 

Rs.

Banks, Financial and 
Business Services 

Rs.

Agriculture and
 Fishing 

Rs.

manufacturing 

Rs.

Tourism 

Rs.

Transport 

Rs.

Construction 

Rs.

Traders

Rs.

New Economy 

Rs.

Infrastructure 

Rs.

Services 

Rs.

Consumers

Rs.

Other
 Customers 

Rs.

Total

Rs.

Cash and Cash Equivalents – 5,016,458,817 – – – – – – – – – – – 5,016,458,817

Balance with Central Bank of Sri Lanka 2,292,887,937 – – – – – – – – – – – – 2,292,887,937

Derivative Financial Assets – 60,779,845 – – – – – 257,465 – – – – – 61,037,310

Placements with Banks – 3,624,928,993 – – – – – – – – – – – 3,624,928,993

Placements with Licensed  
   Finance Companies – 954,528,071 – – – – – – – – – – – 954,528,071

Financial Investments – Held for Trading – 5,577,108 102,500 25,667,292 – 3,691,807 9,383,567 14,702,084 – 350,000 – – – 59,474,357

Financing and Receivables to  
   Other Customers – 390,683,375 5,117,272,093 5,179,482,411 572,752,682 1,543,985,881 4,400,963,523 6,780,077,639 96,499,604 593,702,229 2,003,147,254 6,579,896,600 29,109,066 33,287,572,358

Financial Investments – Available for Sale – 340,607,750 – 17,519,900 – – 20,790,000 36,746,698 – 16,391,732 – – – 432,056,080

Other Financial Assets 13,719,600 298,351,622 – – – – – – – – 23,986,520 120,231,288 – 456,289,030

Total 2,306,607,537 10,691,915,581 5,117,374,593 5,222,669,602 572,752,682 1,547,677,688 4,431,137,090 6,831,783,887 96,499,604 610,443,961 2,027,133,774 6,700,127,888 29,109,066 46,185,232,952

Financial Assets as at 31 December 2014 Government 

Rs.

Banks, Financial and 
Business Services 

Rs.

Agriculture and
 Fishing 

Rs.

Manufacturing 

Rs.

Tourism
 

Rs.

Transport 

Rs.

Construction 

Rs.

Traders 

Rs.

New Economy 

Rs.

Infrastructure 

Rs.

Services 

Rs.

Consumers

Rs.

Other
 Customers 

Rs.

Total 

Rs.

Cash and Cash Equivalents – 1,627,383,695 – – – – – – – – – – – 1,627,383,695

Balance with Central Bank of Sri Lanka 1,036,425,974 – – – – – – – – – – – – 1,036,425,974

Derivative Financial Assets – 21,871,678 – – – – – 1,397,686 – – – – – 23,269,363

Placements with Banks – 3,306,210,009 – – – – – – – – – – – 3,306,210,009

Placements with Licensed  
   Finance Companies – 1,172,213,115 – – – – – – – – – – – 1,172,213,115

Financial Investments – Held for Trading – 2,880,000 – 24,300,980 – 3,699,038 – 11,190,707 – 6,928,093 – – – 48,998,818

Financing and Receivables to Other 
Customers – 238,540,358 4,715,292,695 6,561,865,352 70,230,812 1,786,275,436 1,967,479,197 4,018,138,959 104,038,523 1,044,027,660 1,002,820,502 1,808,848,411 2,327,046,134 25,644,604,039

Financial Investments – Available for Sale – 273,084,800 – 81,421,952 – – 35,631,000 37,444,822 – – – – – 427,582,574

Other Financial Assets – 198,155,805 – – – – – – – – 97,346,416 – – 295,502,221

Total 1,036,425,974 6,840,339,459 4,715,292,695 6,667,588,284 70,230,812 1,789,974,474 2,003,110,197 4,068,172,174 104,038,523 1,050,955,753 1,100,166,919 1,808,848,411 2,327,046,134 33,582,189,808
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Industry Analysis

The following table shows the risk concentration by industry for the components of the Statement of Financial Position:

Financial Assets as at 31 December 2015 government 

Rs.

Banks, Financial and 
Business Services 

Rs.

Agriculture and
 Fishing 

Rs.

manufacturing 

Rs.

Tourism 

Rs.

Transport 

Rs.

Construction 

Rs.

Traders

Rs.

New Economy 

Rs.

Infrastructure 

Rs.

Services 

Rs.

Consumers

Rs.

Other
 Customers 

Rs.

Total

Rs.

Cash and Cash Equivalents – 5,016,458,817 – – – – – – – – – – – 5,016,458,817

Balance with Central Bank of Sri Lanka 2,292,887,937 – – – – – – – – – – – – 2,292,887,937

Derivative Financial Assets – 60,779,845 – – – – – 257,465 – – – – – 61,037,310

Placements with Banks – 3,624,928,993 – – – – – – – – – – – 3,624,928,993

Placements with Licensed  
   Finance Companies – 954,528,071 – – – – – – – – – – – 954,528,071

Financial Investments – Held for Trading – 5,577,108 102,500 25,667,292 – 3,691,807 9,383,567 14,702,084 – 350,000 – – – 59,474,357

Financing and Receivables to  
   Other Customers – 390,683,375 5,117,272,093 5,179,482,411 572,752,682 1,543,985,881 4,400,963,523 6,780,077,639 96,499,604 593,702,229 2,003,147,254 6,579,896,600 29,109,066 33,287,572,358

Financial Investments – Available for Sale – 340,607,750 – 17,519,900 – – 20,790,000 36,746,698 – 16,391,732 – – – 432,056,080

Other Financial Assets 13,719,600 298,351,622 – – – – – – – – 23,986,520 120,231,288 – 456,289,030

Total 2,306,607,537 10,691,915,581 5,117,374,593 5,222,669,602 572,752,682 1,547,677,688 4,431,137,090 6,831,783,887 96,499,604 610,443,961 2,027,133,774 6,700,127,888 29,109,066 46,185,232,952

Financial Assets as at 31 December 2014 Government 

Rs.

Banks, Financial and 
Business Services 

Rs.

Agriculture and
 Fishing 

Rs.

Manufacturing 

Rs.

Tourism
 

Rs.

Transport 

Rs.

Construction 

Rs.

Traders 

Rs.

New Economy 

Rs.

Infrastructure 

Rs.

Services 

Rs.

Consumers

Rs.

Other
 Customers 

Rs.

Total 

Rs.

Cash and Cash Equivalents – 1,627,383,695 – – – – – – – – – – – 1,627,383,695

Balance with Central Bank of Sri Lanka 1,036,425,974 – – – – – – – – – – – – 1,036,425,974

Derivative Financial Assets – 21,871,678 – – – – – 1,397,686 – – – – – 23,269,363

Placements with Banks – 3,306,210,009 – – – – – – – – – – – 3,306,210,009

Placements with Licensed  
   Finance Companies – 1,172,213,115 – – – – – – – – – – – 1,172,213,115

Financial Investments – Held for Trading – 2,880,000 – 24,300,980 – 3,699,038 – 11,190,707 – 6,928,093 – – – 48,998,818

Financing and Receivables to Other 
Customers – 238,540,358 4,715,292,695 6,561,865,352 70,230,812 1,786,275,436 1,967,479,197 4,018,138,959 104,038,523 1,044,027,660 1,002,820,502 1,808,848,411 2,327,046,134 25,644,604,039

Financial Investments – Available for Sale – 273,084,800 – 81,421,952 – – 35,631,000 37,444,822 – – – – – 427,582,574

Other Financial Assets – 198,155,805 – – – – – – – – 97,346,416 – – 295,502,221

Total 1,036,425,974 6,840,339,459 4,715,292,695 6,667,588,284 70,230,812 1,789,974,474 2,003,110,197 4,068,172,174 104,038,523 1,050,955,753 1,100,166,919 1,808,848,411 2,327,046,134 33,582,189,808
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(f)  Analysis of Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk and Collateral and Other Credit Enhancements

The following table shows the maximum exposure to credit risk by class of financial asset and the value of financial assets covered by the collateral.

2015 2014

Financial Assets as at 31 December maximum 
Exposure to
Credit Risk 

Rs.

Net 
Exposure 

Rs.

Maximum 
Exposure to
Credit Risk 

Rs.

Net 
Exposure 

Rs.

Derivative Financial Assets 61,037,310 61,037,310 23,269,364 23,269,364

Placements with Banks 3,624,928,993 3,624,928,993 3,306,210,009 3,306,210,009

Placements with Licensed Finance Companies 954,528,071 954,528,071 1,172,213,115 1,172,213,115

Financial Investments – Held for Trading 59,474,357 59,474,357 48,998,818 48,998,818

Financing and Receivables to Other Customers 33,287,572,358 12,091,316,939 25,644,604,039 10,529,483,911

Financial Investments – Available for Sale 432,056,080 432,056,080 427,582,574 427,582,574

Other Financial Assets 456,289,030 456,289,030 295,502,221 295,502,221

Total 38,875,886,199 17,679,630,780 30,918,380,140 15,803,260,012

39.4  Liquidity Risk and Funding management

Liquidity risk implies the potential for loss to the Bank due to inability to meets its obligation or to fund the increase in assets as they fall due without 
incurring high cost.

Internal control processes and contingency plans for managing liquidity risk have been developed by the Bank under the Assets and Liabilities management 
Policy of the Bank. This incorporates an assessment of expected cash flows and the availability of liquid funds which could be used if required.

As required by the Provisions of Section 93 of the monetary Law Act, a cash balance is required to be maintained with Central Bank of Sri Lanka.  
As at 31 December 2015, the minimum cash reserve requirement was 6% (2014 – 6%) of the Rupee liabilities of the Domestic Banking Unit. There is no 
reserve requirement for foreign currency deposit liabilities of the Domestic Banking Unit.

The Bank monitors the mix of deposits closely and concentrates on mobilising zero or low cost deposits such as current accounts and savings 
accounts as a source of major funding.

Liquid assets are defined for the purposes of the liquidity ratio which are mainly cash and cash equivalents and placements with banks. Adequate  
liquid assets are maintained due to the Bank’s operational business model adopted and ensure the Statutory Liquid Asset Ratio is maintained as per 
regulatory requirements.

(a)  Liquidity Ratios

2015
%

2014
%

Financing and Receivables to Other Customers to Due to Other Customers Ratio (Net) Year end 85.67 87.01

Statutory Liquid Assets Ratio Year end 24.39 20.96

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEmENTS
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(b)  Analysis of Assets and Liabilities by Remaining Contractual Maturities

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the undiscounted cash flows (Gross) of the Bank’s Financial Assets and Liabilities as at the end of the 
reporting period:

Statement of Financial Position  
   as at 31 December 2015

Up to 3 months 
Rs.

3 – 12 months 
Rs.

1 – 3 Years 
Rs.

3 – 5 Years 
Rs.

Over 5 Years 
Rs.

Total 
Rs.

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents  5,016,458,817  –    –    –    –    5,016,458,817 

Balance with Central Bank of Sri Lanka  2,292,887,937  –    –    –    –    2,292,887,937 

Derivative Financial Assets  5,024,461  56,012,849  –    –    –    61,037,310 

Placements with Banks  2,177,148,977  1,447,780,016  –    –    –    3,624,928,993 

Placements with Licensed  
   Finance Companies  4,528,071  950,000,000  –    –    –    954,528,071 

Financial Investments – Held for Trading  59,474,357  –    –    –    –    59,474,357 

Financing and Receivables to  
   Other Customers  11,742,424,705  7,319,602,523  11,755,835,035  6,181,026,651  1,953,024,896  38,951,913,809 

Financial Investments – Available for Sale  –    –    91,448,330  –    340,607,750  432,056,080 

Other Financial Assets  433,426,396  2,318,000  5,520,000  15,024,634  –    456,289,030 

Total Undiscounted Financial Assets  21,731,373,720  9,775,713,389  11,852,803,365  6,196,051,285  2,293,632,646  51,849,574,404 

Financial Liabilities

Due to Bank  2,955,277,882  –    –    –    –    2,955,277,882 

Derivative Financial Liabilities  22,273,016  45,132,169  –    –    –    67,405,185 

Due to Other Customers  26,811,134,553  9,540,459,449  723,830,775  765,951,691  766,624,134  38,608,000,603 

Other Financial Liabilities  335,333,377  –    6,264,306  –    –    341,597,683 

Total Undiscounted  
   Financial Liabilities  30,124,018,828  9,585,591,618  730,095,082  765,951,691  766,624,134  41,972,281,353 

Total Net Financial Assets/(Liabilities)  (8,392,645,108)  190,121,771  11,122,708,283  5,430,099,594  1,527,008,511  9,877,293,051 
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Statement of Financial Position  
   as at 31 December 2014

Up to 3 Months 
Rs.

3 – 12 Months 
Rs.

1 – 3 Years 
Rs.

3 – 5 Years 
Rs.

Over 5 Years 
Rs.

Total 
Rs.

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents  1,627,383,695  –    –    –    –    1,627,383,695 

Balance with Central Bank of Sri Lanka  1,036,425,974  –    –    –    –    1,036,425,974 

Derivative Financial Assets  8,565,813  14,703,551  –    –    –    23,269,364 

Placements with Banks  1,324,701,359  1,981,508,650  –    –    –    3,306,210,009 

Placements with Licensed  
   Finance Companies  572,213,115  600,000,000  –    –    –    1,172,213,115 

Financial Investments – Held for Trading  48,998,818  –    –    –    –    48,998,818 

Financing and Receivables to  
   Other Customers  8,743,751,835  8,797,073,200  17,027,146,347  7,570,365,701  1,046,599,522  43,184,936,605 

Financial Investments – Available for Sale  –    –    154,497,774  –    273,084,800  427,582,574 

Other Financial Assets  274,757,179  2,999,755  8,335,750  4,633,537  4,776,000  295,502,221 

Total Undiscounted Financial Assets  13,636,797,789  11,396,285,156  17,189,979,871  7,574,999,238  1,324,460,322  51,122,522,375 

Financial Liabilities

Derivative Financial Liabilities  7,741,927  103,042  –    –    –    7,844,969 

Due to Other Customers  19,724,289,229  8,043,661,532  393,311,794  468,851,206  594,216,764  29,224,330,525 

Other Financial Liabilities  549,436,506  –    6,593,796  –    –    556,030,302 

Total Undiscounted  
   Financial Liabilities  20,281,467,662  8,043,764,574  399,905,590  468,851,206  594,216,764  29,788,205,796 

Total Net Financial Assets/(Liabilities)  (6,644,669,874)  3,352,520,582  16,790,074,281  7,106,148,032  730,243,558  21,334,316,579 

(c)  Contractual Maturities of Commitments and Contingencies

As at 31 December 2015 Up to 3 months 
Rs.

3 – 12 months 
Rs.

1 – 3 Years 
Rs.

3 – 5 Years 
Rs.

Over 5 Years 
Rs.

Total 
Rs.

Acceptances  1,165,582,663  246,996,797  –    –  –  1,412,579,459 

Letters of Credit  604,000,807  128,448,176  –    –  –  732,448,984 

Guarantees, Bonds  546,201,351  765,500,630  162,860,600  750,000  –  1,475,312,580 

Promissory Forward Sales  2,978,983,982  4,477,541,519  –    –  –  7,456,525,501 

Promissory Forward Purchases  3,054,963,696  –    –    –  –  3,054,963,696 

Commitments for Unutilised Facilities  1,566,677,531  2,350,016,296  –    –  –  3,916,693,827 

Bills for Collection  223,043,411  1,035,277  –    –    –    224,078,688 

Total  10,139,453,440  7,969,538,696  162,860,600  750,000  –    18,272,602,735 

As at 31 December 2014 Up to 3 Months 
Rs.

3 – 12 Months 
Rs.

1– 3 Years 
Rs.

3 – 5 Years 
Rs.

Over 5 Years 
Rs.

Total 
Rs.

Acceptances  788,422,727  571,122,321  –    –  –  1,359,545,048 

Letters of Credit  574,133,425  416,480,357  –    –  –  990,613,782 

Guarantees, Bonds  386,906,064  534,609,229  86,140,582  –  –  1,007,655,875 

Promissory Forward Sales  5,148,049,877  1,709,512,992  –    –  –  6,857,562,869 

Promissory Forward Purchases  332,180,622  10,048,595  –    –  –  342,229,217 

Commitments for Unutilised Facilities  1,669,953,847  2,504,930,771  –    –  –  4,174,884,618 

Bills for Collection  246,364,218  –    –    –    –    246,364,218 

Total  9,146,010,780  5,746,704,264  86,140,582  –    –    14,978,855,627 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEmENTS
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39.5  market Risk

Market risk denotes the risk of losses arising out of balance sheet positions due to changes in market prices.  Market risk mainly arises from activities 
undertaken by the Bank’s treasury and foreign exchange, equity, commodity and money market portfolios, which mainly contribute towards market risk 
of the Bank. A Board approved comprehensive limit structure has been adopted by the Bank to mitigate and monitor the market risk of the Bank.

(a)  Rate Risk

The rate risk arises due to changes in value of financial instruments arising due to changes in market rates. The Bank is exposed to this risk due to the 
mismatches in maturities of assets and liabilities that mature or are re-priced during a specified time period. In order to manage and mitigate rate risk, 
the Bank’s ALCO reviews the re-pricing of assets and liabilities at the ALCO meetings held regularly. Bank’s rate risk is limited due to the model adopted 
where all of Due to Other Customers (customer deposits) have been accepted on the Profit and Loss sharing basis.

Rate Sensitive Assets and Liabilities Maturity Gaps (Contractual Basis) as at 31 December 2015

Up to 3 months 
Rs. 

3 – 12 months 
Rs.

 1 – 3 Years 
Rs.  

 3 – 5 Years 
Rs. 

 Over 5 Years 
Rs.  

 Non-Rate Bearing 
Rs. 

 Total 
Rs.

Cash and Cash Equivalents  –    –    –    –    –    5,016,458,817  5,016,458,817 

Balance with Central Bank of Sri Lanka  –    –    –    –    –    2,292,887,937  2,292,887,937 

Derivative Financial Assets  –    –    –    –    –    61,037,310  61,037,310 

Placements with Banks  2,177,148,977  1,447,780,016  –    –    –    –    3,624,928,993 

Placements with Licensed  
   Finance Companies  4,528,071  950,000,000  –    –    –    –    954,528,071 

Financial Investments –  
   Held for Trading  –    –    –    –    –    59,474,357  59,474,357 

Financing and Receivables to  
   Other Customers  11,050,028,485  6,073,585,917  9,848,252,079  4,673,074,205  1,428,655,508  –    33,073,596,195 

Financial Investments –  
   Available for Sale  –    –    –    –    –    432,056,080  432,056,080 

Other Financial Assets  –    –    –    –    –    456,289,030  456,289,030 

Total Assets  13,231,705,533  8,471,365,934  9,848,252,079  4,673,074,205  1,428,655,508  8,318,203,531  45,971,256,790 

Derivative Financial Liabilities  –    –    –    –    –    67,405,185  67,405,185 

Due to Other Customers  23,674,331,777  9,540,459,449  723,830,775  765,951,691  766,624,134  3,136,802,776  38,608,000,603 

Other Financial Liabilities  –    –    –    –    –    341,597,683  341,597,683 

Total Liabilities  23,674,331,777  9,540,459,449  723,830,775  765,951,691  766,624,134  3,545,805,645  39,017,003,471 

Rate Sensitivity gap  (10,442,626,243)  (1,069,093,515)  9,124,421,304  3,907,122,513  662,031,374  4,772,397,886 
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Rate Sensitive Assets and Liabilities Maturity Gaps (Contractual Basis) as at 31 December 2014

Up to 3 Months 
Rs. 

3 – 12 Months 
Rs.

 1 – 3 Years 
Rs.  

 3 – 5 Years 
Rs. 

 Over 5 Years 
Rs.  

 Non-Rate Bearing 
Rs. 

 Total 
Rs.

Cash and Cash Equivalents – – – – – 1,627,383,695 1,627,383,695

Balance with Central Bank of Sri Lanka – – – – – 1,036,425,974 1,036,425,974

Derivative Financial Assets – – – – – 23,269,364 23,269,364

Placements with Banks 1,324,701,359 1,981,508,650 – – – – 3,306,210,009

Placements with Licensed  
   Finance Companies 572,213,115 600,000,000 – – – – 1,172,213,115

Financial Investments –  
   Held for Trading – – – – – 48,998,818 48,998,818

Financing and Receivables to  
   Other Customers 10,362,904,595 4,321,854,267 6,251,001,897 3,618,775,034 872,406,017 – 25,426,941,810

Financial Investments –  
   Available for Sale – – – – – 427,582,574 427,582,574

Other Financial Assets – – – – – 295,502,221 295,502,221

Total Assets 12,259,819,069 6,903,362,917 6,251,001,897 3,618,775,034 872,406,017 3,459,162,646 33,364,527,580

Derivative Financial Liabilities – – – – – 7,844,969 7,844,969

Due to Other Customers 16,719,550,301 8,043,661,532 393,311,794 468,851,206 594,216,764 3,004,738,928 29,224,330,525

Other Financial Liabilities – – – – – 556,030,302 556,030,302

Total Liabilities 16,719,550,301 8,043,661,532 393,311,794 468,851,206 594,216,764 3,568,614,199 29,788,205,796

Rate Sensitivity gap (4,459,731,232) (1,140,298,615) 5,857,690,103 3,149,923,828 278,189,253 (109,451,553)

39.6  Foreign Exchange Risk

Foreign exchange risk which arises due to the changes in foreign exchange rates is managed by the Bank by setting and monitoring dealer, currency, 
counterparty and settlement limits for On and Off Balance Sheet instruments.

Bank’s activities in the Trade Finance business results in Off Balance Sheet financial instruments. In addition, the Bank engages in interbank promissory 
forward foreign exchange transactions to cover the positions created due to customer transactions. Such transactions are carried out on a matched basis 
to manage the cash flows of currencies.

The currency risk is managed and monitored against the regulatory limits approved for the Bank by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka. The foreign 
exchange exposures in individual currencies are managed according to the limits approved by the Board of Directors.

39.7  Currency Risk

Currency risk arises  as a result of price fluctuations in assets due to change in exchange rates. The Board of Directors has set limits for currency wise 
exposures. The currency exposures are monitored on a daily basis as required by the risk management policy of the Bank.

The table below indicates the exposures in currencies the Bank carried as at 31 December 2015 and the effect of the gains/losses if the  market rates 
appreciate/depreciate by 5%. The calculation indicates a reasonably practical movement of currency rates against Sri Lankan Rupees.

If market rates appreciate or depreciate by 5% the effect of the same to the exchange gain/(loss) would be:

2015 2014

Currency Appreciation 5%
 Rs.

Depreciation 5% 
Rs.

Appreciation 5% 
Rs.

Depreciation 5%
 Rs.

Australian Dollars  40,605  (40,605)  50,332  (50,332)

Great Britain Pounds  (641)  641  930,694  (930,694)

Japanese Yen  37,577  (37,577)  8,048  (8,048)

United States Dollars  2,223,441  (2,223,441)  23,207,026  (23,207,026)

Other Currencies  2,084,048  (2,084,048)  46,983,285  (46,983,285)

Total  4,385,030  (4,385,030)  71,179,384  (71,179,384)
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39.8  Equity Price Risk

Equity price risk arises due to changes in individual equity prices.
The Board of Directors of the Bank has laid down sector, portfolio and loss limits to control and mitigate the risks of the equity portfolio. The Bank 

also adheres to the guidelines issued by Central Bank of Sri Lanka regarding the exposure to a single entity and the total exposure limit for the equity 
portfolio. The performance of the equity portfolio is monitored by the BIRmC, ALCO and the Equity Investment Committee (EIC). The Bank engages in 
transactions only in Sharia compliant equities which are listed in the published ‘White List’ of stocks.

Daily mark-to-market of portfolios are carried out based on the weighted average closing prices of the Colombo Stock Exchange.

40.  mATURITY ANALYSIS

Up to 3 Months

 Rs.

3 – 12 Months 

Rs.

 1 – 3 Years 

 Rs.

 3 – 5 Years 

 Rs.

 Over 5 Years  

Rs.

Total
As at 31.12.2015 

Rs.

Cash and Cash Equivalents 5,016,458,817 – – – – 5,016,458,817

Balances with Central Bank of Sri Lanka 1,111,631,258 561,323,014 193,763,631 195,606,094 230,563,940 2,292,887,937

Derivative Financial Assets 5,024,461 56,012,849 – – – 61,037,310

Placements with Banks 2,177,148,977 1,447,780,016 – – – 3,624,928,993

Balances with Licensed Finance Companies 4,528,071 950,000,000 – – – 954,528,071

Financial Investments – Held for Trading 59,474,357 – – – – 59,474,357

Financing and Receivables to  
   Other Customers 11,050,028,485 6,073,585,917 9,848,252,079 4,673,074,205 1,428,655,508 33,073,596,195

Financial Investments – Available for Sale – – 91,448,330 – 340,607,750 432,056,080

Other Financial Assets 433,426,396 2,318,000 5,520,000 15,024,634 – 456,289,030

Other Non Financial Assets 91,732,716 32,954,150 132,530,032 – – 257,216,898

Property, Plant and Equipment – – – – 1,271,732,452 1,271,732,452

Intangible Assets – – – – 236,502,947 236,502,947

Deferred Tax Assets – – – – 145,702,993 145,702,993

Total Assets 19,949,453,538 9,123,973,947 10,271,514,073 4,883,704,933 3,653,765,590 47,882,412,080

Liabilities

Due to Banks 2,955,277,882 – – – – 2,955,277,882

Derivative Financial Liabilities 22,273,016 45,132,169 – – – 67,405,185

Due to Customers 11,703,927,399 12,842,336,070 4,397,604,699 4,439,725,615 5,224,406,820 38,608,000,603

Other Financial Liabilities 335,333,377 – 6,264,306 – – 341,597,683

Other Non Financial Liabilities 104,340,746 – 8,722,702 – – 113,063,448

Deferred Benefit Liabilities – – – – 74,070,679 74,070,679

Total Liabilities 15,121,152,419 12,887,468,239 4,412,591,708 4,439,725,615 5,298,477,499 42,159,415,480

maturity Gap 4,828,301,119 (3,763,494,293) 5,858,922,365 443,979,318 (1,644,711,909) 5,722,996,600
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Up to 3 Months

 Rs.

3 – 12 Months 

Rs.

 1 – 3 Years 

 Rs.

 3 – 5 Years 

 Rs.

 Over 5 Years  

Rs.

Total
As at 31.12.2014 

Rs.

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,627,383,695 – – – – 1,627,383,695

Balances with Central Bank of Sri Lanka 210,194,804 411,263,038 125,135,163 127,995,624 161,837,345 1,036,425,974

Derivative Financial Assets 8,565,813 14,703,551 – – – 23,269,364

Placements with Banks 1,324,701,359 1,981,508,650 – – – 3,306,210,009

Balances with Licensed Finance Companies 572,213,115 600,000,000 – – – 1,172,213,115

Financial Investments – Held for Trading 48,998,818 – – – – 48,998,818

Financing and Receivables to  
   Other Customers 10,362,904,595 4,321,854,267 6,251,001,897 3,618,775,034 872,406,017 25,426,941,810

Financial Investments – Available for Sale – – 154,497,774 – 273,084,800 427,582,574

Other Financial Assets 274,757,179 2,999,755 8,335,750 4,633,537 4,776,000 295,502,221

Other Non Financial Assets 33,591,408 26,275,399 245,796,157 526,993 – 306,189,958

Property, Plant and Equipment – – – – 794,829,469 794,829,469

Intangible Assets – – – – 270,615,476 270,615,476

Deferred Tax Assets – – – – 161,426,033 161,426,033

Total Assets 14,463,310,787 7,358,604,660 6,784,766,742 3,751,931,188 2,538,975,140 34,897,588,516

Liabilities

Derivative Financial Liabilities 7,741,927 103,042 – – – 7,844,969

Due to Customers 7,598,676,577 10,815,781,706 3,260,747,709 3,336,287,122 4,212,837,411 29,224,330,525

Other Financial Liabilities 549,436,506 – 6,593,796 – – 556,030,302

Other Non Financial Liabilities 16,218,506 – 8,722,703 – – 24,941,209

Deferred Benefit Liabilities – – – – 58,202,580 58,202,580

Total Liabilities 8,172,073,516 10,815,884,748 3,276,064,208 3,336,287,122 4,271,039,991 29,871,349,585

maturity Gap 6,291,237,271 (3,457,280,088) 3,508,702,533 415,644,066 (1,732,064,851) 5,026,238,931

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEmENTS
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41.  COmmITmENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

41.1  Capital Expenditure Commitments

The Bank does not have significant capital commitments as at the reporting date.

41.2  Contingencies

In the normal course of business, the Bank makes various irrevocable commitments and incurs certain contingent liabilities with legal recourse to its 
customers. Even though these obligations are not recognised on the statement of financial position, they do contain credit risk and therefore form part of 
the overall risk profile of the Bank.

2015 
Rs.

2014
 Rs.

Commitments on Direct Advances and Indirect Advances:

Commitments for Unutilised Facilities 3,916,693,827 4,174,884,618

3,916,693,827 4,174,884,618

Contingent Liabilities:

Letters of Credit 732,448,984 990,613,782

Guarantees, Bonds 1,475,312,580 1,007,655,875

Acceptances 1,412,579,459 1,359,545,048

Bills for Collection and Other 224,078,688 246,364,218

3,844,419,712 3,604,178,923

Promissory Forward Foreign Exchange Transactions

Promissory Forward Sales 7,456,525,501 6,857,562,869

Promissory Forward Purchases 3,054,963,696 342,229,217

10,511,489,196 7,199,792,086

Total Commitment and Contingencies 18,272,602,735 14,978,855,627

41.3  Future monthly Commitments on Operating Leases

The Bank has entered into commercial leases for branch premises. These lease agreements have an average life of between two and ten years. There are 
no restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into these leases.

Future minimum lease payments under operating leases as at reporting date are as follows:

2015 
Rs.

2014
 Rs.

0-1 year 50,216,751 65,767,726

1-5 year 131,670,978 164,623,707

More than 5 years 10,228,061 18,151,022

192,115,790 248,542,455

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEmENTS
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41.4  Lease Receivables

Total Future 
Minimum Payments

Rs.

Unearned 
Finance Income

Rs.

Present Value of
Minimum 

Lease Payment
Rs.

As at 31 December 2015

0-1 year 2,299,845,163 519,938,866 1,779,906,297

1-5 years 5,002,883,115 664,045,161 4,338,837,954

More than 5 years 4,123,603 389,522 3,734,081

7,306,851,881 1,184,373,549 6,122,478,332

As at 31 December 2014

0-1 year 865,740,188 200,537,311 665,202,877

1-5 years 1,440,541,878 216,421,760 1,224,120,118

More than 5 years – – –

2,306,282,066 416,959,071 1,889,322,995

42.  RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

42.1  Parent and Ultimate Controlling Party

The Bank does not have an identifiable parent of its own.

42 .2  Transactions with Key management Personnel (KmP) 

Key management Personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, 
directly or indirectly, including any Director of that entity. 

Accordingly, the Bank’s KmPs include the Board of Directors and selected key employees who meet the criteria above.

2015
 Rs.

2014
 Rs.

Key management Personnel Compensation

Short Term Employee Benefits 38,277,805 45,059,273

Retirement Benefits – 48,852,018

Total 38,277,805 93,911,291

42.3  Transactions, Arrangements and Agreements Involving KmPs and their Close Family members (CFms)

Close members of the family of an individual are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that individual in their 
dealings with the entity. They may include: the individual’s domestic partner and children; children of the individual’s domestic partner and dependents of 
the individual or the individual’s domestic partner.

2015
 Rs.

2014
 Rs.

Statement of Financial Position

Financing and Receivables to Other Customers 67,515,731 7,214,498

Due to Other Customers 180,870,496 95,770,408

Statement of Profit or Loss

Financing Income 1,328,631 693,235

Financing Expenses 8,506,388 5,677,277

Commitment and Contingencies

Letters of Guarantee and Shipping Guarantees and other 1,358,323 –
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42.4  Transaction, arrangements and agreements involving entities which are controlled and jointly controlled  by the KmPs 
or their CFms

In addition to transactions with Key management Personnel and their Close Family members, the Bank enters into transactions, arrangements and 
agreements with entities which are controlled and jointly controlled by the KmPs or their CFms over the Bank. The transactions below were made in 
the ordinary course of business on substantially the same terms, including financing/commission rates and security, as for comparable transactions with 
unrelated counterparties. The Bank has not made any provision for impairment losses on amounts owed by related parties.

2015
 Rs.

2014
 Rs.

Statement of Financial Position

Due to Other Customers 206,780 125,719

Statement of Profit or Loss

Financing Expenses 24,634 34,960

43.  EVENTS AFTER REPORTINg DATE

There were no events after the reporting date which requires adjustments or disclosures in the Financial Statements except noted below:
The statutory reserve requirement has increased from 6% in 2015 to 7.5% with effect from 16 January 2016.

44.  CAPITAL

The Bank maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business and meet the capital adequacy requirements of the local 
prudential regulator, Central Bank of Sri Lanka. The adequacy of the Bank’s Capital is monitored using, among other measures, the rules and ratios 
established by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision and adopted by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka.

As required by the circulars issued by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka on ‘Enhancement of minimum Capital Requirement of Banks’, Licenced 
Commercial Banks are required increase its capital up to Rs. 10 Billion. Accordingly, Central Bank of Sri Lanka has approved following staggered capital 
plan for the Bank:

(a) Rs. 5.0 Billion by 1 January 2016
(b) Rs. 7.5 Billion by 1 January 2017
(c) Rs. 10.0 Billion by 1 January 2018

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Bank’s capital management policy are to ensure that the Bank complies with externally imposed capital requirements and 
maintains adequate credit ratings and healthy capital ratios, in order to support its business and to maximise shareholder value.

The Bank manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it according to changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of its 
activities. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Bank may adjust the amount of dividend payment to shareholders or issue capital 
securities. However, these options are under constant review by the Board of Directors.

Regulatory Capital consists of Core (Tier 1) Capital, which comprises Stated Capital, Statutory Reserve Fund, Published Retained Earnings and 
General and Other Reserves less 50% of Investments in Capital of Other Banks, Financial Institutions, Net Deferred Tax Assets and Cost of Intangible 
Assets. The other component of Regulatory Capital is Supplementary (Tier 2) Capital, which includes Approved Revaluation Surplus and General 
Provisions less 50% of Investments in Capital of Other Banks and Financial Institutions.

The Central Bank of Sri Lanka (CBSL) sets and monitors capital requirements for Licensed Banks in Sri Lanka based on the Basel Framework.  
Thus the Bank’s operations are directly supervised by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka and the Bank is required to comply with the Provisions of the  
Basel II Framework in respect of Regulatory Capital. Licensed Commercial Banks in Sri Lanka need to maintain a Core Tier 1 Capital Ratio of at least 
5% and minimum Total Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) of 10%. As of 31 December 2015, the Bank reported a Tier 1 ratio of 11.96% and a Total Capital 
Adequacy Ratio of 12.36% which remain above the CBSL’s capital requirements.

45.  mATERIAL LITIGATION AGAINST THE BANK

As at the reporting date, there are no litigation matters pending or threatened against the Bank.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEmENTS
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The following explains the Other Disclosure Requirements under the Prescribed format issued by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka for the Preparation of 
Annual Financial Statements of Licensed Commercial Banks.

1. INFORmATION ABOUT THE SIGNIFICANCE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUmENTS FOR FINANCIAL POSITION  
AND PERFORmANCE

1.1 Statement of Financial Position
1.1.1 Disclosures on categories of financial assets and financial liabilities. Note 14 to the Financial Statements – Analysis of 

Financial Instruments by Measurement Basis

1.1.2  Other Disclosures

(i) Special disclosures about financial assets and financial liabilities designated to be 
measured at Fair value through profit or loss, including disclosures about credit  
risk and market risk, changes in fair values attributable to these risks and the methods 
of measurement.

Note 38 to the Financial Statements – Fair Value of 
Financial Assets and Liabilities

(ii) Reclassifications of financial instruments from one category to another. Not Applicable

(iii) Information about financial assets pledged as collateral and about financial or  
non financial assets held as collateral.

Not Applicable

(iv) Reconciliation of the allowance account for credit losses by class of financial assets. Note 21.4 to the Financial Statements – Impairment 
Allowance for Financing and Receivables to Other 
Customers

(v) Information about compound financial instruments with multiple embedded 
derivatives.

Not Applicable

(vi) Breaches of terms of loan agreements. None

1.2 Statement of Comprehensive Income
1.2.1 Disclosures on items of income, expense, gains and losses. Notes 4-12 to the Financial Statements

1.2.2 Other Disclosures

(i) Total financing income and total financing expense for those financial instruments that 
are not measured at fair value through profit and loss.

Notes 4 and 5 to the Financial Statements – Financing 
Income and Financing Expenses respectively

(ii) Fee income and expense. Note 6 to the Financial Statements –  
Net Fee and Commission Income

(iii) Amount of impairment losses by class of financial assets. Note 9 to the Financial Statements –  
Impairment on Financial Assets

(iv) Financing income on impaired financial assets. Note 4 to the Financial Statements – Financing Income

1.3 Other Disclosures

1.3.1 Accounting policies for financial instruments. Note 2.3 to the Financial Statements –  
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

1.3.2 Information on hedge accounting Not Applicable

1.3.3 Information about the fair values of each class of financial asset and financial liability,  
along with:

(i) Comparable carrying amounts.
Note 38 to the Financial Statements –  
Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

(ii) Description of how fair value was determined.

(iii) The level of inputs used in determining fair value.

(iv) (a)  Reconciliations of movements between levels of fair value measurement hierarchy. Not Applicable

 (b)  Additional disclosures for financial instruments that fair value is determined using 
 level 3 inputs.

Note 38.2 to the Financial Statements –  
Financial Instruments not carried at Fair Value

(v) Information if fair value cannot be reliably measured. Note 22.2 to the Financial Statements –  
Investment in Equity – Unquoted, and

Note 38.2 to the Financial Statements –  
Financial Instruments not carried at Fair Value  

Compliance with Other Disclosure Requirements 
Specified by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka
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2. INFORmATION ABOUT THE NATURE AND ExTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROm FINANCIAL INSTRUmENTS

2.1 qualitative Disclosures

2.1.1 Risk exposures for each type of financial instrument. Note 39 to the Financial Statements –  
Risk Management

2.1.2 management’s objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks. Note 39 to the Financial Statements – Risk 
Management and please refer section relating to  
‘Risk management’ in the Annual Report for 
additional information

2.1.3 Changes from the prior period. Not Applicable

2.2 quantitative Disclosures

2.2.1 Summary of quantitative data about exposure to each risk at the reporting date. Note 39 to the Financial Statements –  
Risk Management

2.2.2 Disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk, operational risk, rate risk and  
how these risks are managed.

Note 39 to the Financial Statements – Risk 
Management and please refer section relating to  
‘Risk management’ in the Annual Report for 
additional information

(i) Credit Risk

(a) maximum amount of exposure (before deducting the value of collateral), 
description of collateral, information about credit quality of financial assets that  
are neither past due nor impaired and information about credit quality of  
financial assets.

(b) For financial assets that are past due or impaired, disclosures on age, factors 
considered in determining as impaired and the description of collateral on each 
class of financial asset.

Note 39.3 to the Financial Statements –  
Credit Risk

(c) Information about collateral or other credit enhancements obtained or called.

(d) Other disclosures as per the Banking Act Direction No. 7 of 2011 on Integrated 
Risk management Framework for Licensed Banks (Section H).

(ii) Liquidity Risk

(a) A maturity analysis of financial liabilities. Note 39.4 to the Financial Statements – Liquidity  
Risk and Funding Management

(b) Description of approach to risk management. Note 39.4 to the Financial Statements – Liquidity  
Risk and Funding Management and please refer 
section relating to ‘Risk management’ of the Annual 
Report for additional information

(c) Other disclosures as per the Banking Act Direction No. 7 of 2011 on Integrated 
Risk management Framework for Licensed Banks (Section H).

Note 39.4 to the Financial Statements – Liquidity  
Risk and Funding Management and please refer 
section relating to ‘Risk management’ in the Annual 
Report for additional information

(iii) market Risk

(a) A sensitivity analysis of each type of market risk to which the entity is exposed.

Note 39.5 to the Financial Statements –  
Market Risk

(b) Additional information, if the sensitivity analysis is not representative of the  
entity’s risk exposure.

(c) Other disclosures as per the Banking Act Direction No. 7 of 2011 on Integrated 
Risk management Framework for Licensed Banks (Section H).

(iv) Operational Risk disclosures as per the Banking Act Direction No. 7 of 2011 on 
Integrated Risk management Framework for Licensed Banks (Section H).

Please refer section relating to ‘Risk management’  
of the Annual Report

COmPLIANCE WITH OTHER DISCLOSURE REQUIREmENTS SPECIFIED BY THE CENTRAL BANK OF SRI LANKA
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(v) Equity Risk in the Banking Book

(a) Qualitative  Disclosures

- Differentiation between holdings on which capital gains are expected and those 
taken under other objectives including for relationship and strategic reasons.

Note 39.8 to the Financial Statements –  
Equity Price Risk and please refer section relating 
to ‘Risk management’ of the Annual Report for 
additional information

- Discussion of important policies covering the valuation and accounting of equity 
holdings in the banking book.

Note 2.3 to the Financial Statements – Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies and Note 22.2 to the 
Financial Statements – Investment in Equity – Unquoted

(b) Quantitative  Disclosures

 Value disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position of investments, as well as 
the fair value of those investments; for quoted securities, a comparison to publicly 
quoted share values where the share price is materially different from fair value, 
the types and the nature of investments and the cumulative realised gains/(losses) 
arising from sales and liquidations in the reporting period.

Notes 20 and 22 to the Financial Statements –  
Financial Investments – Held for Trading and  
Financial Investments – Available for Sale respectively. 
Also please refer Notes 7 and 8 to the Financial 
Statements – Net Trading Gain and Net Other 
Operating Income respectively

(vi) Rate Risk in the Banking Book

Notes 39.5, 39.6 and 39.7 to the Financial  
Statements – market Risk, Foreign Exchange Risk and 
Currency Risk respectively

(a) Qualitative  Disclosures

 Nature of rate risk in the banking book and key assumptions.

(b) Quantitative Disclosures 

 The increase/(decline) in earnings or economic value (or relevant measure used  
by management) for upward and downward rate shocks according to 
management’s method for measuring rate risk in the banking book broken down 
by currency (as relevant).

2.2.3 Information on concentrations of risk Notes 39.2 and 39.3 to the Financial Statements –  
Risk Management Structure and Credit Risk 
respectively. Also please refer section relating 
to ‘Risk management’ of the Annual Report for 
additional information

3. OTHER DISCLOSURES
3.1 Capital
3.1.1 Capital Structure

(i) Qualitative  Disclosures

 Summary information on the terms and conditions of the main features of all capital 
instruments, especially in the case of innovative, complex or hybrid capital instruments.

Note 34 to the Financial Statements – Stated Capital 
and please refer Capital Adequacy Computation on 
page 153 of the Annual Report

(ii) Quantitative  Disclosure

(a) The amount  of Tier I capital, with separate disclosure of
 - Paid-up share capital/common stock
 - Reserves
 - Non-controlling interests in the equity of subsidiaries
 - Innovative instruments 
 - Other capital instruments
 - Deductions from Tier I capital
(b) The total amount of Tier II and Tier III capital
(c) Other deductions from capital
(d) Total eligible capital 

Note 44 to the Financial Statements – Capital.
Also please refer Capital Adequacy Computation on 
page 153 and section relating to ‘Risk management’ of 
the Annual Report for additional information3.1.2 Capital Adequacy

(i) Qualitative  Disclosures
 A summary discussion of the Bank's approach to assessing the adequacy of its capital to 

support current and future activities. 

(ii) Quantitative Disclosures

(a) Capital requirements for credit risk, market risk and operational risk.

(b) Total and Tier I Capital Ratio.

COmPLIANCE WITH OTHER DISCLOSURE REQUIREmENTS SPECIFIED BY THE CENTRAL BANK OF SRI LANKA
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Capital Adequacy Computation
Capital Base as at 31 DeCemBer 2015

Basel ii
lKr ’000

tier i

Paid-up Ordinary Shares/Stated Capital 5,866,808

Statutory Reserve Fund 15,226

Published Retained Profits (425,312)

General and Other Reserves (216,926)

Net Deferred Tax Assets (145,703)

Other Intangible Assets (236,503)

50% Investments in the Capital of Other Banks and Financial Institutions (1,497)

eligible tier i Capital 4,856,093

tier ii

Revaluation Reserves –

General Provisions 165,810

Debentures –

50% Investments in the Capital of Other Banks and Financial Institutions (1,497)

eligible tier ii Capital 164,314

Capital Base 5,020,407

risk Weighted assets

Risk Weighted Amount for Credit Risk 37,254,387

Risk Weighted Amount for Market Risk 1,044,470

Risk Weighted Amount for Operational Risk 2,315,242

total risk Weighted amount 40,614,099

Core Capital ratio (minimum requirement 5%)

Eligible Tier I Capital 4,856,093

Total Risk Weighted Assets 40,614,099

11.96%

total Capital ratio (minimum requirement 10%)

Capital Base 5,020,407

Total Risk Weighted Assets 40,614,099

12.36%
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Computation of risK WeighteD amount for CreDit risK – (Basel ii) 

on-Balance sheet exposures

As at 31 December 2015 Balance 

lKr ’000

risk 
Weights

%

risk-adjusted
Balance 

lKr ’000

assets – exposures

To Central Government and CBSL 2,292,888 0 0

To Public Sector 276,349 20-150 276,349

To Banks 7,624,696 20-150 2,670,445

To Financial Institutions 951,122 20-150 475,561

To Corporates 10,573,451 20-150 10,263,747

To Retail Sector 11,780,917 75-100 10,125,900

Secured on Residential Property Mortgages 4,608,960 50-100 4,106,520

Classified as Non-Performing Advances 229,789 50-150 308,323

Claims Secured by Commercial Real Estate 5,510,336 100 5,510,336

Cash Items 1,141,099 0-20 0

Other Assets 1,204,551 100 1,204,551

total assets 46,194,159 34,941,732

off-Balance sheet exposures

As at 31 December 2015 amount of 
off-Balance 
sheet items

lKr ’000

Credit
Conversion 

factor
%

Credit equivalent 
amount

lKr ’000

risk
Weights

%

 risk
 adjusted Balance

lKr ’000

Direct Credit substitutes

General Guarantees of Indebtedness 1,028,087 100 1,028,087 0-100 909,777

transaction-related Contingencies

Performance Bonds, Bid Bonds and Warranties 348,451 50 174,226 0-100 114,051

Others – 50 – 0-100 –

short term self-liquidating trade-related  
Contingencies

Shipping Guarantees 98,775 20 19,755 0-100 19,658

Documentary Letters of Credit 732,449 20 146,490 0-100 145,786

Trade-Related Acceptances 1,412,579 20 282,516 0-100 280,536

Undrawn Term Financing 3,916,694 0-20 783,339 0-150 782,245

Others 119,767 20 23,953 0-100 23,141

Foreign Exchange Contracts 8,438,115 2 168,762 0-100 37,459

total off-Balance sheet exposures 16,094,917 2,627,128 2,312,654

CAPITAL ADEqUACy COMPUTATION
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Computation of risK WeighteD amount for marKet risK
As at 31 December 2015 Capital Charge

lKr ’000

risk adjusted 
Balance

lKr ’000

Rate – –

Equity 94,663 946,630

Foreign Exchange and Gold 9,784 97,840

total risk adjusted Balance for market risk 104,447 1,044,470

Computation of risK WeighteD amount for operational risK

As at 31 December 2015 Capital Charge

lKr ’000

risk adjusted 
Balance

lKr ’000

Average Gross Income 1,543,495 –

15% of Average Gross Income 231,524 –

total risk adjusted Balance for operational risk 231,524 2,315,242

CAPITAL ADEqUACy COMPUTATION
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For the Year ended 31 December 2015
lKr

2014
LKR

2013
LKR

2012
LKR

2011
LKR

operating results
Income 3,472,381,118 2,866,727,445 2,109,583,872 1,987,377,733 279,442,338
Financing Income 2,885,931,540 2,407,652,724 1,768,061,705 1,300,618,090 352,037,757
Financing Expense 1,405,258,772 1,198,032,200 1,050,007,868 732,071,273 205,127,217
net financing income 1,480,672,768 1,209,620,525 718,053,838 568,546,817 146,910,540
Other Income 586,449,578 459,074,721 341,522,167 685,343,241 (73,547,856)
Operating Expenses 1,845,589,088 1,654,284,475 1,396,760,452 1,031,992,224 415,916,880
Impairment on Financial Assets 2,817,355 94,680,026 100,820,541 16,093,890 27,062,702
Profit/(Loss) Before Tax 218,715,903 (80,269,256) (438,004,989) 205,803,944 (369,616,898)
Tax Expenses/(Reversal) 60,086,657 – (120,971,087) 59,809,292 (87,583,329)
Profit/(Loss) for the Year 158,629,246 (80,269,256) (317,033,901) 145,994,652 (282,033,569)

As at 31 December 2015
lKr

2014
LKR

2013
LKR

2012
LKR

2011
LKR

assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 5,016,458,817 1,627,383,695 2,444,552,371 3,866,793,015 1,053,061,115
Balance with Central Bank of Sri Lanka 2,292,887,937 1,036,425,974 685,320,420 865,294,214 717,763,029
Derivative Financial Assets 61,037,310 23,269,364 21,470,669 104,181,576 1,394,227
Placements with Banks 3,624,928,993 3,306,210,009 1,737,895,772 825,235,383 1,518,571,708
Placements with Licensed Finance Companies 954,528,071 1,172,213,115 661,958,238 1,661,226,754 3,113,721,106
Investment in Gold Bullion – – – – 799,582,509
Financial Investments – Held for Trading 59,474,357 48,998,818 175,334,631 59,768,906 404,170,143
Financing and Receivables to Other Customers 33,073,596,195 25,426,941,810 15,015,318,081 7,165,461,019 4,974,971,905
Financial Investments – Available for Sale 432,056,080 427,582,574 600,337,971 486,122,612 545,349,490
Other Financial Assets 456,289,030 295,502,221 519,546,392 553,493,038 390,688,206
Other Non-Financial Assets 257,216,898 306,189,958 240,777,613 232,258,744 272,468,185
Property, Plant and Equipment 1,271,732,452 794,829,469 852,960,574 636,709,910 481,382,002
Intangible Assets 236,502,947 270,615,476 283,027,619 224,382,174 135,470,343
Deferred Tax Assets 145,702,993 161,426,033 159,355,340 36,496,739 87,583,329

total assets 47,882,412,080 34,897,588,516 23,397,855,691 16,717,424,084 14,496,177,297

liabilities
Due to Banks 2,955,277,882 – – – –
Derivative Financial Liabilities 67,405,185 7,844,969 3,130,759 4,978,614 –
Due to Other Customers 38,608,000,603 29,224,330,525 17,983,111,581 13,302,501,452 11,362,868,664
Other Financial Liabilities 341,597,683 557,363,638 290,819,822 304,236,288 111,725,486
Other Non-Financial Liabilities 113,063,448 23,607,873 13,688,807 13,843,550 7,080,883
Retirement Benefit Liability 74,070,679 58,202,580 45,071,342 20,648,680 13,051,361

total liabilities 42,159,415,480 29,871,349,585 18,335,822,312 13,646,208,584 11,494,726,394

shareholders’ funds
Stated Capital 5,866,808,141 5,866,808,141 5,866,808,141 3,431,611,720 3,431,611,720
Reserves (143,811,541) (840,569,210) (804,774,761) (360,396,220) (430,160,817)
total equity 5,722,996,600 5,026,238,931 5,062,033,380 3,071,215,500 3,001,450,903
total liabilities and shareholders’ funds 47,882,412,080 34,897,588,516 23,397,855,691 16,717,424,084 14,496,177,297

Commitments and Contingencies 18,272,602,735 14,978,855,627 7,641,018,045 11,121,347,724 4,167,021,073

share information
Earnings/(Loss) per Share 0.13 (0.06) (0.33) 0.16 (0.35)
Net Assets Value per Share 4.58 4.02 4.99 3.40 3.70

Financial Summary
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Investor Relations
ComplianCe report on the Contents of annual report in terms of the listing rules of the 
ColomBo stoCK exChange

The table below summarises the Bank’s degree of compliance with Section 7.6 of the Listing Rules issued by Colombo Stock Exchange:

Rule No. Disclosure Requirements Section Reference

7.6 (i) Names of persons who during the financial year were Directors of the Entity. Annual Report of the Board of Directors on the 
Affairs of the Bank

7.6 (ii) Principal activities of the Entity during the year and any changes therein. Note 1.2 to the Financial Statements –  
Principal Activities

7.6 (iii) The names and the number of shares held by the 20 largest holders of voting and  
non-voting shares and the percentage of such shares held.

Item 3 of Investor Relations

7.6 (iv) The Public Holding percentage and Number of Shares Held by Public. Item 4 of Investor Relations

7.6 (v) A Statement of each Director’s holding and Chief Executive Officer’s holding in shares  
of the Entity at the beginning and end of financial year.

Item 5 of Investor Relations

7.6 (vi) Information pertaining to material foreseeable risk factors of the Entity. Note 39 to the Financial Statements –  
Risk Management and please refer section on  
‘Risk Management’ in the Annual Report

7.6 (vii) Details of material issues pertaining to employees and industrial relations. Item 6 of Investor Relations

7.6 (viii) Extents, locations, valuations and the number of buildings of the Entity’s land holdings  
and investment properties.

Note 25 to the Financial Statements –  
Property, Plant and Equipment

7.6 (ix) Number of shares representing the Entity’s Stated Capital. Note 34 to the Financial Statements –  
Stated Capital

7.6 (x) A distribution schedule of the number of holders in each class of equity securities  
and the percentage of their total holdings.

Item 2 of Investor Relations

7.6 (xi) Ratios and Market Price information 
Equity Ratios
Market Value
Debenture Information
Credit Rating

Item 1 of Investor Relations
Item 1 of Investor Relations
Not Applicable
Corporate Information (Inner Back Cover)

7.6 (xii) Significant changes in the Entity’s fixed assets and the market value of land, if the  
value differs substantially from the book value.

Note 25 to the Financial Statements –  
Property, Plant and Equipment

7.6 (xiii) Details of funds raised through Public Issues, Rights Issues and Private Placements  
during the year.

Note 34 to the Financial Statements –  
Stated Capital

7.6 (xiv) Information in respect of Employee Share Option Scheme. Not Applicable

7.6 (xv) Disclosure pertaining to Corporate Governance practices in terms of Rules 7.10.3,  
7.10.5 c. and 7.10.6 c. of Section 7 of the Rules.

Exempted under Section 7.10 of Listing Rules 
since the Bank complies with Directions laid down 
in the Banking Act Direction No. 11 of 2007 on 
Corporate Governance

7.6 (xvi) Related party transactions exceeding 10% of the Equity or 5% of the total assets of the 
Entity as per Audited Financial Statements, whichever is lower.

Based on the requirement, the applicable  
threshold is LKR 572,299,660/-. Please refer 
section on Directors’ Interest in Contracts in the 
Annual Report
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The Ordinary Shares of the Bank are listed on the Diri Savi Board of Colombo Stock Exchange with Security Code ABL.N0000.

1.  ratios anD marKet priCe information

1.1  equity ratios

2015
lKr

2014
LKR

Dividend Per Share – –

Dividend Pay Out (%) – –

Net Asset Value Per Share 4.58 4.02

1.2  market price

2015
lKr

2014
LKR

As at 31 December 5.60 5.10

High 5.60 7.10

Low 4.60 4.90

Market Capitalisation as at 31 December 2015 – LKR 7,003,893,495/- (31 December 2014 – LKR 6,378,545,862/-).

2.  DistriBution of shareholDers

as at 31 December 2015 As at 31 December 2014

Range of Shareholding  no. of 
shareholders 

 no. of 
shares 

%  No. of 
Shareholders 

 No. of 
Shares 

%

1 To 1,000 Shares 1,666 1,111,675 0.09 1,573 1,113,534 0.09

1,001 to 10,000 Shares 3,130 14,840,371 1.18 3,201 15,375,017 1.23

10,001 to 100,000 Shares 1,657 59,894,460 4.79 1,743 62,993,413 5.03

100,001 to 1,000,000 Shares 267 86,695,054 6.93 274 87,087,155 6.96

Over 1,000,001 Shares 45 1,088,153,707 87.01 48 1,084,126,148 86.68

6,765 1,250,695,267 100.00 6,839 1,250,695,267 100.00

2.1  resident and non-resident shareholding

as at 31 December 2015 As at 31 December 2014

Shareholder  no. of 
shareholders 

 no. of 
shares 

%  No. of 
Shareholders 

 No. of 
Shares 

%

Resident 6,723 539,182,144 43.11 6,796 536,286,219 42.88

Non-Resident 42 711,513,123 56.89 43 714,409,048 57.12

6,765 1,250,695,267 100.00 6,839 1,250,695,267 100.00

2.2  individual and institutional shareholding

as at 31 December 2015 As at 31 December 2014

Shareholder  no. of 
shareholders 

 no. of 
shares 

%  No. of 
Shareholders 

 No. of 
Shares 

%

Individual 6,669 302,726,400 24.20 6,752 344,067,208 27.51

Institutional 96 947,968,867 75.80 87 906,628,059 72.49

6,765 1,250,695,267 100.00 6,839 1,250,695,267 100.00

INVESTOR RELATIONS
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3.  TwenTY LargesT sharehoLders as aT 31 decemBer

2015 2014

No. Name of Shareholder  no. of shares % Name of Shareholder  No. of Shares %

1. Bank Islam Malaysia Berhad 180,562,011 14.44 Bank Islam Malaysia Berhad 180,562,011 14.44

2. AB Bank Limited 180,562,010 14.44 AB Bank Limited 180,562,010 14.44

3. Akbar Brothers (Pvt) Limited 120,374,674 9.62 Akbar Brothers (Pvt) Limited 120,374,674 9.62

4. Islamic Development Bank 120,374,673 9.62 Islamic Development Bank 120,374,673 9.62

5. Expolanka Holdings PLC 90,281,006 7.22 Expolanka Holdings PLC 90,281,006 7.22

6. Amãna Holdings Limited 73,024,918 5.84 Amãna Holdings Limited 73,973,459 5.91

7. Millennium Capital Investment Pte. Limited 70,140,503 5.61 Millennium Capital Investment Pte. Limited 43,056,201 3.44

8. Mr. Nagi Saleh Mohammed Al Faqih 37,384,600 2.99 Mr. Nagi Saleh Mohammed Al Faqih 37,384,600 2.99

9. Trans Asia Trading Company 33,756,280 2.70 Trans Asia Trading Company 33,756,280 2.70

10. Mr. Sathiyamurthy Chandramohan 30,000,000 2.40 Mr. Sathiyamurthy Chandramohan 30,000,000 2.40

11. Al Bogari Islamic Gold DMCC 20,038,302 1.60 Mr. Kevin Mark Pocock 27,084,302 2.17

12. Mr. Ahamed Mihilar Mohamed Fazul Jiffry 14,284,200 1.14 Mr. Khaldoon Al Asmar 14,722,200 1.18

13. ABC International Limited 11,920,000 0.95 Mr. Ahamed Mihilar Mohamed Fazul Jiffry 14,284,200 1.14

14. Amãna Takaful (Maldives) PLC 9,398,344 0.75 ABC International Limited 11,920,000 0.95

15. Mr. Omar Mohamed Haji 8,230,973 0.66 Amãna Takaful (Maldives) PLC 9,398,344 0.75

16. Mrs. Nabila qureshi 6,534,733 0.52 Mrs. Nabila qureshi 6,534,733 0.52

17. Pan Asia Banking Corporation PLC/ 
   Lanka Commodity Brokers Limited 6,142,800 0.49

Pan Asia Banking Corporation PLC/ 
   Lanka Commodity Brokers Limited 6,142,800 0.49

18. Mr. Muhammad Muslim Salahudeen 5,666,667 0.45 Mr. Muhammad Muslim Salahudeen 5,666,667 0.45

19. Mr. Abdul Majeed Mohamedu Risvi 5,352,742 0.43 Mr. Abdul Majeed Mohamedu Risvi 5,352,742 0.43

20. Mubasher Financial Services 5,082,000 0.41 Al Bogari Islamic Gold DMCC 5,300,000 0.42

sub total 1,029,111,436 82.28 sub total 1,016,730,902 81.29

Other Shareholders  
   (31 December 2015 – 6,745) 221,583,831 17.72

Other Shareholders  
   (31 December 2014 – 6,819) 233,964,365 18.71

total 1,250,695,267 100.00 total 1,250,695,267 100.00

4.  Percentage of Public Holding as at 31 December 2015 – 31.38%.
     Number of Shares Held by the Public as at 31 December 2015 – 392,528,085, represented by 6,733 shareholders.

INVESTOR RELATIONS



160

Amãna Bank PLC    Annual Report 2015

5.  DireCtors’ holDing in shares as at 31 DeCemBer

Name of Director 2015
 no. of shares 

2014 
No. of Shares 

Mr. Osman Kassim 438,520 233,354

Mr. Tyeab Akbarally 26 26

Dato’ A. Tajudin B.H. Abdul Rahman – –

Dr. A.A.M. Haroon 8 8

Mr. Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail 13,500 13,500

Mr. Ruzly Hussain – –

Mr. Haseeb Ullah Siddiqui – –

Mr. Wahid Ali Mohd. Khalil – –

Mr. Harsha Amarasekara – –

Mr. Mohammed Wahidul Haque – –

Mr. Rajiv Nandlal Dvivedi – –

Dato’ Wan Ismail Wan yusoh (Alternate Director to Mr. Wahid Ali Mohd. Khalil) – –

Mr. Huzefa Inayetally Akbarally (Alternate Director to Mr. Tyeab Akbarally) 1 1

Mr. Mohamed Faizel Mohamed Haddad (Alternate Director to Mr. Osman Kassim) – –

Mr. Kevin Mark Pocock (Alternate Director to Mr. Harsha Amarasekara) – 27,084,302

Mr. Faheemul Huq (Alternate Director to Mr. Mohammed Wahidul Haque) – –

The Chief Executive Officer’s holding in shares as at 31 December 2015 amounted to 150,000.

6.  There were no material issues pertaining to employees and industrial relations that occurred during the year ended 31 December 2015.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
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Country Name of Bank SWIFT Code

Australia National Australia Bank Limited, 
Australia NATAAU33

Bangladesh AB Bank Limited – Dhaka, Bangladesh ABBLBDDH

Bahrain Mashreq Bank PSC – Manama, Bahrain BOMLBHBM

China Standard Chartered Bank –  
Shanghai, China SCBLCNSX

Deutsche Bank (China) Company  
Limited – Beijing, China DEUTCNBJ

Egypt Mashreq Bank – Cairo, Egypt MSHqEGCA

Germany Commerzbank AG – Frankfurt, Germany COBADEFF

Deutsche Bank AG – Frankfurt, Germany DEUTDEFF

Commerzbank AG – Hamburg, Germany COBADEHH

Hong Kong U.B.A.F. (Hong Kong) Limited,  
Hong Kong UBAFHKHX

Mashreq Bank PSC – Hong Kong Branch, 
Hong Kong MSHqHKHH

India AB Bank Limited – Mumbai, India ABBLINBB

Standard Chartered Bank –  
Mumbai, India SCBLINBB

Mashreq Bank – Mumbai, India MSHqINBB

Indonesia Standard Chartered Bank –  
Jakarta, Indonesia SCBLIDJX

Iraq Cihan Bank for Islamic Investment and 
Finance – Iraq CIHBIqBA

Italy Banca Ubae SPA – Roma, Italy UBAIITRR

Japan U.B.A.F. Tokyo Branch, Tokyo, Japan UBAFJPJX

Commerzbank AG – Tokyo, Japan COBAJPJX

Korea U.B.A.F. Seoul, Korea UBAFKRSX

Kuwait Mashreq Bank PSC – Kuwait MSHqKWKW

Malaysia Bank Islam Malaysia Berhad,  
Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia BIMBMyKL

Malayan Banking Berhad (Maybank) – 
Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia MBBEMyKL

Citibank Berhad – Kuala Lumpur, 
Malaysia CITIMyKL

Standard Chartered Bank Malaysia 
Berhad, Malaysia SCBLMyKX

Maldives Bank of Ceylon – Male, Maldives BCEyMVMV

Netherlands Commerzbank AG – Kantoor, 
Amsterdam, Netherlands COBANL2X

Correspondent Banks
Country Name of Bank SWIFT Code

New Zealand Bank of New Zealand – Wellington,  
New Zealand BKNZNZ22

Oman Bank Nizwa, Oman BNZWOMRX

Pakistan Meezan Bank Limited – Karachi, Pakistan MEZNPKKA

Standard Chartered Bank –  
Karachi, Pakistan SCBLPKKX

Faysal Bank Limited – Karachi, Pakistan FAySPKKA

qatar Mashreq Bank – Doha, qatar MSHqqAqA

Standard Chartered Bank – Doha, qatar SCBLqAqX

Singapore Deutsche Bank AG, Singapore DEUTSGSG

Standard Chartered Bank, Singapore SCBLSGSG

Standard Chartered Bank, Singapore SCBLSG22

Saudi Arabia Deutsche Bank AG – Riyadh,  
Saudi Arabia DEUTSARI

Bank Al-Jazira – Jeddah, Saudi Arabia BJAZSAJE

Switzerland Habib Bank AG Zurich –  
Zurich, Switzerland HBZUCHZZ

Turkey Turkiye Garanti Bankasi A.S. –   
Istanbul, Turkey TGBATRIS

Turkiye Finans Katilim Bankasi A.S. – 
Istanbul, Turkey AFKBTRIS

UAE Dubai Islamic Bank – Dubai, U.A.E. DUIBAEAD

Standard Chartered Bank – Dubai, U.A.E. SCBLAEAD

Mashreq Bank PSC – Dubai, U.A.E. BOMLAEAD

Al Hilal Bank – Abu Dhabi, U.A.E. HLALAEAA

Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank –  
Abu Dhabi, U.A.E. ABDIAEAD

United Arab Bank – U.A.E. UARBAEAA

UK Bank Of Ceylon – London,  
United Kingdom BCEyGB2L

Mashreq Bank PSC – London,  
United Kingdom MSHqGB2L

Deutsche Bank Trust Company  
Americas – London, UK BKTRGB2L

Standard Chartered Bank – London, UK SCBLGB2L

USA Deutsche Bank AG – New york, U.S.A. BKTRUS33

Mashreq Bank PSC – New york Branch, 
U.S.A. MSHqUS33

Standard Chartered Bank –  
New york, U.S.A. SCBLUS33
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Branch Network

Pettah

Main Branch Ladies Branch

Galle

Gampola
Mawanella Kandy

Akurana Kalmunai
Kalmunai Unity Square

Sammanthurai

Kattankudy

Oddamavadi

Kinniya

Dehiwela

Ratnapura

Negombo

Kuliyapitiya Kurunegala

Badulla

Akkaraipattu
Nintavur

Eravur

Kaduruwela

Puttalam
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Branch address tel. no. fax no. e mail

Main Branch No. 480, Galle Road, Colombo 3 011-7756000 011-4718148 mainbranch@amana.lk

Ladies Branch No. 480, Galle Road, Colombo 3 011-7756381 011-7756389 ladiesbranch@amana.lk

Dehiwala No. 28, Galle Road, Dehiwala 011-7756016 011-2722505 dehiwala@amana.lk

Pettah No. 129, Main Street, Colombo 11 011-7756002 011-2380688 pettah@amana.lk

Akkaraipattu No. 102, Main Street, Akkaraipattu 067-7756015 067-2279319 akkaraipattu@amana.lk

Akurana No. 204/1, Matale Road, Akurana 081-7756010 081-2304761 akurana@amana.lk

Badulla No. 18/1, Lower Kings Street, Badulla 055-7756021 055-2228280 badulla@amana.lk

Eravur No. 108/5, Punnakuda Road, Eravur 065-7756019 065-2241410 eravur@amana.lk

Galle No. 24, Old Matara Road, Galle 091-7756008 091-2226610 galle@amana.lk

Gampola No. 119, Kandy Road, Gampola 081-7756011 081-2350786 gampola@amana.lk

Kaduruwela No. 379, Main Street, Kaduruwela 027-7756022 027–2227009 kaduruwela@amana.lk

Kalmunai No. 32, Main Street, Kalmunai 067-7756006 067-2223599 kalmunai@amana.lk

Kalmunai  
Unity Square

Kalmunai Unity Square Shopping Complex,  
Main Street, Kalmunai 

067-7756026 067-2059779 kalmunaimi@amana.lk

Kandy No. 105, Kotugodella Veediya, Kandy 081-7756003 081-2200238 kandy@amana.lk

Kattankudy No. 187, Main Street, Kattankudy 065-7756004 065-2247399 kattankudy@amana.lk

Kinniya No. 264, Main Street, Kinniya 026-7756025 026-2236656 kinniya@amana.lk

Kuliyapitiya No. 215-1/1, Main Street, Kuliyapitiya 037-7756018 037-2282280 kuliyapitiya@amana.lk

Kurunegala No. 137, Puttalam Road, Kurunegala 037-7756014 037-2221925 kurunegala@amana.lk

Mawanella No. 22B, New Kandy Road, Mawanella 035-7756013 035-2248181 mawanella@amana.lk

Negombo No. 97, Colombo Road, Negombo 031-7756020 031-2231765 negombo@amana.lk

Nintavur No. 40/5, Main Street, Ninthavur 24 067-7756017 067-2251591 nintavur@amana.lk

Oddamavadi Main Street, Mawadichennai 065-7756009 065-2258099 oddamavadi@amana.lk

Puttalam No. 23, Colombo Road, Puttalam 032-7756024 032-2267188 puttalam@amana.lk

Ratnapura No. 131-133, Main Street, Ratnapura 045-7756023 045-2230245 ratnapura@amana.lk

Sammanthurai Hajiyar Palace, Hijra Junction,   
Ampara Road, Sammanthurai

067-7756012 067-2261299 sammanthurai@amana.lk

BRANCH NETWORK
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Glossary of Banking and Financial Terms
a

acceptances
Promise to pay created when the drawee of a time 
draft stamps or writes the words ‘accepted’ above his 
signature and a designated payment date.

accounting policies
The specific principles, bases, conventions, rules 
and practices adopted by an entity in preparing and 
presenting Financial Statements.

accrual Basis
Recognising the effects of transactions and other 
events when they occur without waiting for receipt or 
payment of cash or its equivalent.

actuarial gains and losses
Actuarial gains and losses comprise the effects 
of differences between the previous actuarial 
assumptions and what has actually occurred and the 
effects of changes in actuarial assumptions.

actuarial Valuation
Fund value as determined by computing its normal 
cost, actuarial accrued liability, actuarial value of assets 
and other relevant costs and value.

amortisation
The systematic allocation of the depreciable amount 
of an intangible asset over its useful life.

amortised Cost
Amount at which the Financial Asset or Financial 
Liability is measured at initial recognition, minus 
principal payments, plus or minus the cumulative 
amortisation using the effective profit rate of any 
difference between that initial amount and the 
maturity amount and minus any reduction for 
impairment or uncollectability.

asset and liability Committee (alCo)
A risk management committee in a bank that generally 
comprises the corporate and senior management 
levels of the institution. The ALCO’s primary goal is 
to evaluate, monitor and approve practices relating to 
risk due to imbalances in the capital structure.  
Among the factors considered are liquidity risk, 
market risk, foreign exchange risk and external events 
that may affect the Bank’s forecast and strategic 
balance sheet allocations.

available for sale
Available for Sale investments are non-derivative 
financial assets that are not designated as financing 
and receivables, held to maturity or fair value through 
profit or loss. It does not necessarily mean that the 
Bank is holding the investments for disposal in the 
short term.

B

Bills for Collection
A bill of exchange drawn by an exporter usually  
at a term, on an importer overseas and brought by 
the exporter to his bank with a request to collect  
the proceeds.

C

Capital adequacy ratio (Car)
The ratio between capital and risk weighted assets as 
defined in the standards developed by the Bank for 
International Settlement (BIS) and as modified by the 
Central Bank of Sri Lanka to suit local requirements.

Capital gain
The gain on the disposal of an asset calculated by 
deducting the cost of the asset from the proceeds 
received on its disposal.

Capital reserve
A reserve identified for specific purposes which is not 
available for distribution.

Carrying Value
Value of an asset or a liability as per books of the 
organisation before adjusting for fair value.

Cash equivalents
Short term highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Collectively assessed impairment
Impairment assessment on a collective basis for 
homogeneous groups of advances that are not 
considered individually significant and to cover losses 
which have been incurred but have not yet been 
identified on advances subject to individual assessment.

Commitments
Credit facilities approved but not yet utilised by 
customers as at the reporting date.

Contingencies
A condition or situation, the ultimate outcome 
of which, gain or loss, will be confirmed only by 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
future events.

Contractual maturity
Contractual maturity refers to the final payment date 
of a facility or other financial instrument, at which 
point all the remaining outstanding capital will be 
repaid and financing charges is due to be paid.

Corporate governance
The process by which corporate entities are 
governed. It is concerned with the way in which 
power is exercised over the management and the 
direction of the Bank, the supervision of executive 
actions and accountability to stakeholders.

Correspondent Bank
A bank in a foreign country that offers banking 
facilities to customers of a bank in another country.

Cost to income ratio
Operating expenses compared to net income.

Credit ratings
An evaluation of a corporate’s ability to repay its 
obligations or likelihood of not defaulting, carried out 
by an independent rating agency.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a 
loss because its customers or counterparties fail to 
discharge their contractual obligations.

Currency risk
The risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in foreign exchange rates.

D

Dealing securities
Securities acquired and held with the intention of 
reselling them in the short term.

Deferred taxation
Sum set aside for income tax in the Financial 
Statements that may become payable/receivable in a 
financial year other than the current financial year. It 
arises because of timing differences between tax rules 
and accounting conventions.

Depreciation
The systematic allocation of the depreciable amount 
of an asset over its useful life.

Derecognition
Removal of a previously recognised financial asset  
or financial liability from an entity’s Statement of 
Financial Position.

Derivatives
A derivative is a financial instrument or other 
contract, the value of which changes in response 
to some underlying variable that has an initial net 
investment smaller than would be required for other 
instruments that have a similar response to the 
variable, and that will be settled at a future date.
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e

earnings per share (eps)
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders, divided 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
in issue.

effective Profit rate (ePr)
The rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments or receipts through the expected life of the 
financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter 
period to the net carrying amount of the financial 
asset or financial liability.

effective tax rate
Income tax expense for the year divided by the profit 
before tax.

equity instrument
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences 
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities.

equity risk
The risk arising from positions, either long or short, 
in equities or equity based instruments, which create 
exposure to a change in the market price of the 
equities or equity instruments.

events after the reporting Date
Events after the reporting date are those events, both 
favourable and unfavourable, that occur between 
the reporting date and the date when the Financial 
Statements are authorised for issue.

expected loss (el)
A regulatory calculation of the amount expected to 
be lost on an exposure using a 12 month time horizon 
and downturn loss estimates. EL is calculated by 
multiplying the probability of default by the exposure 
at default and loss given default.

f

fair Value
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could  
be exchanged between a knowledgeable, willing  
buyer and a knowledgeable, willing seller in an arm’s 
length transaction.

fair Value adjustment
An adjustment to the fair value of a financial 
instrument which is determined using a valuation 
technique to include additional factors that would 
be considered by a market participant that are not 
incorporated within the valuation model.

finance lease
A lease in which the lessee acquires all the financial 
benefits and risks attaching to ownership of the asset 
under lease. 

financial asset or financial liability at fair 
Value Through Profit or Loss
Financial asset or financial liability that is held for 
trading or upon initial recognition designated by the 
entity as at ‘Fair Value through Profit or Loss’.

financial assets
Any asset that is cash, an equity instrument of another 
entity or a contractual right to receive cash or 
another financial asset from another entity.

financial guarantee Contracts
A contract that requires the issuer to make specified 
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs 
because a specified debtor fails to make payment 
when due in accordance with the original or modified 
terms of a debt instrument.

financial instruments
Any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one 
entity and financial liability or equity instrument of 
another entity.

financial liability
Financial liability is a contractual obligation to deliver 
cash to another entity or to exchange financial assets 
or financial liabilities with another entity under 
conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the 
entity.

financing and receivables
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market other than those intended to sell 
immediately or in the near term and designated as fair 
value through profit or loss or available for sale on 
initial recognition.

foreign exchange income
The gain recorded when assets or liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into 
Sri Lankan Rupees on the reporting date at prevailing 
rates which differ from those rates in force at inception 
or on the previous reporting date. Foreign exchange 
income also arises from trading in foreign currencies.

forward exchange Contracts
An agreement between two parties to exchange one 
currency for another at a future date at a rate agreed 
upon today.

g

general provisions
General provisions are established for loans and 
advances for anticipated losses on aggregate 
exposures where credit losses cannot yet be 
determined on an individual facility basis.

guarantees
A promise made by a third party (Guarantor), who 
is not a party to a contract between two others, that 
the guarantor will be liable on behalf of whom the 
guarantee is issued if  the individual fails to fulfil the 
contractual obligations.

h

held for trading
Investments that are purchased with the intent of 
selling them within a short period of time.

held to maturity financial assets
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
and a fixed maturity that an entity has the positive 
intention and ability to hold to maturity.

historical Cost Convention
Recording transactions at the actual value received 
or paid.

i

impairment
This occurs when the recoverable amount of an asset 
is less than its carrying amount.

impairment allowances
Management’s best estimate of losses incurred on its 
assets as at the reporting date.

Impairment charge/(reversal)
The difference between the carrying value of an 
asset and the sum of discounted future cash flows 
generating from the same asset.

individually assessed impairment
Exposure to loss is assessed individually for assets that 
are individually significant above a certain threshold.

intangible asset
An identifiable non-monetary asset without physical 
substance.

investing activities
The acquisition and disposal of long term assets and 
other investments not included in cash equivalents.

investment securities
Securities acquired and held for yield and/or  
capital growth.
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K

Key management personnel
Key Management Personnel are those persons having 
authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or 
indirectly, including any Director (whether executive 
or otherwise) of the Bank.

Key performance indicators (Kpis)
KPIs are quantifiable measurements, agreed at the 
commencement of the year that reflect the critical 
success factors of the Bank.

l

letter of Credit 
Written undertakings by a Bank on behalf of its 
customer (typically an importer), authorising a third 
party (e.g. an exporter) to draw drafts on the Bank 
up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and 
conditions. Such undertakings are established for the 
purpose of facilitating international trade.

liquid assets
Assets that are held in cash or in a form that can be 
converted to cash readily.

liquidity risk
Liquidity risk implies the potential for loss to the Bank 
due to inability to meets its obligation or to fund the 
increase in assets as they fall due without incurring 
high cost.

loss given Default (‘lgD’)
The estimated ratio (percentage) of the loss on an 
exposure to the amount outstanding at default (EAD) 
upon default of counterparty.

m

market Capitalisation
Number of ordinary shares in issue multiplied by the 
market value of each share at the year end.

market risk
Market risk denotes the risk of losses arising out of 
positions in the Statement of Financial Position due to 
changes in market prices.

materiality
The relative significance of a transaction or an  
event, the omission or misstatement of which  
could influence the economic decisions of users of 
Financial Statements.

n

net assets Value per share
Shareholders’ funds divided by the number of 
ordinary shares in issue.

net realisable Value
The estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
the business, less the estimated cost of completion 
and the estimated necessary costs to make the sale.

non-performing advances ratio
Non-Performing advances expressed as a percentage 
of the total outstanding advances.

nostro account
A foreign currency current account maintained with 
another Bank, usually but not necessarily a foreign 
correspondent Bank.

o

off Balance sheet transactions
Transactions that are not recognised as assets or 
liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position, but 
which give rise to commitments and contingencies.

operational risk
Operational risk refers to the loss resulting from 
inadequate or failed internal processes, people and 
systems or from external events.

p

past Due
A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has 
failed to make a payment when contractually due.

probability of Default 
Probability of default is an internal estimate for each 
customer grade of the likelihood that an obligor will 
default on an obligation.

projected unit Credit method
An actuarial valuation method that sees each period 
of service as giving rise to an additional unit of benefit 
entitlement and measures each unit separately to 
build up the final obligation. 

provisions
A provision is an amount set aside for probable, but 
uncertain, economic obligations of the Bank.

r

related parties
Parties where one party has the ability to control 
the other party or exercise significant influence over 
the other party in making financial and operating 
decisions, directly or indirectly.

return on assets
Profit for the year divided by Average Assets.

return on equity (roe)
Profit for the year expressed as a percentage of 
average ordinary shareholders’ equity.

revaluation reserve
Part of the shareholders’ equity that arises from 
changes in the current value of property, plant and 
equipment.

revenue reserves
Reserves set aside for future distribution and 
investment.

rights issue
Issue of shares to the existing shareholders at an 
agreed price, generally lower than market price.

risk Weighted assets
On Balance Sheet assets and the credit equivalent of 
off Balance Sheet assets multiplied by the relevant risk 
weighting factors.

s

segment reporting
Segment reporting indicates the contribution to the 
revenue derived from business segments.

shareholders’ funds
Shareholders’ funds consist of stated capital plus 
capital and revenue reserves.

statutory reserve fund
A capital reserve created in accordance with the 
provisions of the Banking Act No. 30 of 1988 as 
amended.

t

tier i Capital (Core Capital)
Core capital includes stated capital, statutory reserve, 
retained profits, general and other reserves.

tier ii Capital (supplementary Capital)
Supplementary Capital includes, approved  
revaluation reserves, general provisions and hybrid 
capital instruments.

total Capital
Capital base is the summation of core capital (Tier I) 
and the supplementary capital (Tier II).

transaction Costs
Transaction costs are incremental costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or 
disposal of a financial asset or financial liability.

V

Value added
Value added is the wealth created by providing banking 
services less the cost of providing such services. The 
value added is allocated among the employees, the 
providers of capital, to Government by way of taxes 
and retained for expansion and growth.

Value added taxes on financial services
Value Added Taxes on Financial Services is computed 
based on profit before tax from financial services 
subject to adjustment for depreciation and 
emoluments payable to employees and Directors.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
NOTICE IS HEREBy GIVEN THAT the Seventh 
Annual General Meeting of Amãna Bank PLC 
will be held on Friday, Twenty-Seventh day 
of May 2016 at 4.00 p.m. at the Main Banquet 
Hall, Bandaranaike Memorial International 
Conference Hall (BMICH), Bauddhaloka 
Mawatha, Colombo 7.

agenDa

(1) To receive and consider the Annual Report 
of the Board and the Financial Statements of 
the Bank for the financial year ended  
31 December 2015 together with the 
Report of the Auditors thereon.

(2) To re-elect the following Directors  
who retire by rotation in terms of  
Article 29 (6) of the Articles of Association 
of the Company:

(a) To re-elect Mr. Osman Kassim 
(Chairman, Non-Executive, Non-
Independent Director) who retires at 
the Annual General Meeting, in terms 
of Article 29 (6) of the Articles of 
Association of the Company.

(b) To re-elect Mr. Tyeab Akbarally  
(Deputy Chairman, Non-Executive, 
Non-Independent Director) who 
retires at the Annual General Meeting, 
in terms of Article 29 (6) of the Articles 
of Association of the Company.

(c) To re-elect Dato’ Ahmad Tajudin Bin 
Haji Abdul Rahman (Senior Director, 
Non-Executive, Independent Director) 
who retires at the Annual General 
Meeting, in terms of Article 29 (6) of the 
Articles of Association of the Company.

(d) To re-elect Dr. Aboobacker Admani 
Mohamed Haroon (Non-Executive, 
Non-Independent Director) who 
retires at the Annual General Meeting, 
in terms of Article 29 (6) of the Articles 
of Association of the Company.

(3) To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & young, 
Chartered Accountants, as the Auditors, 
for the ensuing year and authorise the 
Directors to determine their remuneration.

(4) To re-appoint the Sharia Supervisory 
Council consisting of:

(a) Ash-Sheikh Dr. Muhammad Imran 
Ashraf Usmani 

(b) Ash-Sheikh Nazri Bin Chik

(c) Ash-Sheikh M.M.A Mubarak

(d) Ash-Sheikh Mufti M.I.M. Rizwe

(e) Ash-Sheikh Mufti Muhammad Hassaan 
Kaleem 

(5) Any other business.

By Order of the Board,

mrs. samitha Dayani de silva
Company Secretary

25 April 2016 
Colombo
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Form of Proxy
I/We ..............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................of 

......................................................................................................................................................... being a Shareholder/s* of the above named Company, hereby appoint 

..................................................................................................................................... of ..............................................................................................................................or 

1. Mr. Osman Kassim or failing him
2. Mr. Tyeab Akbarally or failing him
3. Dato’ Ahmad Tajudin Bin Abdul Rahman or failing him
4. Dr. Aboobacker Admani Mohamed Haroon or failing him
5. Mr. Wahid Ali Bin Mohd. Khalil or failing him
6. Mr. Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail or failing him
7. Mr. Ruzly Hussain or failing him
8. Mr. Haseeb Ullah Siddiqui or failing him
9. Mr. Harsha Amarasekara or failing him
10. Mr. Mohammed Wahidul Haque or failing him
11. Mr. Rajiv Nandlal Dvivedi

as my/our* proxy to represent me/us* and vote for me/us* on my/our* behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on Friday  
27 May 2016 at 4.00 p.m. at the Main Banquet Hall, Bandaranaike Memorial International Conference Hall (BMICH), Bauddhaloka Mawatha, Colombo 7 
Sri Lanka and at any adjournment thereof.

Signed this .................................................................... day of .................................................................... 2016.

 .....................................................
 Signature

Please provide the details:

Shareholder’s NIC No./Company Registration No. : ...............................................................................................................................................................................

Number of Shares held : ...............................................................................................................................................................................

Proxy holder’s NIC No. (if not a Director) : ...............................................................................................................................................................................

* Please delete the inappropriate words.

Notes
1. A member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his/her place.

2. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.
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InsTrUcTIons For The comPLeTIon oF Form oF ProxY

1. The Form of Proxy must be duly completed and signed by the member/s in block capitals giving the name and address of shareholder/s and the name, address 
and NIC of the Proxy holder clearly and legibly. Where necessary delete the inapplicable words indicated by asterisk.

2. The completed Form of Proxy should be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 480, Galle Road, Colombo 3 (c/o the Company Secretary) not 
less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the meeting. (by 4.00 p.m. on Wednesday 25 May 2016)

3. If the Proxy has been signed by an Attorney, the relative Power of Attorney should accompany the completed Proxy for registration, if such Power of 
Attorney had not been registered with the Company.

4. In the case of a Company/Corporation, the Proxy must be under its Common Seal (where applicable) which should be affixed and attested in the manner 
prescribed by its Articles of Association/Act of Incorporation signed by two Directors or a Director and Secretary of the Company with the Company 
rubber stamp placed on it.

5. In case of joint shareholders only the first named shareholder can sign the Form of Proxy.

FORM OF PROXy



NaMe Of the INstItutION
Amãna Bank PLC

LegaL fOrM
A Public Limited Liability Company incorporated in Sri Lanka 
on 5 February 2009 under the Companies Act No. 07 of 
2007 and listed on the Diri Savi Board of the Colombo Stock 
Exchange on 29 January 2014 and re-registered under the 
Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 on 28 August 2014.  Amãna 
Bank PLC is a Licensed Commercial Bank under the Banking 
Act No. 30 of 1988 as amended.

COMpaNy regIstratION NuMber
PB 3618 PQ

aCCOuNtINg year eNd
31 December

busINess
Commercial banking based on Sharia Principles.

exterNaL CredIt ratINg
The Bank is rated by Fitch Ratings Lanka Limited as  
BB/Long Term outlook Stable.

reregIstered OffICe
480, Galle Road, Colombo 3, Sri Lanka
Tel : +94 11 7756000
Fax : +94 11 4718148

sWIft
AMNALKLX

Web
www.amanabank.lk

tax payer IdeNtIfICatION NuMber (tIN)
134036184

Vat regIstratION NuMber
134036184-7000

bOard Of dIreCtOrs  
(as at 31 deCeMber 2015)
1. Mr. Osman Kassim  

(Chairman, Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

2. Mr. Tyeab Akbarally  
(Deputy Chairman, Non-Executive,  
Non-Independent Director)

3. Dato’ A. Tajudin B.H. Abdul Rahman  
(Non-Executive, Independent Senior Director)

4. Dr. Aboobacker Admani Mohamed Haroon  
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

5. Mr. Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail  
(Non-Executive, Independent Director)

Corporate Information
6. Mr. Ruzly Hussain  

(Non-Executive, Independent Director)

7. Mr. Haseeb Ullah Siddiqui  
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

8. Mr. Wahid Ali Bin Mohd. Khalil  
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

9. Mr. Harsha Amarasekara, PC  
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director) 

10. Mr. Mohammed Wahidul Haque  
(Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director)

11. Mr. Rajiv Nandlal Dvivedi  
(Non-Executive, Independent Director)

aLterNate dIreCtOrs 
1.  Mr. Huzefa Inayetally Akbarally  

(Alternate Director to Mr. Tyeab Akbarally)

2. Dato’ Wan Ismail Wan Yusoh  
(Alternate Director to Wahid Ali Bin Mohd. Khalil)

3. Mr. Mohamed Faizel Mohamed Haddad  
(Alternate Director to Mr. Osman Kassim)

4. Mr. Kevin Mark Pocock  
(Alternate Director to Mr. Harsha Amarasekara)

5. Mr. Faheemul Huq  
(Alternate Director to Mr. Mohammed Wahidul Haque)

sharIa superVIsOry COuNCIL
(a) Ash-Sheikh Dr. Muhammad Imran Ashraf Usmani 

(b) Ash-Sheikh Nazri Bin Chik

(c) Ash-Sheikh M.M.A. Mubarak

(d) Ash-Sheikh Mufti M.I.M. Rizwe

(e) Ash-Sheikh Mufti Muhammad Hassaan Kaleem     

bOard COMMIttees (as at 31 deCeMber 2015)
board audit Committee
1. Mr. Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail (Chairman)

2. Dato’ A. Tajudin B. H. Abdul Rahman –  
Member (appointed with effect from 13 June 2015)

3. Mr. Wahid Ali Mohd Khalil – Member  
(resigned with effect from 13 June 2015)

4. Mr. Ruzly Hussain – Member  
(resigned with effect from 19 September 2015)

5. Mr. Harsha Amarasekera – Member  
(appointed with effect from 19 September 2015)

6. Mr. Rajiv Nandlal Dvivedi – Member  
(appointed with effect from 19 September 2015)

board Integrated risk Management Committee
1. Mr. Rajiv Nandlal Dvivedi – Chairman  

(appointed with effect from 13 June 2015)

2. Mr. Ruzly Hussain – Member  
(resigned with effect from 21 February 2015)

3. Dato’ A Tajudin B.H Abdul Rahman – Member  
(appointed with effect from 13 June 2015)

4. Mr. Wahid Ali Mohd Khalil – Member  
(resigned with effect from 13 June 2015)

5. Mr. Mohamed Jazri Magdon Ismail – Member 

6. Mr. Mohamed Azmeer (CEO) – Member

7. Irshad Iqbal – Member

board Nomination Committee
1. Mr. Ruzly Hussain (Chairman)

2. Mr. Harsha Amarasekara (Member)

3. Mr. Jazri Magdon Ismail (Member)

board human resources and remuneration  Committee
1. Mr. Osman Kassim (Chairman)

2. Mr. Tyeab Akbarally (Member)

3. Mr. Ruzly Hussain (Member)

4. Mr. Jazri Magdon Ismail (Member)

COMpaNy seCretary
Mrs. Samitha Dayani de Silva, FCIS, FCCS

audItOrs
Messrs Ernst & Young 
Chartered Accountants
201, De Saram Place, Colombo 10,  
Sri Lanka

LaWyers
Messrs F J & G De Saram
Attorneys-at-Law and Notaries Public
216, De Saram Place, Colombo 10,
Sri Lanka

For investor relations and clarifications on the Report, please 
contact:

Mrs. Shamla Cader
Manager – Investor Relations,
Company Secretarial Division
Amãna Bank PLC
480, Galle Road, Colombo 3, Sri Lanka
Tel: +94 11 7757511
Mobile: +94 77 3475087
Email: shamla.cader@amana.lk
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